

DISSERTATION

Si to SiGe Heterostructure Transistors for Reconfigurable Circuits and Functionality Enhancement via Ferroelectric Gating

ausgeführt zum Zwecke der Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines Doktors der technischen Wissenschaften

an der Technischen Universität Wien Institut für Festkörperelektronik

durch

Dipl. Ing. Lukas Wind, BSc

Matr.-Nr. 01426229

unter der Leitung von

Univ.Prof. Dipl.Ing. Dr.-Ing. Walter Michael Weber

Wien, Jänner 2025



Abstract

Adaptive computing presents a promising solution to meet the increasing computational demands of artificial intelligence (AI), while addressing the challenges of traditional hard-ware scaling. In this context, reconfigurable field-effect transistors (RFETs) can overcome the limitations of the static nature of CMOS technology by dynamically adapting the hardware to enable more resource-efficient computing and optimize device performance.

RFETs, a special form of Schottky barrier FETs, combine the functionality of n- and ptype transistors in a single device that can be electrostatically switched during operation. As a technology enabler, a novel thermal heterostructure formation technique between Al and Si nanosheets is presented in this work. Thereby, abrupt, single-elementary and single-crystalline Al-Si Schottky junctions are monolithically formed, showing symmetric injection of electrons and holes, ideal for the realization of RFETs with symmetric currentvoltage operation modes. The Al contact formation is also conducted towards $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ nanosheets, where similar structural properties without intermetallic phase formations are achieved. The transport properties are systematically investigated with respect to the stoichiometric $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ composition, ranging from highly transparent contacts to distinct Schottky barriers, offering potential for a variety of emerging "More than Moore" applications.

The realized Al-Si heterostructure-based RFETs exhibited highly symmetric n- and pmode operation with low device-to-device variability. This enabled the realization of RFET-based complementary and combinational logic gates, including inverter and runtime switchable NAND/NOR and XOR/XNOR gates. Compared to conventional circuits with static transistors, an increased functionality of the logic circuits is achieved while simultaneously reducing the transistor count. The reliable operation of the logic gates is demonstrated using only a single pair of symmetric supply rails, achieving full output swing and stable state current suppression. Finally, a fully operational 1-bit full adder based on only 8 physically identical RFETs is also demonstrated. By integrating a $Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}$ channel and high- κ dielectrics, or implementing multi-channel devices, performance enhancements of the individual RFETs are obtained without severely compromising device symmetry.

To achieve non-volatile programming of the operation state, ferroelectric $Hf_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O_2$ (HZO) layers are integrated into the RFET gate stack. By polarizing the HZO in the vicinity of the Schottky junction with short voltage pulses, time-stable switching between fully p-type conduction and n-dominant operation is achieved. The modulation strength of the HZO is strongly dependent on the pulse amplitude, allowing access to drive currents associated with multiple polarization states whose stability is verified by retention measurements. This functionality is highly promising for the realization of artificial synapses for neuromorphic computing paradigms. Finally, the combination of RFETs with non-volatile memory capabilities can be an ideal building block to enable versatile Logic-in-Memory hardware to overcome the limitations of "von Neumann" architectures.

Kurzfassung

Adaptives Computing stellt eine vielversprechende Lösung dar, um den steigenden Leistungsanforderungen von künstlicher Intelligenz gerecht zu werden und gleichzeitig die Herausforderungen der traditionellen Hardwareskalierung zu bewältigen. In diesem Zusammenhang können rekonfigurierbare Feldeffekttransistoren (RFETs) die Grenzen der statischen CMOS-Technologie überwinden, indem Hardware dynamisch angepasst wird, um ressourceneffizienteres Rechnen zu ermöglichen und die Geräteleistung zu optimieren. RFETs vereinen dabei die Funktionalität von n- und p-Typ Transistoren in einem einzigen Bauelement, dessen Polarität im Betrieb elektrostatisch umgeschaltet werden kann. Zur Fertigung dieser Transistoren wird hier eine neuartige Methode zur Bildung monolithischer Heterostrukturen präsentiert, die auf einer thermisch induzierten Austauschreaktion von Al und Si Nanostrukturen basiert. Dadurch entstehen abrupte, monoelementare und einkristalline Al-Si Schottky-Übergänge, die eine symmetrische Injektion von Elektronen und Löchern ermöglichen, ideal für die Realisierung von RFETs mit symmetrischen Betriebsmodi. Die thermische Austauschreaktion mit Al kann auch auf $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ Nanostrukturen erweitert werden, mit ähnlichen Struktureigenschaften und ebenfalls ohne Bildung intermetallischer Phasen. Die elektrischen Transporteigenschaften in den dadurch hergestellten Al-Si_{1-x}Ge_x Heterostrukturen werden systematisch in Bezug auf ihre stöchiometrische Zusammensetzung untersucht. Diese reichen von hochtransparenten Kontakten für Ge bis hin zu ausgeprägten Schottky-Barrieren für SiGe, mit Potenzial für eine Vielzahl neuartiger "More than Moore"-Anwendungen. Basierend auf Al-Si Heterostrukturen werden RFETs gefertigt, die einen hochsymmetrischen n- und p-Betrieb zeigen. Das ermöglicht die Realisierung von RFET-basierten komplementären und kombinatorischen Logikgattern, darunter Inverter-, und rekonfigurierbaren NAND/NOR- und XOR/XNOR-Gatter. Im Vergleich zu herkömmlichen Schaltungen mit statischen Transistoren wird damit eine erhöhte Funktionalität bei gleichzeitiger Reduzierung der Anzahl der Transistoren erreicht. Unter Verwendung einer symmetrischen Versorgungsspannung wird der zuverlässige Betrieb der Logikgatter unter voller Aussteuerung des Ausgangs und guter Stromunterdrückung im stationären Zustand gezeigt. Basierend auf nur 8 physisch identischen RFETs wird zudem ein voll funktionsfähiger 1-Bit Volladdierer demonstriert. Durch die Integration eines Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-Kanals und high- κ Dielektrika, oder der Implementierung von Mehrkanal-Bauelementen wird die Leistungssteigerung der einzelnen RFETs angestrebt, ohne die Symmetrie der Bauelemente stark zu beeinträchtigen. Um eine nichtflüchtige Programmierung des Betriebszustands zu erreichen, wird eine ferroelektrische $Hf_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O_2$ (HZO) Schicht in den Gate-Stapel integriert. Durch kurze Spannungsimpulse am Gate wird das HZO in der Nähe des Schottky-Übergangs polarisiert, wodurch zwischen p- und n-dominantem Betrieb umgeschaltet werden kann. Die Modulation des HZOs ist dabei stark von der Pulsamplitude abhängig und ermöglicht das Einstellen der Drainströme unter der Nutzung mehrerer Polarisationszustände, deren Stabilität durch Langzeitmessungen verifiziert wurde. Diese Funktionalität ist sehr vielversprechend für die Realisierung künstlicher Synapsen für neuromorphe Computerparadigmen. Weiters kann die Kombination von RFETs mit nichtflüchtigen Speicherfähigkeiten eine wertvolle Komponente für die Realisierung von adaptiver "Logic-in-Memory"-Hardware sein, um die Einschränkungen der "von Neumann"-Architekturen zu überwinden.

Acknowledgment

It was an honor for me to do my PhD in this extraordinary working environment at the *Institute of Solid State Electronics*, especially in the *Emerging Nanoelectronic Devices* group, and to meet and work with so many great people. I would like to express my deepest gratitude to everyone who has supported me throughout my doctoral journey and made my time here so pleasant and enjoyable. This thesis would not have been possible without the invaluable guidance, encouragement and help of many people.

First and foremost, I am truthfully thankful to my supervisor, *Prof. Walter M. Weber*, for giving me the opportunity to conduct research in this fascinating and diverse field. I have greatly benefited from your extensive knowledge and experience, and I have learned so much from our many insightful discussions and your constructive feedback, both scientifically and personally.

I would like to thank *Dr. Masiar Sistani* for all the amazing time and support since the beginning of my master project. Most of the experimental techniques, in the cleanroom and in the lab, I have learned from you. Similar thanks also go to *Dr. Daniele Nazzari*, especially for your commitment to the joint HZO project, which has been a constant up and down and has tested our patience.

I am very grateful to *Dr. Raphael Böckle* and *Andreas Fuchsberger*, and lately also *Behzad Dadashnia* and *Saeed Rasouli* as my PhD companions. I really enjoyed working with you as a team, with all the insightful discussions, valuable feedback and the funny and relaxed atmosphere. In general, there was always a helping hand in this group whenever it was needed.

I would also like to thank the numerous Master and Bachelor students who have worked in our team over the years for their valuable support. Thanks to Martina Bažíková, Özgür Demirkiran, Kihye Kim, Dominik Mayr, Melisa Mustajbašić, Stefan Preiß, Oliver Solfronk, Axel Verdianu and Viktor Wahler for your direct support.

Thanks also to *Prof. Alois Lugstein* and *Prof. Jürgen Smoliner* for sharing your scientific knowledge and helpful advice with me.

As the irreplaceable head of the cleanroom, I would like to thank *Dr. Werner Schrenk* for his dedication and boundless expertise, with which he always kept things running in the cleanroom and always had a solution ready.

Many thanks also to our external project partners:

The group around *Prof. Moritz Brehm* at the Johannes Kepler University (JKU) in Linz provided us with novel, high-quality SiGe-on-SOI substrates, which were the basis for many of the great results in this work, as well as in numerous other publications. In this regard, also thanks to Johannes Aberl, Enrique Prado Navarrete and Dr. Lada Vukušić. Many thanks also to Dr. Lilian Vogl and Dr. Peter Schweizer from the University of California at Berkeley, and to Sebastian Lellig and Dr. Xavier Maeder at EMPA in Thun for their skills with the STEM and EDX, which were extremely important for the structural analyses.

None of this would have been possible without the great support of my amazing family and friends. Thank you for always being there for me and providing the important distraction after work.

Finally, thank you *Elisabeth*, for all your love, care and patience. With your loving nature, you have always encouraged me and made my life more beautiful. Thank you for everything.

Contents

List of Figures				
\mathbf{Li}	st of	Tables	5	xiii
\mathbf{Li}	st of	Abbre	eviations	viii
1	\mathbf{Intr}	oducti	on	1
	1.1	Motiva	ation and Scope	4
	1.2	Outlin	e	6
2	The	oretica	al Background	7
	2.1	Semico	onductor Channel	8
	2.2	Gate I	Dielectrics	11
		2.2.1	High- κ Dielectrics	12
		2.2.2	Ferroelectric Materials	15
	2.3	Metal-	Semiconductor Heterostructures	21
		2.3.1	Solid-State Diffusion for Contact Formation	21
		2.3.2	Schottky Barrier Junction	26
	2.4	Schott	ky Barrier Field-Effect Transistors	32
	2.5	Recon	figurable Field-Effect Transistors	35
		2.5.1	Working Principle	37
		2.5.2	Scaling Prospects	39
		2.5.3	RFET Circuit Implementations	39
	2.6	Ferroe	lectric Field-Effect Transistors	42
		2.6.1	Ferroelectric Layer Integration into SBFETs	44
		2.6.2	Influence of the Interface Layer and Charge Trapping Effects $\ . \ . \ .$	44
		2.6.3	Optimized FeFET Device Architectures	46
		2.6.4	Gradual Switching and Neuromorphic Application	47

3	\mathbf{Exp}	erimental Techniques	51
	3.1	Device Fabrication	52
		3.1.1 $\operatorname{Si}_{1-x}\operatorname{Ge}_x$ on Insulator Growth	52
		3.1.2 Fabrication of Schottky Barrier Field-Effect Transistors	54
		3.1.2.1 High- κ Gate Dielectric Integration via ALD	58
		3.1.3 Ferroelectric Gate Integration into SBFET	58
	3.2	Electrical Characterization and Evaluation	60
		3.2.1 Transfer Characteristics	61
		3.2.2 Polarity Gate-dependent Transfer Characteristic	65
		3.2.3 Output Characteristics	65
		3.2.4 Activation Energy Evaluation	65
		3.2.5 Noise Margins	68
		3.2.6 C/V and P/E Characterization	69
		3.2.7 Polarization State Measurements of Ferroelectric Transistors	71
R	\mathbf{esult}	and Discussion	73
4	Al-S	i based Multi-Gate Transistors	75
	4.1	Structural Analysis of Al-Si-Al Heterostructures	76
	4.2	Al-Si-Al Schottky Barrier Field-Effect Transistors	80
	4.3	Reconfigurable Si-based TTG FETs	82
	4.4	Multi Control-Gate Si RFETs	90
	4.5	RFET-based Complementary and Combinational Logic	94
		4.5.1 Complementary Inverter	94
		4.5.2 Reconfigurable NAND/NOR Gate (Minority Gate)	97
		4.5.3 Reconfigurable XOR/XNOR Gate (XOR3 Gate)	99
		4.5.4 Majority Gate	02
		4.5.5 1-bit Full Adder $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	03
	4.6	Multi-Wire RFETs	05
	4.7	Al Top Gate SBFETs	07
		4.7.1 Ti/Al Top-Gated Si RFETs	10
5	Al-S	$\mathbf{i}_{1-x}\mathbf{G}\mathbf{e}_x$ -Al Heterostructures 12	13
	5.1	Contact Formation to $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ Heterostructures $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	14
	5.2	Composition-dependent Electrical Transport in $Al-Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ -Al Heterostruc-	
		tures	16
	5.3	Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-based RFETs $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	22
		5.3.1 HfO ₂ Gate Dielectric Integration $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	25
		5.3.2 RFET Performance Comparison	27



6	Nor	n-Volat	ile Transistors based on Ferroelectric HZO Gate	131			
	6.1	Optim	ization of the Ferroelectric Gate Stack	132			
	6.2	HZO I	Integration in Al-Si SBFETs	135			
	6.3	HZO-e	enhanced RFET	138			
		6.3.1	Non-Volatile Multi-level Operation	140			
		6.3.2	Retention Measurements	142			
7	\mathbf{Sun}	nmary	and Outlook	145			
Bi	bliog	graphy		153			
Li	List of Publications 183						
Cı	Curriculum Vitae 189						



List of Figures

2.1	Si and Ge energy band structures	8
2.2	High- κ dielectric materials	13
2.3	Ferroelectric hysteresis	16
2.4	Ferroelectric hysteresis of $Hf_{1-x}Zr_xO_2$ in relation to Zr content	18
2.5	Crystallization and phase transition of HZO via RTA	19
2.6	Al-Si and Al-Ge phase diagrams	23
2.7	Schematic of the thermal exchange process between Al and Si/Ge	25
2.8	Energy band diagrams of Schottky barrier contacts	26
2.9	Fermi level pinning and image-force lowering at Schottky barriers	28
2.10	Transport mechanisms through a Schottky contact	30
2.11	Schottky barrier FET: working principle	33
2.12	SBFET characteristic for varying bias voltages and screening lengths	34
2.13	RFET architectures	36
2.14	RFET energy band diagrams	37
2.15	Schematic RFET transfer characteristic	38
2.16	RFET-based wired-AND and reconfigurable NAND/NOR gate	40
2.17	FeFET characteristic with polarization and charge trap-induced shifts	43
2.18	Different FeFET architectures to adapt the capacitive divider within the	
	gate stack	46
2.19	Gradual switching in FeFETs enabling neuromorphic applications	48
3.1	Process flow for the device fabrication	52
3.2	MBE-grown vertical Si-Si _{1-x} Ge _{x} -Si heterostructure substrates	53
3.3	HRSTEM, EDX and AFM surface scan of the MBE-grown Si-Si $_{0.67}$ Ge $_{0.33}$ -Si	
	substrate	54
3.4	Schematic fabrication scheme of a TTG RFET	55
3.5	Oxidation of an SOI substrate	56
3.6	Fabricated sample with RFETs and RFET-based logic gates	57
3.7	Sample contacted by needle probes for electrical characterization	60
3.8	Extraction of transistor parameters from transfer characteristic	62
3.9	Activation energy evaluation	66
3 10	Activation energy map evaluation	67
0.10	neuron energy map evaluation	01

3.11	Noise margin evaluation	68
3.12	C/V and P/V characterization of MFM structures	70
3.13	Polarization measurements of FeFETs	71
3.14	Gradual switching and retention measurements of FeFETs	72
4.1	Al-Si heterostructure formation	76
4.2	TEM/EDX analysis of Al-Si heterostructures	77
4.3	Al nanosheets: Temperature-dependent resistivity and peak current density	79
4.4	Al-Si SBFET: Cross-sectional HRSTEM/EDX and transfer characteristic $% \mathcal{A}$.	80
4.5	Al-Si SBFET: Output characteristic	81
4.6	Al-Si SBFET: Temperature-dependent transfer characteristic and gate-depende	ent
	activation energy	82
4.7	Al-Si RFET: SEM/AFM image and transfer characteristics at $V_{PG} = \pm 7 \text{ V}$ and $V_{PG} = V_{GG}$	83
48	Al-Si BFET: Device parameter extraction for 20 BFETs	85
4.9	Al-Si RFET with reduced oxide thickness: Transfer characteristic and V_{PG} -	00
	dependent measurement	86
4.10	Al-Si RFET: Transfer characteristic at reduced gate voltages $(V_{PG} = \pm 2 \text{ V})$	87
4.11	Al-Si RFET: Temperature-dependent transfer characteristic and transistor	~ ~
	parameter extraction	88
4.12	Al-Si RFET: Temperature-dependent output characteristic and activation energy maps	89
4.13	Al-Si multi-gate RFET with two control gates (4TG)	91
4.14	Al-Si multi-gate RFET with three control gates (5TG)	93
4.15	RFET-based complementary inverter: Transfer characteristics	95
4.16	RFET-based complementary inverter: Transient measurements	97
4.17	Reconfigurable NAND/NOR gate (Minority Gate): Circuit schematic and	
	transfer characteristic	98
4.18	Reconfigurable NAND/NOR gate (Minority Gate): Output maps and tran-	00
1 10	Beconfigurable XOR/XNOR gate (XOR3 Cate): Circuit schematic and	99
4.19	transfer characteristic	100
4 20	Reconfigurable XOR/XNOR gate (XOR3 Gate): Output maps and tran-	100
4.20	sient measurement	101
4.21	Majority gate: Circuit schematic and transfer characteristic	102
4.22	Majority gate: Output maps and transient measurement	103
4.23	1-bit full adder realized with eight RFETs	104
4.24	Multi-wire RFET: Transfer characteristic	105
4.25	Multi-wire RFET: Output characteristic	107
4.26	Comparison Ti/Au and Ti/Al SBFETs: Transfer characteristics	108
4.27	Comparison Ti/Au and Ti/Al SBFETs: Parameter extraction	109
4.28	Al-Si-based RFET with Ti/Al top gates	111

5.1	SEM, STEM and EDX analysis of an Al-Si _{1-x} Ge _x -Al heterostructure \ldots 114
5.2	Al-Si-Si _{1-x} Ge _{x} interface analysis
5.3	V_G -dependent conductivity and activation energy comparison of different
	$Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ stoichiometries
5.4	$Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ composition-dependent evaluation of transistor parameters 118
5.5	Output characteristics of Si-Ge-Si and Si-Si _{0.67} Ge _{0.33} -Si SBFETs 119
5.6	Temperature dependent transfer characteristics of $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ SBFETs 120
5.7	Temperature-dependent off-currents of the different $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ SBFETs 121
5.8	SEM image of the $Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}$ -based RFET, with STEM/EDX analysis of
	the gate stack
5.9	$Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}$ -based RFET: Transfer and output characteristic
5.10	$Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}$ -based RFET: Temperature-dependent transfer characteristic and
	E_a evaluation
5.11	$Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}$ -based RFET with HfO_2 gate dielectric: HRSTEM/EDX anal-
	ysis of the gate stack and transfer characteristic
5.12	Comparison of RFETs with different channel materials and gate stacks. $\ . \ . \ 127$
61	UZO characterization in MEM conscittons with different UZO lower thicknesses 122
0.1 6.9	MEIS characterization in MF M capacitors with different HZO layer thicknesses 152
0.2	top gate metals
63	SPEET with integrated HZO layer. Schematic gate stack and transfer char
0.5	sofr E1 with integrated HZO layer. Schematic gate stack and transfer char-
64	Polarization of the single gated FoSRFFT and its influence in V_{TC} and
0.4	$V_{\rm DG}$ -modulated transfer characteristics 136
65	V_{BG} -modulated transfer characteristics
6.6	FeRFET transfer characteristic as a function of pulsing amplitude for achiev-
0.0	ing multiple stable polarization states 1/1
67	Retention measurements of multiple polarization states in an FeRFET 142
0.1	recontion measurements of multiple polarization states in all reftricit 149



List of Tables

2.1	Bulk properties of common semiconductor materials	9
2.2	Properties of common gate dielectric materials	12
2.3	Properties of common ferroelectric materials	17
2.4	Diffusion coefficients of the Al-Si-Ge system	24
2.5	Metal work functions	27
51	Device performance metrics of different Si Co. SPET	110
0.1	Device performance metrics of dimension $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ SDFETS	10
5.2	Comparison of RFET performance metrics	129



List of Abbreviations

1T1C	One-Transistor, One-Capacitor
AI	Artificial Intelligence
Al	Aluminum
Al_2O_3	Aluminum Oxide
ALD	Atomic Layer Deposition
Ar	Argon
Au	Gold
В	Boron
Bi	Bismuth
BOX	Buried Oxide
BHF	Buffered Hydrofluoric Acid
c-Al	Crystalline Aluminum
CB	Conduction Band
CMOS	Complementary Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor
CVD	Chemical Vapor Deposition
C/V	Capacitance-Voltage
CVU	Capacitance-Voltage-Unit
DIBL	Drain-Induced Barrier Lowering
DOS	Density of States
DRAM	Dynamic Random Access Memory
EBL	Electron Beam Lithography
EDP	Energy-Delay Product
EDX	Energy Dispersive X-ray Analysis
Fcc	Face Centered Cubic
FDSOI	Fully Depleted Silicon On Insulator
\mathbf{FE}	Field Emission
\mathbf{FE}	Ferroelectric
FeFET	Ferroelectric Field Effect Transistor
FEOL	Front End of Line
FeRAM	Ferroelectric Random Access Memory
FeRFET	Ferroelectric Reconfigurable Field Effect Transistor

FeSBFET	Ferroelectric Schottky Barrier Field Effect Transistor
\mathbf{FG}	Floating Gate
FTJ	Ferroelectric Tunnel Junction
FET	Field-Effect Transistor
\mathbf{FFT}	Fast Fourier Transformation
FPGA	Field Programmable Gate Arrays
GAA	Gate-All-Around
GIDL	Gate-Induced Drain Leakage
GaAs	Gallium Arsenide
GaN	Gallium Nitride
Ge	Germanium
GeO	Germanium Monoxide
GeO_2	Germanium Dioxide
GeOI	Ge-on-Insulator
GNDU	Ground Unit
HAADF	High-Angle Annular Dark Field
H_2O	Water
H_2O_2	Hydrogen Peroxide
HCl	Hydrogen Chloride
HEMT	High Electron Mobility Transistor
HF	Hydrofluoric Acid
HfO_{2}	Hafnium Oxide
HRSTEM	High-Resolution Scanning Transmission Electron Microscopy
HZO	Hafnium Zirconium Oxide $(Hf_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O_2)$
IL	Interface layer
I/V	Current-Voltage
LiM	Logic-in-Memory
JKU	Johannes Kepler Universität
MFIS	Metal-Ferroelectric-Insulator-Semiconductor
MFM	Metal-Ferroelectric-Metal
MFMIS	Metal-Ferroelectric-Metal-Insulator-Semiconductor
MIGFET	Multi-Independent Gate Field Effect Transistor
MIGS	Metal Induced Gap States
MLC	Multi-Level Cell
MOSFET	Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistor
MW	Memory Window
Ν	Nitrogen
Ni	Nickel
NDR	Negative Differential Resistance
NW	Nanowire
PDK	Process Design Kit
P/E	Polarization-Electric Field
PMMA	Polymethyl Methacrylat

PPD	Paired-Pulse Depression
PPF	Paired-Pulse Facilitation
Pt	Platinum
PZT	Lead Zirconate Titanate $(Pb(Zr,Ti)O_3)$
RCA	Radio Corporation of America (Standard Set of Wafer Cleaning Steps)
rms	root-mean-square
RTA	Rapid Thermal Annealing
SBFET	Schottky Barrier Field Effect Transistor
SBH	Schottky Barrier Height
SBT	Strontium Bismuth Tantalite $(SrBi_2Ta_2O_9)$
sccm	standard cubic centimeter per minute $(atm cm^3/min)$
SEM	Scanning Electron Microscopy
Si	Silicon
SiC	Silicon Carbide
SMU	Source Measure Unit
Sn	Tin
SOI	Silicon on Insulator
SPICE	Simulation Program with Integrated Circuit
STDP	Spike-Timing-Dependent Plasticity
STEM	Scanning Transmission Electron Microscopy
TaN	Tantal Nitride
TCAD	Technology Computer Aided Design
TE	Thermionic Emission
TEMAHf	Tetrakis(ethylmethylamino)hafnium
TEMAZr	Tetrakis(ethylmethylamino)zirconium
TER	Tunneling Electroresistance
TFE	Thermionic Field Emission
Ti	Titanium
TiN	Titanium Nitride
TiO_2	Titanium Oxide
TMA	Trimethylaluminum (TMA)
VB	Valence Band
VLS	Vapor-Liquid-Solid
VMU	Voltage Measurement Unit
VSU	Voltage Source Unit
Y	Yttrium
ZMNS	Center for Micro- and Nanostructures
ZrO_2	Zirconium Oxide



Chapter 1

Introduction

Over the past few decades, the demand for both computing power and energy consumption has experienced dramatic growth, driven by a variety of technological, economic, and societal factors. Especially the growing interest in the development of intelligent computing, with the rise of artificial intelligence (AI), machine learning and big data analytics, the demand for computing power has increased even more [1]. These fields require extremely high levels of computational power, consuming huge amounts of energy and causing an immense carbon footprint, especially for training large AI models and running complex simulations [2,3].

The semiconductor industry has long relied on the scaling of traditional field-effect transistors (FETs) to improve the performance of integrated circuits, following Moore's law [4], which predicts a doubling of transistor density and performance every 18 to 24 months. However, as transistor dimensions approach their fundamental physical limits, the benefits from simple scaling are diminishing. Issues such as increased power consumption, leakage currents, and short-channel effects, along with the difficulty in maintaining reliable performance at smaller sizes, are pushing the boundaries of conventional FET technology [5–7]. These challenges underscore the need for innovative alternatives to traditional FET architectures to enhance circuit performance without solely depending on further miniaturization. In recent years, this has driven the semiconductor industry to a number of technological innovations, including the introduction of high- κ gate dielectrics [8], strain enhancement of mobility [9], and improved gating architectures [10]. In the near future, this will perspectively also include the integration of alternative high-mobility channel materials, a transition to gate-all-around (GAA) architectures and 3D integration schemes [11].

In conventional complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor (CMOS) technology, logic circuits are based on the combination of two opposing types of transistors, the n-type and p-type transistors for electron- and hole-induced conduction, respectively. These two types

1. Introduction

of transistors are fundamentally different in terms of the selection of doping, geometric dimensions and used material combinations. All these differences result in increased technological complexity in the production of CMOS circuits. In addition, since the polarity of the individual transistors is predetermined during the fabrication process, the functionality of the circuit is also fixed and static. In view of the arising computational constraints for neuromorphic applications, hardware security and edge computing, novel device and circuit methods are being studied that would benefit from a functional diversification of the elementary switching unit, the FET.

Alternative FET designs, particularly reconfigurable FETs (RFETs), present promising solutions to address many of the limitations of rigid conventional CMOS technologies. This emerging device concept is capable of switching its polarity between n-type and ptype operation during runtime, therefore combining the functionality of two physically different FETs into one. The polarity of the multifunctional device can be selected by an electrical signal typically applied on an additional gate electrode, the so-called polarity or program gate (PG). In contrast to conventional MOSFETs with doped transistor channels and degenerately doped contacts, RFETs rely on the unique properties of Schottky junctions and do not require any doping [12]. With the PG controlling the Schottky barrier, the desired charge carrier type can be filtered, allowing either the flow of electrons or holes for n- or p-type conduction. The second gate, the control gate (CG), modulates the channel conductance to switch the transistor between the on and off states, similar to the gate of a conventional MOSFET [13]. The functional diversification at the device level is highly promising to increase the functional density on chip without further scaling of the individual components. Utilizing these RFETs in logic circuits, a "fine-grain" reconfigurability of circuits can be achieved, efficiently adapting its logic function during runtime. This is fundamentally different to the conventional "coarse grain" approach in field programmable gate arrays (FPGAs), where the signal is routed to predefined logic and memory blocks, resulting in an overall large routing delay, chip area and power consumption [14]. By changing the polarity of the RFETs in a pull-up and pull-down network, the polarity of the entire circuit can be inverted, thus switching between the functionality of two logic functions, e.g., NAND/NOR or XOR/XNOR, without increasing the number of transistors [15, 16]. As a consequence, many circuits can be designed more efficiently, which means that the number of transistors required can be significantly reduced, with positive effects on performance, chip area and energy efficiency [17-20]. In particular, RFETs allow the compact realization of XOR and MAJ rich logic circuits, which are very complex and inefficient to implement with conventional CMOS technology [21, 22].

The polymorphic RFET concept further shows high potential for a variety of applications beyond the general computing paradigm. Co-integrated into classical CMOS platforms, it can be utilized for emerging hardware security approaches to prevent theft of chip intellectual property [23]. Polymorphic gates can be used in camouflaging or logic locking schemes to obfuscate the circuitry from malicious entities [13,24,25]. Furthermore, RFETs have also gained increased attention in analog and mixed-signal circuit applications [26–28]

Another major point of interest is the transition to alternative channel materials, not only in RFETs but also for classic CMOS technology. Ge, with its higher electron and hole mobility compared to Si, coupled with a significantly lower band gap, can deliver higher on-state currents [29]. Therefore, it offers the potential for faster switching speeds and improved performance in high-frequency and low-power applications [5,30]. In this regard, $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ layers are already integrated as channel material in PMOS to boost the mobility of the devices [11]. Ge also offers new possibilities for "More-than-Moore" paradigms to extend the Si platform [31]. These include direct integration of optoelectronic devices [32], negative differential resistance (NDR) devices [33,34] or Josephson field-effect transistors [35]. However, many technological challenges are still present for the integration of Ge channel devices [31]. The instability of the Ge surface requires complex engineering of the interface towards high- κ gate dielectrics to ensure a low density of trap states [30]. Strong Fermi level pinning of metal/Ge interfaces [36] has also been a major limitation in achieving high n-type currents in NMOS devices as well as RFETs, where it leads to highly asymmetric on-state currents [37, 38].

To target the immense power consumption of deep learning algorithms and big data analytics, novel Logic-in-Memory (LiM) architectures and neuromorphic computing paradigms can be a possible solution [39]. In general, modern computing uses large amounts of resources to move data between the processing unit and memory elements. In these emerging but very data-intensive applications, this ultimately limits computing performance due to the "von Neumann" bottleneck [40]. LiM implementations however rely on computing units that can also locally store information, drastically reducing the data transfer [41–43]. Especially since the discovery of the ferroelectric phase in HfO₂-based layers [44], which are well scalable and integrable into CMOS processes [45], the use of ferroelectricbased memories and non-volatile FETs is very promising for LiM applications [42,46] and neuromorphic devices [47–49]. Integrated into the gate stack of an RFET, it could be utilized for a non-volatile programming of the operation mode of the device. This hybrid concept, combining the non-volatile memory element with the RFET-based polymorphic logic gates, can lead to the realization of adaptive universal logic-in-memory cells [50].

1.1 Motivation and Scope

Reproducible contact formation towards $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ nanosheets

For the fabrication of Schottky barrier FETs (SBFETs), a reliable and reproducible contact formation of the metal towards the nanoscaled semiconductor transistor channel is of utmost importance. In particular, well-defined Schottky junctions are key for the realization of RFETs that rely on the electrostatic tuning of the formed Schottky barrier.

The metal-silicide formation using e.g., Ni or Co [51-53] is a well established method in the semiconductor industry for forming electrical contacts to Si. However, due to the complex phase systems with intermetallic phases of various stoichiometric compositions, different phase stabilization techniques as well as precise process control of the thermal treatment are required to achieve reproducible contact properties [54, 55]. This especially holds true for the formation of metal germanides (e.g., with Ni, Co, or Cu), as these generally exhibit lower stability [51, 56, 57]. When transferring these processes to Si_{1-x}Ge_x alloys, the complexity increases even further with the formation of different germano-silicides [58].

Al could therefore be an interesting alternative to form pure metal contacts towards the $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ transistor channel. Although Al has been discarded by the semiconductor industry as a contact material to bulk Si due to reliability concerns regarding electromigration [59], void formation [60] or spiking [61], recent advances in contacting Ge nanowires (NW) [62, 63] and nanosheets [LW17] have been promising and have not shown the aforementioned issues. Moreover, ultra-scaled devices with abrupt metal-semiconductor interfaces have been achieved at reduced process complexity [64].

Analysis of the transport properties of $Al-Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ heterostructures of varying stoichiometric compositions

The integration of Ge as a transistor channel material can be advantageous for a variety of different applications, from boosting the performance in classical CMOS devices to various "More than Moore" applications. Analyzing $\text{Si}_{1-x}\text{Ge}_x$ of various compositions, it is of interest how the stoichiometric composition influences the contact formation as well as the electrical transport properties of the formed heterostructure.

Realization of RFETs with symmetric on-states for the integration in adaptive combinational logic

In recent years, the growing interest in RFETs has given rise to various device concepts and channel materials for their realization [65]. While first concepts were mainly based on carbon nanotubes [66] or Si NW-based channels [67–69], commonly in combination with Ni-silicide contacts, later implementations have already transitioned to top-down fabricated platforms for a more industry-related approach [14, 70–72]. Concepts using 2D channel materials, such as graphene [73], WSe₂ [74] or MoTe₂ [75] have also been successfully demonstrated [76]. RFETs based on Ge channels have also been realized, but suffer from increased asymmetric on-states due to the strong Fermi-level pinning of the metal-Ge interface towards the valence band edge [37, 38]. In general, achieving symmetrical operation of n- and p-mode is a major challenge, which is one of the main requirements for practical use in RFET-based circuits [13]. In this regard, strain engineering was shown to be a viable approach to improve symmetry [77, 78].

Targeting circuit implementations based on RFETs, several research groups have demonstrated their potential in terms of increased functional density and improved critical path delay by utilizing simulations [17, 79–81]. However, actual physical on-chip implementations are rare, as fabricating symmetric RFETs with sufficient yield on a scalable top-down platform appears to be challenging. In this regard, a top-down fabrication scheme and aiming for high yield and reproducibility, the realization of RFET-based complementary and combinatorial logic gates is aimed at.

Ferroelectric layer integration into RFETs for non-volatile applications

To further enhance the SBFETs, and in particular the RFET, the integration of a ferroelectric layer into the gate stack is targeted. This is intended to achieve non-volatile programming of the operation mode, which is maintained even if no permanent voltage is applied to the PG. This can be an important building block for realizing reconfigurable logic cells for adaptive LiM computing. Based on charge trapping layers, non-volatile reconfigurable devices have already been demonstrated in poly-Si [49] and 2D WeS₂ channel devices [82]. However, a transition to ferroelectric-based devices should result in a reduction of the operation voltages and latencies, as well as an enhanced device endurance [83]. In addition, ferroelectric layers can enable gradual switching for multiple output states, which could lead to the development of artificial synapses for neuromorphic applications [47]. In this regard, ferroelectrically enhanced single gated FETs [84] or SBFETs [48,85] have already shown promising results.

1.2 Outline

Chapter 2 provides the theoretical background for this work, including the state-ofthe-art and ongoing research topics in the associated material and device fields for the thesis topic. Starting from the underlying materials for the transistor channel and gate dielectrics, the physics behind the heterostructure formation process and the carrier transport through metal-semiconductor junctions is elaborated. Subsequently, the different device concepts, including the general SBFET, as well as novel RFETs and ferroelectric FETs (FeFETs) are introduced.

Chapter 3 describes the experimental techniques for the fabrication of the different devices as well as the main methods for their electrical characterization and evaluation.

Chapter 4, as the first results chapter, starts with the investigation of a novel Al-Si heterostructure formation process, thereby analyzing the structural and electrical properties by their integration into an SBFET architecture. Furthermore, Al-Si-based RFETs are systematically investigated before they are integrated into complementary and combinational logic gates, such as inverters and reconfigurable NAND/NOR and XOR/XNOR gates. Finally, RFETs with multiple parallel transistor channels as well as Al as an alternative top gate material are presented.

Chapter 5 analyzes the contact formation of Al to $\text{Si}_{1-x}\text{Ge}_x$ nanosheet channels with varying stoichiometric composition. Furthermore, the electrical transport properties of the Al-Si_{1-x}Ge_x-Al-based SBFETs in respect to the Ge content are investigated. The integration of a Ge-rich nanosheet channel into the RFET architecture is then investigated using different gate dielectrics (SiO₂, HfO₂). In addition, the Si and Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-based RFETs from this work are compared with state-of-the-art RFETs from the literature.

Chapter 6 first provides a short study using capacitive test structures to optimize the ferroelectric phase in $Hf_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O_2$ (HZO) layers. Subsequently, the HZO film is employed in Si-channel SBFET and RFETs, where its non-volatile switching behavior is analyzed using variable pulse amplitude and retention measurements.

Chapter 7 finally summarizes the key findings of this work and provides an outlook on further research topics and improvements aiming to push the presented concepts towards a large-scale integration.

Chapter 2

Theoretical Background

This chapter discusses the theoretical background that serves as the basis for further discussion of the results, including the state-of-the-art research. The first part, Section 2.1, covers the properties of Si and Ge and their use as channel materials in transistors. Furthermore, the gate dielectric materials relevant for this work and their influence on the scalability of devices are discussed in Section 2.2. The latter also includes a detailed discussion of the ferroelectric effect and the fabrication of ferroelectric layers, with the main focus on hafnium zirconium oxide (HZO).

Section 2.3 covers the formation of metal-semiconductor heterostructures using diffusion and solid-state reactions. The electrical properties of the thereby obtained Schottky junctions are discussed, with special attention to the involved transport mechanism.

Based on this, Section 2.4 shows the state-of-the-art integration of such metal-semiconductor heterostructures into Schottky barrier field-effect transistors (SBFETs). The reconfigurable FET (RFET) as an emerging device concept based on the SBFET is introduced in Section 2.5, where its working principle, scaling prospects and circuit applications are discussed. Finally, Section 2.6 addresses the integration of ferroelectric layers for the real-ization of non-volatile ferroelectric FETs (FeFETs) and their potential fields of application.

2.1 Semiconductor Channel

The semiconductor industry has undergone significant advances, driven by the increasing demand for faster, smaller and more energy efficient electronic devices. Silicon (Si) has traditionally dominated this field due to its abundant availability and favorable as well as stable electronic properties. However, germanium (Ge) and Ge-rich silicon-germanium $(Si_{1-x}Ge_x)$ alloys have gained attention for their potential to further enhance the performance of semiconductor devices [11].

Up-to-date, Si is the most commonly used semiconductor material in electronics, with Si-based devices occupying around 90 % of the worldwide market [86]. As a group-IV semiconductor with an indirect band gap of 1.12 eV at room temperature (see Figure 2.1(a)), it is well suited for a variety of applications, including transistors, diodes and solar cells. Bulk Si crystallizes in a face-centered cubic (fcc) diamond structure with a lattice constant of $a_{Si} = 0.5431 \text{ nm}$ [87]. A unique feature of Si among semiconductor materials is the formation of a stable, high-quality oxide (SiO₂). This oxide not only protects the surface from degradation but also provides a low surface state density at the Si-SiO₂ interface [88]. Combined with its excellent processability, this has enabled the high-density and large-volume fabrication of modern semiconductor devices [89].



Figure 2.1: Energy band structure of different group-IV bulk semiconductors. (a) Energy band structure of Si, adapted from [90]. (b) Energy band structure of Ge, adapted from [91]. (c) Energy band gap E_g as a function of the Ge content [92].

Ge, the group-IV semiconductor material with the next higher nuclear mass, is also commonly used, sharing similar properties with Si and also crystallizing in a diamond lattice, with a larger lattice constant of $a_{Ge} = 0.5658 \text{ nm}$ [87]. For this work it is particularly interesting due to its lower indirect band gap of $E_g = 0.66 \text{ eV}$ and its exceptionally high electron and hole mobilities of $3900 \text{ cm}^2/(\text{Vs})$ and $1900 \text{ cm}^2/(\text{Vs})$ in $\langle 100 \rangle$ direction, respectively [30]. The carrier mobilities are therefore significantly higher compared to Si $(\mu_e = 1500 \text{ cm}^2/(\text{Vs}), \mu_h = 500 \text{ cm}^2/(\text{Vs})$ [30]), with the hole mobility even being the highest of all known bulk semiconductors at room temperature [29]. These properties can lead to enhanced performance metrics in electronic in terms of increased drive currents, as well as novel optoelectronic devices [11,93]. Table 2.1 provides an overview of the

	Si	Ge	SiC (4H)	GaN	GaAs
Band gap E_g (eV)	1.12	0.66	3.26	3.45	1.42
Electron affinity χ (eV)	4.0	4.05	3.1	4.1	4.07
Electron mobility $\mu_e \ (\mathrm{cm}^2/(\mathrm{Vs}))$	1500	3900	1000	1250	8500
Hole mobility $\mu_h \ (\mathrm{cm}^2/(\mathrm{Vs}))$	450	1900	115	850	400
Breakdown field E_{BD} (MV/cm)	0.3	0.1	2.2	2	0.06
Dielectric constant ε_r	11.9	16	10.1	9	13.1
Therm. conduct. λ (W/(K cm))	1.3	0.58	4.5	2.2	0.56
Lattice constant a (nm)	0.543	0.565	0.307	0.518	0.565

Table 2.1: Bulk properties of Si and Ge, compared to commonly used wide (SiC and GaN) and direct band gap materials (GaN, GaAs) at room temperature [30,87,94,95].

most important properties of Si and Ge, compared to other commonly used semiconductor materials.

Despite these excellent electrical properties, and the fact that the very first bipolar transistor ever built, i.e., by Bell Labs in 1948 [96], was based on Ge, Si has nevertheless prevailed in applications. One of the main reasons for this is that, unlike Si, Ge lacks the formation of a stable native oxide. Instead, the native Ge oxide can be composed of various $\text{Ge}_x \text{O}_y$ suboxides depending on the oxidation conditions, temperatures and pressure [97], with some suboxides being water soluble and thermally unstable. While GeO₂ would be the preferred oxidation state to reduce interface trap density (D_{it}) , it reacts with the Ge interface at ~673 K and decomposes into GeO and other suboxides. This results in the formation of a high density of dangling bonds and oxide defects, which severely degrade device performance, e.g., increasing leakage currents and reducing charge carrier mobilities [29]. For Ge devices, the formation of high-quality (high- κ) dielectric layers with a low D_{it} , in the order of magnitude of state-of-the-art Si technology, is therefore of utmost importance [29].

Comparing the band structures of bulk Si and Ge in Figure 2.1, it can be seen that the conduction band (CB) minimum of Si is located off-centered and near the X point along the $\langle 100 \rangle$ directions (referred as the Δ minima), while Ge has its minima in the $\langle 111 \rangle$ directions (L valley) [98]. The valence band (VB) maxima for both elements is in the Γ point. Interestingly, for Ge, the minimum of the CB in the Γ point with $E_{\Gamma 1} = 0.8 \text{ eV}$ is only slightly higher than the one located at the L valley giving an indirect band gap ($E_g = 0.66 \text{ eV}$). Note that by applying high uniaxial tensile strain [99] in $\langle 111 \rangle$ direction or by incorporating Sn (>8% Sn) into the Ge lattice [100, 101], it is possible to achieve direct band gap transitions in Ge, which is highly interesting for on-chip integration of optoelectronic devices into CMOS platforms [32]. In addition, the energy difference between the two lowest CBs with 0.19 eV is also very small. By applying sufficiently high electric fields, electrons can be transferred from the L-valley of the first CB to the X-valley of the second, which is leading to a change in effective mass. This effect is known as the Gunn effect [102], leading to device characteristics with negative differential resistance

(NDR), which can be utilized to enable novel device concepts, such as multi-value logic [33,34,103][LW5], enhanced photodetectors [104] or THz-oscillators [105].

Since high-quality Ge or Ge-on-Insulator (GeOI) wafers are scarce and expensive, a direct integration of ultra-thin Ge layers into the mainstream Si CMOS platform is favorable. However, the direct growth of Ge layers on Si is challenging due to the lattice mismatch of about 4% [29]. Common heteroepitaxy growth techniques therefore are molecular beam epitaxy (MBE) [106–108] or chemical vapor deposition (CVD) [109,110]. Typically, thick Si_{1-x}Ge_x buffer layers are grown to accommodate the lattice mismatch. Furthermore, a precise control of the growth temperature and pressure is required to prevent segregation effects during the crystallization.

Due to the similar crystal properties of Si and Ge, the two materials can be mixed in arbitrary stoichiometric compositions to form $\operatorname{Si}_{1-x}\operatorname{Ge}_x$ alloys, where $0 \leq x \leq 1$. By changing the Ge concentration, important electrical properties of the material, such as the energy band gap or charge carrier mobilities, can be engineered. Since the conduction band minima of Si and Ge are localized differently, the band minimum of $\operatorname{Si}_{1-x}\operatorname{Ge}_x$ transitions from the Δ -band to the L-band at Ge concentrations higher than 85% for unstrained layers. Weber et al. [92] used low temperature photo-luminescence measurements to analytically describe the $\operatorname{Si}_{1-x}\operatorname{Ge}_x$ band gap E_g depending on the Ge content x by

$$E_g^{\Delta}(x) = 1.155 - 0.43x + 0.206x^2 \ eV \qquad 0 \le x \le 0.85$$

$$E_g^L(x) = 2.01 - 1.27x \ eV \qquad 0.85 < x \le 1$$
(2.1)

including the transition from the Δ to the *L* band. The entire band structure, and thus the band gap E_g of Si_{1-x}Ge_x however is significantly influenced by the strain of the material. In general, compressive in-plain strain of Si_{1-x}Ge_x alloys pseudomorphically grown on an Si (100) substrate leads to a monotonic decrease of the indirect band gap [98] and thus an increase in carrier mobilities [111]. Therefore, the integration of Si-Si_{1-x}Ge_x heterostructures is a common method to engineer the strain of Si (or Si_{1-x}Ge_x) layers and enhance carrier mobilities and thus the device performance [9,93]. For p-type FETs in particular, the incorporation of Si_{1-x}Ge_x layers to increase the otherwise low hole mobility of Si is highly relevant and is already used in current CMOS technology [9,11].

When a thin $\operatorname{Si}_{1-x}\operatorname{Ge}_x$ layer is vertically confined, e.g., in vertical Si-Ge-Si heterostructures, the band structure of this layer is significantly modified compared to a bulk material. In addition to the strain-induced effects of the lattice mismatch between the different layers described above, band discontinuities occur at the Si-Ge interfaces. In the case of a compressively strained $\operatorname{Si}_{1-x}\operatorname{Ge}_x$ layer grown between two relaxed Si layers, with the $\operatorname{Si}_{1-x}\operatorname{Ge}_x$ layer thus having a smaller band gap than the Si layer above and below, this results in a type I band alignment and the formation of a quantum well for holes. On the other hand, a Si layer grown on a relaxed $\operatorname{Si}_{1-x}\operatorname{Ge}_x$ layer undergoes tensile strain, resulting in a type II band alignment and the formation of a quantum well for electrons [112,113]. Moreover, quantum confinement in the thin Ge layer thus modifies the density of states (DOS). While in bulk 3D semiconductors, the DOS continuously increases above (beyond) E_C (E_V), the DOS in 2D confined systems is split into discrete terraces of constant value. The spacing of these terraces increases with decreasing width of the quantum well (thickness of the sandwiched layer) [112, 114]. These heterostructure quantum wells can be used to engineer the band gap and carrier mobilities to realize, e.g., high electron mobility transistors (HEMTs) for high-frequency applications [98, 112]. In addition, SiGe quantum wells with periodically oscillating Ge content have recently been used to demonstrate quantum dot qubits [115].

By lowering the band gap, the source-drain leakage is increased, and therefore the on- to off-current ratio (I_{on}/I_{off}) in FETs generally decreases, which can be estimated with [116]

$$\frac{I_{on}}{I_{off}} \approx \frac{1}{4} \exp\left(\frac{E_g}{2k_B T}\right). \tag{2.2}$$

Consequently, Si channel FETs can achieve I_{on}/I_{off} ratios of around 6×10^9 , while the modulation of Ge-based FETs is limited to less than 10^5 due to an exponential increase in off-currents. This estimation, which only considers the band gap energy E_g of a device, is in fact a very robust measure for devices that do not involve Schottky barriers [116]. However, for devices that inherit Schottky barriers and field modulation, these barriers must also be taken into account, as it will be shown in Equation 2.22 in Section 2.3.2.

2.2 Gate Dielectrics

High-quality dielectrics are crucial in MOSFETs (Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistors), as they directly influence the device's performance, reliability, and scalability. The gate dielectric layer serves as an insulator that separates the gate from the channel, enabling precise control of the channel's conductivity.

As already mentioned in the previous section, the use of SiO₂ as a gate dielectric in combination with Si as transistor channel material has dominated the semiconductor industry, as it basically fulfills all requirements for a high quality gate dielectric. As a high band gap material ($E_g \approx 9 \text{ eV}$) with appropriate offsets to the CB- and VB-edges of Si (see Figure 2.2(b)), and a high stability against electrical breakdown ($E_{BD} \approx 1 \times 10^3 \text{ MV/cm}$ [90]), it achieves excellent insulating properties. Furthermore, it provides a low interface state density, such that the oxide capacitance C_{ox} is much larger than the capacitance related to the interface traps C_{it} ($C_{ox} \gg C_{it}$), which is essential for a proper switching of MOS-FETs [114]. As a native oxide of Si, its formation is also straightforward, fabricated by simple oxidation of the Si surface using dry thermal, hydrothermal or chemical processes. However, one of the main restrictions of using SiO₂ is its relatively low dielectric constant ($\varepsilon_r = 3.9$). According to Dennard's constant field scaling [117], as MOSFETs are scaled down to smaller dimensions, also the thickness of the gate oxide has to be thinned to maintain sufficient electrostatic control of the transistor channel. The required ultra-thin layer thicknesses t_{ox} for SiO₂ would thereby lead to significantly increasing gate leakage currents, which become intolerable at $t_{ox} \leq 1.5 \text{ nm}$ [114]. To address these limitations, the semiconductor industry has turned to high- κ dielectrics, which have a higher dielectric constant, allowing for thicker insulating layers without sacrificing capacitance.

2.2.1 High- κ Dielectrics

Materials such as hafnium oxide (HfO₂) and zirconium oxide (ZrO₂) have emerged as promising candidates for high- κ dielectrics in scaled MOSFETs due to their significantly higher dielectric constants (typically in the range of 20 to 25 in an amorphous state) compared to SiO₂. Al₂O₃ is also worth mentioning, as it also achieves more than twice the permittivity of SiO₂ at a slightly smaller band gap. The electrical properties of SiO₂ and other commonly used high- κ materials are compared in Table 2.2. These materials offer better control over leakage currents and enable the continued scaling of transistors in advanced technology nodes. It is important to mention that the crystallinity of the insulator materials strongly influences the relative dielectric constant ε_r . For MOSFETs, mainly amorphous dielectrics are considered to avoid grain boundary leakage.

As MOSFETs are capacitively operated devices, their drain current in the ohmic and saturation regions is directly proportional to the gate capacitance. In a plate capacitor structure geometry, the geometrical oxide capacitance per area can be simply expressed by

$$C_{ox} = \frac{\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_r}{t_{ox}} \,, \tag{2.3}$$

including the vacuum permittivity ε_0 . When changing from a SiO₂ gate oxide to a high- κ dielectric, the same capacitance can be achieved with increased layer thickness $t_{\text{high-}\kappa}$. This is a highly effective approach to reduce the tunneling currents, as the probability of direct tunneling decreases exponentially with increasing insulator thickness. To facilitate a direct comparison of the used alternative gate dielectric to SiO₂, the *equivalent oxide* thickness (EOT) is introduced. Its value represents the thickness of a pure SiO₂ layer that would yield the same capacitance as the given high- κ dielectric of the thickness $t_{\text{high-}\kappa}$, excluding interface charges and depletion capacitances, and is calculated by [121]

$$EOT = t_{\text{high-}\kappa} \cdot \frac{\varepsilon_{\text{high-}\kappa}}{\varepsilon_{SiO_2}} \,. \tag{2.4}$$

Note that a higher dielectric constant of the gate electric also positively influences the gating efficiency in terms of a reduced screening length λ , which will be discussed later in Section 2.4.

	SiO_2	GeO_2	$\mathrm{Si}_3\mathrm{N}_4$	Al_2O_3	HfO_2	ZrO_2	TiO_2
Dielectric constant ε_r	3.9	7	7	9	25	25	80
Band gap E_g (eV)	9	5.8	5.3	8.8	5.8	5.8	3.5
CB offset ΔE_C (eV)	3.5	-	2.4	2.8	1.5	1.4	0

Table 2.2: Properties of common gate dielectric materials in amorphous states, including the relative dielectric constants ε_r , band gaps E_g and the conduction band edge offsets ΔE_C towards Si [30, 118–120].

To maintain a strong electrostatic control over the channel while keeping gate leakage currents at acceptable levels, the dielectric material must have both a sufficiently high dielectric constant and low leakage characteristics. Therefore, a high band gap of the materials is a key factor to withstand the electric fields that develop across the dielectric and prevent the injection of electrons or holes from the gate into the semiconductor channel. However, as the dielectric constant of a material tends to vary with its band gap, with $E_g \sim \sqrt{1/\varepsilon_r}$, there is always a trade-off between these two parameters. This trade-off is also shown in Figure 2.2(a), with the band gap in relation to the dielectric constant for different dielectric materials [118].

The alignment of the dielectric band gap is not always centered towards the one of the semiconductor channel. Therefore, the injection barriers for electrons and holes can vary depending on the choice of the materials. The band alignment of different dielectrics towards Si is shown in Figure 2.2(b). To ensure a stable device operation, the injection barrier for both charge carrier types should be larger than 1 eV for Si. Since the conduction band offsets (ΔE_C) are generally lower than the ones for the valence bands (ΔE_V), the choice of materials is generally limited to those with $E_g > 5 \text{ eV}$ [118]. TiO₂, for example, would give excellent high- κ properties with $\varepsilon_r \sim 80$, but does not provide any barrier for electron injection.

Interestingly, the transition from SiO_2 to high- κ materials in semiconductor technology is also an opportunity for the integration of alternative channel materials such as Ge or III-V semiconductors, as the formation of the gate oxide no longer relies solely on the direct growth of SiO₂ on Si [30, 118].

The most common high- κ deposition methods are atomic layer deposition (ALD) or chemical vapor deposition (CVD), both capable of producing high qualitative and pin-hole free insulators at highly conformal coverage, even for complex geometries such as FinFETs



Figure 2.2: (a) Relation of the energy band gap E_g and the dielectric constant ε_r of common high- κ dielectric materials in amorphous states. (b) Band alignment of the dielectric materials towards the energy band gap of Si. Figure adapted from [118].

and gate-all-around (GAA) nanowire (NW) and nanosheet FETs. Despite the low growth rate, ALD with its cyclic growth process is usually the preferred method. As the individual cycles and involved half-reactions are self-limiting due to the surface chemistry, the deposited layer thickness can be precisely controlled, which also enables the fabrication of ultra-scaled layers. Furthermore, it produces the most conformal films, ideal for covering structures with high aspect ratios, such as deep trench capacitors [122, 123]. Sputter deposition of high- κ dielectrics is also possible, but the resulting films often suffer from bad conformal coverage [118].

The direct integration of high-k dielectrics into gate stacks also presents challenges in terms of material stability, interface quality, and compatibility with existing fabrication processes. Dielectrics deposited with high defect densities or poor interface quality can lead to increased gate leakage, reduced breakdown voltage, and degraded device performance. For instance, defects in the dielectric can create localized percolation paths for the current to flow, e.g., by Poole-Frenkel emission or trap-assisted tunneling [8], leading to higher power dissipation, performance degradation, and even device failure over time. Furthermore, the quality of the dielectric-semiconductor interface is crucial, as any roughness, traps, or other imperfections can undermine the reliability and the electrostatic integrity of the MOSFET gate control. In general, high- κ dielectrics have a significantly higher density of defect states compared to thermal SiO₂ or Si₃N₄.

For Ge channel MOSFETs, for example, the formation of stable interface layers is highly important to prevent the formation of unstable GeO_x , as well as interdiffusion with the deposited high- κ dielectric [30]. In this regard, the use of interface layers between Ge and the high- κ prior to the high- κ deposition is a common method to obtain a low interface density and maintain high carrier mobility. There are different passivation and interface layer approaches reported in the literature. Controlled thermal oxidation of the Ge surface can produce GeO_2/Ge interfaces with low D_{it} [124]. The nitridation of the Ge surface, e.g., forming Ge_3N_4 [125,126] or GeO_xN_y [127] surfaces, is also a viable method to improve the interface stability and the EOT in Ge MOS capacitors. Another technique for Ge surface passivation is to grow a thin Si passivation layer in the range of a few monolayers, e.g., by SiH₄ annealing [128] or Si epitaxial growth [129], which is then typically oxidized to form a SiO₂ prior to the high- κ dielectric deposition [130].

But also for Si devices a (native) interface oxide layer is commonly formed between the semiconductor surface and the high- κ to stabilize the surface. This interface layer however increases the EOT and must be taken into account when trying to achieve ultra-low EOT values. A method to thin down the SiO₂ interfacial layer is the oxide scavenging process, where oxygen is "sucked out" of the interface layer and reacts with a scavenger metal such as Hf or Ti [118, 131].

2.2.2 Ferroelectric Materials

Ferroelectricity is a characteristic of certain materials, typically crystals, that exhibit spontaneous electrical polarization. This means that these materials have a natural dipole moment that can be reoriented by applying an external electric field. This phenomenon arises from a non-centrosymmetric arrangement of atoms within the crystal unit cell, leading to the formation of natural electric dipoles. As these materials are capable of preserving the dipole orientation even after removing the externally applied electric field, ferroelectric materials are highly interesting for memory applications [132, 133].

Ferroelectric materials are classified in one of the 21 different non-centrosymmetric crystal point groups, meaning they lack inversion symmetry. As they are characterized by permanent dipoles, ferroelectrics must also feature piezoelectricity (linear response of charge development on the applied mechanical stress) and pyroelectricity (charge development when changing the materials temperature). All other crystal point groups, including purely piezoelectric or pyroelectric crystals, do not feature a reorientable, permanent dipole moment [132]. In uniaxial ferroelectrics, the dipoles can be switched by 180° , allowing two polarization states. A region within the material of uniform and aligned polarization is called a ferroelectric domain. These domains form due to the inherent instability of the polarization state in the material, which can exist in different orientations. The presence of domains allows the material to minimize its overall energy by accommodating various polarization states that arise from external influences such as mechanical stress, temperature changes, or electric fields. Many ferroelectric materials are biaxial, allowing polarization along multiple crystallographically identical axes. In orthorhombic crystals, for example, the polarization vector forms along the $\langle 110 \rangle$ directions, allowing an angle difference between neighboring domains of 60° , 90° or 180° [132]. Figure 2.3(a) shows the dipole formation in an orthorhombic fluorite-type crystal (crystallographic space group $Pca2_1$) in two different polarization states.

In a classic dielectric material, the electrical polarization P is linearly proportional to the applied electric field E, given by

$$P = \varepsilon_0 (\varepsilon_r - 1) E = \varepsilon_0 \chi_e E \tag{2.5}$$

with the electrical susceptibility χ_e , related to the relative permittivity ε_r of the dielectric material with $\chi_e = \varepsilon_r - 1$. Since ferroelectric materials exhibit spontaneous electrical polarization with reorientable dipoles, their polarization also depends on the previously applied electric fields and their induced remnant polarization. This results in a characteristic hysteresis loop as shown in Figure 2.3(b).



Figure 2.3: (a) Ferroelectric orthorhombic crystal lattice $(Pca2_1)$ in two different states of polarization. In case of HZO, Hf/Zr atoms are represented in gray, O atoms in blue, and the shifting O atoms mainly responsible for the polarization in red. Image adapted from [134]. (b) Typical ferroelectric hysteresis curve. The dipole orientation is schematically shown for specific points in the hysteresis loop.

Initially in a non-polarized state, the ferroelectric domains are randomly oriented and cancel each other out throughout the material. As the electric field is increased, it first follows a linear relationship, but eventually saturates at a maximum polarization P_s , as all electric dipoles become fully aligned. Upon reducing the electric field, the polarization does not return to zero, but instead retains a remnant polarization P_r when the field is removed. When the field is reversed, the polarization decreases with the dipoles gradually changing their orientation until it reaches zero at a critical coercive field E_c . A decrease of the electric field beyond that point leads to an inverse polarization until the other saturation point at $-P_s$, and the negative remnant polarization $-P_r$ after removing the external electrical field. The area enclosed within the hysteresis loop represents the energy loss per cycle, attributable to mechanisms such as domain wall motion and dipole switching, which are crucial for the functionality of ferroelectric devices.

Perovskite-based ferroelectrics, such as $Pb(Zr,Ti)O_3$ (PZT) or $SrBi_2Ta_2O_9$ (SBT), are commonly used in state-of-the-art ferroelectric random access memories (FeRAMs) and ferroelectric FETs (FeFETs), but suffer from poor CMOS compatibility and limited scalability [133,135]. The discovery of ferroelectricity in fluorite-structured, Si-doped HfO₂, in 2011 by Böscke et al. [44] was considered a breakthrough for the semiconductor industry, as they are physically compatible with Si and various metals [135]. Furthermore, HfO₂based ferroelectric layers can be scaled down even below 5 nm, enabling the fabrication of high-density FeRAMs and FeFETs [45, 83, 133, 136]. In addition, its mature ALD capability with high control of film thickness is an additional advantage over perovskite-based ferroelectrics. Table 2.3 compares the key properties of fluorite-structured Hf_{1-x}Zr_xO₂ (HZO) with common perovskite-based ferroelectrics.
	$Hf_{1-r}Zr_rO_2$	PZT	SBT
	[132, 137]	[137 - 139]	[137, 138, 140]
$P_r \; (\mu C/cm^2)$	1-45	20-40	<10
$E_c \; (MV/cm)$	1-2	~ 0.05	0.01-0.1
$E_{BD} (\mathrm{MV/cm})$	4-8	0.5-2	~ 2
E_c/E_{BD} (%)	12.5-50	2.5-10	0.5-5
Dielectric constant ε_r	~30	~400	150-250
Endurance (cycles)	$>10^{11}$	$> 10^{15}$	$> 10^{12}$
Film thickness (nm)	5-30	>70	>25
Annealing temperature (K)	723-1273	>873	>1023
ALD capability	mature	limited	limited
CMOS compatibility	stable	Pb, O_2 diffusion	Bi, O_2 diffusion

Table 2.3: Comparison of HZO with the most common perovskite ferroelectrics PZT and SBT, including remnant polarization P_r , coercive field E_c , breakdown field E_{BD} as well as scalability and process compatibility.

The extraordinarily high coercive field E_c of the fluorite-structured $Hf_{1-x}Zr_xO_2$ is a rather unique property, which is more than an order of magnitude higher than in other perovskite materials. This is a major advantage for the scalability of FeFETs, enabling shorter gate lengths. Furthermore, it provides greater resistance to internal depolarization effects, improving the retention of memory devices. The generally lower trap density and the lower permittivity of HfO₂-based ferroelectrics compared to PZT and SBT also help to alleviate retention losses [141]. However, as the high coercive field E_c required for its polarization switching is relatively close to the breakdown field E_{BD} , this could limit the reliability and endurance of the $Hf_{1-x}Zr_xO_2$ layers [137]. The high achieved remnant polarization P_r in the range of $1 \,\mu\text{C/cm}^2$ to $45 \,\mu\text{C/cm}^2$, e.g., depending on Zr content and fabrication methods, is in the range of PZT, promising for its integration into non-volatile devices with large memory windows.

The most common and stable crystal phase of HfO_2 is the monoclinic fluorite-type crystal structure (m-phase, crystallographic space group: $P2_1/c$), which is centrosymmetric and therefore non-ferroelectric. However, a phase transition to a non-centrosymmetric phase, the orthorhombic crystal structure of the crystallographic space group $Pca2_1$ (o-phase), is feasible. Sang et al. [142] confirmed via convergent electron beam diffraction that the orthorhombic phase is the origin of the ferroelectric properties. To stabilize this ferroelectric phase, the HfO_2 can be doped with different materials such as Si, Zr, Y or Al [44, 135, 143, 144], modifying the material's crystal structure. Furthermore, its crystallographic orientation and therefore its ferroelectric response heavily depend on the deposition methodology [135, 145], thermal treatments [146, 147] and film thickness [148, 149]. Moreover, strain engineering, through the application of mechanical stress via different top metal electrodes or substrate-induced strain, can also enhance the stability of the ferroelectric phase by favoring specific lattice distortions that promote dipole alignment [132, 150]. Especially the incorporation of Zr is highly interesting to stabilize the polar phase at room temperature [144]. Zr, similar to Si or Al dopants, tends to suppress the m-phase and favors the formation of the tetragonal (t-phase, space group: $P4_2/nmc$) or cubic phase (c-phase, $Fm\overline{3}m$), with the ferroelectric o-phase always present between its transitions [133]. In addition, as the ionic size of Zr^{4+} with 86 pm is almost identical to that of Hf^{4+} with 85 pm, as is their chemical valence, stable solid $Hf_{1-x}Zr_xO_2$ compositions can be formed over the entire range of x [133]. Mueller et al. [144] have shown that the properties of $Hf_{1-x}Zr_xO_2$ thin films heavily depend on the Zr concentration. This is illustrated in Figure 2.4, which shows the P/E and C/V characteristics for different $Hf_{1-x}Zr_xO_2$ compositions. Without the incorporation of Zr, the pure HfO_2 crystal remains in the centrosymmetric m-phase, showing an almost hysteresis-free paraelectric behavior. When increasing the Zr concentration, a transition to a dominant o-phase is observed, increasing its ferroelectric hysteresis. At a balanced concentration of Hf and Zr, i.e., $Hf_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O_2$ or HZO for short, the remnant polarization P_r reaches its maximum and is therefore favored for many memory applications. As the Zr content is further increased, the proportion of the t-phase increases, thinning down the hysteresis loop at zero bias, eventually leading to an antiferroelectric-like behavior for pure ZrO_2 layers with no remnant polarization.



Figure 2.4: Polarization (P) and permittivity (ε_r) hysteresis in relation to the Zr concentration in $Hf_{1-x}Zr_xO_2$ thin films. With the increase of Zr, the main crystal phase changes from a paraelectric monoclinic phase to a ferroelectric orthorhombic phase and finally to an antiferroelectric tetragonal phase for pure ZrO₂. Adapted from [143].

The fabrication of ferroelectric HZO thin films involves several critical steps that influence their ferroelectric properties and overall performance. Most commonly, ALD is used for the deposition of HZO thin films [135]. Other deposition techniques such as pulsed laser deposition (PLD) [151], CVD [152] or sputtering [153] have also been demonstrated, with each method having a strong impact on film properties. ALD processes are particularly favored for their ability to produce uniform and conformal coatings, with a precise control over film thickness and composition. Furthermore, it features significantly lower process temperatures compared to CVD or PLD processes, which is advantageous for its integration into CMOS fabrication process flows. The deposition parameters as well as the choice of precursors are also known to influence the properties of the ALD-grown HZO layers [145, 154].

Since the deposited films are mainly amorphous or in a random polycrystalline orientation, it is necessary to perform thermal post-deposition treatments to induce crystallization, usually by using rapid thermal annealing (RTA) processes. Therefore, mechanical stress on the layer is essential to stabilize the orthorhombic phase and at the same time suppress the formation of undesired phases. This mechanical stress is applied to the HZO layer via top and/or bottom electrodes. The choice of electrode material has a major influence on the properties of the ferroelectric layer, as it affects the orientation and grain size [132,155]. Furthermore, the electric properties are also strongly affected by the electrodes due to different metal work functions or the quality of the interface [132,150]. In this regard, TiN or TaN are the most commonly studied electrode materials, also due to their widespread use in CMOS technology. But also many other metal electrodes like Pt, Pd, W or Au have been shown to induce ferroelectric behavior in HZO films at different annealing temperatures [155].

The crystallization process of a thin HZO layer sandwiched between two metal electrodes is schematically illustrated in Figure 2.5, mainly following a two-step process. In the as-deposited amorphous layers, the crystallization starts from cubic or tetragonal nuclei, following Ostwald's rule [146]. With increasing temperature, these t-phase nuclei will act as crystallization seeds and start extending their size, eventually fully crystallizing the HZO layer. For HZO layers with TiN electrodes, annealing temperatures around 773 K are commonly used [155]. Park et al. [148] suggested that at this temperature, a phase



Figure 2.5: Schematic visualization of the crystallization and phase transition process via RTA. The as-deposited amorphous HZO layer with t-phase nanocrystallites fully crystallizes during the heat-up process and transitions to the ferroelectric o-phase during the cooling process. Image adapted from [148].

transition from the t-phase to the m-phase is, to some extent, kinetically hindered by its high activation barrier. Furthermore, it was shown that RTA of HZO with TiN electrodes at too high temperatures of >873 K significantly facilitates the formation of the m-phase, while that of the o- and t-phases decreases, leading to a reduced remnant polarization. During the following cool-down process, all the t-phase can be transformed into the ophase crystal due to the very low kinetic transition barrier [148]. A high oxygen content within the layer including a large number of oxygen interstitials, can hinder this phase transition, as it increases the activation barriers and promotes the formation of the mphase. In contrast, oxygen vacancies promote the formation of the ferroelectric phase [146,153]. It should be noted that any formed m-phase crystal cannot be transformed into another lattice structure, as this phase is highly stable [148].

After this crystallization process, the annealed film is polycrystalline with random orientation of the individual grains, frequently also including other crystallographic phases. This still remains a big challenge for a large-scale integration, as this can lead to a problematic device-to-device variation [47]. A strong preferential crystal orientation in ALD-grown HZO thin films has so far been limited to sub-3 nm layers [156].

For HZO layers exceeding a thickness of 20 nm, a significant degradation of the ferroelectricity is observed. This can be attributed to an increased formation of the monoclinic phase [148,149]. To counteract this degradation, 1 nm thin interlayers can be incorporated between thin HZO layers, enabling thicker ferroelectric stacks while reducing leakage currents [157].

When the ferroelectric layer is cycled between its two polarization states many times, a degeneration of its polarization response may occur. These degeneration effects are called ferroelectric fatigue. Thereby, an increase of the coercive field E_c and a decrease of the remnant polarization P_r are commonly observed [132]. In HZO, while high retention of the set polarization state over 10 years is consistently reached, fatigue is a well-known reliability issue, with the cycling endurance often limited to less than >10⁵ cycles [135]. In HZO, Zhao et al. [158] verified that trapping of charges causes this fatigue, with the number of traps increasing during endurance cycling. These defects may also include oxygen vacancies that migrate towards the interfaces or domain walls, restricting the domain wall motion and therefore reducing the polarization response. Recent publications have demonstrated that by scaling the HZO layer thickness down to 4 nm and the thereby achieved reduction of operation voltages, the endurance of the ferroelectric could be enhanced to >10¹⁴ cycles [159,160]. Moreover, the degradation of the polarization can mostly be recovered by annealing of the ferroelectric at elevated temperatures, presumably redistributing the defects initially causing the fatigue [132].

2.3 Metal-Semiconductor Heterostructures

All devices investigated in this work are based on metal-semiconductor-metal heterostructures, where two metal electrodes are in direct contact with the semiconductor channel, usually forming Schottky junctions. This is in contrast to conventional MOSFETs, where degenerately doped regions are used as source and drain (S/D) to form ohmic contacts with the semiconductor channel. Especially in recent years, metal-semiconductor heterostructures have regained interest as the transition to nanoscale dimensions makes it increasingly challenging to fabricate degenerately doped ohmic contacts with sharp doping profiles towards the channel and high reproducibility [57]. The metal-semiconductor interface is of key importance, as the resulting Schottky barrier determines the basic device characteristics. Low barrier heights result in ohmic behavior, characterized by linear I/V behavior and by moderate resistance to current flow in both directions. High barriers result in a rectifying behavior, with low resistance in one direction and high resistance in the other.

The focus of this section will be on Al as the metal contact material, and Si and Ge as the channel materials, since they are the key materials used in this work. It is important to note that the findings regarding the exchange reaction between Al and Si are results of this work, and its theoretical background is discussed here along with the Al-Ge exchange for simplicity [LW14].

2.3.1 Solid-State Diffusion for Contact Formation

For the fabrication of electrical devices based on metal-semiconductor heterostructures, reliable and reproducible contact formation is of utmost importance. Besides the properties of the two materials in contact, the quality and geometry of the interface play an important role and have a strong influence on the device characteristics. The majority of metal contacts is deposited via sputtering or evaporation techniques. Prior cleaning of the semiconductor surface, e.g., by chemical or sputter etching, is essential as the presence of interfacial oxides or other contaminants can significantly increase the contact resistance or degrade the electrical properties [161]. To further improve the contact properties after the metal deposition, thermally induced reaction or diffusion processes are commonly used to form metal-semiconductor interfaces, ideally resulting in well-defined and abrupt transitions with a defined Schottky barrier height, a low defect density and a controlled contact resistance.

Metal-Silicide and -Germanide Formation

For the contact formation to Si, metal-silicide solid-state reactions, e.g., forming Co_xSi_y [52], Pt_xSi_y [162], or Ni_xSi_y [163, 164], have been extensively studied in recent years. Especially the Ni_xSi_y system is well established in state-of-the-art CMOS processes [53]. It has also been successfully applied to novel electronic devices such as modern MOSFETs and reconfigurable field-effect transistors (RFETs) [67], where even a large-scale fabrication of fully integrated devices was demonstrated [72]. Starting from the deposited metal layer, e.g., Ni, mostly the metal atoms diffuse to the Si interface, where it reacts to form a silicide. Over time, more and more of the Si in the semiconductor channel is converted, resulting in an increasing length of the silicide and a propagating silicide-Si interface [165]. During the silicidation process, different phases with varying stoichiometric compositions can be formed depending on the temperature [54, 55]. In addition, the silicide phases have different material properties, e.g., different sheet resistivity, built-in strain and Schottky barriers to the Si interface [166, 167]. As these properties have a strong influence on the device characteristics, good control of the silicide phase is essential. An improvement of the thermal stability of the Ni_xSi_y phase is commonly achieved by inserting additional metals (e.g., Pt, Pd, Ti) or impurity implantation (e.g., N₂, BF₂) to retard the formation of agglomerations [168, 169]. Furthermore, the control of the silicide length is challenging and can suffer from rather large statistical variability due to the complex reaction kinetics and phase transitions [163, 166]. A major advantage of this silicidation process is its use for the self-aligned fabrication of contacts, the so-called salicidation process, which is particularly important in scaled CMOS technology [53]. The metal (Ni) is deposited directly on the transistor structure without any additional lithography step. After thermal annealing, the metal reacts with the Si to form the silicide, and the unreacted metal is removed subsequently by selective chemical etching [90].

Similar to the silicide formation, germanide contact formation to Ge structures can be utilized using different materials, e.g., Ni [55], Cu [170] or Mn [171]. Again, different intermetallic phases can be formed, which can also cause significant process variations, possibly void formation and reliability problems [171,172]. Furthermore, germanides generally show a lower stability compared to silicides [51, 56, 57]. Particularly in $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ systems with a ternary phase diagram, the large number of different intermetallic phases leads to poor morphological stability [173]. Noticeable improvements have been achieved by further including, e.g., Pt, Al or Ti additives, however, increasing process complexity even further [58, 169, 174].

Al Contact Formation to Si and Ge Nanostructures

The use of Al as a contact material instead could be a highly promising alternative to these contact formation processes including intermetallic phases. In recent years, the highly reproducible contact formation to bottom-up grown Ge NWs [62, 175], $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ NWs [63, 176] and top-down fabricated Ge nanosheets [LW17, LW16], [LWM1] has been extensively studied. Through a thermally induced exchange reaction between Ge and Al, self-aligned crystalline Al leads towards an atomically abrupt and single-elementary Al-Ge interface are achieved. The absence of intermetallic phases thereby has positive effects on variability and yield issues, as no complex phase transitions occur during the contact formation process. In addition, a lower resistance of the pure Al leads is achieved in comparison to the common silicide or germanide contacts [62].

A stable silicide or germanide formation as a compound material is prevented by the different chemical properties of Al and Si/Ge. This can also be seen in the binary phase



Figure 2.6: (a) Binary Al-Si phase diagram [177] and (b) Al-Ge phase diagram [178], both showing an eutectic system without intermetallic phases. The eutectic point of Al and Si is located at a composition of about 12.2 at% Si, with the solid-liquid transition at 850 K. For Al-Ge, the eutectic point is at 28.4 at% Si and 693 K.

diagrams for the Al-Si and the Al-Ge material system in Figure 2.6. Below the eutectic temperatures of 850 K for Al-Si and 693 K for Al-Ge, structures with local crystallites instead of intermetallic phases are formed. Furthermore, a miscibility gap is observed, leading to the segregation of Al and Si/Ge. The solubility in both systems is very low, with only ~1.5 at% of Si [177] and ~1.8 at% of Ge atoms [179] that can be dissolved in Al at the eutectic temperature, strongly decreasing for lower temperatures. Conversely, the solubility of Al in pure Si and Ge is even lower.

The contact formation processes of Si and Ge with Al are based on solid-state diffusion, where the overall movement of atoms is induced to compensate for concentration gradients. This flux of diffusing atoms \vec{J} is described by Fick's first law

$$\vec{J} = -D\nabla C \,, \tag{2.6}$$

with the diffusion vector \vec{J} directed towards the opposite direction of the concentration gradient ∇C . The diffusion coefficient is the tensor D, which is a proportional factor describing the diffusivity of a material. At higher temperatures, the diffusion of atoms is enhanced due to an increase of Brownian atomic movement. This temperature dependency of the diffusion is described by the Arrhenius formula [180]

$$D = D_0 \cdot \exp\left(-\frac{E_a}{k_B T}\right),\tag{2.7}$$

with D_0 as the diffusion constant and E_a as the activation energy. Since the number of diffusing particles must remain constant in an isolated system, Fick's first law can be combined with the continuity equation

$$\frac{\partial C}{\partial t} = -\nabla \cdot \vec{J} \tag{2.8}$$

resulting in a second-order differential equation, which is referred as Fick's second law:

$$\frac{\partial C}{\partial t} = \nabla \cdot (D\nabla C) \,. \tag{2.9}$$

The diffusion of particles in binary systems occurs between the two materials, known as inter-diffusion, but also within the same material, known as self-diffusion. Both elements can thereby have different intrinsic diffusion coefficients, which results in differences in the flux of particles. According to Fick's first law in Equation 2.6, the different flux of particles results in a movement of the interface between the two phases due to a net mass flow of the faster diffusing specimen [180].

Table 2.4 shows the inter- and self-diffusion coefficients D in of Al-Si-Ge system for a temperature of 773 K. Thereby, it is evident that the diffusion of Si and Ge in Al is more than 10 orders of magnitude stronger compared to the contrary diffusion of Al in Si and Ge. In Figure 2.7, this exchange effect is schematically illustrated for a Si/Ge nanosheet channel, contacted by large Al pads. In this Al-Si/Ge system with the highly asymmetric diffusion coefficients, this means that the channel material is rapidly diffusing into the Al contact pads, reducing the Si/Ge channel length due to a propagating metalsemiconductor interface. In contrast to the Kirkendall effect, where empty lattice sites are left behind as one material diffuses faster than the other one, thus leading to void formation, Al is effectively supplied via fast self-diffusion, compensating the out-diffusion of Si/Ge [62]. In addition, diffusion of Al into the semiconductor channel and consequent contamination is very unlikely due to the low diffusion parameters. A certain diffusion between Si and Ge, e.g., in vertical Si-Ge-Si heterostructures as used in this work, also has to be considered. However, since the diffusion coefficients of Si in Ge and vice versa are all very small, intermixing of the two layers is rather unlikely, at least for the used annealing temperatures of $T = 773 \,\mathrm{K}$.

	Diffusing element			
$(\mathrm{cm}^2/\mathrm{s})$	Al	Si	Ge	
in Al	6.2×10^{-10}	4.4×10^{-8}	3×10^{-9}	
in Si	1.9×10^{-22}	6.2×10^{-19}	2×10^{-22}	
in Ge	3.2×10^{-20}	7.5×10^{-21}	8.3×10^{-20}	

Table 2.4: Absolute values of the diffusion coefficients of the Al-Si-Ge material system at T = 773 K, calculated from the Arrhenius formula (Equation 2.7). Therefore, the parameter D_0 and E_0 are taken from the literature for the Al-Si [181, 182], Al-Ge [183, 184] and Si-Ge [185] systems excluding anisotropy effects. The given values imply that the elements in the columns diffuse into the elements in the rows.

The Al atoms replacing the out-diffusing Si/Ge are ordered in a single crystal manner. As Al crystallizes in an fcc crystal structure, with a lattice constant of a = 0.405 nm [178], a significant lattice mismatch towards the diamond-structured Si (0.543 nm) and Ge channel



Figure 2.7: Schematic illustration of the thermal exchange process between Al and Si/Ge. (a) Structure after Al is deposited to directly contact the Si/Ge nanosheet. (b) Rapid thermal annealing (RTA) induces the Al-Si/Ge exchange reaction, where Si/Ge atoms are diffusing into the large Al reservoir, mainly along surface channels. Al is supplied via fast self-diffusion, forming crystalline Al-leads (c-Al).

(0.565 nm) is evident. To compensate for this lattice mismatch, the c-Al lattice is rotated towards the crystal structure of the semiconductor channel, enabling strain minimization and lattice relaxation [LW17]. In $\langle 111 \rangle$ oriented Ge NW, a mutual in-plane rotation of the two crystal lattices of 18° [64] is observed, while in Ge nanosheets patterned from (100) oriented GeOI a 6.5° rotation was measured [LW17]. The formed Al-semiconductor interface is thereby found to be flat and atomically abrupt, free of contamination (e.g., interface oxides) [64]. Similar to the silicide and germanide contact formation, a preferential $\{111\}$ facet of the interface is obtained [63, 163][LW17]. It can be thus assumed that the Al atoms are ordered epitaxially to the Si/Ge lattice. Indeed the $\{111\}$ is a preferential reaction interface in cubic systems.

The growth of the c-Al lead and thus the propagation of the Al-Si/Ge interface over the time t can be described by a parabolic behavior, which can be estimated by

$$L = \sqrt{2Dt} \,, \tag{2.10}$$

hinting towards diffusion limited reaction kinetics. Studies of Al-Ge exchange reactions in NWs and nanosheets have also shown the influence of diameter or sheet width, with increasing reaction rate for narrow structures, indicating a volume diffusion limited process [62, 186][LW17]. In addition, EDX scans have revealed an $\sim 2 \text{ nm}$ thick germanium-rich shell around the c-Al core, formed by Al-Ge exchange in Ge NWs, which indicates that Ge out-diffusion occurs via surface channels [175]. Importantly, the Al reservoir for the exchange with Si or Ge has to be large compared to the volume of the exchanged material. Kral et al. [62] showed that the Al-Ge exchange reaction stops when the bulk solubility limit of Ge in the Al reservoir of around $\sim 1.8 \text{ at}\%$ is reached. In the Al-Si system, this bulk limit is estimated at $\sim 1.5 \text{ at}\%$ [177].

Due to the absence of intermetallic phases, several consecutive annealing steps can be conducted to precisely tune the desired length of the remaining semiconductor channel. Thereby, the channel lengths of the devices can be reduced towards the few nm region, without the limitation of lithographic processes. Luong et al. [64] demonstrated the fabrication of ultra-scaled Ge channels of 7 nm length embedded in an Al-Ge-Al heterostructure via an in-situ annealing process in a transmission electron microscope (TEM). Furthermore, this led to the demonstration of quantum ballistic transport at room temperature by Sistani et al. [187]. Since Al becomes superconducting at a transition temperature of 1.2 K [87], Al-Ge-Al heterostructures with superconductor-semiconductor interfaces may also be very interesting for the use in Josephson FETs, which can be integrated into gate-tunable superconducting qubits [188, 189].

2.3.2 Schottky Barrier Junction

The Schottky barrier is a fundamental phenomenon observed at the interface between metals and semiconductors, characterized by a potential energy barrier that affects the charge carrier flow. This barrier forms due to the intrinsic differences in the work functions of the two materials, which leads to the redistribution of charge carriers [190].

In a metal, the work function $q\phi_m$ is defined as the difference between the Fermi level E_F^m and the vacuum level E_{vac} with $q\phi_m = E_{vac} - E_F^m$. This property basically describes the mean energy an electron needs to surpass to be emitted to the vacuum. Al, used in this work as the contact material towards the semiconductor channel, has a metal work function of $q\phi_m = 4.2 \text{ eV}$ [191]. Table 2.5 summarizes the work functions for different metals. An analogous property in semiconductors is the electron affinity χ , given by the energy difference between E_{vac} and the conduction band edge E_C with $q\chi = E_{vac} - E_C$. The work function of the semiconductor is thus given by $q\phi_s = q(\chi + \phi_n)$, with $q\phi_n$ as the energy difference between E_C and the Fermi level E_F^s .



Figure 2.8: Schematic energy band diagrams of a metal-semiconductor junction, forming a Schottky barrier. (a) N-type semiconductor and a metal separated in vacuum ($\phi_m > \phi_s$) and (b) in contact at thermal equilibrium. (c) and (d) show the Schottky barrier formation for a p-type semiconductor with $\phi_m < \phi_s$.

Metal	Work function $\phi_m \ (eV)$	Metal	Work function ϕ_m (eV)
Er	3	W	4.55
Hf	3.9	Cu	4.65
Ta	4.25	Au	5.1
Al	4.28	Pd	5.12
Ti	4.33	Ni	5.15
TiN	4.3 - 4.65	Pt	5.65

Table 2.5: Work functions ϕ_m for commonly used metals [191]. For TiN the work function strongly depends on the deposition methods and parameters [192]. The materials used in this work are highlighted.

Figure 2.8 shows the schematic illustration of the energy band diagram of a metalsemiconductor junction in the case of an n-doped (a,b) and p-doped semiconductor (c,d). At contact, the Fermi levels of both materials are aligned, with the other energy bands bending towards the metallurgical interface to reach thermal equilibrium. This causes a charge transfer between the two materials, creating a depletion region of the width W_{dep} within the semiconductor near the interface. This intrinsic band bending V_{bi} , commonly referred to as built-in bias, depends on the difference between the two thermionic work functions

$$V_{bi} = \phi_m - \phi_s. \tag{2.11}$$

An externally applied bias that compensates for this built-in bias, resulting in flat energy bands across the metal-semiconductor junction, is called the flat-band voltage $V_{FB} = V_{bi}$. If the work function of the metal is larger than that of the n-type semiconductor $(\phi_m > \phi_s)$, the energy bands of the semiconductor bend upwards (see Figure 2.8(b)). This results in a depletion of the majority charge carriers (electrons) near the interface and thus to a rectifying behavior. In the case of the work function of the metal being lower than the one of the semiconductor $(\phi_m < \phi_s)$, an accumulation layer with excess electrons near the interface is formed, without the formation of an energy barrier, resulting in an ohmic behavior. Between the Fermi level E_F and the conduction band edge E_C , the Schottky barrier for electrons is formed, which in an ideal case without surface state is given by

$$q\phi_B^n = q(\phi_m - \chi). \tag{2.12}$$

The equivalent behavior is given for p-doped semiconductors for $\phi_m > \phi_s$, resulting in a depletion of holes (see Figure 2.8(d)). Analogously, the Schottky barrier for electrons in a p-type semiconductor is formed between E_F and the valence band E_V , given by

$$q\phi_B^p = E_g - q(\phi_m - \chi),$$
 (2.13)

including the energy band gap E_g .

In reality, however, the Schottky barriers estimated by Equations 2.12 and 2.13 can be substantially different. Experiments have shown a less sensitive influence of the metal

2. Theoretical Background

work functions on the Schottky barriers [161]. The differences are attributed to localized states at the metal-semiconductor interface that can accumulate charges and eventually generate dipoles [190]. Hence, these metal-induced gap states (MIGS) screen the work function of the metal. This effect is called Fermi level pinning. Figure 2.9(a) shows the Fermi level pinning in an n-doped semiconductor, where the Schottky barrier for electron injection $q\phi_B^e$ is strongly increased.



Figure 2.9: (a) Fermi level pinning at the metal-semiconductor interface due to metal-induced gap states (MIGS). (b) Schottky barrier heights for Si and Ge in contact with various different metals. In Si, most metals pin in the mid-gap region, while Ge exhibits strong pinning towards the VB. Figure adapted from [193]. (c) The barrier height $q\phi_B^n$ is reduced by $q\Delta\phi$ due to a combination of the applied field ξ at the interface and the image-force. Image adapted from [90].

The material screening in Figure 2.9(b) shows the pinning levels in Si and Ge for a large variety of metals [193]. In Si, most metals tend to pin toward the center of the band gap, but the Schottky barrier height can still be modified by the choice of contact material and doping level in the semiconductor. When Si is contacted with Al, the Fermi level is pinned very close to the center of the band, which should result in similar barriers for both holes and electrons. This property is highly desirable for the realization of RFETs [12]. For Ge, however, almost all metals, including Al, pin closer to the valence band edge. This leads to low injection barriers for holes and very high electron barriers, which typically results in strong p-type behavior of Ge-based Schottky devices [36, 194]. This strong Fermi level pinning becomes a serious challenge when trying to realize ambipolar or even n-type devices. A common method to target this is to deposit ultra-thin insulating interface layers between the metal and the semiconductor, such as SiN [195] and high- κ dielectrics, creating interface dipoles that counteract the Fermi level pinning [193]. Thin TiN and TaN interface layers can also be effectively used to lower the Schottky barrier to achieve ohmic contacts to n-doped Ge [196, 197]. Recently, also the use of Bi as contact material was reported to create almost pinning-free contacts for both Si and Ge [198].

Another important effect that lowers the potential barrier at the metal-semiconductor interface is the image-force lowering, known as the Schottky effect. As charge carriers approach the interface, its electrostatic attraction reduces the electric field at the interface, which results in a reduced effective barrier height [199]. This lowering is depicted in Figure 2.9(c) for an n-type barrier interacting with electrons. The effect of the image-force lowering can be estimated by

$$\Delta\phi = \sqrt{\frac{q\xi}{4\pi\varepsilon_s}},\tag{2.14}$$

with the electric field ξ applied to the metal-semiconductor interface and the permittivity of the semiconductor ε_s . This means that an increasing electric field, e.g., at a larger reverse bias, results in a stronger decrease of the Schottky barrier height. Furthermore, the peak of the potential barrier is also shifted away from the interface into the semiconductor to the position x_m .

Transport Mechanisms through a Schottky Contact

When an external voltage V is applied to the metal-semiconductor interface, the energy bands within the semiconductor can be modulated. Depending on the direction of the bias voltage, the Schottky barrier for the injection of the majority charge carriers from the metal into the semiconductor can be either lowered (forward bias) or raised (reverse bias), resulting in a change in the current flow along the heterostructure. Figure 2.10 shows the carrier injection mechanism for a slightly n-doped semiconductor for electrons. At this junction, three different transport processes are considered (with the inverse processes under the reverse bias conditions), including:

- 1. Thermionic emission (TE)
- 2. Thermionic field emission (TFE)
- 3. Field emission (FE)

Note that electron-hole recombination could also occur within the space charge region, but this is not discussed here.

Under moderate bias conditions, i.e., not leading to extreme bending of the energy bands, thermionic emission (TE) is the main process responsible for the current transport in Schottky junctions in moderately doped semiconductors at room temperature [90]. Thereby, charge carriers are injected over the energy barrier from the metal into the semiconductor, enabled by the thermal energy distribution. Based on the thermionic emission theory, under the assumptions that $q\phi_B \gg k_B T$ and that the current flow does not affect



Figure 2.10: Transport mechanisms through a Schottky junction for an n-type semiconductor in (a) reverse bias and (b) forward bias direction. The transport mechanisms include thermionic emission (TE) over the Schottky barrier $(q\phi_B^n)$, field emission (FE) with quantum-mechanical tunneling through the barrier, and thermionic field emission (TFE) with tunneling of thermally activated carriers.

the thermal equilibrium at the interface, the current flow can be estimated by

$$J = A^* T^2 \exp\left(-\frac{q\phi_B^*}{k_B T}\right) \left[\exp\left(\frac{qV}{k_B T}\right) - 1\right]$$

= $J_{TE} \left[\exp\left(\frac{qV}{k_B T}\right) - 1\right].$ (2.15)

This means that the current injection over the barrier is exponentially increasing with the bias voltage V applied to the metal-semiconductor junction. Note that this formula includes the effective Schottky barrier height $q\phi_B^* = q(\phi_B - \Delta\phi)$, also considering the effects of image-force lowering and Fermi level pinning. The constant A^* is called the effective Richardson constant for thermionic emission and includes material-related parameters. When neglecting the effects of optical phonon scattering and quantum mechanical reflections, it is given by

$$A^* = \frac{4\pi q m^* k^2}{h^3} = A \cdot \frac{m^*}{m_0}.$$
 (2.16)

In this context, the Richardson constant $A = 120 \text{ A/cm}^2 \text{K}^2$ for free electrons $(m^* = m_0)$ is commonly used, which can then be directly related to the effective mass of the majority charge carriers in the semiconductor channel with $A^*/A = m^*/m_0$ [161].

When lowering the voltage on the junction towards V = 0 V, reaching thermal equilibrium, the thermal emission current mainly depends on the effective Schottky barrier height $q\phi_B^*$ with [90]

$$J_{TE} = A^* T^2 \exp\left(-\frac{q\phi_B^*}{k_B T}\right).$$
(2.17)

Based on this equation, the effective Schottky barrier height in a Schottky barrier FET (SBFET) can be extracted, which is described in Section 3.2.4.

At increased band bending, e.g., higher voltage levels V applied to the Schottky junction, or at lower temperatures, carrier transport by tunneling is the main contributor to current flow. Thereby, charge carriers with energies below the height of the potential barrier at the interface can pass this barrier by quantum-mechanical tunneling. Strong band bending can thereby decrease the thickness of the barriers, increasing their transmissibility for tunneling. In case of highly doped degenerative contacts to the semiconductor channel, this is also the main transport mechanism. Tunneling of charge carriers with energies near the Fermi level is called field emission (FE) or direct tunneling. Thermalized carriers with higher energies can also tunnel through the thinner part of the potential barrier towards the top, which is referred to as thermionic field emission (TFE) [57]. The relative contribution of these two depends on the temperature and the doping concentration in the semiconductor channel.

The tunneling current from the semiconductor to the metal (J_{s-m}) is proportional to the quantum transmission probability $\mathcal{T}(E)$ for an energy E, multiplied by the Fermi-Dirac distribution functions of the occupied states F_s of the semiconductor and the unoccupied states $(1 - F_m)$ at the metal side of the interface, and is given by [90]

$$J_{s-m} = \frac{A^*T}{k_B} \int_{E_{F,m}}^{q\phi_B^n} F_s \mathcal{T}(E)(1-F_m) dE.$$
 (2.18)

The transmission probability $\mathcal{T}(E)$ can be estimated by using the Wentzel-Kramers-Brillouin (WKB) approximation, under the consideration of a triangular potential shape at the interface, given by $V(x) = q\phi_B^n - q\xi x$, with the externally applied electric field ξ . This results in [199]

$$\mathcal{T}(E) = \exp\left(-4\frac{\sqrt{2m^*}}{3\hbar q\xi}(q\phi_B^n - E)^{3/2}\right),$$
(2.19)

including the effective mass m^* of the tunneling charge carrier and the reduced Planck's constant \hbar . For the tunneling currents in the opposite direction, from the metal into the semiconductor (J_{m-s}) , a similar expression as in Equation 2.18 can be derived by interchanging the Fermi-Dirac statistics F_s and F_m . The resulting net tunneling current density is then given by the sum of the two currents. As further analytical expressions for the tunneling currents are rather complex, this equation can also be conveniently expressed by using the ideality factor n with

$$J = J_{s-m} + J_{m-s} = J_0 \left[\exp\left(\frac{qV}{nk_BT}\right) - 1 \right], \qquad (2.20)$$

including the saturation current density J_0 determined by the thermionic emission current J_{TE} . Values for the ideality factor n can either be extracted by numerical evaluation of the equations above or by experimental extraction from typical I/V characteristics of Schottky diodes. For high temperatures and low doping concentrations, the ideality factor n usually is close to 1, which relates to a dominating thermionic emission current. At low temperatures or at large doping concentrations resulting in thinner potential barriers, both n and J_0 are increasing due to an increasing contribution of the tunneling currents.

2. Theoretical Background

A characteristic parameter for tunneling is the tunneling energy E_{00} , as it is directly related to the tunneling probability by

$$\mathcal{T}(E) \sim \exp\left(-\frac{q\phi_B}{E_{00}}\right) \quad \text{with} \quad E_{00} = \frac{q\hbar}{2}\sqrt{\frac{N}{m^*\varepsilon_s}},$$
(2.21)

with the doping concentration N. Therefore, this parameter can be used to estimate the contribution of the different transport mechanisms to the current flow. When $k_BT \ll E_{00}$, tunneling-related FE will be the dominating effect, while $k_BT \gg E_{00}$ results in a dominant TE. At $k_BT \approx E_{00}$, TFE is expected, with a combination of both mechanisms contributing to the total current flow [90].

2.4 Schottky Barrier Field-Effect Transistors

In a Schottky barrier field-effect transistor (SBFET), metal source and drain (S/D) electrodes are used to directly contact the semiconductor channel, which can be either highlydoped, moderately doped or even undoped. Compared to conventional MOSFETs, which use degenerately doped S/D regions to form ohmic contacts to a doped channel, the contacts in SBFETs have the advantages of abrupt interface formation and reduced series resistance of the metal electrodes. Especially when considering highly scaled devices, the reproducible fabrication of well-defined and abrupt doping profiles with low parasitic resistances becomes increasingly challenging. However, since a potential barrier is always present at the interface, SBFETs typically suffer from reduced on-state currents [57]. Nonetheless, high-speed operation of Si-based SBFETs has been demonstrated with transit frequencies up to 280 GHz, attributed to the low RC delays [200].

The integrated metal-semiconductor-metal heterostructure forms two back-to-back Schottky junctions that are biased in opposite directions (i.e., forward and reverse). The operation of the SBFET is therefore fundamentally based on the modulation of the Schottky barriers by the application of a gate voltage (V_G) . This gate electrode is separated from the metal-semiconductor-metal heterostructure by an insulating dielectric layer and, importantly, also covers both metal-semiconductor junctions to allow electrostatic control of the Schottky barriers. A schematic of an SBFET based on an SOI substrate is shown in Figure 2.11(a). The typical transfer characteristic with separated electron and hole current contributions is shown in Figure 2.11(b). When no external voltage is applied to the device, the system is in thermal equilibrium with no net current flowing, with Schottky barriers formed for electrons ϕ_B^n and holes ϕ_B^p . A positive bias voltage between S/D $(V_{DS} > 0 V)$ would then allow a net current flow of holes from the drain contact to the source side. As long as $V_{GS} = 0$ V and a long-channel behavior is given, the increase of the drain potential only influences the potential barrier at the drain side, with an exponential increase of the current flow of holes for positive bias due to increasing tunneling probability into the VB at the drain. However, since the injection barriers for both carrier types are still relatively high at $V_{GS} = 0$ V, only a low leakage current flow is enabled in this off-state.



Figure 2.11: (a) Schematic of an SOI-based SBFET composed of a top-gated metalsemiconductor-metal heterostructure. (b) Transfer characteristic of a typical SBFET. The total current flow I_{DS} is the combination of the electron-induced (red) and hole-induced (blue) currents. The kinks in the characteristic mark the transition from the thermionic regime (TE) to the tunneling regime (FE and TFE). Figure based on [201]. Energy band diagrams at a positive bias voltage $(V_{DS} > 0 \text{ V})$ for (c) positive gate voltages for electron-dominated current flow via FE, and (d) for negative gate voltages with hole-dominated currents. The dashed lines show the energy bands at $V_{GS} = 0 \text{ V}$. The green lines in (c) mark the flat-band condition ($V_{GS} = V_{FB,S}$). The source is grounded.

With an increasing gate voltage $(V_{GS} > 0 V)$, the energy bands in the semiconductor channel can be lowered, which is schematically shown in Figure 2.11(c). The transport is next discussed, separated between injection at the source- and drain-sided junction. At gate voltages below the here-called "flat-band" voltage at the source $(V_{GS} < V_{FB,S})$, the "natural", i.e., material-related, Schottky barrier at the source is not changed by the shifting potential. However, a potential barrier ϕ_s higher than ϕ_B^n adds up to the electrical Schottky barrier, resulting in a behavior similar to that of a conventional MOSFET, whose modulation is determined by thermionic emission. When the gate voltage exceeds the flatband voltage $(V_{GS} > V_{FB,S})$, the Schottky barrier at the interface then becomes the highest barrier in the channel and determines the injection of electrons. The electron-induced current then further increases with increasing V_{GS} as the thickness of the barrier at the Schottky contact is reduced and tunneling takes place [114]. In the transfer characteristic (dashed red line) in Figure 2.11(b), the transition from TE to the tunneling regime with a reduced slope can be seen by a kink in the characteristic [121]. At the drain-side junction, however, increasing the gate voltage leads to a thicker barrier and a decrease in the tunneling probability to the VB. Eventually this will transition to thermionic emission when the flat-band voltage at the drain $V_{FB,D}$ is exceeded, causing an exponential decrease in hole currents (see dashed blue line in Figure 2.11(b)). The opposite behavior is obtained when the gate voltage is modulated in the opposite direction $(V_{GS} < 0 \text{ V})$, which is shown in Figure 2.11(d). An increased hole-induced current flow from drain to source is enabled, while the flow of electrons is inhibited.

The sum of the electron and hole contributions gives the total current flow of the SBFET. As the current flow exponentially depends on the Schottky barrier height ϕ_B , the ratio between the potential barriers for electrons ϕ_B^n and holes ϕ_B^p will determine the dominant charge carrier type and thus its device characteristic [114]. For symmetric barriers, an ambipolar characteristic with symmetrical on-state currents can be expected. The off-state of an SBFET with symmetrical barriers then mainly depends on the effective Schottky barrier height $q\phi_B^*$ and can be estimated with [116]

$$I_{off} \approx 2 \cdot \frac{2e^2}{h} V_{DS} \cdot \exp\left(-\frac{q\phi_B^*}{k_B T}\right)$$
(2.22)

Ge-based SBFETs typically exhibit strong unipolar, p-type device behavior due to their strong Fermi level pinning close to the VB for most metals, resulting in large injection barriers for electrons [202].

Figure 2.12(a,b) shows the influence of a changing drain potential while keeping the source and gate voltages fixed. Since the potential distribution on the source side (with V_{GS}) remains constant, the injection mechanism for the electrons and thus the corresponding current branch is not changed. However, as the energy bands on the drain side are shifted downwards, increasing the bias voltage V_{DS} and consequently also the potential difference V_{GD} , the Schottky barrier for the hole injection is thinned, yielding increased p-type currents [114]. This results in a fanning of the subthreshold characteristic in the p-branch for varying V_D . The analog effect is observed for the n-branch when the source potential V_S is modulated at fixed V_D and V_G .



Figure 2.12: (a) Schematic band diagram and (b) transfer characteristic of an SBFET for two different drain voltages V_D . With V_{GS} kept constant, only the injection of holes at the drain is modulated. Figure adapted from [114]. (c) Influence of the screening length λ on the current slope in the tunneling regime (here for the n-branch current).

As already shown in Figure 2.11, the subthreshold slope of the SBFET characteristic clearly depends on the operation regime. In the thermionic region, e.g., $V_{GS} < V_{FB,S}$ for electron emission over the barrier, the current flow purely depends on the linear displacement of the maximum channel barrier. Similar to a conventional MOSFET, a minimum subthreshold slope (S_{th}) according to [57]

$$S_{th} = \left(\frac{d(\log_{10}(I_D))}{dV_G}\right)^{-1} \simeq \left(1 + \frac{C_{dm}}{C_{ox}}\right) \ln 10 \cdot \frac{k_B T}{q}$$
(2.23)

can be reached, depending on the body effect coefficient $(1+C_{dm}/C_{ox})$ with the capacitance at the depletion width maximum C_{dm} and the oxide gate capacitance C_{ox} . Note that the D_{it} is not considered here for simplicity. To improve the steepness, it is desirable to minimize C_{dm}/C_{ox} by reducing the thickness of the active region of the channel and maximizing the gate capacitance, e.g., by using thin high- κ dielectrics (see Section 2.2.1). As for classical dielectrics, this body factor always remains above 1, the ideal slope is limited to ~60 mV/dec at T = 300 K.

In the tunneling regime ($V_{FB,S} < V_{GS}$ for electrons), the current is limited by the fixed Schottky barrier height at the junction, where the thickness and transparency of the potential barrier are modulated by V_{GS} . Consequently, this results in a degraded subthreshold slope [121]. The natural screening length λ is an important parameter that relates the geometric properties of the semiconductor channel to the potential distribution within the channel. In this context, it specifically denotes the thickness of the Schottky barrier [116]. In ultra-thin body devices with a channel thickness below ~20 nm, such as devices based on SOI platforms, the semiconductor channel can be considered to be fully depleted, depending on the doping concentration. For planar single-gated devices, the screening length can be calculated with [57, 203]

$$\lambda_{SOI} = \sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon_{Si}}{\varepsilon_{ox}}} t_{Si} t_{ox}, \qquad (2.24)$$

with the thickness t and dielectric constants ε for the Si channel and the gate oxide layer. In multi-gate structures, such as FinFETs or GAA architectures, the gating efficiency can be significantly improved, e.g., lowering λ up to a factor of $2^{-1/2}$ for double-gated structures [57]. A shorter λ therefore relates to a shorter tunneling distance and thus results in increased currents at a steeper slope within the tunneling dominated regime, with $\lambda \to 0$ as the ideal case approaching the thermal limit. Figure 2.12(c) shows the influence of the screening length λ on the n-type currents, given an already ideal S_{th} .

2.5 Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistors

The reconfigurable field-effect transistor (RFET) is an emerging device concept based on an SBFET that combines the functionality of n- and p-type FETs in a single device. This is achieved by adding additional gates to the SBFET structure to electrostatically control the energy band landscape within the typically intrinsic or low-doped semiconductor channel and the Schottky junctions. As shown in the previous section, SBFETs with a single gate covering the entire metal-semiconductor-metal heterostructure exhibit ambipolar device behavior with, in the case of mid-gap pinning S/D contacts, symmetrical n- and p-type currents. Using an additional gate, the so-called polarity (or program) gate (PG), the undesired charge carrier type can be filtered out by introducing an injection barrier at the Schottky junction, allowing unipolar n- and p-type conduction with well-suppressed off-state currents. The current flow through the device is then modulated via the other gate electrode, the control gate (CG).

2. Theoretical Background

The first RFET devices were mainly demonstrated utilizing low-dimensional NW channel materials such as Si [68, 77, 204], Ge [33, 37], or carbon nanotubes [66, 205, 206], or 2D channels based on graphene [73], MoTe₂ [75] or WSe₂ [76, 82]. Over the past few years, RFETs with top-down fabricated channels, usually based on SOI, have shown greater promise for a large-scale production [25, 69, 71, 207, 208]. More recently, Sessi et al. [72] demonstrated the first full-scale wafer fabrication of RFETs on a 22 nm FDSOI (fully depleted SOI) platform. All devices rely on the same mechanism of modulating the energy band structure to enable a predominant charge carrier injection over Schottky junctions into the conduction or valence band [57].



Figure 2.13: Schematic representation of common RFET architectures. (a) and (b) have the CG in the middle of the channel to control the current flow over a thermionic barrier. The Schottky barriers are controlled by the PG via additional top gate electrodes (a) or by a common back gate contact (b). (c) Dual top gate (DTG) architecture, with the CG controlling the source-sided and the PG controlling the drain-sided Schottky junction.

Figure 2.13 schematically shows three commonly used RFET architectures with different arrangements of the gate electrodes. These can be categorized according to the different transport mechanisms via the CG. For the devices in 2.13(a,b), the PG covers both Schottky junctions, thereby controlling both potential barriers for the carrier injection. The CG exclusively modulates only the thermionic channel barrier for the injected charge carriers in order to control the current flow. This concept is commonly referred to as electrostatic channel doping. The modulation of a thermionic channel barrier has the advantage that subthreshold slopes down to the thermal limit of $60 \,\mathrm{mV/dec}$ can be achieved. The three top-gated (TTG) design in Figure 2.13(a) is the main device architecture in this work and allows independent control of the injection barrier and channel conduction. However, the placement of three top gates on the metal-semiconductor heterostructure leads to increased fabrication complexity and limited scalability of the channel. By using a common back gate contact for the PG (see Figure 2.13(b)) the lateral size of the RFET can be reduced as only one top gate electrode has to be placed atop the channel [72]. A drawback of this design is that the simultaneous application of the electric field from the CG and PG can compete with each other for control of the designated channel region. This, together with the potentially thicker back gate oxide, typically results in increased operating voltages compared to the TTG design [13].

In the dual top gate (DTG) RFET concept in 2.13(c) both the CG and the PG are placed directly atop each Schottky junction, allowing individual control of the injection barriers without an additional gating electrode in the middle of the channel. One gate can block the undesired charge carrier type at the injection barrier, setting the device polarity. The other gate can tune the transparency of the other Schottky barrier to modulate the flow of the majority charge carriers [57]. As this modulation of the current flow relies on FE/TFE through a potential barrier, the subthreshold slopes and threshold voltages for the DTG architecture are significantly reduced compared to TTG devices. Hybrid implementations, e.g., TTG architectures with independently controlled PGs, allow both current modulation types and provide the functionality to switch between high- V_{th} and low- V_{th} operation [207].

2.5.1 Working Principle

The modulation of the band structure for a TTG RFET is shown schematically in Figure 2.14. The bias voltage V_{DS} is thereby set to be positive and constant for all the different scenarios. When a positive potential is applied to the PGs for the n-type operation, the energy bands of the semiconductor channel are lowered, allowing electrons to be injected into the CB and through the drain barrier via TE/TFE. Simultaneously, the potential barrier width and height for holes is increased, inhibiting its injection into the VB. With the CG also set to a positive potential (Figure 2.14(a)) the injected electrons can pass through the semiconductor channel, resulting in current flow. When a negative potential is applied to the CG (Figure 2.14(b)), the injected electrons are blocked at the channel barrier and current flow is suppressed, giving the off-state of the n-type operation. An equivalent behavior is obtained for the operation as a p-type transistor with inverted potentials at the gate electrodes. A negative potential at the PG shifts the energy bands towards higher energies, thinning the barriers for hole injection while blocking electrons. By modulating the CG voltage, the thermionic channel barrier is modulated, either blocking (Figure 2.14(c)) or enabling (d) the flow of the injected holes.



Figure 2.14: Schematic energy band diagrams for a three top-gated RFET at positive bias V_{DS} . The carrier injection for electrons and holes is indicated. The n-mode is set via positive V_{PG} , with the electron-induced current being modulated with the CG over a thermionic barrier between on-state (a) and off-state (b). P-mode for hole-dominated currents at negative V_{PG} in the off-state (c) and on-state operation (d).

The characteristic transfer curve of a TTG RFET is shown schematically in Figure 2.15. Depending on the constant PG voltage, the device thereby mimics the characteristic of an n-type FET ($V_{PG} > 0$) or a p-type FET ($V_{PG} < 0$). Low off-currents are typically achieved as the unintended carriers are well suppressed at the Schottky barriers and the intended carriers are suppressed by the channel barrier. In contrast to the TTG characteristic, DTG devices show a distinct kink when the "flat-band" condition at the injecting barrier is reached at $V_{CG} = V_{FB}$, indicating the transition from TE to TFE. This is due to the different current modulation mechanism, as the CG of the DTG device also controls the injection of charge carriers at the junctions, whereas the injection for the TTG device is fixed with the PG potential, as explained before in Section 3.1.2. Hence, this leads to shallower subthreshold slopes and increased threshold voltages. The on-state currents, however, are almost the same, as this is limited by the injection of the Schottky barriers for both RFET types.



Figure 2.15: Schematic transfer characteristic of a three top-gated (solid lines) and a dual topgated RFET (dashed lines), with the corresponding band diagrams for both operation modes. A distinct kink only in the DTG device characteristic is evident when reaching the flat-band condition. Figure adapted from [76].

A crucial aspect for the integration of RFETs into circuit applications is the symmetry of the two operation modes. Although many publications have already demonstrated the successful implementation of polarity switching devices, achieving symmetrical characteristics in terms of on-currents, threshold voltages and threshold slopes remains a challenge [71]. Therefore, the injection conditions for both carrier types play an important role. The formation of S/D contacts directly aligned with their Fermi level to the mid-gap energy of the channels is desirable, resulting in equal injection barriers for electrons and holes. In addition, differences in the tunneling effective masses of the two carriers also affect the tunneling probability (see Equation 2.19) and the channel mobility through the device channel, which can also induce asymmetric behavior [12]. In this respect, Heinzig et al. [77] utilized strain engineering of the Si NW-based channel to tune the tunneling transmission of charge carriers and achieve a higher degree of symmetry, with on-current ratios I_{on}^p/I_{on}^n up to 0.98. Simon et al. [71] used a similar approach in top-down fabricated RFETs with omega gating geometry to achieve on-state symmetries of 1.6. These two publications are also the ones with the highest symmetries reported for Si channel RFETs, with both using intruded NiSi₂ contacts towards the channel as S/D contacts. The realization of Ge channel RFETs has also been reported for bottom-up NW [33,37] and top-down nanosheet channels [38]. However, the strong Fermi level pinning towards the Ge VB has resulted in strongly asymmetric operating modes, with p-type currents at least 10 times higher than those for n-mode. Effective depinning or mid-gap repinning strategies are therefore inevitable for the integration of Ge in RFETs.

2.5.2 Scaling Prospects

Due to the additional gates required to reconfigure the device characteristics, the scalability of RFETs is limited. In this context, the critical tunneling barrier thickness d_T , at which two states can still be clearly distinguished, must be considered. In MOSFETs, where only a single potential barrier is introduced to tune the current flow, the ultimate scaling limit of the channel is $L_{ch} = d_T$. For RFETs with two independent top gates (DTG), the channel is limited to $L_{ch} > 2d_T$, while for TTG devices it further increases to $L_{ch} > 3d_T$. Moreover, potential build-up within the individually gated regions should be considered. Therefore, other aspects, such as drain-induced barrier lowering (DIBL)-like effects or band-to-band tunneling when applying high electric fields between two neighboring channel regions, may further reduce the scalability of the devices [12].

In this regard, Baldauf et al. [209] used TCAD simulations to analyze the scaling of DTG RFETs based on GAA Si NW channels, showing that the performance can be increased by reducing the cross-section of the devices. Considering the natural length λ , sufficiently high off-state currents and stable V_{th} can be achieved for channel lengths $L_{ch} > 8\lambda$. In addition, a small overlap of the gate contact to the channel is critical for proper device operation, while the overlap to the metal S/D region should be minimized to avoid large parasitic capacitances.

Cadareanu et al. [210] analyzed the scaling of TTG RFETs based on GAA NWs at the 10 nm node, also using TCAD simulations. When considering $Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3}$ channels, drive currents comparable to 10 nm Si FinFET technology devices are thereby claimed to be achievable. Remarkably, Sessi et al. [72] realized wafer-scale fabrication of back-biased RFETs (similar to the device in Figure 2.13(b)) with a 22 nm technology.

2.5.3 **RFET Circuit Implementations**

In contrast to common CMOS devices, the ohmic and saturation regions are not given by drift but mainly by the injection properties at the junctions and diffusion across the channel [199]. Therefore, reasonably small ungated regions in an SBFET do not limit the transport properties and therefore the device operation, as the Schottky barriers mainly control the charge carrier transport [12, 211]. Since the on-state resistance is primarily determined by the resistance at the injection barriers and not by the channel length (up to a channel length of $\sim 1 \,\mu\text{m}$) [212], it is feasible to extend the channel length of the



Figure 2.16: (a) MIGFET with three independent CGs for the realization of a wired-AND, combining three RFETs in series within one device. Up to a certain channel length, the effective resistance of each virtual device is only $\sim 1/3$ of the internal resistance of the MIGFET, as no additional junctions are formed. (b) A simple RFET-based logic gate combining NAND and NOR functionality into one circuit while simultaneously reducing transistor count compared to a conventional CMOS implementation. By inverting the potential at the PGs and the supply voltages, the logic function can be switched between NAND and NOR.

device and incorporate additional gates on top of it, realizing a multi-independent gate FET (MIGFET) [17]. These additional channel/control gates can then be used as inputs to provide wired-AND functionality within a single device. In such a device, current flow is enabled only when all CGs are at the same potential as the PG, which defines the type of majority charge carrier. The MIGFET can therefore replace several transistors of the same polarity connected in series, effectively reducing the overall resistance. A schematic of a MIGFET replacing three RFETs is shown in Figure 2.16(a). Note that this is different to a NAND-memory design, as the S/D junctions are explicitly avoided in the MIGFET concept [213].

Utilizing the flexible properties of the RFETs and MIGFETs, with the runtime switchable polarity and its unipolar operability, highly efficient and adaptive logic circuits can be realized. In conventional CMOS technology, NAND and NOR logic gates are fundamental building blocks for implementing digital logic operations, where the former dominates design in memory and logic due to size constraints. Given the De Morgan's laws of binary logic, the two gates are related in a way that can be described as symmetrical in their topology, meaning that the roles of the p- and n-type transistors are reversed between the NAND and NOR gates. By replacing the conventional transistors, whose polarity is determined during the fabrication process, e.g., by doping the channel, with RFETs and reversing the cell bias rail voltage (see Figure 2.16(b)), a circuit can be realized that can switch between NAND and NOR at runtime [214,215]. By also incorporating a MIGFET with two independent CGs to replace the two transistors in series, the RFET-based circuit not only gains functionality but also reduces the number of transistors compared to conventional implementations (see Figure 2.16(b)). In general, RFETs are ideal to merge symmetrical circuits with equivalent pull-up and pull-down networks [15]. Even more interesting is their use in XOR gates, as RFETs provide intrinsic XOR functionality. De Marchi et al. [21] demonstrated the realization of a complementary XOR gate based on only four physically identical RFETs. By inverting the polarity of this circuit, XNOR functionality as its symmetrical counterpart can be achieved within the same circuit. In conventional CMOS technology, this function is very complex and inefficient to implement, as a two-input gate already requires 8 transistors for either XOR or XNOR functionality. The benefits of using RFETs in these logic gates increase significantly as the number of inputs is scaled, as the reduction in transistor count also reduces structural delays and energy consumption of the circuits [17].

In large-scale combinational circuit applications, various works have demonstrated that equal functionality at reduced chip area can be achieved despite the larger size of the individual devices [18, 20, 216–218]. It is worth to note that this depends on the actual function and technology design rules chosen for the physical synthesis. Gaillardon et al. [217,219] proposed the integration of this fine-grain reconfigurability into novel ASIC and FPGA architectures, simulating an average reduction in chip area and delays by 43% and 23%, respectively, compared to FPGAs based on conventional 22 nm CMOS technology.

In addition to digital circuits, RFETs have gained interest for their use in analog circuit applications, ranging from differential amplifiers with adaptive gains [26] to three-to-one analog signal modulation [27]. RFETs are also considered an effective method to prevent know-how theft of circuit design intellectual property [24, 220]. In this regard, complex generic building blocks can be designed that are capable of hosting a variety of different functions. However, their actual function is mainly determined by the programming signal, e.g., by defining the individual components as NAND or NOR gates, which impedes reverse engineering of the logic block purely from the circuit layout. This layout camouflaging is combined with "delay obfuscation" features using delay-invariant logic gates. In contrast to CMOS implementations, where a significant propagation delay between equally sized NAND and NOR gates is always present, the delays in RFET-based gates can be tuned to be almost identical. Therefore, a readout of the circuit design from the observations of the delay traces is also inhibited [221]. Another interesting hardware security approach is the so-called logic locking. Thereby, RFET-based logic gates can be used to replace equivalent CMOS gates while maintaining their boolean function. A locking key can then enable the function of the whole circuit by setting the correct polarities of the devices [13, 23].

Despite the aforementioned benefits, RFETs may not be powerful enough to completely replace classic CMOS transistors, but they can be a highly valuable add-on technology that can be co-integrated into the CMOS platform to efficiently solve specific tasks.

2.6 Ferroelectric Field-Effect Transistors

Since the discovery of the ferroelectric properties in fluorite-structured Hf-based oxides, allowing the fabrication of nanometer-scaled ferroelectric layers, their integration into memory devices has been of great interest and the subject of numerous recent publications [135,222]. Various device architectures are available for the implementation of ferroelectric memories, such as ferroelectric random-access memories (FeRAMs), ferroelectric field-effect transistors (FeFETs) or ferroelectric tunnel junctions (FTJs).

FeRAM utilizes ferroelectric capacitors to achieve fast read and write operations, typically combined with an access transistor in a one-transistor one-capacitor (1T1C) structure. This technology is characterized by low power consumption, high endurance and fast access times, making it particularly useful in embedded memory applications. Sony [223] just recently demonstrated the large-scale and high-density implementation of 1T1C FeRAM arrays, achieving a high cycling endurance of $>10^{12}$ cycles at a retention of over 10 years. Micron [45] even demonstrated a 32 Gb stacked non-volatile FeRAM with low read/write latency and high endurance, approaching the performance of state-of-the-art dynamic random access memories (DRAMs). The read operation in 1T1C FeRAMs to extract the stored binary value ("0" or "1") is destructive, requiring an additional write-back operation. Their basic architecture and working principle are therefore quite similar to volatile DRAMs (with integrated linear dielectrics) that are used as main memory in modern computers, servers or mobile phones [133, 135].

Similar to the FeRAM, the ferroelectric layer in FTJ devices is integrated between two metal electrodes in a two-terminal device. The change of polarization leads to a significant modulation of the tunneling current and thus its tunneling electroresistance (TER), which can be detected non-destructively [132, 224]. Furthermore, they provide higher speeds and better scalability compared to FeRAMs. However, the degradation of the thin tunneling oxide and the low driving currents still remain issues that need to be targeted. Nevertheless, this device concept shows high potential for applications in memristive- and neuromorphic-computing [31, 224].

The integration of the ferroelectric layer into a traditional FET structure, realizing Fe-FETs, is also highly interesting for non-volatile applications. Thereby, the ferroelectric layer, e.g., HZO, is integrated into the gate stack atop the semiconductor channel and directly beneath the gate electrode, replacing the conventional linear dielectric layer (e.g., SiO₂, HfO₂) [31]. Utilizing the electrode, the ferroelectric can then be polarized, influencing the charge carrier flow even when the external electric potential on the gate is removed.

By applying a sufficiently high pulse voltage to the gate, with the voltage drop over the ferroelectric exceeding the required coercive field E_c , the polarization of the ferroelectric layer can be switched [132]. The remnant electric field induced by the ferroelectric dipoles can then either assist in inversion or accumulation of the channel, leading to a threshold voltage shift ΔV_{th} of the transfer characteristic. Figure 2.17(a) schematically shows this

polarization-induced shift in a FeFET based on an nMOS transistor. A positive pulse of V_G thereby results in a net positive charge close to the semiconductor channel, shifting the characteristic towards lower positive V_{th} , while a negative pulse results in net negative charges and thus a larger positive V_{th} . This threshold voltage shift ΔV_{th} between the programmed and erased state directly defines the memory window (MW), which is a key parameter for FeFETs. In general, the achievable MW can be estimated by

$$MW = 2\alpha \cdot E_c \cdot t_{Fe},\tag{2.25}$$

with the thickness of the ferroelectric layer t_{Fe} and a FeFET ideality factor $\alpha < 1$, which depends on several material properties and second-order effects that contribute to the reduction of the ideal MW [225].

A non-destructive read-out operation of the stored information can then be conducted by sensing the drain-source current I_D at a specific gate voltage V_G . The successful implementation of FeFETs in state-of-the-art technology using Hf-based ferroelectric layers has already been demonstrated in various platforms, e.g., planar 22 nm FDSOI [226], 25 nm FinFET [227] or stacked GAA NWs [228]. Large MWs (~1.4 V) and ultra-fast polarization switching speeds <1 ns were thereby achieved [227], making FeFETs highly interesting for high-speed embedded memory applications. However, the cycling endurance is often limited to <10⁵ cycles, mainly attributed to the degradation of the interface layer (IL) between the semiconductor channel and the ferroelectric layer [138, 227]. The importance of this interface layer will be discussed later. Compared to state-of-the-art eFLASH memories, FeFETs achieve comparable retention and structural density, with the potential for enhanced scalability, at significantly lowered energy consumption and enhanced switching speeds [225].



Figure 2.17: (a) Schematic FeFET characteristic for an nMOS device with a doped channel and S/D contacts. The ferroelectric polarization leads to a shift of the threshold voltage V_{th} . (b) Ferroelectric layer integrated into an SBFET architecture (FeSBFET) with an undoped semiconductor channel for an ambipolar transfer characteristic. The polarization of the ferroelectric leads to a modulation of the carrier injection barriers and thus to a change of the n- and p-branch current flow in addition to the V_{th} -shift. Potential electron (c) and hole (d) trapping in the interface layer can attenuate the electric field induced by the ferroelectric dipoles.

2.6.1 Ferroelectric Layer Integration into SBFETs

When integrating the ferroelectric layer into an SBFET architecture, covering the undoped semiconductor channel as well as both metal-semiconductor interfaces, the Schottky barriers are also modulated by the polarization state of the ferroelectric dipoles. Figure 2.17(b) schematically shows a FeFET based on a metal-semiconductor-metal heterostructure, realizing an FeSBFET. In the non-polarized state, with equal Schottky barrier heights for electrons and holes, a symmetrical ambipolar transfer characteristic is obtained, which is indicated by the gray dashed line. When switching to positive polarization with a sufficiently high gate pulse voltage, the electron injection barriers are lowered, increasing the electron-induced current while the hole injection is suppressed. This results in a nonvolatile n-dominant device characteristic, indicated by the red curve in Figure 2.17(b). In addition, this effect is superimposed on the V_{th} shift towards lower V_G caused by the remnant electric field over the semiconductor channel. Switching to the reversed polarization by a negative pulse voltage induces the opposite behavior, with a positive V_{th} shift and increased hole-dominated currents, while electrons exhibit higher injection barriers. Besides the V_{th} shifts, this behavior is strongly reminiscent of polarity switching in RFETs by using fixed voltages on the PGs (see Section 2.5). This non-volatile polarity control is demonstrated for the first time in this work [LW1].

2.6.2 Influence of the Interface Layer and Charge Trapping Effects

Typically, a thin interface layer is used between the ferroelectric layer and the channel of the semiconductor device, usually based on SiO₂ or other linear dielectrics (e.g., Al₂O₃, ZrO₂, La₂O₃) [135, 229], leading to metal-ferroelectric-insulator-semiconductor (MFIS) structures. This is done to ensure a stable interface configuration with a low interface trap density, enabling a consistent ferroelectric response for a reliable device operation. Furthermore, it prevents inter-diffusion between the ferroelectric and the substrate underneath [30, 225]. A stable interface also helps to ensure a proper growth of the ferroelectric layer. Although the thickness of the IL is typically in the range of only 0.5 nm to 2 nm, it significantly affects the performance of the FeFETs, as it introduces a series capacitance and a depolarization field.

A major challenge for the integration of HZO and other Hf-based ferroelectric layers is the generation of charge traps. These can occur both in the ferroelectric layer, due to a relatively high defect density, as well as in the dielectric interface layer and its interfaces [229]. The defects in the HZO are mainly fixed trap states related to oxide vacancies with negative fixed charges, resulting in a constant threshold voltage shift of the device characteristic [230], strongly influencing the MW of the FeFET. The interface trap states are typically accessed during the pulsing operation, with high pulse voltages required to switch the polarization state. Figure 2.17(c,d) schematically shows the trapping effects in a top-gated SBFET architecture. Depending on the sign of the pulse voltage, either electrons (for $V_G > 0$ V) or holes ($V_G < 0$ V) are trapped in the gate stack, leading to a threshold voltage shift according to the density of trapped charges. Importantly, these shifts are in the opposite direction of the ferroelectric effect, so a positive shift for electron traps and a negative shift for holes, degrading the MW (see Figure 2.17(b)). Furthermore, in the case of an FeSBFET, the electric field induced by the trap states also influences the Schottky barrier shape and thus the charge carrier injection, which can result in a degradation of the on- and off-states of the two polarized states, counteracting the ferroelectric effect. In extreme cases of high trap density, the ferroelectric effect can even be completely screened, resulting in a predominance of trap-induced shifts. The generation of interface/border traps can also lead to a degradation of the subthreshold slopes, which further contributes to the degradation of the MWs [231]. As these traps (partially) release charges over time after setting the polarization pulse, this can influence the read-after-write operation and thus limit the operation speed [229]. Subsequently, these charge trapping and interface trap formation effects can significantly limit the endurance of the device [231].

In general, a higher dielectric constant of the interlayer helps to increase the memory window while simultaneously reducing the electric field applied to the interlayer, thereby reducing its stress and potential breakdown [229]. This is evident when the capacitances of the entire gate stack are considered. The stack is composed of a series connection of the capacitances of the ferroelectric layer (C_{FE}) , the interface layer (C_{IL}) , and that of the semiconductor channel (C_{SC}) , resulting in a total capacitance of

$$\frac{1}{C_{tot}} = \frac{1}{C_{FE}} + \frac{1}{C_{IL}} + \frac{1}{C_{SC}}.$$
(2.26)

The voltage drop at the IL subsequently leads to a reduced voltage at the ferroelectric through the voltage divider, described by [232]

$$V_{FE} = V_{tot} \ \frac{C_{tot}}{C_{FE}} = V_{tot} \ \frac{t_{FE} \ \varepsilon_{IL}}{t_{FE} \ \varepsilon_{IL} + t_{IL} \ \varepsilon_{FE}}.$$
(2.27)

Note that the capacitance of the semiconductor channel C_{SC} here can be neglected, as during the high polarization pulses the FeFET is either driven in strong inversion or strong accumulation, reducing its capacitive influence to a minimum [132]. In the case of a 1 nm thin SiO₂ IL ($\varepsilon_{SiO_2} = 3.9$) and a 10 nm HZO FE layer ($\varepsilon_{HZO} \approx 25$), this results in a voltage drop of $\sim 60\%$ of the total applied voltage in the HZO, while $\sim 40\%$ is applied to the thin IL. Due to the large voltage drop on the IL, a higher gate voltage V_{tot} is required to exceed the coercive voltage for polarization switching, but it also results in a high electric field in the IL. This high electric field in the IL enhances the charge injection from the device channel and thus accelerates the IL breakdown [229]. The voltage drop on the IL could be improved by reducing the interlayer thickness, but quickly reaches its limits due to the drastically increased tunnel currents. A better alternative is to increase the relative permittivity ε_{IL} by integrating high- κ dielectrics, thereby also reducing the total operation voltages required for switching the ferroelectric polarization. The use of high- κ dielectrics allows to use thicker IL layers, reducing tunneling leakage currents and electrical stress and thus enhancing the endurance of the ferroelectric devices. Furthermore, the larger dielectric constant of the high- κ results in improved coupling of the ferroelectric polarization to the semiconductor channel, enhancing the MW of the FeFETs.

An interesting effect that reduces the thickness of the dielectric (SiO_2) IL is the oxygen scavenging effect in gate stacks incorporating a Ti top electrode. During high-temperature annealing, the oxygen vacancies in the HZO layer become mobile and allow the migration of oxygen atoms from the SiO₂ layer to the Ti electrode, forming a thin TiO_x layer while reducing the SiO₂ IL thickness. The thereby obtained devices showed increased remnant polarization with more abrupt switching characteristics while reducing the operation voltages [131].

A certain amount of charge injection via tunneling is, however, crucial for the stabilization of the ferroelectric effect [233]. In particular, it has been recently demonstrated that the injection and subsequent trapping of charges in the vicinity of the ferroelectric layer is a fundamental prerequisite for switching the polarization state in FTJs [234] and FeFETs [235]. In addition, a certain level of charge trapping at the interface can even improve the retention by counteracting depolarization fields [233], but can also limit the achievable currents in FeFETs [236].

2.6.3 Optimized FeFET Device Architectures

Another way to improve the ferroelectric response in the devices and thus enable higher MWs is to optimize the structure of the FeFETs, i.e., the architecture of the gate stack. In addition to increasing the ratio of the dielectric constants $\varepsilon_{IL}/\varepsilon_{FE}$, the capacitor area ratio of the layers A_{IL}/A_{FE} can also be changed, resulting in an analogous effect and allows to reduce the interfacial field stress to the IL. This can be achieved by utilizing a metal-ferroelectric-metal-insulator-semiconductor (MFMIS) gate structure by integrating a floating gate (FG) electrode. In this way, the capacitor areas can be scaled individually in order to achieve an improved electric field distribution and the suppression of charge trapping, i.e., by scaling $A_{IL}/A_{FE} > 1$ [132].

Figure 2.18 schematically shows different device architectures to adapt the capacitances of the gate stack. In the planar approach of the MFMIS structure, the higher A_{IL}/A_{FE} ratio can be achieved by simply reducing the size of the top gate electrode. However,



Figure 2.18: Schematic cross-sections of different approaches to adapt the A_{IL}/A_{FE} ratio to reduce the interfacial field stress and improve the FeFET device characteristics. (a) Conventional planar FeFET without adapting the A_{IL}/A_{FE} ratio. (b) Planar FeFET with integrated floating gate (FG) and a scaled top gate (TG) electrode, shrinking the area of the ferroelectric (FE) capacitor $(A_{IL}/A_{FE} > 1)$. (c) Recess gate architecture with FG for improved scalability of the FeFET. Figure adapted from [132].

this approach limits the scalability of the device as the area ratio increases and introduces additional complexity to the gate stack. To achieve high area ratios while maintaining a low lateral device footprint, recessed gate architectures can be used (see Figure 2.18(c)). Thereby, the depth of the trench defines the area for the dielectric capacitor, while the buried gate contact defines the area for the ferroelectric capacitor. The achievable area ratio is technologically limited due to increased channel lengths, which lead to reduced on-currents [132]. Lee et al. [237] demonstrated FeFETs with recessed channels (without a floating gate electrode), significantly improving the MW, switching speed, retention and endurance of the devices compared to a planar structure due to a higher electric field across the ferroelectric layer. Also in FeRAMs, the recessed channel is a common method to improve the device performance while maintaining a small lateral footprint [123, 136, 223].

Another positive aspect of integrating a metal FG into the MFMIS gate structures is the improved electric field distribution of the polarized grains towards the transistor channel. Since the grains in the ferroelectric layer can have different polarization states or even different dielectric/ferroelectric crystal phases, the non-uniform field distribution can lead to the formation of unwanted current percolation paths. The introduction of the FG layer can equalize the non-uniform conductance of the FeFET channel, generally improving the MW as well as reducing device-to-device variability [238, 239].

2.6.4 Gradual Switching and Neuromorphic Application

When the channel length of the FeFET is considerably larger than the ferroelectric grain size, the polycrystalline ferroelectric layer will be in a multidomain configuration. This means that not all ferroelectric domains necessarily are oriented in the same direction but may be partially randomly oriented. This is caused by the polycrystalline nature of the ferroelectric film, where the polar axis is randomly oriented in space, resulting in a dispersion of the coercive voltage across the different domains [132]. A FeFET in a multidomain configuration is schematically illustrated in Figure 2.19(a).

Based on the classical nucleation theory, a statistical model for the switching of the ferroelectric domains can be derived, relating the switching time t_s to the applied gate voltage V_G of the FeFET by [225]

$$t_s = t_0 \cdot \exp\left(\frac{\alpha}{k_B T} \cdot \frac{1}{(V_G - V_0)^2}\right),\tag{2.28}$$

with the minimal switching time t_0 , a voltage offset V_0 and an exponential constant α depending on intrinsic material properties such as polarization P, domain wall energy and geometry of the nucleating domains. The switching voltage is directly proportional to the coercive voltage V_C of the different domains. This means that the higher the pulsing amplitude V_G , the shorter the switching time.

Due to the dispersion of the coercive voltage within the polycrystalline film, the domains can gradually be switched by varying the pulsing amplitude V_G or the pulse duration t_p ,

resulting in different values of the "global" polarization P_r and thus intermediate output states of the FeFET, e.g., different values of the threshold voltage V_{th} [240]. In FeSBFETs, this also results in a gradual modulation of the carrier injection barriers, strongly influencing the on- and off-state currents. When some domains in the layer are switched, this inherently changes the electric field distribution, which also affects the switching of the other domains [241]. Therefore, also a series of pulses of the same amplitude and pulse duration can gradually increase the global polarization of the ferroelectric layer and thus influence the output state [48]. The gradual shift of the transfer characteristic is schematically shown in Figure 2.19(a). Interestingly, in nanoscaled devices, a sharp transition only between two polarization states in an "all-or-nothing" characteristic is obtained after a certain number of polarization pulses due to an accumulation of electrical excitation, with the number of pulses decreasing with the pulse amplitude [242].

This gradual switching can be of particular interest for the realization of artificial neural networks. These bio-inspired neural networks hold great promise for overcoming the memory bottleneck of current "von Neumann" architectures, which suffer from limited scalability and high energy consumption [135]. These networks are based on vector-matrix multiplications, where the synaptic weight, i.e., the conductivity of the artificial synapse, can be adjusted via spiking neurons (voltage pulses), mimicking the topologies of biological brains. The currents are then summed according to Kirchoff's law [135]. According to neuroscientific terminology, increasing or decreasing channel conductance (as a result of the shifting threshold voltage) is commonly referred to as *potentiation* or *depression*, which is analogous to the increase and decrease of the synaptic conductivity [132] (see Figure 2.19(b)). F. Xi, et int., and Q. T. Zhao [48] experimentally demonstrated the realization



Figure 2.19: (a) Schematic of FeFET with gradually switching ferroelectric domains, resulting in multiple stable output states. These intermediate states can be reached by varying the pulsing amplitude (V_p) , the pulse duration (t_p) or the number of consecutive pulses (N_p) . (b) Change of conduction of an artificial synapse as a function of N_p , corresponding to the PPF/PPD method. Figure adapted from [83]. (c) FeFET used as an artificial synapse in the STDP method. Depending on the time difference Δt between the pre- and post-neuronal spike (V_p) the synaptic weight is modulated, resulting in different synaptic currents I_D in the read-out operation. Figure adapted from [132].

of artificial synapses utilizing FeSBFETs, with multiple different synaptic functions such as paired-pulse facilitation/depression (PPF/PPD) or spike-timing-dependent plasticity (STDP). In PPF/PPD, a series of repeated voltage pulses is used to modify the conductivity and thus the synaptic current, similar to the last pulsing scheme in Figure 2.19(a). In the STDP method, indicated in Figure 2.19(c), the synaptic current depends on the relative timing difference between a pre-synaptic spike and a post-synaptic spike [48]. Correlated pre- and post-neuronal activity, which leads to a change in the conductivity of the involved synapse, is believed to be a key mechanism in the biological brain that enables learning and memory [132].



Chapter 3

Experimental Techniques

This chapter describes the experimental techniques used to fabricate and characterize the devices from this work. The first part, Section 3.1, discusses the fabrication of the Al- $\operatorname{Si}_{1-x}\operatorname{Ge}_x$ heterostructure-based SBFETs utilizing a top-down fabrication scheme. The differences between the fabrication steps for the various device types are also addressed in more detail. Section 3.1.1 briefly discusses the growth of the $\operatorname{Si}_{1-x}\operatorname{Ge}_x$ substrates, which were provided by our project partners at the JKU Linz.

Section 3.2 covers the electrical characterization methods and evaluation techniques for extracting device performance parameters. This includes characterization methods for single SBFETs, logic circuits and non-volatile devices.

Finally, it has to be noted that additional physical analysis of the fabricated devices, including transmission electron microscopy (TEM) and energy dispersive X-ray analysis (EDX) was conducted by project partners at *EMPA* in Thun and the *University of California* at Berkeley.

3.1 Device Fabrication

The device fabrication is based on a top-down fabrication scheme, meaning that the transistor channel is patterned from a semiconductor substrate. The key component for all SBFETs in this work is the metal-semiconductor-metal heterostructure, monolithically formed by the thermally induced exchange reaction between the Al from the contact electrodes and the Si/Ge semiconductor channel. Although the general fabrication of the various devices in this work is fairly similar, individual process steps or the process flow differ depending on the materials or device architecture used, apart from the different mask designs for the lithography. Figure 3.1 provides an overview of the process flow including the key fabrication steps of the different device types.

Finally, it has to be mentioned that the complete device fabrication, except the growth of the SOI and $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ -Si heterostructure substrates, was carried out in the in-house cleanroom facilities of the *Center for Micro- and Nanostructures (ZMNS)* at the *TU Wien*.

 Laser lithography RIE (SF₆-O₂) 	нigh-к diele	ctric integration	Ferroelectric HZO integration
 SiO₂ gate oxide formation ○ Dry oxidation (1173 K) ○ N₂ annealing (1173 K) 	 Al₂O₃ gate oxide Al₂O₃ deposition (ALD) 	 SiO₂ + HfO₂ deposition Short dry oxidation (1173 K) N₂ annealing (1173 K) HfO₂ deposition (ALD) 	 SiO₂ interface + HZO deposition chemical SiO₂ formation (RCA2) HZO deposition (ALD)
 Al contact deposition Laser lithography BHF etch Al deposition + lift-off 	· · · · · ·	Al contact deposition • Laser lithography • RIE (SF ₆ -Ar) • BHF etch • Al depostion + lift-off	 Al contact deposition Laser lithography Sputter etching (Ar⁺) Al depositon + lift-off TiN top gate formation
 Al-Si/Ge exchange RTA at 773 K in N₂/H₂ Top gate formation EBL / laser lithography 	Ti/Al top gates		 Laser lithography Ti sputtering in N₂ plasma Lift-off
 Ti/Au evaporation Lift off 	Ti/Al sputteringLift off		 HZO crystallization RTA at 773 K in N₂

AI-Si_{1-x}Ge_x based RFETs with SiO₂ gate oxide and Ti/Au TGs \blacklozenge Si_{1-x}Ge_x papesheet patterning

Figure 3.1: Process flow for the fabrication of the different device types. The standard process flow for the fabrication of Al-Si_{1-x}Ge_x-based RFETs with SiO₂ gate dielectric and Ti/Au top gates is shown in white. The integration of high- κ dielectrics, ferroelectric HZO or Ti/Al top gates requires a different process flow, indicated by alternative branches highlighted in different colors.

3.1.1 Si_{1-x}Ge_x on Insulator Growth

The composition-dependent study of electrical transport mechanisms in vertical Si-Si_{1-x}Ge_x-Si heterostructures for various stoichiometric compositions, as well as the Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} channel-based RFETs in Chapter 5 are based on SOI substrates with MBE-grown Ge-rich layers. These substrates were provided by the group of Moritz Brehm at the Johannes Kepler Universität (JKU) Linz.


Figure 3.2: Schematic of the MBE-grown vertical $\text{Si-Si}_{1-x}\text{Ge}_x$ -Si heterostructure substrates. (a) The sample with the pure Ge layer is grown on an sSOI substrate. The other samples, with (b) 75% Ge, (c) 50% Ge, and (c) 33% Ge are grown on unstrained SOI. For each sample, a Si buffer layer was grown prior to the deposition of the Ge-rich layer. A 3 nm Si capping layer protects the Ge layer from degradation.

In this regard, recent growth strategies for the growth of Ge-rich but pseudomorphic 2D films with low surface roughness on strained SOI (sSOI) substrates were adapted [243]. The growth was carried out in a Riber SIVA-45 solid source MBE system on an sSOI base substrate for the pure Ge layer sample and on SOI substrates for lower Ge contents (33%, 50%, 75%), both with a [100] Si device layer orientation. The thicknesses of the sSOI device layer and the buried oxide (BOX) are 30 nm and 130 nm, respectively, with the strained device layer having an in-plane lattice constant equal to that of a relaxed Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} alloy. The SOI substrate for the Si_{1-x}Ge_x samples with 50% and 75% Ge content has a 30 nm thick unstrained Si device layer on top of a 2 µm thick BOX. The Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} samples use the same SOI base substrate as the pure Si channel devices in Chapter 4 and 6, with a 20 nm thin, lightly p-doped Si device layer (B, layer resistivity $\rho = 9-15 \Omega$ cm) on a 100 nm thick BOX. Figure 3.2 gives an overview of the four different MBE-grown Si-Si_{1-x}Ge_x-Si heterostructure substrates, including the thicknesses of the layers.

Prior to the introduction into the MBE chamber, the substrates were cleaned using a standard substrate cleaning process, including Piranha solution and RCA cleaning, followed by a dip in diluted hydrofluoric acid (HF 1%) to remove the native oxide [244]. The substrates were then degassed at 923 K for 20 min. For the sample with the pure Ge layer, a 5 nm thick Si buffer layer was first grown on the sSOI substrate, followed by the 5 nm pure Ge layer and a 3 nm thick Si capping layer to prevent the Ge from degradation. All the layers for the pure Ge sample were grown at low growth temperature T_G of only 558 K to suppress elastic and plastic strain relaxation inherited from the lattice mismatch to the sSOI substrate [244]. For the substrates with 50% and 75% Ge layer content, a 10 nm thick Si buffer was grown on the SOI surface by ramping the growth temperature from 723 K to 823 K. The Ge-rich layers, with 5 nm of Si_{0.25}Ge_{0.75} and 8 nm of Si_{0.5}Ge_{0.5}, respectively, were grown at 548 K, followed by the deposition of the 3 nm thin Si capping at

723 K. The Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} sample grown on the SOI with the thinner device layer and BOX (20 nm/100 nm) uses a thicker buffer layer of 15 nm (T_G ramped from 723 K to 823 K) before the deposition of the 8 nm Ge-rich layer and the 3 nm Si capping layer, both at 623 K.

A scanning transmission electron microscopy (STEM) image combined with an elementary energy-dispersive X-ray spectroscopy (EDX) of the MBE-grown vertical Si-Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-Si stack is shown in Figure 3.3(a). The high-quality growth of the thin films under optimized growth conditions, with ultra-low growth temperatures < 623 K for all Ge-rich layers, is confirmed by the good surface quality of the substrate [106]. The AFM image in Figure 3.3(b), taken immediately after the growth of the layers of the Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} sample, shows the dislocation-free surface with an excellent root mean square (rms) roughness of 90.6 pm, which is not significantly higher than that of the SOI base substrate with 72 pm.



Figure 3.3: HRSTEM and elementary EDX image of the MBE-grown vertical Si-Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-Si stack. (b) AFM image of the substrate surface of the Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} sample showing the low rms surface roughness of 90.6 pm.

3.1.2 Fabrication of Schottky Barrier Field-Effect Transistors

The top-down fabrication process of SBFETs in this work, including the special variant with three top gates for the realization of RFETs, is largely independent of whether Si or $\text{Si}_{1-x}\text{Ge}_x$ is used as the transistor channel material, since Si and Ge can be processed very similarly. However, different gate dielectric materials may require a different process sequence (see Figure 3.1), which is discussed in more detail in Section 3.1.2.1. This section focuses on the basic SBFET fabrication scheme using an SiO₂ gate dielectric. A schematic illustration of the main RFET fabrication steps is shown in Figure 3.4.

Starting with the base substrate, either an SOI substrate for pure Si channels or the Si-Si_{1-x}Ge_x-Si heterostructure substrates (see Section 3.1.1), small nanosheets for the transistor channels are patterned, with a sheet width (W) of around 300 nm to 800 nm and a length (L) of ~20 µm. In this regard, after a basic substrate cleaning using acetone and isopropanol, the positive photoresist AZ5214 is applied using spin coating and a softbake at 373 K for 60 s. The mask design is then exposed using the laser lithography system HIMT MLA150 at a dose of 140 J/cm² and developed in AZ726 MIF. Despite the



Figure 3.4: Top-down fabrication of a TTG RFET device based on Al-Si_{1-x}Ge-Al heterostructures. An SOI substrate with epitaxially grown Si-Si_{1-x}Ge_x-Si layers is used as the base material. The final gate stack, with a cut through the CG, is shown in (f).

nominal resolution limit of 0.6 µm of the laser lithography system, thinner sheet widths even below 300 nm could be achieved by a moderate overexposure, resulting in a lateral thinning of the resistive mask. SF₆-O₂-based reactive ion etching (RIE) for 50 s is then used to remove the Si/Ge regions that are not covered by the photoresist (see Figure 3.4). The dry etching is performed in an *Oxford Instruments PlasmaPro 100 Cobra ICP RIE* system with an SF₆/O₂ gas flow of 50 sccm/4 sccm, RF power of 15 W and a process temperature of 308 K. Due to the high selectivity between Si/Ge and SiO₂, the BOX provides a sufficient etch stop, making the process robust and minimizing the susceptibility to overetching and damage to the BOX. Furthermore, the low O₂ content provides a high anisotropy of the dry etching process, resulting in steep etching profiles of the nanosheets [245]. The resist is then stripped by plasma incineration (*Pink V10-G*) at 300 W for 5 min in O₂ plasma, followed by rinsing in acetone and isopropanol.

The SiO₂ gate oxide is formed using thermal dry oxidation at 1173 K at an O₂ flow of 50 sccm in the *ATV PEO-601* furnace. The oxide thickness t_{ox} is thereby controlled over the oxidation time, with a parabolic growth of the SiO₂ layer according to the Deal-Grove model [246]. During oxide formation, Si is consumed, resulting in a reduction of the SOI device layer. This Si consumption can be estimated by $t_{Si} \simeq 0.46 \cdot t_{ox}$, where t_{Si} is the decrease in Si thickness from the initial layer thickness [114]. The SiO₂ layer thickness and the remaining Si device layer thickness for different oxidation times for the furnace in our clean room facilities are extracted in Figure 3.5. The layer thicknesses are determined using ellipsometry. Subsequently to the growth of the thermal SiO₂, an in-situ postoxidation annealing step in N₂ at the oxidation temperature for the same time duration is followed to reduce the density of interfacial defects [88, 247].



Figure 3.5: Oxidation of an SOI substrate at T = 1173 K with measured data points for the SiO₂ and Si thickness versus the oxidation time. The dash-dotted lines show Deal-Grove model fits [246].

The next fabrication step is the patterning of the S/D contact pads (see Figure 3.4(c)). Therefore, laser lithography with the same resist and parameters as before is used to define the contact region. Before the sample is introduced into the sputter chamber (*Creavac Creamet 750 S10*) for the metal deposition, buffered hydrofluoric acid (BHF, 7:1) is used to remove the thermally grown SiO₂ layer from the contact area. To ensure a good contact of the Si/Ge nanosheet channel, Ar^+ sputtering at 100 W for 120 s is used to remove any oxide residuals from the semiconductor surface. 120 nm Al is then deposited in six sputtering cycles of 60 s each at 60 W, followed by the lift-off in acetone and mild ultrasonic treatment.

Subsequently, rapid thermal annealing (RTA) in the Unitemp UTP-1100 system at 773 K in forming gas atmosphere (N₂:H₂, 10:1) is used to induce the thermal exchange reaction between Al and Si/Ge to form Al-Si_{1-x}Ge_x-Al heterostructures with abrupt metal-semiconductor interfaces (see Figure 3.4(d)). Due to the absence of intermetallic phases, several consecutive annealing steps can be conducted to precisely tune the length of the remaining Si_{1-x}Ge_x channel. For the fabrication of TTG RFETs, channel lengths in the range of 1.5 µm to 2 µm are typically targeted to accommodate three independent top gates on this heterostructure. MIGFET devices with four or more top gate electrodes may require longer channels. For single top-gated SBFETs, the channel lengths can also be scaled down to the low nm range using this contact formation technique [187].

Electron beam lithography (EBL) with the *Raith e-LiNE* system is used to pattern the top gate electrodes for the RFETs due to its high structure resolution ($\leq 20 \text{ nm}$) and alignment accuracy. This is required to achieve a small spacing between the individual top gates for improved electrostatic gating, as well as a precise placement of the PG atop the metal-semiconductor junctions to ensure a good control of the charge carrier injection barriers. For the EBL process, the positive polymethyl methacrylate (PMMA) resist (*AR-P 679.04*) is applied on the sample using spin-coating, and is developed after the exposure with a matching developer. Note that for sample designs only including single top-gated structures, with lower requirements for structural resolution and alignment accuracy of

the gate electrodes, laser lithography is used with the process steps described above, as this significantly reduces the complexity of the process.

The Ti/Au top gate electrodes are then deposited via electron-beam evaporation in the *Plassys MEB550SL* system. First, a 10 nm Ti layer is deposited on the gate dielectric, which mainly defines the work function of the gate electrode and also acts as an adhesion layer for the Au layer. The 100 nm thick Au layer deposited afterwards serves as a contact material to the electrical needle probes and as a bonding pad. After metal deposition, the excess metal is removed by lift-off in acetone and ultrasonics. The finished TTG RFET structure is shown in Figure 3.4(e), with a more detailed view of the gate stack in Figure 3.4(f). Figure 3.6 shows a fabricated SOI-based device with distinct RFETs and RFET-based logic gates.

As an alternative to the non-CMOS-compatible Au, sputtered Ti/Al layers have also been used as gate electrode material. The 10 nm thin Ti layer is thereby deposited in two cycles of 60 s at 60 W, followed by the sputtering of 105 nm Al in eight cycles of 60 s at 30 W. As a direct comparison to analyze the influence of the top metal layer on the gate stack, reference structures with a sputtered Ti/Au gate stack were fabricated, using the same parameters for the Ti layer and four cycles of 60 s at 30 W for the sputtering of 177 nm Au.



Figure 3.6: Microscope image of a fabricated sample based on an SOI substrate, including RFETs and RFET-based logic gates. For the XOR3 gate, a bonding wire is indicated connecting two pads of the same potential due to the lack of additional metal interconnection layers.

3.1.2.1 High- κ Gate Dielectric Integration via ALD

As an alternative to thermally grown SiO₂, high- κ dielectrics were also integrated into the gate stack of the fabricated devices. In the early stages of the study, when the transition-dependent transport in Si_{1-x}Ge_x heterostructures was being investigated, Al₂O₃ was used and deposited directly on the native SiO₂ of the Si capping layer. In this regard, ALD is employed to coat the patterned nanosheets with 10.6 nm Al₂O₃ at a reactor temperature of 473 K using the trimethylaluminum (TMA) precursor and H₂O as the oxidant source. Since Al₂O₃ can be etched by BHF at a very similar rate as thermal SiO₂ (~1 nm/s), the fabrication of the devices can be proceeded in the same way as described in the previous section.

For the integration of HfO₂ into the RFET gate stack, more steps from the previously described process flow have to be adapted (see Figure 3.1) as it can be barely etched using BHF. The main purpose of its integration into the Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-based RFETs in Section 5.3.1 is to effectively reduce the EOT and thus the electrostatic gating of the devices without increasing the leakage currents by physically reducing the gate oxide thickness. To ensure a good interface quality to the Si surface of the nanosheets, a short thermal oxidation of 1 min at 1173 K is conducted to grow a 2.5 nm thin SiO₂ interface layer. Ideally, the thickness of this SiO₂ interface should be further reduced, but this is difficult to achieve with the furnace available for the oxide growth. Chemical growth of the SiO₂ interface oxide (see Section 3.1.3) is also problematic, as the chemicals used would etch the Ge layer. Subsequently, the sample is loaded into the *Beneq TFS 200* ALD system to grow a 7.6 nm thick HfO₂ layer at 523 K using tetrakis-(ethylmethylamino)-hafnium (TEMAHf) and H₂O precursors, with N₂ as the carrier gas.

To etch through the deposited HfO_2 layer prior to the deposition of the Al for the S/D contacts, an SF₆/Ar-based RIE process was developed. At a process temperature of 293 K, an RF power of 50 W and an SF₆/Ar gas flow of 50 sccm/4 sccm, the HfO₂ is etched at a rate of ~0.06 nm/s. Unfortunately, the underlying SiO₂ and Si/Ge layers do not act as an etch stop, with an even higher etch rate in Si, which means that the process timing must be precisely tuned. For a 7.6 nm thick HfO₂ layer, this results in an etch time of 125 s. The process is tuned to stop etching within the thermally grown SiO₂ layer. The remaining oxide layer is subsequently removed by standard wet chemical etching in BHF for 20 s, which naturally stops at the Si surface of the nanosheet.

3.1.3 Ferroelectric Gate Integration into SBFET

The SBFETs with the integrated ferroelectric gate stack for non-volatile applications are based on Si nanosheets patterned from an SOI substrate. As before, these are fabricated using laser lithography and SF₆-O₂-based RIE. For a reliable device operation with a strong ferroelectric response, a thin interface layer of high quality and a low interface state density is essential. In this regard, the substrate is first dipped in BHF to remove the native oxide, followed by the growth of an $\sim 1 \text{ nm}$ thin SiO₂ film chemically formed following the RCA-2 procedure (H₂O₂:HCl:H₂O (6:1:1) at T = 343 K for 10 min).

The 8.5 nm thick HZO layer is then grown utilizing the *Beneq TFS 200* ALD at a chamber temperature of 523 K using the TEMAHf and TEMAZr (tetrakis-(ethylmethylamino)zirconium) precursors, H_2O as the oxidant source and N_2 as carrier gas. First, two ALD cycles of ZrO₂ are deposited on the SiO₂ surface as a seed layer for the HZO growth. The introduction of a ZrO₂ layer promotes the lateral growth of the HZO and diminishes island growth. Furthermore, the smaller lattice mismatch of the ZrO₂ seed layer towards the HZO compared to the SiO₂ could also decrease tensile strain effects, resulting in reduced grain sizes. These smaller grain sizes can effectively prohibit the transition of the tetragonal phase to the unwanted monoclinic crystal phase and therefore improve the ferroelectric properties [224]. The growth of the HZO is then performed by alternating single cycles for HfO₂ (TEMAHf, H₂O) and ZrO₂ (TEMAZr, H₂O) layers, with 58 of these so-called supercycles for a total HZO layer thickness of 8.5 nm.

The Al S/D contacts are then defined using the standard laser lithography procedure. Since HZO is even more stable against BHF etching, and the SF₆-Ar RIE process has also revealed various processing issues, the HZO layer in the contact region was etched purely physically using Ar⁺ sputtering. At a power of 100 W, the sample is etched for 695 s with an extracted etch rate of the HZO of 0.86 nm/min, thereby also moderately etching into the Si device layer to ensure a good contact to the Si nanosheets. Subsequently, 120 nm Al is deposited in-situ at 60 W in six cycles of 60 s, followed by lift-off in acetone and ultrasonics.

For the fabrication of SBFETs with classical dielectrics, the RTA would now be applied to form the monolithic Al-Si-Al heterostructures. However, annealing the structures without top gates would here result in the HZO crystallizing in an undesired dielectric phase. In this regard, the top gate electrodes are structured first using standard laser lithography, as the single and dual top-gated FeFETs in this work do not require the high resolution of the EBL process. The deposition of the 50 nm thick TiN layer is conducted using reactive sputtering of Ti in N₂ plasma at 100 W at a N₂ flow of 6 sccm and a working pressure of 6×10^{-3} mbar, followed by lift-off. RTA at 773 K (t > 2 min) is then applied to induce the Al-Si exchange reaction as well as the crystallization of the HZO into the orthorhombic phase to achieve ferroelectric device behavior. Thereby, annealing in N₂ atmosphere is used, as forming gas is known to significantly degrade the ferroelectric properties of the HZO layer [132]. Again, several consecutive annealing steps can be carried out in order to adjust the length of the Si segment so that the Al-Si interfaces are located below the top gate electrodes, without destroying the orthorhombic phase.

3.2 Electrical Characterization and Evaluation

For the electrical characterization of the fabricated devices, different measurement setups and techniques are used. The main device characterization of the individual SBFETs is conducted in the *Lake Shore PS-100* cryo-probe station using a *Keysight B1500A* semiconductor analyzer. This setup features five needle probes connected to four source-measureunits (SMUs) and an additional ground unit (GNDU), ideal for characterizing three- or four-terminal devices such as STG SBFETs or TTG RFETs. The four SMUs are capable of applying voltage to the device while precisely measuring currents with high resolution down to 1 fA. In addition, the SMUs feature a pulsed operation mode, where the voltage level is applied only for a very short time, with a minimum pulse width of $t_p > 0.5$ ms. This allows to reduce charging and charge trapping effects of the devices during the characterization. The measurements are generally conducted in ambient air, shielded from ambient light. The sample stage can be heated up above 400 K for temperature-dependent characterization.

For the characterization of devices (MIGFETs) or circuits requiring more than four terminals, a needle probe station with up to seven electrical probes, in combination with the HP4156B semiconductor analyzer is used (see Figure 3.7). The analyzer is equipped with four SMUs, also with a high resolution in the low fA-region, two voltage-measurement-units (VMUs) and two voltage-source-units (VSUs). The needle probe station is also placed in a dark box to minimize the influence of light irradiation during measurements. For transient measurements, this setup is combined with up to three dual-channel Keysight EDU33212A function generators to provide the signal inputs for characterizing the fabricated RFET-based logic gates. However, the operating speed for time-dependent measurements is limited by the low temporal resolution of the analyzer (> 10 ms) and the sample design with large planar contact pads for the needle probes, which induces large parasitic capacitances.



Figure 3.7: (a) Image of the measurement of an RFET-based logic circuit using 7 tungstencarbide needles. The needle probes are positioned on the Au contact pads using micromanipulators and connect the device to the semiconductor analyzer. (b) Microscope image of the contacted MIN3 gate.

The C/V measurements for the characterization of capacitive test structures, as well as some additional four-terminal I/V measurements, are conducted using the *Keithley 4200-SCS* semiconductor analyzer and the *Cascade Microtech Summit 11000 AP* probe station. The built-in capacitance-voltage-unit (CVU) allows capacitance measurements in the range of fF to nF at frequencies from 1 kHz to 10 MHz. The four SMUs for the I/V measurements achieve comparable current resolution as the other two semiconductor analyzers.

3.2.1 Transfer Characteristics

The transfer characteristic of a transistor describes the relationship between the gate voltage (V_G) and the drain current (I_D) at a constant bias voltage (V_{DS}) . This measurement is a standard analysis used to describe the electrical behavior of transistors in general and to extract important performance metrics. By plotting the characteristic in a semilogarithmic representation, the switch-off behavior of the transistor is revealed, whereby important parameters such as on- and off-currents (I_{on}, I_{off}) and the subthreshold slope (S_{th}) can be extracted. To classify the measurement results, it is common to normalize the currents to the characteristic size of the transistor, which is typically the channel width W (in $\mu A/\mu m$) for top-down fabricated platforms. For NW-based transistor channels, currents are typically normalized to the NW diameter d_{NW} . This provides better comparability between differently scaled devices or device platforms, both within this work and with comparable devices from the literature.

For a multi-gate transistor, such as the RFET, only the CG for modulating the channel barrier is varied to measure the transfer characteristic. The PG is typically fixed to a specific voltage, which sets the polarity of the device to either n-type $(V_{PG} > 0 \text{ V})$ or ptype conduction $(V_{PG} < 0 \text{ V})$. An exemplary transfer characteristic of an RFET is shown in Figure 3.8(a), with the measured current flow I_D for both operation modes. In devices with multiple CGs (MIGFETs), only one CG is swept over the defined measurement range, while the other CGs and the PG are set to a constant potential. The bias voltage is set by the source-drain potential difference $V_{DS} = V_D - V_S$. For measurements where the bias is referred to as asymmetrical, the bias voltage is defined by the potential at the drain contact, with $V_{DS} = V_D$, while the source contact is grounded ($V_S = 0 \text{ V}$). For symmetrical bias measurements, the source potential is set to the inverted drain potential ($V_D = -V_S$), resulting in a symmetrical modulation of the injection barriers at both Schottky junctions.

When determining transistor parameters, measurements are always made in a symmetrical range around the zero point, e.g., V_G swept between ± 5 V. Especially for RFETs, only symmetrical operating voltages are used for n- and p-type operation to ensure a fair comparison, i.e., $V_{PG}^p = -V_{PG}^n$ and $V_{DS}^p = V_{DS}^n$.



Figure 3.8: (a) Semi-logarithmic transfer characteristic of an RFET, for the extraction of the on-currents $I_{on}^{n,p}$, off-currents $I_{off}^{n,p}$ and subthreshold slopes $S_{th}^{n,p}$ for n-mode (red) and p-mode (blue) operation, respectively. (b) Semi-logarithmic transfer characteristic of an ambipolar SBFET. (c) Linear transfer characteristic and transconductance g_m for the extraction of the threshold voltage V_{th} of the n-mode.

On- and Off-State Currents

The on-state currents I_{on} are extracted as the maximum current values I_D above the threshold voltage at the on-state of the transistor, typically either at the maximum applied positive V_G for electron-induced currents (I_{on}^n) or negative V_G for hole-induced currents (I_{on}^p) . The off-state current I_{off} is extracted from the minimum I_D value of the measured characteristic. In an ambipolar SBFET with both n- and p-type branches within a single device characteristic, on-state currents can be extracted for both carrier types, which is shown in Figure 3.8(b). In an RFET, the injection of one charge carrier type is blocked by the potential barrier introduced from the PG, resulting in a unipolar device characteristic with a distinct on-state and off-state current for the respective operation mode (Figure 3.8(a)). Note that the detection of the off-currents is limited to current levels of $\sim 10 \, \text{fA}$ due to the resolution limitations of the setup. The on/off current ratio (I_{on}/I_{off}) is an important device metric representing the transistor's capability of current modulation and is mostly independent of the device dimensions, making this parameter well suited for comparing devices of different technologies. For RFETs in particular, the on-state symmetry is an essential performance parameter, which is calculated from the ratio of the on-state currents for both operation modes I_{on}^p/I_{on}^n . For equivalent driving capabilities of the RFET in both configurations for logic circuits, this symmetry factor should ideally be close to 1.

Subthreshold Slope

The switch-off behavior of the transistor in the subthreshold region is characterized by the subthreshold slope S_{th} , which is defined by

$$S_{th} = \left(\frac{d(log_{10}(I_D))}{dV_G}\right)^{-1}.$$
 (3.1)

The S_{th} is expressed in mV/dec and describes the gate voltage required to change the current by one order of magnitude (see Figure 3.8(a,b)). For logic operations, low S_{th} values are desirable as this corresponds to a steeper transition between the on- and off-states of the transistor. For thermionic emission in conventional transistor architectures, the slope is generally limited to $\geq 60 \text{ mV/dec}$ at room temperature, which is further discussed in Section 2.4. By optimizing the electrostatic gate coupling, e.g., reducing the EOT or improving the gating architecture, the S_{th} can be optimized to approach this thermionic limit.

Threshold Voltage

The threshold voltage V_{th} of a transistor is identified as the voltage at which a FET turns on. In conventional MOSFETs, it is defined as the gate voltage where an inversion channel is formed at the silicon surface, enabling the flow of charge carriers [90]. However, the current transport in SBFETs with lowly doped or undoped semiconductor channels is different and is mainly defined by the modulation of the Schottky barriers. Therefore, a more general definition of the threshold voltage is applicable. For electron/hole conduction, V_{th}^n/V_{th}^p can be defined as the voltage level where the CB/VB band edge coincides with the source Fermi level, which is largely independent of the actual Schottky barrier height. In this regard, in an ambipolar SBFET, the difference between the threshold voltages for the n- and p-branches equals the band gap of the channel material, with $E_g = q(V_{th}^n - V_{th}^p)$ [248].

To extract the threshold voltage V_{th} , several different methods can be used, such as the constant-current method, transconductance method, or the linear extrapolation method, all resulting in slightly different values for V_{th} [249,250]. In the constant-current method, the threshold voltage is defined as the gate voltage at which a predefined threshold drain current I_T is reached. The transconductance (g_m) method uses a linear extrapolation of the g_m/V_G characteristic at the maximum of its first derivative [249]. In this work, the linear extrapolation method is used for the extraction, which is also the most commonly used method. This extraction method is shown in Figure 3.8(c), using the transfer characteristic plotted in a linear scale. A tangent is drawn through the inflection point of the I_D curve. The value for the V_{th} is then extracted at the maximum point of the transconductance g_m , which is the first derivative of the I_D - V_G characteristic, calculated by

$$g_m = \frac{\partial I_D}{\partial V_D}.\tag{3.2}$$

The threshold voltage is commonly used as the basis for evaluating the on- and off-currents. Thereby, the current values are measured with a predefined offset towards the V_{th} [251]. However, in this work, it is not always feasible to extract the V_{th} for all the different devices with different channel materials, as the peak transconductance cannot be reached within the possible V_G -measurement range.

Hysteresis

To analyze the influence of the gate voltage sweeping direction, the transfer characteristic can be recorded using double sweeps. Thereby, the gate voltage is swept in opposite directions within the measurement range. In unipolar devices, such as the RFET set in either n- or p-type operation, measurements are typically conducted from off \rightarrow on \rightarrow off-state. In ambipolar SBFETs, the measurement is usually started from the negative V_G value. Figure 3.8(a,b) shows the double sweep measurements for both device types, with small arrows indicating the measurement direction. Different charge trapping effects can then result in differences in the obtained transfer characteristic depending on the sweeping direction. Strong charge trapping due to high interface trap densities, as often found in Ge devices with unstable GeO_x interfaces [38, 252], can cause large hysteresis effects, reducing the reproducibility of measurement results and thus limiting the ability to properly evaluate device properties. This hysteresis can be quantified by the difference of the threshold voltages from the two measurement directions $(\Delta V_{th} = V_{th,1} - V_{th,2})$. In general, the sweep rate affects the amount of charge trapping and therefore the hysteresis, with a faster sweep rate usually resulting in a reduced hysteresis [249]. Furthermore, also the V_G -measurement range can influence the hysteresis, as higher voltages can access deep-level trap states.

To minimize the influence of charge trapping effects on the characteristics of the devices, pulsed transfer measurements are conducted. This measurement technique was specifically important for the characterization of the $\operatorname{Si}_{1-x}\operatorname{Ge}_x$ devices with an $\operatorname{Si}/\operatorname{Al}_2\operatorname{O}_3$ interface in Section 5.2 due to a large density of slow interface traps. For each data point, the gate voltage $V_G = V_{G,x}$ is only applied for a short time (the pulse duration t_{pulse}) during which the drain current $I_D(V_{G,x})$ is measured. For the rest of the pulse period, V_G is set back to the base level, usually 0 V, before being pulsed to the next voltage value $V_G = V_{G,x+1}$ to measure the next data point $I_D(V_{G,x+1})$. The shortest possible pulse duration t_{pulse} of 0.5 ms was used for the pulsed measurements, limited by the available measurement setup. However, due to the reduced integration times, the current resolution is severely limited to $\geq 100 \text{ pA}$ in the used setup. As a result, with the pulsed measurements, it is often not possible to fully capture the subthreshold region of the transfer characteristic because it cannot adequately resolve low off-state currents.

Evaluation Remarks

For the evaluation of the device parameters, Python scripts were developed to allow faster and more efficient analysis of a larger number of devices, also at different temperatures or bias conditions. The extraction of the parameters was validated by the generation of verification plots and partial manual evaluation.

3.2.2 Polarity Gate-dependent Transfer Characteristic

In SBFETs the current flow is mainly defined by the charge carrier injection at the Schottky junctions. In TTG RFETs, this injection barrier can be independently controlled by the PG, increasing the transmissibility for tunneling for one charge carrier type while decreasing it for the other. To analyze the modulation of the Schottky barrier with the PG, the I_D/V_{CG} transfer characteristic is measured for multiple different V_{PG} values, typically within the same range of the CG-voltages. Starting from negative V_{PG} values, the transition from a hole-dominant p-type device characteristic to an electron-dominant n-type characteristic is observed. This measurement with two variable input voltages is often plotted in a 2D color map representation to better visualize the operation regimes. In addition, this graph is useful for determining the optimum operating conditions for symmetrical on-state currents.

3.2.3 Output Characteristics

The output characteristic describes the bias voltage (V_{DS}) -dependent measurement of the drain current (I_D) while the gate potential (V_G or V_{CG}) is fixed. This I_D/V_{DS} measurement is then repeated for various (control) gate voltages to create a multitude of curves. It gives important insights into the saturation properties for a given bias voltage of the device, as well as the contact properties of the metal-semiconductor junction. In particular, a linear I_D/V_{DS} behavior indicates a (quasi-) ohmic contact, while a nonlinear behavior implies a distinct Schottky barrier for the injection of charge carriers. Plotted in a 2D semi-logarithmic color map representation, with V_{DS} and V_G on the x- and y-axis, it further provides insights into the different transport regimes (TE, TFE, FE) [253, 254]. The measurement of the temperature-dependent output characteristics further allows to extract the activation energies for the injection of carriers from the metal S/D contacts into the semiconductor channel. The temperature-dependent I_D/V_{DS} characteristic for two different gate voltages in an SBFET is shown in Figure 3.9(a).

3.2.4 Activation Energy Evaluation

The effective Schottky barrier height describes the minimum energy required for the injection of charge carriers into the semiconductor channel. As already described in Section 2.3.2, it is strongly influenced by Fermi level, band bending from the applied bias voltage and the temperature. In order to analyze the properties of the metal-semiconductor junction and to gain a deeper understanding of the underlying transport mechanisms, the extraction of the effective Schottky barrier is of great interest. There are several methods available for determining the Schottky barrier height of a metal-semiconductor junctionbased device: current-voltage, current-temperature, capacitance-voltage, or photoelectric measurements [161, 249]. In this work, the extraction is carried out via temperaturedependent measurements of the V_{DS}/I_D output characteristic, based on the thermionic emission theory [90]. Since the current flow I_D in the SBFET is a combination of tunneling current and thermionic emission, the individual transport mechanisms (TE, TFE, FE) cannot be distinguished from the measured data. Furthermore, it must be taken into account that the investigated devices incorporate two metal-semiconductor junctions through which the charge carriers are transported. The term *Activation Energy* (E_a) is therefore used instead of the *effective Schottky barrier*, as this is more suitable for describing the total energy required to transport the charge carriers through the heterostructure.

Based on the thermionic emission theory, the drain current density $J_D = I_D/A$ (with A being the cross-sectional area of the semiconductor channel) can be described according to

$$J_D(T) = A^* T^2 \exp\left(\frac{-E_a}{k_B T}\right) \left[\exp\left(\frac{qV_{DS}}{k_B T}\right) - 1\right].$$
(3.3)

The current is evaluated by measuring the output characteristic for five different temperatures from 295 K to 400 K, for low bias voltages V_{DS} between 0 mV to 100 mV. The measurement of the I_D/V_{DS} characteristic for different gate voltages V_G further allows a gate-dependent E_a evaluation. Figure 3.9(a) shows the temperature-dependent output characteristic for an exemplary Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} SBFET for two different gate voltages.



Figure 3.9: Evaluation of the activation energy E_a , based on the example of a Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} SBFET. (a) Temperature-dependent output characteristic (T = 295 K to 400 K) shown for two different gate voltages ($V_{TG} = -4$ V and 1.5 V). (b) Arrhenius plot for the two corresponding gate voltages. (c) V_D -dependent activation energies E_a , with a linear fit for extracting the E_a value at $V_D = 0$ V. (d) V_G -dependent E_a plot with the extracted values from (c).

Considering $\exp\left(\frac{qV_{DS}}{k_BT}\right) \gg 1$ and applying the natural logarithm to Equation 3.3, the Arrhenius equation according to

$$\ln\left(\frac{J_D}{T^2}\right) = \frac{1}{T}\left(\frac{-E_a + qV_{DS}}{k_B}\right) + \ln(A^*) \tag{3.4}$$

can be formed. The left-hand term shows a linear relationship to 1/T, which is also shown accordingly in the Arrhenius plot in Figure 3.9(b). From this, the slope $k = 1/k_B \cdot (qV_{DS} - E_a)$ for each bias voltage V_{DS} can be determined. Finally, the expression for the activation energy can be found with

$$E_a = -k \cdot k_B + q V_{DS}. \tag{3.5}$$

Setting $V_{DS} = 0$ V, in particular by applying a linear fit through the derived data points in Figure 3.9(b), a distinct data point of the activation energy for the respective gate voltage is extracted. Repeating this extraction method for different gate voltages results in a V_G -dependent activation energy plot as shown in Figure 3.9(d).

In general, the activation energy is extracted at low bias voltages to reduce the influence of band bending. However, in order to get a more detailed insight into the device behavior in



Figure 3.10: Evaluation of the activation energy E_a color maps, based on the example of a Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} RFET. (a) Output characteristic measured for an extended bias range V_{DS} , plotted for the n-type operation ($V_{PG} = 5$ V) for $V_{CG} = -0.5$ V. (b) Arrhenius plot for V_{DS} between -2 V to 2 V. (c) The fitted slopes in (b) give the E_a values for the full bias range. (d) Extracted E_a as a function of V_{CG} and V_{DS} in a 2D color map representation.

its actual operating voltage regime, the extraction at higher bias voltages is of particular interest. In this regard, the temperature-dependent output characteristic is measured over a wider range, e.g., ± 2 V as shown in Figure 3.10(a) for the measurement of an exemplary RFET in n-mode configuration. The further evaluation for the generation of the Arrhenius plot and the V_{DS} -dependent activation energies is then conducted analogously to before (see Figure 3.10(b,c)). However, instead of fitting the data with a linear fit towards $V_D = 0$ V, all E_a data points are plotted accordingly in a 2D color map as a function of V_{DS} and V_{CG} (see Figure 3.10(d)). This reveals the effective barriers under the respective operating conditions and when the dominant carrier type is effectively injected or blocked.

3.2.5 Noise Margins

The concept of noise margins is an important criterion to evaluate the stability of a digital logic circuit to resist the effects of noise and other input voltage variations while still maintaining correct logic levels. They are critical parameters that define how much noise a circuit can tolerate before it incorrectly switches its output [255].

For binary logic levels, the noise margins can be divided into a criterion for the high state (NM_H) and the low state (NM_L) . The noise margin high (NM_H) refers to the amount of noise voltage that can be added to the output of a logic gate at a high logic level ("1") before it is interpreted as a low logic level ("0"). The noise margin low (NM_L) accordingly is the tolerance for noise in the logic low state. The two parameters can be evaluated according to

$$NM_H = V_{OH} - V_{IH}$$

$$NM_L = V_{IL} - V_{OL}.$$
(3.6)

The voltage levels V_{IL} and V_{IH} thereby define the input threshold voltage when the respective output threshold levels V_{OH} or V_{OL} for the high and low states are reached. As illustrated in the inverter output transfer characteristic in Figure 3.11, by definition these



Figure 3.11: Evaluation of the activation noise margins NM_H and NM_L from an inverter output transfer characteristic. The red curve shows the output voltage V_{OUT} in relation to the input voltage V_{IN} . The gray curve shows the same data but with output and input axes reversed.

threshold voltages can be extracted at the points where the slope $= dV_{OUT}/dV_{IN} = -1$ [255]. An abrupt switching at $(V_{DD} - V_{SS})/2$ would thereby be the ideal case for the logic output, resulting in maximized noise margins. In general, CMOS logic gates achieve larger noise margins than comparable NMOS logic gates, as CMOS delivers rail-to-rail outputs, while the V_{OL} level in NMOS is restricted [256]. The gray curve in Figure 3.11 shows the same inverter characteristic as the red one, but with the input and output axes reversed. The intersections of the two curves thereby represent the stable states of a pair of two cross-coupled inverters [255].

To analytically compare the operation of the logic inverter in this work operated at different operation voltages, the noise margin levels NM_H and NM_L are normalized to the supply rail voltages V_{DD} and V_{SS} , according to

$$NM'_{H,L} = \frac{NM_{H,L}}{V_{DD} - V_{SS}}.$$
(3.7)

In this case, $NM'_{H} = NM'_{L} = 0.5$ would be ideal and represent a rectangular output curve switching at half the supply rail voltage difference $V_{DD} - V_{SS}$. If the output curve is strongly shifted towards V_{DD} or V_{SS} despite a steep switching slope, this results in strongly asymmetrical NMs, e.g., a high NM_{L} and a low NM_{H} , with a low stability for one output state.

3.2.6 C/V and P/E Characterization

To optimize the ferroelectric gate stack, in particular the HZO deposition and crystallization parameters as well as its layer thickness, capacitive metal-ferroelectric-metal (MFM) test structures are fabricated and characterized. The bottom metal electrode (e.g., TiN) is thereby sputtered on a highly n-doped Si substrate, followed by the deposition of the HZO layer (ALD) and the circular top gate electrodes with diameters in the range of 75 µm to 150 µm. Capacitive metal-ferroelectric-insulator-semiconductor (MFIS) test structures are fabricated to investigate different interface layers (IL) between the HZO and Si channel and different top gate electrode materials. Instead of depositing a bottom electrode contact, the IL is grown on the p-doped Si substrate, followed by deposition of the HZO and top gate electrode.

The capacitance-voltage (C/V) measurements are then conducted by sweeping a large DC voltage that is superimposed with a small AC signal in the mV range at a frequency of 1 kHz to 10 MHz. The measured current flow is then integrated over time to extract the electric charge Q of the capacitor, which thus results in the capacity of the structure according to

$$C = \frac{\Delta Q}{\Delta V} = \frac{\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_r A}{t}.$$
(3.8)

From the vacuum permittivity ε_0 and the dimensions of the MFM structure, with the area of the circular top electrode A and the thickness of the HZO layer t, the relative

permittivity ε_r of the ferroelectric layer can be extracted. The relative permittivity can be further expressed in terms of the polarization P, according to

$$\varepsilon_r = \frac{\varepsilon_0 E + P}{\varepsilon_0 E} = 1 + \frac{1}{\varepsilon_0} \cdot \frac{P}{E}.$$
(3.9)

Due to the nonlinear polarization switching of the ferroelectric material, a nonlinear butterfly-shaped C/V characteristic with two distinct peaks is obtained. If the extracted C/V curve exhibits a counterclockwise hysteresis, as schematically indicated in Figure 3.12(a), this indicates ferroelectric behavior of the investigated structure. A clockwise hysteresis on the other hand would indicate dominant charge carrier trapping effects.



Figure 3.12: (a) C/V measurement of an MFM structure showing a butterfly-shaped curve with a counterclockwise hysteresis. (b) Sawyer-Tower circuit for measuring the P/E characteristic.

In MFIS capacitive structures, the capacitance of the semiconductor substrate and the insulating interface layer, both connected in series with the capacitance of the ferroelectric layer, also play an important role during the measurement. Due to the formation of depletion and accumulation regions near the semiconductor interface, the capacitance changes strongly depending on the applied voltage. In an n-doped semiconductor, when a positive voltage is applied to the metal, electrons are attracted to the surface, resulting in an accumulation of carriers near the interface and hence an increase in capacitance. At negative voltages, a depletion region is formed, resulting in a decrease in capacitance. Due to the large influence of the capacitance of the Si substrate in series with the IL and the HZO, the resulting C/V characteristic has a distinct S-shape. From the direction of the hysteresis, information about the ferroelectric polarization or trapping effects can be extracted. A clockwise hysteresis indicates a dominant trapping behavior due to high trap densities at the interfaces or in the deposited layers. A counterclockwise hysteresis indicates fixed charges induced by the ferroelectric polarization of the HZO.

For recording the P/E characteristic curve, with the polarity P depending on the applied electric field E, the Sawyer-Tower circuit is used [257, 258]. The schematic of this circuit is shown in Figure 3.12(b). A reference capacitor is connected in series with the MFM structure to sense the amount of charge across the ferroelectric in response to the triangular voltage signal [132]. Thereby, both capacitors have the same charge, and the ratio V = Q/C results in different voltage drops proportional to the capacity. A reference capacitor with a nominal capacitance of $C_{ref} = 10 \text{ nF}$ is selected. This is significantly larger

than the capacity of the measured device to minimize the voltage drop across the reference [259]. The signals are typically fed directly into an xy-mode oscilloscope to directly visualize the polarization curve, where the x-axis is proportional to the input voltage and the y-axis is proportional to the measured electrical polarization. The polarization of the MFM capacitor can then be extracted by

$$P \approx \frac{Q}{A_{MFM}} = \frac{C_{ref} \cdot V_{ref}}{A_{MFM}}.$$
(3.10)

From this P/E characteristic, the remnant polarization P_r and the coercive field E_c can be extracted (see Figure 2.3(b)).

3.2.7 Polarization State Measurements of Ferroelectric Transistors

To characterize the transistors with the integrated HZO layer (FeSBFETs and FeRFETs) and analyze their ferroelectric switching behavior, pulsed measurements are used. Figure 3.13 schematically shows the measurement principle for the characterization of an FeRFET. Short pulses with a pulse width $t_{pulse} = 0.5 \,\mathrm{ms}$ of high amplitudes are thereby applied to the top gate electrode (TG) to switch the ferroelectric polarization state of the HZO layer and therefore the electrical characteristic of the device. During the pulsing sequence, all other device terminals (D, S, BG) are kept grounded. Each pulsing operation consists of three consecutive pulses of alternating polarity, with the amplitudes V_{set} and V_{reset} . The first two pulses, a set pulse followed by a reset pulse, are performed to reset the polarization state and reduce the influence of previous pulses or measurements. The last pulse of this sequence, with the same pulsing amplitude V_{set} as the starting pulse, switches the device into the desired polarization state for the measurement. A positive set pulse is thereby used to induce a polarization state with a net positive charge towards the semiconductor channel (and the metal-semiconductor interfaces). Negative V_{set} pulse amplitudes are used to flip the polarization state in the negative direction. After applying the pulse sequence, the transfer characteristic of the polarized FeSBFET is measured. In this work, this is typically done by sweeping the back gate electrode (V_{BG}) in both directions while measuring the drain current flow I_D . A constant bias voltage V_{DS} is thereby



Figure 3.13: (a) Pulsing schematic for measuring the FeFET polarization states. (b) Configuration of the device during pulsing and transfer measurement. The pulsing sequence is applied via the TG electrode, while the drain, source and back-gate terminals are set to 0 V. For measuring the transfer characteristic, V_{BG} is swept in both directions while a constant V_{DS} is applied.

applied to the device, with the TG electrode being grounded. Therefore, only the electric field induced from the ferroelectric layer is gating the device from top. Note that large V_{BG} in the range of ± 20 V needs to be applied to modulate the current flow due to the thick BOX (100 nm) between the BG contact and the semiconductor channel. In general, the device can also be modulated via the TG electrode, which is also used to polarize the HZO. However, the remanent polarization of the HZO is directly superimposed on the TG voltage, reducing the direct influence of the ferroelectric response.

Gradual Polarization Switching Measurements

To analyze the influence of the pulse amplitude on the polarization of the HZO layer and thus on the electrical behavior of the device, a measurement sequence according to Figure 3.14(a) is used. This measurement is of particular interest for the determination of intermediate polarization states from a gradual switching of the ferroelectric domains. In this regard, the amplitude for the set pulse V_{set} is gradually increased for each set pulsing sequence, and its electrical response is measured afterwards by modulating V_{BG} . Before each measurement with the variable set pulse amplitudes, the device is always reset to the same polarization state of opposite polarity by applying a reset sequence with a constant V_{reset} amplitude. This reset state is also measured accordingly to ensure that the device has been properly reset to the initial state.

Retention Measurements

The storage capability of a non-volatile device is one of the most important characteristics that indicates how long the stored information is retained. In this regard, the measurement sequence according to 3.14(b) is employed. After applying the pulsing sequence to set the device in the respective polarization state, several consecutive measurements are performed, each separated by a waiting time Δt . In between the measurements, the device remains connected to the probe station, with all terminals set to 0 V. By comparing the recorded transfer characteristics, the progression of, e.g., on-state currents over time can be analyzed and conclusions about depolarization effects can be drawn.



Figure 3.14: (a) Measurement sequence for analyzing the influence of variable pulsing amplitudes V_{set} . Before each set sequence, a reset sequence is applied to set the FeFET to a defined initial state of opposite polarization. (b) Schematic of the retention measurement. After setting the polarization state, several measurements are carried out, separated by a time interval Δt .

Results and Discussion



Chapter 4

Al-Si based Multi-Gate Transistors

The first part of this chapter focuses on the monolithic contact formation of Al to Si. The characteristics of this novel heterostructure formation process are studied, supported by detailed analysis of the formed interfaces and crystal structures, as well as electrical properties of the Al leads. This reproducible contact formation is thereby key for the realization of the devices throughout this work. Integrated into SBFETs the electrical transport characteristics of the Al-Si-Al heterostructures are investigated. Subsequently, a three top-gated (TTG) architecture is used to realize RFETs that can switch their device characteristics between n-type and p-type operation during runtime. This device concept is very promising to reduce the transistor count of symmetric functions in circuits, leading to increased functional density and energy efficiency [14, 18]. Furthermore, RFETs may enable new approaches for adaptive computing and hardware security [13, 25]. A detailed characterization and evaluation of the individual RFETs also addresses the high reproducibility of the manufacturing method, which is essential for large-scale integration in circuits.

The second part of this chapter then demonstrates the integration of RFETs into complementary and combinational logic gates, including inverters, reconfigurable NAND/NOR and XOR/XNOR gates, highlighting the potential of this flexible device concept. Ultimately, the first physical implementation of a full adder using only 8 physically identical RFETs is shown. Next, a multi-wire RFET is presented as a method for increasing the drive currents of the individual devices. Finally, in the last part of the chapter, the influence of replacing the CMOS-incompatible Au by Al in the gate stack is analyzed.

The following results and discussion from this chapter are based on the author's work in publications about Al-Si heterostructure formation [LW14], the realization of RFETs [LW10, LW12], and their integration in complementary logic gates [LW6, LW8][LWC4].

4.1 Structural Analysis of Al-Si-Al Heterostructures

Metal-semiconductor-metal heterostructures are the basis of all devices analyzed in this thesis. Al was chosen due to its mid-gap alignment in Si, however, reliable junction formation between the two materials had been missing prior to this work. Therefore, a reliable fabrication method leading to reproducible Al-Si junctions had to be developed here. As already discussed in more detail in Section 3.1.2, these heterostructures are formed by contacting Si mesa structures, patterned from an SOI substrate, with Al pads and then using RTA to form the Al-Si heterojunctions. In temperature series experiments, 773 K was found to be the optimal temperature, as controllable reaction rates could be observed. Below this temperature (≤ 723 K) no reaction was visible.

A schematic of the Al-Si heterostructure formation process is shown in Figure 4.1(a). The microscope image in Figure 4.1(b) shows an Al-Si-Al heterostructure fabricated by this exchange process, with the Al leads extending from the lithographically defined Al contact pads into the mesa structure and monolithically connecting the $\sim 3.6 \,\mu\text{m}$ long unreacted Si channel. Several consecutive annealing steps can be conducted to precisely tune the position of the Al-Si interface and therefore further reduce the Si channel length (see Figure 4.1(c)). Examination of Al-Si diffusion in 15 nm thick Si nanosheets with structural widths W ranging from 300 nm to 700 nm reveals an increased exchange rate for reduced crosssections A, with exchange rates of $(50.7 \pm 3.8) \,\text{nm/s}$ for the narrowest structures. The data can be fitted to a 1/W function, which, for a constant height H of the nanosheets, is directly proportional to the inverse of their cross-sectional area ($\sim 1/A$), indicating volume diffusion [186, 260]. Note that for the evaluation of the Al-Si exchange rates in Figure



Figure 4.1: (a) Schematic illustration of the Al-Si-Al heterostructure formation. (b,c) Microscope images showing the annealing progress, where the Si channel length is reduced over time. (d) Al-Si exchange rate in relation to the width of the Si nanosheets. The data is fitted using a 1/W function, indicating volume diffusion. The inset shows the linear relation between the exchange rate and the inverse structure width 1/W.

4.1(c), the structures were annealed for 26s at 773 K, excluding an ~12s heat-up time of the furnace to reach the process temperature. With increasing annealing duration t it can be assumed that the reaction rate decreases proportional to \sqrt{t} , as observations in Ge nanostructures have shown [LW17][175] and as expected for a diffusion limited process. Furthermore, variations in the exchange rate are evident even for nanosheets of similar width. These can be partially attributed to variations in the Al-Si contact area, such as geometric differences and residual patchy oxide layers. Nevertheless, comparable rapid thermal contact formation processes reveal the significantly higher variability of Ni-silicide formation rates when employing NiSi₂ contacts [163].

To analyze the formed Al-Si-Al heterostructure in more detail, scanning transmission electron microscopy (STEM) and energy-dispersive X-ray spectroscopy (EDX) analysis were conducted by our project partners at EMPA. The high-angle annular dark-field (HAADF)-STEM image in 4.2(a) shows the cross-sectional cut across the Al-Si-Al heterostructure on top of the 100 nm thick BOX and the Si base substrate. The EDX image in Figure 4.2(b), with the line scan along one Al-Si interface in Figure 4.2(c), shows the elementary composition of the formed heterostructure. No Al contamination of the remaining Si segment can be detected within the EDX resolution limit (<1%). The EDX image further shows that the thermally grown SiO₂ cap encapsulating the remaining Si-segment as well as the formed Al leads is still intact after the thermal exchange process. In the high-resolution (HR)STEM image in Figure 4.2(d), the abruptness of the Al-Si interface is revealed, ranging from a few nm up to the atomic level. It is clearly evident that the reacted Al lead is



Figure 4.2: (a) HAADF-STEM image of the entire Al-Si-Al heterostructure atop the BOX and the Si base substrate. (b) EDX map of the heterostructure. A line scan across the Al-Si interface mapping the Al and Si content is shown in (c). (d) Close-up HRSTEM image of the Al-Si interface, with the FFT patterns of the Si and Al segments (zone axis [110]) in (e) and (f), respectively.

mono-crystalline, as it was also discovered in Al-Ge exchange reactions [62][LW17]. The Al and Si crystals are thereby different in lattice constants and crystal orientation. The local fast Fourier transform (FFT) patterns of the Al and Si segments in Figure 4.2(e) and (f), respectively, provide more information about the crystal structure. After the exchange reaction, the Si segment still remains in its initial diamond structure. The reacted Al segment is identified as a face-centered cubic (fcc) crystal. Both crystals are oriented in a [110] zone axis, with a mutual in-plane rotation to each other. This presumably leads to stress relaxation and compensation of the lattice mismatch of both materials.

Remarkably, no void formation or spiking was observed in the monolithically formed Al leads in any analyzed sample. This is in contrast to investigations in bulk and thin-film Al-Si reactions that show non-uniform interface formation, massive void creation and spiking, leading to high variability in the contact area and local field enhancement [60, 61]. Also there, grain boundaries can lead to severe electromigration problems [59]. These problems and the limited thermal budget have led to the abandonment of Al from front-end-of-line (FEOL) processes in current CMOS technology [261]. As the Al-Si exchange reaction here is taking place in nanoscaled Si structures, such as nanosheets or nanowires [LW14], flat, void-free and highly abrupt interfaces are observed. Within structures scaled down towards thicknesses beyond the typical grain sizes of bulk Al, single-crystal formation of Al is observed. It is also expected that electromigration should be sufficiently suppressed, as the weak reliability sites are typically located at the grain boundaries [59, 262]. Furthermore, the Al grows lattice oriented to the Si region, possibly guaranteeing a closed surface formation rather than energetically unfavorable voids.

It can be assumed that, at the annealing temperature of 773 K, Si atoms are diffusing into the bulk Al contact pads and are replaced by Al atoms. This exchange mechanism is caused by highly asymmetric diffusion coefficients of the Al-Si material system (see Table 2.4). Importantly, the diffusion of Si in Al is 14 orders of magnitude higher than vice versa, preventing the Al from diffusing into the Si segment and thus contaminating it. Furthermore, Al atoms are efficiently supplied via fast self-diffusion (Al in Al), compensating for the out-diffusion of Si atoms. As a result of the replacement of Si with Al, the Al-Si interface migrates successively along the pristine Si nanostructure, leading to a reduction in the Si channel length connected by monolithic Al leads.

After sufficient annealing time, the Si nanosheet can be completely exchanged with Al, resulting in pure and crystalline Al (c-Al) nanosheet, as it is shown in the microscope image in Figure 4.3(b). Similar to findings in the Al-Ge exchange in Ge nanosheets with nanoscaled sheet widths [LW17][LWM1], it is expected that they only feature a single grain boundary at the location where the diffusion fronts from both sides merge. The fact that no other inner grains seem to form within the Al metallization has positive effects for low resistivities of $\rho = 6.65 \times 10^{-8} \Omega \,\mathrm{m}$ at room temperature. Compared to commonly used Ni-silicides, with resistivities ranging from $10 \times 10^{-8} \,\Omega \,\mathrm{m}$ to $38 \times 10^{-8} \,\Omega \,\mathrm{m}$ depending on the silicide phase [164, 263], the resistivity of pure Al leads is significantly



Figure 4.3: (a) Temperature-dependent resistivity ρ of fully exchanged c-Al nanosheets, compared to the resistivity of bulk Al from [87]. (b) Microscope image of a c-Al nanosheet with $L = 10 \mu m$, W = 750 nm and H = 15 nm connecting the two sputtered Al contact pads. (c) I/V data for different sheet widths W, with the bias voltage V_{bias} slowly increased until the failure point of the nanosheet to extract the peak current densities in (d).

lower. The temperature-dependent measurement in Figure 4.3(a) shows that the resistivity is decreasing with lowered temperature, down to $3.15 \times 10^{-8} \Omega m$ at 77 K, following the trend of bulk Al [87]. This decrease in resistivity is attributed to the for metals typical decrease of phonon scattering [264]. The ~2.5 times higher resistivity compared to bulk Al at room temperature can be explained by the increased influence of surface scattering in nanostructures [265]. Furthermore, these results cannot rule out that dissolved Si in the Al, despite its extremely low concentration, may also contribute to a slight increase in resistance [179]. At temperatures below 1.46 K, a transition of the c-Al leads to a superconducting state is expected [266], making it highly interesting for superconductorsemiconductor hybrid quantum systems, such as gate-tunable Josephson junctions and superconducting qubits [189].

To characterize the maximum current density in these c-Al nanosheets, the applied bias voltage is increased until the current limit is reached and the nanosheet breaks. Figure 4.3(c) shows this measurement for four Al nanosheets with different sheet widths, with the widest sheet having the lowest resistance and therefore also the highest transport currents. The rapid drop of the current indicates the breakdown point of the sheet due to the excessive current stress. Note that at high bias voltages, close to the breaking point of the nanosheets, the otherwise linear increase in current is distorted, probably as increased phonon scattering leads to self-heating of the Al lead, increasing its resistance and reducing the current flow. The peak values of the measured currents are then extracted to calculate the maximal current densities J_{max} of the nanosheets considering their crosssections, shown in Figure 4.3(d). Very high current densities of up to $1.54 \times 10^{12} \text{ A/m}^2$ at room temperature are reached, which is in the range of Ni-silicides [263]. The high

current-carrying capabilities can also be attributed to the absence of grain boundaries. Interestingly, J_{max} is slightly lowered with decreasing sheet widths W. This is presumably due to poorer heat dissipation from the locally generated heat in the thin cross-section of the sheet to the large Al contact pads. However, in c-Al NWs with diameters below 100 nm, approaching the electron-phonon scattering length, an increase in the breakdown current was demonstrated due to reduced lattice heating [266].

4.2 Al-Si-Al Schottky Barrier Field-Effect Transistors

The Al-Si-Al heterostructures are then integrated in SBFETs to investigate their electrical properties. Therefore, a 12.5 nm thick SiO₂ gate oxide was thermally grown on the Si mesa structures prior to the Al contact formation, with a remaining Si channel thickness of 15.4 nm. Lastly, the Ti/Au top gate is deposited, covering both Al-Si interfaces. Figure 4.4(a) shows the false-color SEM image of the final single top-gated SBFET, with a channel width W = 430 nm and a Si channel length of $L_{Si} = 1 \,\mu\text{m}$. The entire gate stack is shown in the cross-sectional HRSTEM and EDX in Figure 4.4(b,c), with the Si channel on top of the 100 nm thick BOX and the Si substrate. The SiO₂ gate oxide and the Ti/Au top gate layers cover the Si nanosheet channel from three sides, resembling a tri-gate architecture [10]. Note that the contact formation was carried out in forming gas to passivate the Si/SiO₂ interface. The measured transfer characteristic in Figure 4.4(d) reveals ambipolar behavior with very symmetric on-state currents I_D for both electron ($V_G > 0 \,\text{V}$) and hole conduction ($V_G < -1 \,\text{V}$). This can be attributed to the near mid-gap Fermi level pinning of the Al contact to the Si channel [193]. The current flow can be electrostatically



Figure 4.4: Al-Si SBFET on SOI. (a) Colored SEM image of a top-gated Al-Si-Al heterostructure. (b) Cross-sectional HRSTEM image and (c) EDX map showing the gate stack. (d) Transfer characteristic of the SBFET for different bias voltages V_D , at $V_S = 0$ V. W = 430 nm, $L_{Si} = 1$ µm.

modulated over more than seven orders of magnitude, with off-state currents below the resolution limit of the measurement setup. At $V_D = 1 \text{ V}$, maximum currents I_D of 2.84 µA (6.6 µA/µm) for the n-branch and 4.45 µA (10.34 µA/µm) for the p-branch are reached, with subthreshold slopes (S_{th}) of 456 mV/dec and 268 mV/dec, respectively. Only a small dependency on the V_G sweeping direction is evident, with the I_D curves being slightly higher when changing from an on- to an off-state. The low hysteresis can be attributed to the good quality of the thermally grown SiO₂ gate oxide and its low interface state density to the Si channel.

The output characteristic in Figure 4.5 shows the bias-dependent current flow I_D , with V_G increasing to 6 V for electron-dominated (a) and to -6 V for hole-dominated conduction (b). The respective band diagrams of the SBFET are shown as insets. In both cases, the I/V characteristic shows an SBFET-typical, nonlinear increase with V_D , due to changes in the shape of the tunnel barrier at the Al-Si Schottky junction. As the bias voltage increases, the barrier width decreases, leading to an increased tunnel probability and thus an exponential increase in current. The full range output map in a semi-logarithmic scale is given in the color map in Figure 4.5(c), showing a steeper subthreshold current modulation with V_G for the p-branch.



Figure 4.5: Output characteristic of the Al-Si SBFET of Figure 4.4. In (a) V_G is increased to positive voltages for preferred electron conduction, and in (b) to negative voltages for hole conduction. The schematic band diagrams for both conditions are shown as insets. (c) Color map representation of the complete output characteristic in log scale.

To test the thermal stability of the devices, the temperature-dependent transfer characteristic was measured in the range of 300 K to 400 K at $V_D = 1$ V, as shown in Figure 4.6(a). The characteristic was measured at $V_D = 1$ V ($V_S = 0$ V) with V_G increased from -6 V to 6 V. A clear increase in current with temperature is evident throughout the transfer curve, with the off-currents around the intrinsic point being strongly temperature dependent, marking the thermionic emission regime. Compared to the off-currents, the on-currents increase only slightly, indicating a tunneling-dominated charge injection. This leads to a distortion of the I_{on}/I_{off} ratio at higher temperatures, although the curves remain well tunable over five orders of magnitude.



Figure 4.6: (a) Temperature-dependent transfer characteristic of the Al-Si SBFET from Figure 4.4 for $V_D = 1$ V. (b) Activation energy E_a as a function of V_G , evaluated for three comparable devices.

By measuring the output characteristic over temperature, the activation energy E_a can be extracted (see Section 3.2.4). Figure 4.6(b) shows E_a in relation to the applied gate voltage V_G , evaluated for three comparable devices. Distinct activation energies were extracted at both on-states, with slightly higher injection barriers for electrons with $E_a = 220 \text{ eV}$ at 5 V than for the holes with $E_a = 69 \text{ eV}$ at -5 V. This results in very symmetrical ambipolar behavior, with slightly higher on-currents and steeper subthreshold slopes for the p-type conduction. The highest barrier values were extracted at $V_G = -0.2 \text{ V}$ with 605 eV, close to half the value of the energy band gap of Si. This leads to effective blocking of both carrier types, resulting in low off-currents.

4.3 Reconfigurable Si-based TTG FETs

Since the fabrication of Al-Si-Al heterostructures and their integration into single topgated SBFETs has reproducibly yielded very symmetric ambipolar device characteristics, they are highly promising for their use in reconfigurable electronics. Therefore, instead of a single global top gate, three top gate electrodes are now placed atop the metalsemiconductor-metal heterostructure, allowing independent control of the carrier injection barrier and the channel conductance, significantly enhancing the device functionality compared to conventional transistors.

A three top-gated (TTG) RFET is shown in Figure 4.7(a,b), with the two connected PGs placed directly atop the two Al-Si junctions and the CG in the middle covering the Si channel. The RFETs were fabricated with the same gate stack as the single top-gated device from the previous section, with an estimated SiO₂ thickness of 12.5 nm and 15.4 nm Si channel height. By setting a positive voltage on the PG, with $V_{PG} = 7$ V, the device is operated in a p-type configuration. As schematically shown in 4.7(c), electrons are efficiently injected into the semiconductor channel, while holes are blocked by the introduced electrostatic barrier at the metal-semiconductor junction. The current flow is modulated



Figure 4.7: (a) Colored SEM and (b) AFM images of an Al-Si-Al heterostructure-based RFET, with a Si channel length $L_{Si} = 2.2 \,\mu\text{m}$ and a sheet width $W = 350 \,\text{nm}$. Schematic band diagrams for the n-type (c) and p-type operation (d) of the RFET. (e) Transfer characteristic showing symmetric n- (red) and p-type (blue) operation at $V_{PG} = \pm 7 \,\text{V}$, at a drain voltage of $V_D = 1 \,\text{V}$ ($V_S = 0 \,\text{V}$). The black line shows the operation as a quasi-STG transistor, with $V_{CG} = V_{PG}$. Only a very small hysteresis is visible when changing the sweeping direction of V_{CG} for all configurations. (f) Transfer characteristic for different drain voltages in the range between 100 mV and 2 V, tuning the on-state symmetry.

by the CG atop the Si channel, reaching the on-state at $V_{CG} = V_{PG} = 7$ V. With inverted voltages ($V_{PG} = -7$ V, see Figure 4.7(d)), the RFET is set to p-mode conduction, with a hole-induced current flow and the electrons being blocked by the junction barriers. Figure 4.7(d) shows the transfer characteristic of an Al-Si-Al-based RFET for $V_D = 1$ V, with the red curve showing the n-mode and the blue curve for the p-mode. With on-state currents of $I_{on}^n = 2.15 \,\mu\text{A}$ ($6.23 \,\mu\text{A}/\mu\text{m}$) and $I_{on}^p = 3.66 \,\mu\text{A}$ ($10.56 \,\mu\text{A}/\mu\text{m}$), highly symmetric operation is achieved. The off-current in both modes is found to be in the range or even below the noise floor of our measurement setup ($\sim 100 \,\text{fA}$), indicating an excellent blocking of the undesired charge carrier type, as well as the suppression of gate-induced drain leakage (GIDL)-like effects [57][LW12]. This results in very high I_{on}/I_{off} ratios above 10^8 , reached for both operation modes. Furthermore, as seen for the STG SBFETs in the previous section, there is hardly any dependence on the V_{CG} sweep direction due to the good quality of the thermally grown SiO₂ gate oxide and its interface to the Si channel. By simultaneously tuning both the CG and the PG, with $V_{CG} = V_{PG}$ in a quasi-STG mode, the ambipolar characteristic of an STG SBFET can be replicated. The same onstate currents at ± 7 V are reached, as these states exactly match the conditions of the RFET on-states. However, S_{th} is smaller for the TTG operation as the quasi-STG, and the transition from the on- to the off-state and towards the other branch of the ambipolar characteristic is steeper than with fixed V_{PG} . This can be explained by the fact that, in addition to the changing channel barrier with V_{CG} , the tunnel barrier of the dominant carrier type increases with decreasing absolute values of V_{PG} , leading to a decrease in carrier injection and a more efficient decline in current flow.

By adapting the bias voltage, as shown in Figure 4.7(f) with V_D varied between 100 mV and 2 V, the on-states can further be tuned, reaching exceptional symmetry values I_{on}^p/I_{on}^n of up to 1.38 at $V_D = 2$ V. Since also other important transistor parameters, such as the threshold voltages $(V_{th}^n = 2.3 \text{ V}, V_{th}^p = -2.8 \text{ V})$ and the subthreshold slopes $(S_{th}^n = 440 \text{ mV/dec}, V_{th}^n = -2.8 \text{ V})$ $S_{th}^p = 320 \,\mathrm{mV/dec}$ at $V_D = 1 \,\mathrm{V}$ are very symmetric for both modes, these Al-Si-based RFETs are already promising for an integration into reconfigurable logic circuits. The slightly higher on-state currents for the p-mode can thereby be attributed to the slightly lower Schottky barriers for the hole injection [121]. Figure 4.7(f) further shows a clear shift or fanning of the subthreshold region (and V_{th}) to higher V_{CG} with increased V_D for the p-mode due to the asymmetric bias condition, with V_S fixed to 0 V. This is a typical behavior of SBFETs caused by the influence of V_D on the energy band landscape in the device, which also changes the carrier injection [57]. A more detailed explanation of this effect is given in Section 2.4, Figure 2.12. Inverting the bias to negative V_D values would lead to a "fanning" of the n-mode, as the electron injection would then be more affected [LW12]. To avoid this asymmetric fanning of the transfer characteristic with increasing V_D due to asymmetric changes of the energy band landscape, the bias will later be set asymmetrically, i.e., with $V_D = -V_S$.

To measure the reproducibility of our Al-Si-based RFET fabrication process, 20 comparable devices were characterized and evaluated. The most characteristic RFET device parameters are plotted in Figure 4.8, with the on- and off-currents (I_{on}, I_{off}) , on-current symmetry, V_{th} and S_{th} . Thereby, an overall low device-to-device variability for lab devices is obtained, which is highly important when integrating multiple transistors into circuits, indicating good reliability and reproducibility of the Al-Si contact formation process. All devices thereby show good on-currents $>1 \mu A/\mu m$ (normalized to the channel width W) for both operation modes compared to most RFET works. Mean current values of $(6.2 \pm 2.4) \,\mu\text{A}/\mu\text{m}$ for the n-mode $(V_{PG} = 7 \,\text{V})$ and $(11.8 \pm 3.4) \,\mu\text{A}/\mu\text{m}$ for the p-mode $(V_{PG} = -7 \text{ V})$ are reached, while the off-currents remain in the range of the measurement resolution limit. Almost all devices thereby show a slightly predominant p-mode, but still very high on-current symmetry ratios of 2.09 ± 0.9 . Furthermore, a high degree of symmetry and stability is also obtained for V_{th} , with $V_{th}^n = (1.82 \pm 0.22)$ V and $V_{th}^p = (-2.8 \pm 0.3)$ V. The extracted S_{th} show a slightly higher variability especially for the n-mode, reaching slopes of $S_{th}^n = (480 \pm 58) \text{ mV/dec}$ and $S_{th}^n = (336 \pm 34) \text{ mV/dec}$. By improving the efficiency of the electrostatic gating by scaling down the EOT and adapting



Figure 4.8: Extracted transistor parameters for 20 comparable Al-Si-based RFETs, measured at $V_D = 1 \text{ V}$, $V_S = 0 \text{ V}$ and $V_{PG} = \pm 7 \text{ V}$ for n- and p-mode. (a) On-currents (solid points) and off-currents I_D (empty square points), normalized to the sheet width W. (b) Current symmetry (I_{on}^p/I_{on}^n) . (c) Threshold voltages (V_{th}) . (d) Subthreshold slopes (S_{th}) . The dash-dotted line marks the mean value of the extracted parameter.

the gating geometry, e.g., using a GAA-architecture, steeper slopes close to the thermal limit of 60 mV/dec at 300 K should be feasible [57, 69]. Finally, it should be noted that all analyzed devices show almost no hysteresis when recording the measurements. The extraction of the threshold voltages V_{th} for different V_{CG} sweeping directions resulted in hysteresis values of 71 mV and 110 mV for n- and p-mode, respectively.

Scaled Oxide Thickness for Reduced Operation Voltages

For the second generation of Al-Si-based RFETs, the gate thickness of the gate oxide was reduced to improve the electrostatic gating, leading to reduced operation voltages and steeper subthreshold characteristics. Therefore, the thermal oxidation time was reduced from 10 min to 5 min, resulting in a reduced SiO₂ gate oxide thickness of 10.3 nm, with a slightly thicker remaining Si channel thickness of 16.4 nm.

Figure 4.9(a) shows the schematic cross-section of the Al-Si-based RFET with reduced oxide thickness. The measured transfer characteristic in Figure 4.9(b) demonstrates that the new devices can be fully modulated using reduced gate voltages of ± 4 V, while maintaining an almost hysteresis-free operation. Excellent symmetry is reached for the key transistor parameters, such as on- and off-state currents, threshold voltages and subthreshold slopes, especially for operation at higher bias conditions of $V_{DS} = 2$ V. Note that, in contrast to previous investigations, the bias is now applied symmetrically, i.e., with $V_D = -V_S$ and $V_{DS} = V_D - V_S$. This now leads to a symmetric change of the injection barrier with the



Figure 4.9: (a) Schematic cross-section of the Al-Si RFET with reduced SiO₂ gate oxide thickness of 10.3 nm. (b) Measured transfer characteristic showing n- (red) and p-type operation (blue) at $V_{PG} = \pm 4$ V for V_{DS} between 0.2 V and 2 V, symmetrically applied with $V_D = -V_S$. (c) Subthreshold characteristic of the RFET for different PG voltages. By increasing V_{PG} from -4 V to 4 V, the device switches from hole to electron conduction. (d) Semi-logarithmic conduction map showing the transition from p- to n-mode, indicated by the white dotted line at a current value of 1 nA. Device geometry: $L_{Si} = 3 \,\mu\text{m}$, $W = 290 \,\text{nm}$.

bias voltage V_{DS} for both operation modes. Figure 4.9(c,d) shows the transition of the RFET from p- to n-type operation with increasing V_{PG} for a constant bias condition of $V_{DS} = 2 \text{ V}$. Stable switching behavior between the n- and p-mode is obtained, with two large and distinct on-state regimes (indicated in the conduction map for current values $I_D > 1 \text{ nA}$) and well-suppressed off-states with currents below 100 fA. The color map representation thereby demonstrates the symmetric tunability of the energy barriers for both electrons and holes. Furthermore, these large operation regimes are essential for a reliable operation in circuit applications, making the RFETs resilient to input voltage variation. At $V_{PG} = 0 \text{ V}$, the transfer curve favors weak p-type behavior, indicating that the Fermi level in the Al-Si junction pins slightly closer towards the VB, leading to slightly lower barriers for holes. Furthermore, for negative V_{PG} approaching -4 V, the transfer

curves are hardly affected by changes in V_{PG} , since the tunnel barrier for holes is already highly transparent and seems to no longer limit the carrier injection. For the n-mode, a larger influence of V_{PG} is visible, indicating that the injection barrier can still be further modulated.

For logic circuit applications, especially for symmetrical RFET circuits (see Section 2.5.3), it is advantageous to reduce the number of different voltage levels as much as possible in order to minimize the complexity of the circuit design. As the conduction map in Figure 4.9(d) has already indicated, it is possible to further reduce the voltages at the gates (V_{CG}, V_{PG}) while the switching of the polarities remains stable. Figure 4.10(a) shows the transfer characteristic of the same device as before, operated at reduced gate voltages of $\pm 2 \text{ V}$, with the symmetrically applied bias voltage V_{DS} varied between 1 V and 4 V. Note, that a bias voltage $V_{DS} = 4$ V here refers to $V_D = -V_S = 2$ V, which means that only a single symmetrical voltage level of $\pm 2 V$ is sufficient at all RFET terminals to operate the device in both polarities. The transfer characteristic for $V_{PG} = \pm 4 V$ and $V_{DS} = \pm 2 \,\mathrm{V}$ is indicated by dashed lines. At these lower operating voltages on the gates, especially on the PG, a stronger shift of V_{th} with increasing V_{DS} is obtained. At high bias voltages of $V_{DS} = 4 \text{ V}$, the threshold voltage even shifts to low negative values for n-, and positive values for p-type operation, with $V_{th}^n = -0.2 \text{ V}$ and $V_{th}^p = 0.33 \text{ V}$, meaning the transistor is already weakly turned on at $V_{CG} = 0$ V. Nevertheless, operating the device at $V_{CG} = \pm 2 \text{ V}$, the off-state currents can still be well suppressed. However, in p-mode, the channel cannot be completely depleted via the CG, resulting in increased



Figure 4.10: (a) Transfer characteristic of the RFET from Figure 4.9 at reduced gate voltages, using only $V_{PG} = \pm 2 V$ to switch between the operation modes. The symmetric bias voltage $(V_D = -V_S)$ is increased from $V_{DS} = 1 V$ to 4 V in 1 V steps. The dashed lines indicate the transfer curves for $V_{PG} = \pm 4 V$, $V_{DS} = 2 V$. (b) On-currents $I_{on}^{p,n}$ (left axis) and on/on current ratio I_{on}^{p}/I_{on}^{n} (right axis) in relation to the bias voltage V_{DS} for gate voltages of $\pm 2 V$ (filled square points) and $\pm 4 V$ (empty dots).

off-state currents of about 20 pA and strongly reduced I_{on}/I_{off} ratios. In Figure 4.10(b), the on-state currents as well as the on/on ratio are plotted for the RFET operation at $V_{PG} = \pm 2$ V and ± 4 V, in relation to the bias voltage V_{DS} . Compared to the operation at ± 4 V, the on-state currents are lower at ± 2 V, as the injection barriers for both carrier types cannot be lowered that well, negatively influencing the tunneling probability and increasing on-state resistivities. However, at $V_{PG} = \pm 2$ V, the on-state currents for both p- and n-mode are almost identical for a large bias voltage range between 1.2 V to 4 V, with $I_{on}^p/I_{on}^n = 1.02$ at $V_{DS} = 4$ V. For $V_{PG} = \pm 4$ V, the optimal on-state symmetry of 1.39 is achieved at $V_{DS} = 2$ V, which is still a remarkably good value, as no strain engineering measures like in [77,78] have been applied. It should be noted that in the case of the 4 V-operation, it is not possible to increase the bias voltage V_{DS} up to 4 V, as this could result in a breakdown of the 10.3 nm thick SiO₂ gate oxide due to a high voltage difference at the Al-Si junction below the PG, with $V_D - V_{PG}$ of up to 8 V.

The temperature-dependent characterization in Figure 4.11 up to T = 400 K at $V_{PG} = \pm 4$ V shows that a stable and symmetrical operation of the devices is also possible at elevated temperatures. The on-currents for both operation modes slightly increase with the temperature, typical for Schottky junctions. With a slightly larger temperature dependency of the n-mode currents in and towards the on-state, which is attributed to a larger remaining effective Schottky barrier in the on-state, a slight asymmetry of the on-currents occurs, especially for temperatures ≥ 380 K (see Figure 4.11(b)). The p-type on-state seems to be dominated by the channel resistance, leading to a reversed behavior. For the off-currents, a stronger increase over temperature is evident due to the increase of thermally excited charge carriers, leading to a reduction of the on/off ratio of around one order of magnitude ($\sim 2 \times 10^7$) at 400 K (see Figure 4.11(c)). A shift of the threshold voltages V_{th} for



Figure 4.11: (a) Temperature-dependent transfer characteristic from T = 295 K to 400 K at $V_{PG} = \pm 4$ V and $V_{DS} = 2$ V ($V_D = -V_S$) of the same RFET as in Figure 4.9. (b) On-currents and on/on current ratio I_{on}^p/I_{on}^n , (c) on/off current ratio, (d) threshold voltages V_{th} , and (e) subthreshold slopes S_{th} for n- (red) and p-type operation (blue) are evaluated over temperature.
both modes to lower absolute values is also clearly visible from the transfer curves and in Figure 4.11(d). In this TFE region, as the temperature rises, less voltage hub is required for higher-energy charge carriers to cross the barrier, allowing current to flow. This effect is again more pronounced for the n-type operation, with V_{th} approaching 0 V at 400 K. The subthreshold slopes in Figure 4.11(e) remain widely temperature independent and highly symmetric in the investigated range, with measured values of ~115 mV/dec and ~125 mV/dec for n- and p-mode, respectively.

Figure 4.12 shows the output characteristic of the Al-Si-based RFET for n- and p-type operation at room temperature (a,d) and 400 K (b,e). The devices were measured with symmetric bias conditions $(V_D = -V_S)$. These color map representations illustrate the well-defined on- and off-states for both polarizations, demonstrating the stability of the device operation. The off-currents for both modes remain below 100 fA (in the range of the noise level of the measurement setup) for a wide V_{DS} and V_{CG} range due to the electrostatically high injection barrier from the PGs for the undesired charge carrier type. Furthermore, the measured data show high symmetry around the y-axis at $V_{DS} = 0$ V,



Figure 4.12: Semi-logarithmic output characteristic maps of the RFET from Figure 4.9 at room temperature (a,d) and 400 K (b,e) for n- and p-mode operation ($V_{PG} = \pm 4 \text{ V}, V_D = -V_S$). The insets in the room temperature plots show the I/V characteristic in a linear scale, with V_{CG} increased from 1 V to 4 V (a) and -1 V to -4 V (d). (c,f) Extracted activation energy maps.

meaning that the I/V characteristic does not change when inverting the bias voltage. This ability provides an additional degree of freedom especially in adaptive circuits. A nonlinear increase of the drain current I_D with the bias voltage V_{DS} is obtained (see insets), similar to the output characteristic of the single top-gated SBFET in Figure 4.5. Note that within the given V_{DS} range, saturation could not be reached. The change of potential difference between V_{PG} and V_{DS} influences the tunneling probability, leading to an exponential increase of the current with increasing V_{DS} . Thus, V_{CG} can tune the contact resistivity $(\partial V_{DS}/\partial I_D \text{ for } V_{DS} \rightarrow 0)$. For the p-mode at $V_{PG} = -4$ V, a linear I/V characteristic is obtained for $V_{CG} < 2$ V, as the activation energy E_a reaches negative values, indicating a transparent junction for holes with a quasi-ohmic behavior. At elevated temperatures of 400 K, the off-currents are clearly rising due to thermally excited charge carriers overcoming the blocking barrier. Furthermore, the smaller increase of the on-currents and also the V_{th} shift to lower V_{CG} voltage levels is well visible.

From the temperature-dependent output characteristics, V_{CG}/V_{DS} -dependent activation energy maps in Figure 4.12(c,f) can be derived (see Section 3.2.4), allowing a more detailed and resilient interpretation of the charge carrier transport mechanism in the RFET. The maps for both modes widely show positive values, indicating the contribution of the Schottky barriers. At the off-states of the RFETs ($V_{CG} < 0$ V for n, $V_{CG} > 0$ V for p), the activation energy reaches high values in the range of $0.3 \,\mathrm{eV}$ to $0.7 \,\mathrm{eV}$, effectively blocking the majority charge carriers via the channel barrier using the CG. The injection of the undesired minority charge carriers into the semiconductor channel is already blocked via the PG, with $V_{PG} = 4$ V and -4 V for n- and p-mode, respectively. Note that the red/orange areas in the off-states are measurement artifacts, as the currents in this low-bias region are below the noise level of the measurement setup for all temperatures, making a correct estimation of E_a impossible. In the on-states (n: $V_{CG} > 0$ V, p: $V_{CG} < 0$ V), the barriers are electrostatically lowered via the gates, indicating an efficient injection of electrons (c) and holes (d) via FE or TFE. In the n-type operation, low positive E_a values of ~0.1 eV to $0.2 \,\mathrm{eV}$ are extracted. For the p-mode, the effective activation energy E_a even reaches small negative values for $V_{CG} < -1.5 \,\mathrm{V}$, indicating transparent quasi-ohmic contacts for hole conduction, which results in linear I_D/V_{DS} characteristics. With higher V_{DS} , the low E_a region extends to lower $|V_{CG}|$ due to additional band bending of the bias voltage. The slight asymmetry observed in the extracted activation energy maps can be attributed to the Fermi level of the Al-Si junction being pinned slightly closer to the VB edge. This may also explain the overall slightly favored p-type conduction in all measured devices.

4.4 Multi Control-Gate Si RFETs

By adding additional CGs atop the semiconductor channel, wired-AND functionality within a single RFET can be realized. This multi-CG RFET structure (or MIGFET) can therefore replace several transistors (with the same polarization) in series. The equivalent circuit for a device with two CGs is schematically illustrated in Figure 4.13(a), with each of the virtually replaced single CG RFETs operating with only half the on-state re-



Figure 4.13: Si RFET with two CGs (4TG) for wired-AND functionality. (a) Equivalent circuit diagram of the multi-CG RFET, which replaces two single RFETs in series, each with a virtual channel resistance of $R_{on}/2$. (b) False-color SEM image of a 4TG RFET. (c) Transfer characteristic of the wired-AND RFET, with the input A swept in both directions, while the input B and the polarity with PG are fixed. The solid lines show the device operation at gate voltages V_G of ± 5 V and a drain bias V_D of 1 V, the dashed lines at $V_D = |V_G| = 3.5$ V. (d-f) Transient operation of the wired-AND gate, with the input signal sequence (d) and the resulting drain current I_D for input voltage levels of 5 V (e) and 3.5 V (f) for n- and p-type operation. W = 360 nm, $L_{Si} = 2.26$ µm.

sistance (R_{on}) . As the internal resistance of the RFETs is dominated by the resistance at the charge injection barrier and not by the channel length or amount of individual top gates, the overall on-state resistance can be reduced by replacing several transistors with a single MIGFET structure. This holds true as long as the channel length is sufficiently short. For Si NW SBFETs with NiSi₂ contacts, the critical length was found to be ~1 µm [212]. This can be exploited in combinational circuits, effectively reducing transistor count and critical path delays [17]. Figure 4.13(b) shows a false-color SEM image of an RFET with four top gates (4TG), including two individually controllable CGs (for the inputs A,B) in between the two physically connected PGs atop the Al-Si junction.

The function of this wired-AND gate with two inputs (A, B) is shown in the transfer characteristic in Figure 4.13(c). The current flow I_D is plotted depending on the voltage at the input A, while the potential on the other terminals, the input B, V_{PG} and V_{DS} are kept constant. Note that the measured device again has a thicker SiO₂ gate oxide of 12.5 nm, requiring higher operation voltages. The Si channel of this device is 2.26 µm long and 360 nm in width. The solid lines show the operation at ± 5 V on the gates, with an asymmetric bias of $V_{DS} = V_D = 1$ V. When the device is set to n-type conduction, with $V_{PG} = 5$ V, an electron-induced current of $I_{D,max}^n = 0.34$ µA (0.93 µA/µm) is flowing when both inputs are set to 5 V. The subthreshold characteristic, with B fixed at 5 V and A modulated between -5 V and 5 V, is almost identical to that of the previously shown RFETs with a single CG. At B = -5 V, the transistor remains in the off-state with currents of ~100 fA due to the additional induced channel barrier from B, blocking the electron flow. By setting the PG to -5 V, the wired-AND gate operates in the p-mode, with a hole-induced current flowing when both inputs are set to -5 V. With B set to 5 V, the transistor remains off regardless of the voltage level at the input A. With an on-state current of $I_{D,max}^p = 1.46 \,\mu\text{A} \,(4 \,\mu\text{A}/\mu\text{m})$, the device exhibits a slightly favored p-type characteristic, with an I_{on}^p/I_{on}^n symmetry factor of 4.3. Also the subthreshold slope with $S_{th}^p = 280 \,\text{mV/dec}$ is clearly steeper for the p-mode than for the n-mode with $S_{th}^n = 514 \,\text{mV/dec}$, as previously seen in TTG devices.

As before, the operating voltages for the device can be adjusted to allow the same symmetric voltage level to be applied to both the gates and the drain. The dashed lines in Figure 4.13(c) show the characteristic of the same device operated at ± 3.5 V on the gates and 3.5 V on the drain voltage. While a stable operation for both modes is still achieved, the characteristic thereby becomes even more asymmetric, with increased p-type and reduced n-type current $(I_{on}^p/I_{on}^n = 56)$. The symmetry can presumably be improved by changing the source potential to $V_S = -V_D$ (instead of $V_S = 0$ V), as this has already led to a more symmetrical operation in the TTG RFETs (see Figure 4.10).

The transient operation of the wired-AND gate is shown in Figure 4.13(d-f), with the input sequence on the two CGs A and B in (d) determining the output current I_D , depending on the defined polarization state at the PG. For both operation voltage configurations, with ± 5 V on the gates in (e) and ± 3.5 V in (f), the high-current state for I_D is reached when both inputs are set either to the positive (logical high) voltage level for the n-mode, or the negative (logical low) voltage level when the transistor is operating in the n-mode. For all other states, the current flow is well suppressed, obtaining an on/off current ratio of $>1 \times 10^6$ and $>5 \times 10^5$ for the ± 5 V and ± 3.5 V settings, respectively.

In Figure 4.14, one more CG is added to implement a 3-input wired-AND structure. For the fabrication of these 5TG structures, devices with a longer channel length were selected to accommodate the three CGs between the two connected PGs on the Al-Si junction. While the increase in the internal resistance R_{on} due to the longer semiconductor channel is only marginal, the virtual channel resistance of each replaced single-CG RFET is reduced ideally to $R_{on}/3$, leading to even larger improvements compared to classical implementations. The AFM scan in Figure 4.14(b) shows an RFET with three independent CGs on top of a 3.13 µm long and 290 nm wide Si channel. The device operation is demonstrated in the transfer characteristic in Figure 4.14(c), with the current I_D as a



Figure 4.14: Si RFET with three CGs (5TG) for wired-AND functionality. (a) Equivalent circuit diagram of the multi-CG RFET, which replaces three single RFETs in series, each with a virtual channel resistance $R_{on}/3$. (b) AFM scan of a 5TG RFET. (c) Transfer characteristic of the three-input wired-AND RFET, with the channel A swept in both directions, while the inputs B, C and PG are fixed. The solid lines show the device operation at $V_G = \pm 5$ V and $V_D = 1$ V, the dashed lines at $V_D = |V_G| = 3$ V. (d-f) Transient operation of the wired-AND gate, with the input signal sequence (d) and the resulting drain current I_D for input voltage levels of 5 V (e) and 3 V (f) for n- and p-type operation. W = 290 nm, $L_{Si} = 3.13$ µm.

function of the input A, while all other terminals are kept at constant values. At the $\pm 5 \text{ V}$ operation level, with $V_{DS} = V_D = 1 \text{ V}$ (solid lines), a relatively symmetric characteristic is obtained, with on-state currents of $I_{D,max}^n = 0.77 \,\mu\text{A}$ and $I_{D,max}^p = 1.52 \,\mu\text{A}$ being reached when all gates (A, B, C, PG) are set to 5 V or -5 V for n- or p-type operation, respectively. The small hysteresis when changing the sweeping direction and the subthreshold slopes of $S_{th}^n = 550 \,\text{mV}/\text{dec}$ and $S_{th}^p = 277 \,\text{mV}/\text{dec}$ are comparable with previously measured RFETs with only one or two CGs (and the same gate oxide thickness). Therefore, no significant influence of the increased ungated region on the semiconductor channel due to the increased number of gaps between the individual gates was observed, which is consistent with the simulation results in [17, 211]. For all the other states, with one or more gate voltages set to the opposite polarity, the transistor remains in the off-state, with $I_D \sim 100 \,\text{fA}$.

When adapting the operation voltages again to a single symmetric voltage domain, with $V_D = |V_G| = 3 \text{ V}$ (dashed lines in 4.14(c)), the device characteristic becomes strongly p-dominant, mainly due to the strongly decreasing n-mode current, increasing its asymmetry from $I_{on}^p/I_{on}^n = 1.97$ to 61.7. Apparently, the 3 V at the gates are not enough to fully lower the injection barrier for electrons, leaving a higher on-state resistance.

The transient behavior in Figure 4.14(d-f) further demonstrates the wired-AND functionality for three inputs (A, B, C). A current flow I_D is enabled when all inputs are set to the same potential as the PG. For all other states, the current flow is well suppressed, with off-state currents below 1 pA. As it was already expected from the transfer characteristic, higher currents are delivered in the p-mode, with a less symmetric operation at the symmetric 3 V settings in (f). Nevertheless, high on/off current ratios of $>1.5 \times 10^6$ for the 5 V (e) and $>2 \times 10^5$ for the 3 V operation (f) are reached.

4.5 RFET-based Complementary and Combinational Logic

The previously demonstrated RFETs based on Al-Si-Al heterostructures showed highly symmetric n- and p-type characteristics at a relatively low device-to-device variability, promising for their first integration into combinational logic gates. Furthermore, due to the good manufacturing yield, including the reliable Al-Si heterostructure formation process, the individual RFETs can be combined and interconnected directly during manufacturing on-chip, rather than by bonding selected devices.

4.5.1 Complementary Inverter

The simplest commonly used logic gate is the complementary inverter. In standard CMOS technology, this gate is based on two physically different transistors, a p- and n-channel MOSFET, connected in series, with the input signal applied to both gates defining the output level between the two transistors. The same circuit can also be implemented using two physically identical RFETs, electrostatically setting both transistors into opposite polarizations using the PG. Thereby, differently doped channels or doping wells are not required, reducing constraints in the layout design. Figure 4.15(a) shows the colored SEM image of a fabricated complementary inverter based on two RFETs. Exploiting the Al-Si exchange reaction, the inverter can be fabricated from a single long Si nanosheet (or nanowire [LW12]). With an Al contact pad for the inverter output (V_{OUT}) atop the middle of the Si nanosheet, two Al-Si-Al heterostructures can be formed toward the source/drain pads, which are then contacted by the top gates. During operation, the RFET on the V_{DD} side is set to the p-mode by applying a negative V_{PG} , acting as a pull-up transistor, while the V_{SS} -side RFET is used as a pull-down transistor in n-mode with positive V_{PG} (see Figure 4.15(b)). The input voltage V_{IN} is applied to the connected CGs of both RFETs, and the inverted output signal V_{OUT} is read at the common node connecting both RFET drain regions. As each RFET maintains its functionality at reversed bias condition, the whole circuit can be operated with inverted voltages without changing its characteristic, which would not be possible with conventional CMOS transistors.



Figure 4.15: (a) Colored SEM image of the complementary inverter based on two Al-Si-Al heterostructure RFETs. (b) Schematic of the inverter, with the n- and p-type transistor set via the PGs. (c) Output transfer characteristic at different voltages in the range of 2.5 V to 1.2 V, with $V_{DD} = -V_{SS} = V_{PG}$. V_{IN} and V_{OUT} are plotted interchangeably to evaluate the noise margins NM_H and NM_L . The cross-current flow I_{DD} for the different operation voltages is shown in the inset. (d) Inverter operation at asymmetric bias, with $V_{SS} = 0$ V, resulting in output levels between V_{DD} and 0 V. (e) Extracted noise margins NM_H , NM_L normalized to the supply voltage $V_{DD} - V_{SS}$. The dashed line at 0.5 V marks the ideal noise margins for both parameters. (f) Inverter voltage gain (dV_{OUT}/dV_{IN}) for different symmetric bias voltage levels, extracted from (c).

Figure 4.15(c) shows the voltage transfer characteristic of the complementary inverter for different operation voltages. Fully symmetric supply voltages are thereby applied on all terminals, with $V_{DD} = -V_{SS} = V_{PG}$, with the V_{IN} and V_{OUT} varied between the positive and negative voltage level. With only two voltage levels (positive for logic "high" or "1", negative for logic "low" or "0") used in the circuit, there is no need to generate additional supply rail voltages, simplifying the circuit layout. Remarkably, a full-swing inverter characteristic is obtained for a wide range of operation voltages between ± 2.5 V down to ± 1.2 V. Hence, the transitions between the two logical states are very steep and well centered around $V_{IN} = 0$ V. This can be seen in Figure 4.15(f), showing high voltage gains (dV_{OUT}/dV_{IN}) of up to 20.8 for the $V_{DD} = 1.8$ V operation. The cross-circuit flow I_{DD} during the switching operation is shown in the inset. The current thereby scales with the used supply voltages. At the transition between steady states, short circuit current peaks up to 580 nA for the 2.5 V and 240 pA for the 1.2 V operation are reached. At the steady states, due to the complementary design, the currents are well suppressed, limiting the current flow below 62 pA and 6.2 pA. The higher steady state currents for V_{IN} at logic "low" (V_{OUT} = "high") can be explained by the fact that the RFET in n-type configuration is turned off in this state, but its off-currents are significantly higher than those of the p-mode transistor. These asymmetric off-currents are also seen in the 2 V transfer characteristics of the single RFET in Figure 4.10. To illustrate and evaluate the noise margins, the output curves are also plotted with interchanged axes. The extracted noise margins for both the logical high (NM_H) and logical low (NM_L) states, normalized to the supply voltage, are plotted in Figure 4.15(e). High and symmetrical noise margins are achieved, especially for operation voltages between ± 1.4 V and ± 2 V, with values from 0.35 to 0.42, allowing a very reliable and robust operation. Noise margin values of 0.5would be ideal, i.e., a perfectly rectangular inverting behavior, with the switching point at 0 V (or in the middle of the two states).

By setting $V_{SS} = 0$ V, the operation region is shifted, with an output voltage range of $0 \text{ V} \leq V_{OUT} \leq V_{DD}$ for the inverted input. Note that the negative voltage level $-V_{DD}$ is still required for the PG to set the pull-up RFET to the p-mode. This asymmetric operation is shown in Figure 4.15(d) for voltage levels from ± 2.5 V to ± 1.2 V. For input voltages between $\pm V_{DD}$, a full output swing between 0 V and V_{DD} is reached. However, if V_{IN} is only varied from 0 V to V_{DD} , which would be a more practical use case, both logic states are only reached up to operating voltages >2.2 V. Therefore, the extracted noise margins in Figure 4.15(e) are only measured for positive voltage gain, they are clearly shifted towards V_{IN} levels close to 0 V, resulting in asymmetric noise margins with high NM_L and low NM_H . This implies that the logic high level for the output is rather unstable. The cross-circuit currents again show the benefits of the complementary design, with short peaks at the state transitions and well-suppressed steady state currents. However, due to the shifted transitions, for $V_{DD} < 2.2$ V, the currents at $V_{IN} = 0$ V are not well suppressed, as the high logic level cannot be reached, with at least one RFET not fully switching.

To further demonstrate the stable operation of the RFET-based complementary inverter, transient measurements were conducted. Figure 4.16 shows the operation of this circuit for ± 2 V on all terminals, with a rectangular (a) and triangular (b) input signal V_{IN} generated from a function generator, and the inverted signal on the output V_{OUT} . For both signal forms, a full-swing operation is obtained. In general, the rail-to-rail cross-current flow is retained, with well-suppressed steady state currents ($I_{DD} < 20$ pA) and only short current peaks of ~100 pA measured when switching between the two states for the rectangular input signal in Figure 4.16(a). Note that the current peaks could be higher, as they are very



Figure 4.16: Transient measurements of the RFET-based complementary inverter in symmetric operation $(V_{DD} = -V_{SS} = V_{PG})$, with the output voltage V_{OUT} depending on (a) a rectangular and (b) a triangular input signal V_{IN} . The cross-current flow I_{DD} is shown in blue.

short and probably not accurately measured due to the rather poor time resolution of the semiconductor analyzer. This could partly explain why the values in the transient measurements are much lower than for the static measurements in Figure 4.15(a). The current flow for the triangular input signal in Figure 4.16(b) is generally higher, as this input results in a more continuous switching behavior. Furthermore, the logic "high" states in the rectified output signal are shorter than for the logic "low", indicating slight asymmetries in the switching behavior towards negative V_{IN} . The low operation frequency of 1 Hz was used due to limitations of the measurement setup and furthermore the lab-based contact technology. This features large and planar contact pads for contacting the probes on the same layer as the devices, resulting in large parasitic capacities and related high capacitive charging and discharging time constants. Nevertheless, mixed-mode TCAD simulations have already demonstrated feasible operation speeds of RFET-based logic circuits with proper back-end-of-line interconnect technology in the GHz regime [209].

4.5.2 Reconfigurable NAND/NOR Gate (Minority Gate)

In conventional CMOS technology, NAND and NOR gates basically share the same circuit topology, except that their polarity, including supply voltage polarity and transistor type (n-FET and p-FET), is inverted. Since RFETs provide unipolar operation with runtime switchable polarity, replacing classic transistors with RFETs provides the opportunity to combine both circuits. The thereby realized logic cell is then switchable between NAND and NOR operation by flipping the voltages on the supply rail (V_{DD} , V_{SS}) and the PGs on the RFETs.

Figure 4.17(a) shows the optical microscope image of this reconfigurable NAND/NOR gate, realized with only three RFETs. The bottom RFET is designed with two CGs, realizing a wired-AND gate to replace two transistors in series, further reducing the transistor count compared to conventional implementations (see Figure 4.17(b)). The contact C and its inverted signal $\overline{C} = -C$ are thereby connected to the supply voltages V_{DD} and V_{SS} and the PGs of the RFETs, defining the polarity of the circuit. The inputs A and B are applied on the CGs. With C = -2V (or logic "0"), the two parallel RFETs are set to p-mode and the 4TG RFET to n-mode, realizing the NAND functionality. For the NOR



Figure 4.17: (a) Microscope image and (b) schematic of a reconfigurable NAND/NOR gate based on three RFETs. The polarity of the logic cell can be inverted with the input C, switching between NAND (C = -2 V) and NOR operation (C = 2 V), resembling a three-input minority gate (MIN). (c) Logic table of the MIN gate, where a logic "0" corresponds to a voltage level of -2 V and a logic "1" corresponds to 2 V. (d) Output transfer characteristic, where A is varied between ± 2 V in both directions, and the inputs B, C are fixed. (e) Rail-to-rail current flow I_C , with A increased from -2 V to 2 V. (f) MIN gate operation at different supply voltages of ± 2.5 V, ± 2 V and ± 1.2 V.

operation, C is set to 2V (or logic "1"), with the parallel RFETs operating in n-type, and the 4TG RFET in p-type configuration. As this polarity switching is possible during runtime, C (and \overline{C}) can be used as logic input, realizing a three-input minority (MIN) in a transmission gate architecture. The logic table for the MIN gate is shown in Figure 4.17(c). This further demonstrates the advantages of this realized RFET-based logic gate over conventional implementations by using fewer transistors while significantly increasing functionality.

The voltage transfer characteristic in Figure 4.17(d) demonstrates the switching behavior of the realized MIN gate, with the output voltage depending on the varied input signal A. The inputs B and C are set to constant values of ± 2 V to switch between every logic state. Thereby, a full-swing operation with sharp state transitions is achieved for all output states while only showing a small hysteresis when changing the sweeping direction. The rail-to-rail current flow I_C in Figure 4.17(e) shows current peaks of up to 800 nA when the output level is switched between 2 V and -2 V. For the steady states, the complementary circuit design limits the current flow to values below 10 nA. If the output state remains at a constant level with a changing input A, i.e., at B = C = -2 V and B = C = 2 V, the current also remains constant, with $I_C \approx 140$ pA and $I_C \approx 6$ nA, respectively. The variation of the steady state currents of the RFETs at the ± 2 V operation. Remarkably, a stable operation of this logic cell is possible for a wide range of operation levels, with voltages ranging from ± 2.5 V down to ± 1.2 V applied to all terminals, as shown in Figure 4.17(f).



Figure 4.18: Output color maps of the MIN gate, showing the output voltage level depending on the inputs A and B, with C fixed at $\pm 2 V$ (a,b), and as a function of A and C, with B fixed at $\pm 2 V$ (c,d). (e) Transient measurement of the MIN gate.

To further demonstrate the stability of this RFET-based logic gate, 2D output maps are measured by varying two input voltages and measuring the resulting voltage at the output. The color maps in Figure 4.18(a,b), show the operation for constant values at the "select" input C, i.e., without changing the polarity of the circuit, representing the operation as dedicated NAND (C = -2 V) or NOR gates (C = 2 V). Thereby, large operation windows with constant output levels and steep transitions are obtained, which allows a robust operation of the circuit even at high input voltage fluctuations and noise levels. The output levels when varying C (and A) at fixed input levels $B = \pm 2$ V in Figure 4.18(c,d) are not as stable as for constant C. Since C not only controls the voltage of the PGs, but also the supply voltage of the entire circuit, the output voltage is directly affected by changes of C. This means that the state transitions when varying C are gradual rather than abrupt.

In the time-dependent measurement in Figure 4.18(e), the logic operation of the reconfigurable logic cell is demonstrated, where the device reliably switches between NAND and NOR operation, thus realizing a MIN function. Full-swing operation is achieved for all output states for a sequence of input signals at A, B, and C at ± 2 V.

4.5.3 Reconfigurable XOR/XNOR Gate (XOR3 Gate)

When implementing XOR circuits, the use of RFETs offers even greater potential for performance improvements over classic transistors than the previously shown logic gates. Exploiting the reconfigurable nature of the RFETs, an XOR gate can be realized using only 4 RFETs, as can be seen in the microscope image of Figure 4.19(a) and its corresponding schematic in (b). In conventional CMOS, this logic gate is rather complex to implement, as it already requires eight transistors (n-FET and p-FET) for only two inputs, twice



Figure 4.19: (a) Microscope image and (b) schematic of a reconfigurable XOR/XNOR gate based on four RFETs. A classical CMOS implementation of an XOR or XNOR gate requires eight transistors (NMOS and PMOS). The polarity of the circuit is inverted using C, switching between XOR (C = -2 V) or XNOR (C = 2 V) operation. Using C as input, the logic gate operates as a 3-input XOR (XOR3) transmission gate. (c) Transfer characteristic, with the output XOR3 depending on the input A (varied in both directions), B and C (fixed). (d) Logic table of the XOR3 gate. (e) Rail-to-rail current flow I_C , with A increased from -2 V to 2 V.

the transistor count as for RFETs. As the number of inputs n increases, the XOR gate becomes drastically more complex, with the intrinsic delay increasing with $g = n2^{n-1}$ [267]. This makes RFET implementations even more advantageous, with vastly decreased transistor count and circuit delays [17].

In this RFET-based XOR implementation, the input signal A and its inverted counterpart $\overline{A} = -A$ are thereby applied to the CGs of the four RFETs, while B and \overline{B} are applied to the PGs. The inputs C and \overline{C} act as the select signal. With $\overline{C} = V_{DD} = 2$ V and $C = V_{SS} = -2$ V, the circuit operates as an XOR gate, equivalent to the depicted CMOS implementation. However, since the TTG RFETs offer bias-independent operability, the supply voltage can again be inverted via C, which transforms the circuit into an XNOR gate. Consequently, using C as logical input, the circuit is then transformed from a static to a pass-transistor design, performing the function of an XOR3 gate in a transmission gate architecture, still using only four RFETs. The corresponding truth table for the XOR3 gate is shown in Figure 4.19(d). Note that additional inverters for providing the inverted signals $(\overline{A}, \overline{B}, \overline{C})$ would still be required, increasing the actual transistor count for both for the RFET and the CMOS implementation. Nevertheless, such differential designs are often used in CMOS.

The voltage transfer characteristic of the RFET-based XOR3 gate in Figure 4.19(c) shows that for the operation at ± 2 V on all terminals, a full output swing with steep state transitions is achieved. A distinct hysteresis is evident, implying that the switching between two states is shifted to different voltages at A, depending on the switching direction. The



Figure 4.20: Output color maps of the three-input XOR gate, showing the output XOR3 depending on the inputs A, B (a,b), and A, C (c,d), with the other input fixed at ± 2 V. (e) Time-dependent measurement of the XOR3 gate.

complementary circuit design, with either both upper or both lower RFETs turned off, again leads to suppressed currents I_C at the defined output states, which is shown in Figure 4.19(e). With steady state currents ranging from 6 nA to 6 pA and short-circuit currents up to 585 nA at the state transitions, similar values as for the MIN gate with three RFETs are obtained.

The output color maps in Figure 4.20 further demonstrate a stable operation of this XOR3 circuit. Although the operating windows in (a) for the state (A, B, C) = (0, 1, 0) and in (b) for (A, B, C) = (1, 1, 1) are rather small, a constant output level of 2 V for logic "1" can still be maintained for input voltage variations of at least 0.6 V before the output is flipped. The state transitions in Figure 4.20(c,d) when varying the input C are more blurred than the sharp transitions when switching A or B. Since the maximum output level is determined by the supply voltages in the circuit, which are set by the voltages at the inputs C and \overline{C} , even small changes in C directly affect the output voltage. Nevertheless, these changes to the output level are gradual and should not lead to an unwanted transition to another output state.

The transient response of the XOR3 circuit based on four physically identical RFETs in Figure 4.20(e) shows that a full swing operation is achieved for all eight output states. Slow state transitions with some logic degradation can be detected, especially when the polarity of the circuit is inverted with C, switching the gate between XOR and XNOR functionality. This can be explained by capacitive coupling and charge RC delays from the large planar contact pads on top of the SOI for contacting the probes, which severely limit the operating speed. This problem can be addressed by using a back-end-of-line interconnect technology that should allow the circuit to be operated in the GHz range [69]. According to TCAD simulations by Cadareanu et al. [19], the RFET-based XOR3

gate reaches approximately the same energy-delay product (EDP) as conventional CMOS implementations, where the increased capacitance per device from the additional TGs is compensated by the reduction in transistor count within the logic gate. Therefore, in circuits where the use of RFET can further reduce the transistor count, higher performance gains are expected.

4.5.4 Majority Gate

By slightly modifying the circuit of the XOR3 gate, i.e., changing the signals applied to the supply rails on the Al pads from \overline{C} and C to C and A, a 3-input MAJ gate can be realized. The schematic and its corresponding truth table of this MAJ gate, also realized by interconnecting four physically identical TTG RFETs, are shown in Figure 4.21(a,b). Like the XOR function, the MAJ logic function is widely used in arithmetic circuits. Therefore, a more efficient implementation using RFETs with fewer physical resources can improve the performance of logic applications [79]. Again, an RFET-based MAJ gate can significantly reduce the transistor count, with the static CMOS implementation with 10 transistors employing 2.5x more devices [267].

Figure 4.21(c) shows the voltage transfer characteristic of the fabricated MAJ gate using $\pm 2 \text{ V}$ on all input terminals. Thereby, some linear changes in the output voltage during the modulation of A can be seen for all state transitions. This is attributed to the circuit design, where the supply rail voltage is defined by the voltage difference between the two inputs A and C. With the output pulled down (or up) to one of the supply voltage nodes A or C, a change in that node results in a linear change in the output voltage. This is also the reason why for logic input level changes that would result in the same output state, e.g., from (A, B, C) = (0, 0, 0) to (1, 0, 0), the output voltage level is not kept constant at -2 V during the transition of A from "0" to "1" (-2 V to 2 V). However, with all the inputs



Figure 4.21: (a) Schematic of the MAJ gate based on four RFETs, with its corresponding truth table in (b). (c) Voltage transfer characteristic of the MAJ gate, with the input A swept in both directions. (d) Cross-current flow I_C , with A increased from -2 V to 2 V.



Figure 4.22: Output color maps for the MAJ gate, showing the output voltage depending on the inputs A, B (a,b), and A, C (c,d), with the other input fixed at ± 2 V. (e) Transient measurement of the MAJ gate, showing its logic operation in response to the input signals A, B and C.

set to the maximum values of $\pm 2 \text{ V}$, the output also reaches full swing operation. The cross-current flow in Figure 4.21(d) again shows the characteristic of the complementary design, with a current flow $I_C < 169 \text{ nA}$ between the state transitions and steady state currents below 1.2 nA. In particular, for the steady states at A = C, no current flow above the noise level of the measurement setup ($\approx 200 \text{ fA}$) can be measured, as there is no voltage difference at the supply nodes of the circuit.

The output color maps for the MAJ gate in Figure 4.22(a-d) show that the voltage level at the output is less constant than in the previously shown logical gates. This is caused by the direct coupling of inputs A and C to the supply rail voltages of the circuit and thus to the output voltage. This further leads to less sharp transitions between some logical states. Nevertheless, stable operation regimes for all output states are evident in the output maps, providing sufficient noise immunity. The transient measurement in Figure 4.22(e) shows the output response to the complete input sequence, with all logic states being correctly reached at a full output swing of ± 2 V. Since the MAJ gate essentially shares the same circuit design as the XOR3 gate shown previously, with the large planar contact pads inducing large parasitic capacitances, the frequency for the input signal sequence in this demonstrator is also limited. This can result in slow transitions with some logic degradation.

4.5.5 1-bit Full Adder

Combining the two circuits for the XOR3 gate and the MAJ gate, a fully functional 1-bit full adder can be realized. Remarkably, this can be done with a total number of eight physically identical RFETs, excluding inverters for providing the inverted input signals. As shown in Figure 4.23, the XOR3 gate is thereby used for calculating the sum, while the MAJ gate is used to calculate the carry output C_{out} . The transient measurement



Figure 4.23: 1-bit full adder realized with eight RFETs, with the XOR3 gate for the sum operation and the MAJ gate for the carry output C_{out} . The transient measurement shows the correct operation of the circuit, with a full output swing provided for supply voltages of ± 2 V.

demonstrates the fully functional 1-bit full adder, with the inputs A, B and C_{in} leading to the correctly calculated outputs SUM and C_{out} . As the two gates are operated in a transmission gate configuration, additional gates may be required to drive the gates, which may result in additional overhead depending on the targeted application and whether the circuit is co-integrated with CMOS or in a full transmission gate logic setup.

This work shows the first experimental realization of a reconfigurable full adder [LW6]. In standard CMOS technology, 28 transistors with differently doped channels (n-FET, p-FET) are required for a static [267], and 14 transistors for a transmission gate implementation [268]. Simulations by Gore et al. [20] using a predictive process design kit (PDK) showed that with the given reduced transistor count, despite the larger individual transistor sizes, an area reduction of 41 % for the 1-bit full adder and 26 % for XOR gates is achievable. In addition, Amaru et al. [79] demonstrated feasible switching speeds of the RFET-based full adder in the GHz range using HSPICE simulations based on a 22 nm technology node, even 3.8x faster than its conventional CMOS counterpart due to reduced propagation delays. These results are also supported by simulations by Cadareanu et al. [19] that show an 18 % reduction in EDP in the full adder circuit despite a 30 % increase in parasitic gate capacitance per RFET. Recently, Quijada et al. [81] predicted further performance improvements for the integration of Ge channel RFETs using TCAD simulations.

4.6 Multi-Wire RFETs

Although the preceding devices have already demonstrated very good electrical characteristics, especially with regard to their excellent symmetry and good turn-off behavior, their on-state currents are still quite limited with values in the low µA range. Therefore, fabricating devices with multiple parallel semiconductor channels is an effective strategy for scaling drive currents. The increased number of channels thereby increases the effective channel width of the devices while also maintaining good electrostatic control due to the tri-gate architecture of each individual channel [10, 269]. Additionally, as many parallel channels share individual S/D regions, the overall capacitance is lower compared to entire RFETs connected in parallel.



Figure 4.24: Multi-wire RFET based on ten parallel Si channels. (a) Microscope image of the parallel array of Al-Si-Al heterostructures, fabricated by the thermally induced Al-Si exchange reaction. (b) False-color AFM image of the multi-wire RFET. (d) Transfer characteristic at $V_D = 1$ V and 2 V ($V_S = 0$ V) for the RFET with ten parallel Si channels (solid lines) compared to the single-channel RFET (dashed lines). V_{PG} is set to 7 V and -7 V for n- and p-mode operation, respectively. (d) Temperature-dependent transfer characteristic for the multi-wire RFET between 300 K and 400 K.

Figure 4.24 shows a fabricated RFET with ten parallel Al-Si-Al heterostructure channels. This is achieved by utilizing the reproducible Al-Si exchange process with the stable crystal phase of the Al leads, leading to significantly lower process variations compared to e.g., silicidation rates for common $Ni_x Si_y$ lateral heterostructures [166]. In the optical microscope image after the heterostructure formation process in Figure 4.24(a), a slight but systematic variation of the Si channel within a single device is evident, with higher Al-Si exchange rates and therefore shorter channels towards the outer nanosheets. Interestingly, these experiments reveal the importance and spatial range of the Al-material supply at the contacts required for the exchange reactions. The nanosheets at the center exhibit a higher Al-material competition compared to the outer ones. However, it should be possible to reduce these variations by optimizing the lithography process for an improved uniformity of the channel width of the ten parallel wires, and by optimizing the structural design. A uniform channel length is crucial, as the PG has to be aligned atop all Al-Si interfaces of the structure for an effective electrostatic control of all injection barriers. In addition, low variation in diffusion rates allows the fabrication of devices with shorter channels. Figure 4.24(b) shows the false-color AFM scan of the complete multi-wire RFET structure, with rather wide PG electrodes to cover all metal-semiconductor interfaces. For the gate dielectric, a 13 nm thick SiO₂ layer was thermally grown on the Si structure.

The transfer characteristic in Figure 4.24(c) shows the device operation of the multi-wire RFET, with V_{PG} set to 7 V and -7 V to switch between n- and p-type operation. Note that the bias is applied asymmetrically, with $V_{DS} = V_D$ ($V_S = 0$ V), resulting in an asymmetrical fanning of the subthreshold characteristic. Compared to the device characteristic of a comparable single-channel RFET, the p-mode on-currents at $V_D = 2$ V have been significantly increased by a factor of ~12, with $I_{on}^p = 172 \,\mu$ A. Unexpectedly, the n-type current is only about twice as high ($I_{on}^p = 14.7 \,\mu$ A), resulting in a decreased symmetry of the on-states ($I_{on}^p/I_{on}^n \approx 11.7$). Remarkably, no increase in off-state currents could be detected within the current resolution of the measurement setup. The hysteresis is also not significantly increased despite the larger surface area of the device, attributed to the good quality of the SiO₂ gate oxide. The subthreshold slope of the multi-wire RFET could even be improved, with extracted values of 294 mV/dec and 209 mV/dec for n- and p-mode operation, respectively, compared to the slopes of the single-channel device with the same gate oxide thickness (480 mV/dec, 320 mV/dec).

The temperature-dependent measurement in Figure 4.24(d) provides information about the thermal stability of the multi-wire RFET. Similar to observations in the single-wire devices in Figure 4.11, a pronounced increase in off-currents over temperature due to the increase of thermally activated carriers is evident. As the on-currents increase is smaller, this leads to a slight reduction of the on/off current ratio at elevated temperatures. However, stable operation with $I_{on}/I_{off} > 10^5$ is still maintained.



Figure 4.25: Output map of the multi-wire RFET from Figure 4.24 with 10 parallel Si channels for (a) p-type $(V_{PG} = -7 \text{ V})$ and (b) n-type operation $(V_{PG} = 7 \text{ V})$, measured with asymmetric bias conditions $(V_S = 0 \text{ V})$. The insets show the linear I_D - V_D characteristic, with V_{CG} increased to -7 V and 7 V, respectively. (c) V_{PG} -dependent transfer characteristic at $V_D = 1 \text{ V} (V_S = 0 \text{ V})$.

Figure 4.25(a,b) shows the output characteristic of the multi-wire RFET. Thereby, large on- and off-state regions are obtained, with its transition being slightly shifted towards negative V_{CG} values of around -2 V. Nevertheless, higher on-state currents for the p-mode conduction are reached, indicating lower injection barriers for holes. This is also reflected in the insets of the two color maps, showing the output characteristic in a linear scale. Thereby, an almost linear increase in current over the bias voltage V_D is obtained at high negative values of V_{CG} , indicating high transparency of the Al-Si junction for holes. For the n-type conduction, the exponential increase in the I/V characteristic indicates a higher, distinct Schottky barrier for the electron conduction. The PG-dependent characteristic in Figure 4.25(c) shows the stable transition between the n- and p-type operation by tuning the electrostatic injection barrier with V_{PG} , with large and distinct operation windows. Slight asymmetries are evident, with a less sharp transition to switch into the n-type operation with increasing V_{PG} , indicating a larger and less tunable electron injection barrier.

4.7 Al Top Gate SBFETs

The use of Au as a top gate material is avoided in the semiconductor industry, as it acts as deep-level trap and recombination center in Si, drastically reducing carrier lifetimes and therefore degrading the device performance [90]. Furthermore, its high diffusivity even at moderate temperatures can contaminate other device layers [270]. For the fabricated devices shown in the previous sections, the Au in the contact pads is mainly used because of its good properties for contacting with the needle probes or for bonding. The metal work function of the top gate should mainly be defined by the 10 nm thick Ti layer underneath the Au layer, which is in direct contact with the SiO₂ gate oxide. Therefore, it would be reasonable to replace the Au from the pads with other less critical material.

Since Al is already used for the S/D contact pads and thus for the formation of the Al-Si heterostructure, the use of Al as a top gate material is also a suitable way of reducing the number of different materials used. The electrical resistivity of Al with $2.65 \times 10^{-8} \Omega \,\mathrm{m}$ is also comparable to that of Au with $2.12 \times 10^{-8} \Omega m$ (at 293 K) [87]. To study the influence of replacing Au with Al in the devices, comparable devices with two different top gate stacks, Ti/Au and Ti/Al (10 nm/100 nm layer thickness), were fabricated on the same chip. The deposition method for the metals was also changed from evaporation to sputtering because tests with Al evaporation (electron-beam method), especially on the EBL resist, have caused some lift-off problems. Also, sputtering is more common in the semiconductor industry. In addition, a rather short oxidation time of 3 min of the Si nanosheets was used to thermally grow a $6.4\,\mathrm{nm}$ thin SiO₂ gate oxide, reducing the operation voltages of the devices. Figure 4.26 shows the comparison of the two different Al-Si-Al-based SBFETs with different top gate stacks, with the microscope image and the device characteristic for the Ti/Au control device in (a-c) and the Ti/Al gated devices in (d-f). Both device types exhibit very similar ambipolar characteristics, with symmetric electron and hole-induced current levels at $V_G = \pm 3$ V. A slight shift of the characteristic to the left towards negative gate voltages can be seen for the structures with Ti/Al gates. This indicates that despite the 10 nm Ti layer, there is a slight influence on the work function of



Figure 4.26: Comparison of Al-Si-based SBFETs with different top gate materials. (a) Microscope image, (b) bias-dependent, and (c) temperature-dependent transfer characteristic of an SBFET with a sputtered Ti/Au gate. (d-f) Microscope image and device characteristics for a Ti/Al top-gated SBFET. The transfer characteristics are measured with symmetrical bias $V_D = -V_S$.



Figure 4.27: Transistor parameters of the Ti/Au and Ti/Al SBFETs, extracted from 4.26(b,d). (a) On-current symmetry I_{on}^p/I_{on}^n . (b) On/off ratio for both the n-branch measured at $V_G = 3$ V and the p-branch at $V_G = -3$ V. The lighter lines for the right axis show the gate voltage V_G at the current minima $I_{D,min}$. (c) Bias-dependent subthreshold slopes $S_{th}^{n,p}$. (d) V_G -dependent activation energies E_a , extracted from the temperature-dependent output characteristics of three devices per device category. The error bars indicate the standard deviation.

the top metal layer. The significantly lower work function of Al (4.28 eV) compared to Au (5.1 eV) [191] therefore results in a small shift to the left. In the transfer characteristics, especially in the p-branch at lower bias conditions, a kink in the subthreshold region with two different slopes is evident (cf. Figure 4.26(b,e)). This clearly indicates the transition from the TFE/FE region with a shallow slope ($V_G < -1.6$ V) from a dominant charge carrier injection via tunneling to the steeper TE region ($V_G > -1.6$ V) mainly coming from carrier injection over the barrier. This transition between the two transport regimes was already described in simulations [209]. This kink is also clearly visible in the temperature-dependent transfer characteristics in Figure 4.26(c,f). Thereby, a stable operation for both device types at elevated temperatures up to 400 K is obtained, with a decreasing on/off ratio over temperature due to the stronger increase in off-currents.

The evaluation of the transistor parameter in Figure 4.27 shows the direct comparison of the two SBFETs with different TG metals. Overall, both devices reach a very high on-current symmetry within the V_{DS} measurement range, whereby the current of one branch remains below twice the value of the other branch. Consistently lower maximum p-type currents are obtained for the Ti/Al TG device, with $I_{max}^p/I_{max}^n < 1$, which can be attributed to the small left shift of the transfer characteristic due to the different work functions. Since the currents in the characteristic curve at $V_G = \pm 3$ V are not saturated and would still rise for higher gate voltages, a slight shift to negative V_G results in a decrease of I_{max}^p (and an increase of I_{max}^n). This consistent shift of the device characteristic is also shown in Figure 4.27(b), where V_G is extracted at the intrinsic point, the minimum current value I_{min} . While increasing the bias V_{DS} from 0.2 V to 2 V shifts the off-state point toward lower V_G , the shift due to the different gate materials remains fairly constant at about 0.12 V. The Ti/Au device achieves slightly higher on/off current ratios up to 5×10^7 at low bias voltages, but then approaches the values of the Ti/Al device at higher bias voltages ≥ 1.4 V. As in all the structures shown so far, the p-branch shows a clearly steeper subthreshold characteristic for both devices (see Figure 4.27(c)), with slightly lower S_{th} values for the Ti/Au gated structures. As V_{DS} is increased, the current in the transfer characteristic becomes more and more tunneling dominated (TFE/FE), with the kink and the steeper TE dominated region disappearing (cf. Figure 4.26(b,e)). This consequently results in an increase in the S_{th} for the p-type currents.

In Figure 4.27(d) the gate-dependent activation energies (E_a) from the temperaturedependent measurements are extracted. It can be seen that the lower metal work function from the Ti/Al gate stack results in higher activation energies in the p-branch. Therefore, a higher gate voltage is required to equally tune the hole injection barrier than for the Ti/Au device, resulting in a lower current flow for the same V_G . While the effective barrier for the Ti/Au device can be completely lowered to 0 eV at $V_G = -3$ V to achieve transparency for holes, a barrier of 75 meV remains for the Ti/Al device. The n-branch, however, does not seem to be affected by the change of top gate metals, reaching $E_a \approx 0$ eV for transparent Al-Si junctions for electrons, resulting in a quasi-ohmic behavior.

From the direct comparison of the two gate stacks, it can be concluded that the Ti/Au top gate devices have slightly better overall device characteristics. Nevertheless, it is feasible to replace the Au layer, with its undesirable properties in the semiconductor industry, with Al without significant loss of performance.

4.7.1 Ti/Al Top-Gated Si RFETs

Next, this sputtered Ti/Al gate stack is also used for the fabrication of TTG RFETs. Figure 4.28 shows the characteristics of a Ti/Al top-gated RFET, with a Si channel of $L_{Si} = 2.4 \,\mu\text{m}$, $W = 380 \,\text{nm}$ and $H = 18 \,\text{nm}$, operated at $V_{PG} = \pm 3 \,\text{V}$ to switch between the n- and p-mode. As expected from the previous results of the STG SBFETs, the subthreshold characteristic of the Ti/Al gated devices is slightly shifted to the left towards negative V_{CG} . This results in asymmetric threshold voltages V_{th} of 0.4 V for the n-type and $-1.86 \,\text{V}$ for the p-type operation, derived from the room temperature characteristic in Figure 4.28(a) at $V_{DS} = 1 \,\text{V}$. Nevertheless, a high on-current symmetry of $I_{on}^p/I_{on}^n = 1.9 \,\text{to} 0.93$ within the bias range of 0.2 V to 1 V is obtained. For the low-bias curves, this is even an improvement compared to the Ti/Au-based RFETs in Section 4.3, where symmetry values below 2 are reached only for bias voltages >1 V. The subthreshold slopes with $S_{th}^n = 193 \,\text{mV}/\text{dec}$ and $S_{th}^p = 160 \,\text{mV}/\text{dec}$ are again slightly steeper for the p-type operation and comparable to the Ti/Au devices.



Figure 4.28: (a) Subtreshold transfer characteristic of an Al-Si RFET with Ti/Al top gates, with V_{PG} set to 3 V and -3 V to switch between n- and p-type operation, respectively. The bias voltage V_{DS} ($V_D = -V_S$) is increased from 0.2 V to 1 V in 0.2 V steps. The microscope image of a fabricated device is shown in the inset. (b) Temperature-dependent measurement from 297 K to 400 K at $V_{DS} = 1 \text{ V}$. (c) Semi-logarithmic color map showing the V_{CG} and V_{PG} -dependent current flow I_D . The dashed lines at $I_D = 1 \text{ nA}$ indicate the two operation modes. Device dimensions: $L_{Si} = 2.4 \text{ µm}, W = 380 \text{ nm}.$

At elevated temperatures in Figure 4.28(b), a strong increase of the on-state currents for the n-mode is evident, significantly exceeding the temperature dependency of the p-mode. This leads to a considerably increased asymmetry up to $I_{on}^p/I_{on}^n = 0.2$ at 400 K. The off-currents remain remarkably low, still not significantly exceeding the noise level of the measurement setup. The conduction map in Figure 4.28(c) shows the transition between the n- and p-mode conduction by varying V_{PG} and V_{CG} . Although the maximum on-state currents for both modes reach similar values, a rather asymmetric size of the operation regimes is evident due to the shifted characteristics from the Ti/Al gate stack. Therefore, for p-type on-state currents exceeding 1 nA (marked by the dashed lines), V_{PG} voltages <-1.75 V are required, while the same currents for the n-mode are already reached at $V_{PG} > 0.25$ V. To compensate for the shift induced by the lowered metal work functions of the Ti/Al gate stack, a high- κ dielectric layer such as HfO₂ or ZrO₂ could be integrated into the gate stack. This would not only shift the device characteristics to the right towards positive gate voltages but also enable further scaling of the EOT, resulting in lowered operation voltages and steeper subthreshold characteristics [271,272].



Chapter 5

Al-Si $_{1-x}$ Ge_x-Al Heterostructures

The integration of Ge and $\text{Si}_{1-x}\text{Ge}_x$ compounds as channel materials is highly promising to further enhance the performance of modern CMOS and bipolar devices. Especially in RFETs, but also in SBFETs in general, the smaller Schottky barriers associated with the reduced band gap, as well as smaller effective tunneling masses of both electrons and holes, can increase the transmissibility of the injection barriers [209]. This can lead to enhanced on-currents and thus faster switching capabilities compared to Si devices [81][LW9]. Furthermore, Ge can promote the development of emerging "More than Moore" device architectures, such as negative differential resistance (NDR)-based electronics [33, 34,254], optoelectronics [243,273] and quantum computing paradigms [188,274]. However, metal-Si_{1-x}Ge_x junctions often suffer from reliability issues and strong Fermi-level pinning, hindering their large-scale implementation.

In the following chapter, the metal contact formation to $\text{Si}_{1-x}\text{Ge}_x$ nanosheets of different stoichiometries is discussed, and their composition-dependent transport properties are analyzed. In this regard, our project partners at the JKU Linz provided us substrates with vertical Si-Si_{1-x}Ge_x-Si layers epitaxially grown on top of SOI and sSOI substrates, with Ge layer concentrations of 33 %, 50 %, 75 % and 100 %. More details regarding the growth of these substrates can be found in the experimental part in Section 3.1.1. Based on the promising results, Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} nanosheets are then integrated into a three top-gated architecture to fabricate RFETs with enhanced device properties. Furthermore, a high- κ HfO₂ dielectric layer is introduced into the gate stack of the Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-based RFETs to improve the electrostatic gating. Finally, the various RFETs fabricated in this work are compared with other state-of-the-art devices found in the literature.

The results and discussions in this chapter are primarily based on the author's work in the publications on composition-dependent transport in $\text{Si}_{1-x}\text{Ge}_x$ nanosheets [LW13] and $\text{Si}_{0.67}\text{Ge}_{0.33}$ -based RFETs [LW11]. Furthermore, the results have led to the conference contributions [LWC2, LWC11, LWC12, LWC17, LWC23].

5.1 Contact Formation to $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ Heterostructures

Similar to the SOI-based devices from the previous chapter, small nanosheets are patterned from the $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ heterostructure substrates using laser lithography and SF₆-O₂-based RIE processes. The MBE-grown vertical $Si-Si_{1-x}Ge_x-Si$ heterostructure as the active region in the nanosheet devices is shown in the HRSTEM image in Figure 5.1(a). A 10.6 nm thick Al₂O₃ layer was then grown by ALD to passivate the mesa structures, which also serves as the gate dielectric for top-gated electrical characterization. To contact the $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ heterostructure nanosheets, 125 nm thick Al pads are sputtered after removing the Al_2O_3 passivation in the contact area with a 15s BHF etching step. As for the pure Si structures on the SOI substrate, a thermally induced exchange process can be observed by using RTA at 773 K in forming gas. Thereby, both Si and Ge are diffusing into the Al contacts, forming monolithic contacts to the vertical $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ stack. The diffusion coefficients of both Si and Ge in Al, as well as the Al self-diffusion, are comparatively high, while the diffusion of the other species, i.e., Al in Si and Ge, is orders of magnitudes lower (see Table 2.4). This asymmetry leads to a fast out-diffusion of the Si and Ge atoms mainly into the large Al pads, while they are replaced by Al atoms via fast self-diffusion. The diffusion of Al into the $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ channel, as well as an intermixing of the Si and Ge atoms from the heterostructure layers, should be negligible due to the low annealing temperatures of 773 K and short annealing times $\leq 5 \text{ min}$. Figure 5.1(b) shows the SEM image of an Al-Si_{1-x}Ge_x-Al heterostructure after the Al-Si/Ge exchange process, with a remaining $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ channel length of $\sim 1 \, \mu m$. An axial cut of the entire monolithically formed heterostructure, including the base SOI substrate, is shown in the STEM and EDX images in Figure 5.1(c,d). There it can be seen that the epitaxial Si-Si_{1-x}Ge_x-Si heterostructure remains intact over the entire channel of the device.



Figure 5.1: (a) HRSTEM image of the MBE-grown vertical $\text{Si-Si}_{1-x}\text{Ge}_x$ -Si stack, here for x = 0.33. (b) SEM image of the Al-Si_{1-x}\text{Ge}_x-Al heterostructure formed by the thermally induced exchange reaction. (c) STEM and (d) EDX map of the entire monolithic Al-Si_{1-x}\text{Ge}_x-Al heterostructure.

A more detailed investigation of the monolithically formed metal-semiconductor interface is shown in Figure 5.2. Thereby, two samples with different stoichiometries, with 33% Ge layer content in (a-d) and 75% Ge in (e-h), are analyzed with HRSTEM and EDX scans. The samples with the other $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ compositions were also examined and delivered consistent results. Thereby, for all investigated stoichiometries, a thin, Si-rich segment in-between the crystalline Al lead and the unreacted $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ region was found. This can also be seen in the EDX line scans in Figure 5.2(c,g). Interestingly, a clear peak of the Si intensity arises in between the Al signal decay and the Ge signal increase to the nominal $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ composition. These line scans, together with the elemental mapping (c,g) and the clear contrast region between the Al and the $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ in the HRSTEM images (a,e) can be interpreted as a Si interlayer of a thickness of 3 nm to 4 nm. There, the Si region shows a single-crystal structure epitaxially aligned towards the $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ layer, Si buffer and capping layer. Investigations in Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} NWs have shown similar pile-up formations, but not as a closed layer [176]. Interestingly, the Si interlayer is also formed in structures with a pure Ge layer in this vertical Si-Ge-Si heterostructure, presumably diffusing from the two adjacent Si layers. This thin Si interlayer can play an important role in reducing the strong Fermi level pinning of the Al-Ge junction to achieve a more balanced injection of both carrier types into the semiconductor channel. The exact mechanism leading to this Si pile-up region is still unclear. More detailed investigations, such as in-situ TEM studies of the thermal exchange reaction, would be required. It can



Figure 5.2: Close-up view of the formed metal-semiconductor interface for structures with a Ge layer content of (a-d) 33 % and (e-h) 75 %. (a,e) HRSTEM images and (b,f) EDX maps. (c,g) Line scans across the Al-Si-Si_{1-x}Ge_x heterojunctions. (d,h) Line scans of the Al-Si interfaces.

be assumed that the significantly faster Ge diffusion compared to Si could promote the formation of the Si interlayer.

The line scans in Figure 5.2(d,f) show the abrupt, single-elementary Al-Si interface. It has to be noted that electron scattering actually broadens the local definition. As expected from previous investigations with exchange reactions between pure Si and Ge with Al [LW14, LW17][62, 63, 275] and the binary Al-Si and Al-Ge phase diagrams in Figure 2.6, no intermetallic phases are formed. Furthermore, no traces of Al in the unreacted Si and Si_{1-x}Ge_x regions are detected within the EDX resolution limit (<1%). The pure and crystalline Al leads were identified as a face-centered cubic structure, with the interface oriented in an {111} facet, bending towards an {110} facet close to the Si_{1-x}Ge_x layer at the top of the vertical stack. The Si_{1-x}Ge_x channel itself is terminated by two {111} facets towards the Si interlayer.

5.2 Composition-dependent Electrical Transport in $Al-Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ -Al Heterostructures

To analyze the electrical properties of the fabricated $Al-Si_{1-x}Ge_x-Al$ heterostructures with the different stoichiometries, Ti/Au top gates (10 nm/100 nm) were deposited atop the 10.6 nm thick ALD-grown Al₂O₃ gate dielectric (see Figure 5.3(a)). A direct comparison of the transfer characteristics of all fabricated samples with Ge layer contents of 33 %, 50 %, 75% and 100% is shown in Figure 5.3(b), with channel lengths from 1 µm to 4 µm. An SBFET with Al-Si-Al heterostructures based on an SOI substrate (20 nm Si device layer) with the same gate stack is also included as a reference. The transfer characteristics of all samples are measured under the same conditions, with $V_D = V_{DS} = 1$ V and V_G swept from -5 V to 5 V. To minimize the influence of slow charge carrier traps mainly coming from the Si/Al₂O₃ interface, pulsed V_G measurements were conducted. For a fair comparison of the different samples to compensate geometric variations, the conductivity is calculated from the measured current I_D and the dimension of the semiconductor channel, with $\sigma = I_D/V_D \cdot L/A$. For the cross-section A of the channel, the whole vertical Si-Si_{1-x}Ge_x-Si stack is considered. However, especially for the structures with high Ge content, it can be assumed that the current flow is mainly confined to the Ge-rich layer. Therefore, by reducing the Si device and buffer layer below the $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ layer, the effective conductivity calculated from the entire vertical stack of nanosheets can presumably be further increased.

A clear increase of the on-state conductivity in the hole-dominant p-type region ($V_G < 0 \text{ V}$) for the structures with higher Ge content is evident due to the lower band gap and thus smaller effective barriers and enhanced injection. Furthermore, the intrinsic point with the lowest conductivity is shifting towards higher positive gate voltages. The electron-dominated current flow and thus the n-type on-state conductivity ($V_G > 0 \text{ V}$) decrease with increasing Ge concentration, resulting in a gradually decreasing ambipolar behavior. While the pure Si sample shows an ambipolar behavior with very symmetric on-states, the structures with the pure Ge layer show a strong p-type behavior without a significant



Figure 5.3: (a) Schematic of the SBFETs based on Al-Si_{1-x}Ge_x-Al heterostructures. (b) V_G -dependent conductivity measurement and (c) activation energy (E_a) extraction for Si_{1-x}Ge_x SBFETs with different Ge layer concentrations. The negative E_a -region is marked in blue, indicating transparent carrier injection barriers.

increase in electron conductivity with increasing V_G . This behavior can be related to the fact that the Ge layer is vertically sandwiched between two Si layers. This creates an abrupt discontinuity in the valence band structure at the interfaces due to an expected band offset of $\approx 500 \text{ meV}$ [113], causing a constant flow of holes from Si to Ge to maintain a constant chemical potential throughout the heterostructure [98]. The holes are thus confined within the Ge layer, resulting in the formation of a 2D hole gas [276].

Extracting the activation energies E_a in Figure 5.3(c) via the thermionic emission theory from temperature-dependent measurements between 295 K and 400 K gives more insights into the dominant carrier injection properties for the different $Al-Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ -Al heterostructures. In good agreement with the transfer characteristic, the pure Si structures showed comparable, positive E_a , and thus comparable Schottky barriers for both electrons and holes. Interestingly, the heterostructures with 50 % Ge content show the contrary behavior, with negative E_a values for both carrier types, resulting in transparent, quasi-ohmic contacts. Thereby, we can assume that an injection into the $Si_{0.5}Ge_{0.5}$ is achieved. Although the pure Si structures feature higher extracted (thermionic) barriers for the electrons than the Si_{0.5}Ge_{0.5} structures, a higher conductivity for the n-branch $(V_G > 0 V)$ is evident. Therefore, it needs to be considered that despite the Si interlayer in the Al-Si-Si_{1-x}Ge_x interface, the Fermi level still pins closer to the VB, favoring the p-type conduction and also affecting the n-type regime. Therefore, the pure Si samples have a thinner tunnel barrier for electrons compared to the $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ structures, resulting in higher tunnel currents and thus higher conductivity in the n-branch. For higher Ge concentrations, the high transparency for the holes is retained, while the electron injection barrier increases up to $\approx 300 \text{ meV}$ for the pure Ge layer sample. Changing the top gate voltage V_G therefore merely modulates the energy barrier for holes rather than enabling electron conduction.



Figure 5.4: Si_{1-x}Ge_x composition-dependent extraction of the SBFET properties. (a) On-state conductivity σ_{max} for the n- and p-branch at $V_G = 5$ V and -5 V, respectively. The minimum conductivity σ_{min} , measured at the intrinsic point, is shown in the inset. (b) On/off current ratio and on-current symmetry I_{max}^p/I_{max}^n . (c) Subthreshold slope S_{th} depending on the Ge content.

Extracted from the transfer characteristics, the device performance parameters of the different top-gated Si_{1-x}Ge_x SBFETs are plotted as a function of their Ge layer content in Figure 5.4. The p-type on-state conductivity σ_{max}^p is increasing from 708 S/m for the pure Si nanosheets up to 4825 S/m for the pure Ge layer structures. In contrast, the conductivity for the n-branch (σ_{max}^n) decreases for higher Ge concentrations, with Si reaching 452 S/m down to 0.3 S/m for 75% Ge structures. Although the Ge structures do not show an electron-induced current flow, with $\sigma_{max}^n = \sigma_{min}$, the conductivity at $V_G = 5$ V is still higher than that of the Si_{0.25}Ge_{0.75} structures, possibly due to differences in the Schottky barrier height for electrons. As the minimum conductivity σ_{min} of the intrinsic point is strongly increasing with the Ge content by orders of magnitude (see inset in Figure 5.4(a)) due to the lower band gap and the increased carrier concentration, also the on/off current ratio in Figure 5.4(b) is strongly decreasing. The change from a symmetric ambipolar

Vertical stack	σ^p_{on}	σ_{on}^{n}	σ_{min}	S_{th}^p	S_{th}^n
	(S/m)	(S/m)	(S/m)	(V/dec)	(V/dec)
Si (SOI device layer)	708	452	2.5×10^{-6}	0.27	0.46
$Si-Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-Si$	2000	126.6	0.035	0.41	0.64
$Si-Si_{0.5}Ge_{0.5}-Si$	1087	36.8	0.014	0.19	0.38
$Si-Si_{0.25}Ge_{0.75}-Si$	2885	0.3	0.053	0.43	1.76
Si-Ge-Si	4825	5.45	4.8	0.96	-
GeOI [38]	131	61	0.56	3.1	1.7
Ge NW [37]	752	0.4	71.8×10^{-3}	0.83	1.66
Ge/Si core/shell NW [277]	1.18×10^{5}	393	16	0.13	0.2

Table 5.1: Device performance metrics of different $\text{Si}_{1-x}\text{Ge}_x$ SBFETs. Additionally, devices fabricated from a GeOI substrate [38], as well as VLS-grown Ge NWs [37] and Si/Ge core/shell NWs [277] are compared. Note that [277] utilizes ultra-scaled 18 nm thick NWs with a 4 nm thick HfO₂ gate oxide.

behavior for the pure Si SBFETs to an increasingly strong p-type behavior by introducing Ge is also evident when comparing the on-current symmetries I_{max}^p/I_{max}^n in Figure 5.4(b). Generally steeper subthreshold slopes are extracted for the p-type conduction throughout all Si_{1-x}Ge_x compositions (see Figure 5.4(c)), with 190 mV/dec to 410 mV/dec for the p-branch and 380 mV/dec to 640 mV/dec for the n-branch for samples incorporating $\leq 50 \%$ Ge. While the Si_{0.25}Ge_{0.75} structure with 430 mV/dec exhibits comparable slopes for the p-type conduction, a very shallow increase of the low electron-dominated conduction with a relatively shallow slope of 960 mV/dec. By optimizing the gate stack, e.g., reducing interface charges and enhancing the body effect coefficient by introducing high- κ dielectric with a reduced EOT and scaled channel dimensions, the performance metrics of the devices can still be improved. The performance metrics of the fabricated SBFETs are summarized in Table 5.1, also including Si_{1-x}Ge_x-based devices found in literature.

To give more insights into the transport properties of the fabricated devices, the output characteristics of two exemplary devices, with 100% and 33% Ge layer concentrations, are shown in Figure 5.5. In (a,b), the device with the vertical Si-Ge-Si stack shows the pure p-type behavior, with a hole-induced current flow at negative gate voltages.



Figure 5.5: Output characteristics of SBFETs based on the vertical (a-b) Si-Ge-Si and (c-d) Si-Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-Si heterostructures. (a,c) Linear I/V-characteristic, with the inset showing a zoomed view of the low current region for positive V_G . (b,d) Semi-logarithmic color map representation of the output characteristic.

Thereby a linear increase in current I_D over a wide measurement range is evident for $V_G < 0 \text{ V}$, attributed to the highly transparent, quasi-ohmic contacts. In contrast to the Si SBFETs described before, a slight onset towards saturation can be observed. At positive V_G , a clear nonlinear increase in current with the bias voltage V_D is evident due to the distinct Schottky barriers (see inset). In contrast, the ambipolar Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} heterostructure devices in Figure 5.5(c,d) show a nonlinear, exponential current increase over the full V_G measurement range of $\pm 5 \text{ V}$. For both the electron- ($V_G > 0 \text{ V}$) and hole-induced conduction ($V_G < 0 \text{ V}$), charge carriers are injected through distinct Schottky barriers, whose thickness and thus its related tunnel transmissibility is changed by the bias voltage. The off-state region of the Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} SBFETs is centered around $V_G = -1 \text{ V}$ to 0 V at currents below 1 nA, while the pure Ge layer SBFETs show rather gate-independent off-state currents of ~100 nA for $V_G > 2.5 \text{ V}$.

Finally, temperature-dependent transfer characteristics in the range of 300 K to 400 K are measured for the different $\text{Si}_{1-x}\text{Ge}_x$ compositions. Thereby, both the pure Si as well as the $\text{Si}_{0.67}\text{Ge}_{0.33}$ heterostructure devices showed a small increase in on-state current for both the n- and p-type branches in the ambipolar characteristic, indicating a tunnelingdominated charge carrier injection through distinct Schottky barriers. Remarkably, the opposite behavior can be seen for the $\text{Si}_{0.5}\text{Ge}_{0.5}$ structures, where the conductivity for



Figure 5.6: Temperature-dependent transfer characteristics of (a) Si, (b) Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}, (c) Si_{0.5}Ge_{0.5}, (d) Si_{0.25}Ge_{0.75}, and (e) Ge nanosheets embedded in Al-Si_{1-x}Ge_x-Al heterostructure SBFETs in the range of 295 K to 400 K, measured at $V_D = 1$ V. The arrows indicate the change in on-state conductivity with increasing temperature.

both hole and electron conduction is decreasing. This is in good agreement with the E_a extraction from Figure 5.3(c), where transparent junctions for both carrier types were derived. This negative variation of the currents with temperature is also observed for the p-type conduction in the devices with 75 % and 100 % Ge layer concentration. Therefore, it can be concluded that scattering is the main contribution to the resistance of the devices at elevated temperatures. Furthermore, this indicates that the transport is limited by tunneling through the thin barrier, rather than thermionic emission. Such highly transparent junctions to intrinsic or lowly doped semiconductors have only rarely been observed, e.g., in carbon nanotubes with Pd contacts [278] or in systems that employ efficient Fermi-level depinning techniques [198, 279–281]. As the sample with 75 % Ge content still features a band structure that is close to the one of Ge [282], but also shows a distinct electron-induced conduction for $V_G > 3$ V, this heterostructure system may be very interesting for the implementation of NDR devices based on the electron transfer effect [34, 254].

A clear increase in off-state currents is evident for all samples regardless of the Ge content. This can be attributed to the increase of the thermally activated carriers overcoming the Schottky barrier. The increase in off-currents, extracted from the temperature-dependent transfer measurements in Figure 5.6, is also shown in Figure 5.7. In this semi-logarithmic plot, the extracted off-currents follow a linear trend, meaning an exponential increase of the currents with the temperature. This is in agreement with the thermionic emission theory from Equation 3.3. The pure Si sample thereby shows the largest increase in off-currents at elevated temperatures, which can be related to the largest activation energies extracted at the off-state (see Figure 5.3). The large temperature dependency of the Al-Si_{1-x}Ge_x-Al SBFETs operated in the off-state regime could be very interesting for the implementation of bolometers [283].



Figure 5.7: Temperature-dependent off-currents of the different Al-Si_{1-x}Ge_x-Al SBFETs, measured at $V_D = 1$ V. Values extracted from Figure 5.6.

5.3 $Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}$ -based RFETs

The investigations of the transport properties of the $Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}$ -based SBFETs have shown ambipolar characteristics with similar injection capabilities for both electrons and holes. Therefore, the integration of this vertical Si-Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-Si heterostructure stack into RFETs may be promising to enhance the device performance by exploiting the advantages of Ge, resulting in higher on-state currents and increased switching speeds.

Since the direct integration of the Al_2O_3 dielectric layer on top of the Si capping layer in the previous samples, without the formation of a high-quality interface oxide, has led to reliability problems in the electrical measurements and introduced large hysteresis due to a high density of interface trap states, the gate stack was adapted. Therefore, after patterning the mesa structures, thermal dry oxidation at 1174K for 3 min was used to transform the 3 nm Si capping layer of the Si-Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-Si heterostructure into a highquality $\approx 6 \text{ nm}$ thick SiO₂ oxide. The subsequent fabrication steps are identical to those previously used for Si RFETs, with Al-Si_{1-x}Ge_x contact formation and Ti/Au TG deposition after EBL patterning (see Section 3.1.2). Figure 5.8(a) shows the SEM image of a $Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}$ -based RFET. The fabricated devices have a typical channel length L_{SiGe} of $1.6\,\mu\mathrm{m}$ to $2.1\,\mu\mathrm{m}$, with channel widths W around 400 nm. The cross-sectional HRSTEM and EDX maps of the gate stack in Figure 5.8 show that the entire Si capping layer atop the $Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}$ layer is consumed, forming the ≈ 6 nm thick SiO_2 gate oxide. Remarkably, the oxide layer is encapsulating the entire mesa structure, also covering the sidewalls of the Ge-rich layer (see Figure 5.8(d)), possibly due to Si surface diffusion from the neighboring regions. This passivation with a high-quality thermal oxide should therefore prevent a degradation and oxidation of the Ge layer, resulting in nearly hysteresis-free I/V characteristics. Thus, it can be seen that the 8 nm thick Ge-rich layer remains intact without any signs of out-diffusion or intermixing with the other Si layers even after thermal treatments up to 1174 K.



Figure 5.8: (a) Colored SEM image of a TTG RFET based on an Al-Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-Al heterostructure. (b) Cross-sectional HRSTEM and EDX image of the gate stack. (c-f) Single elementary EDX maps.

The transfer characteristic of this TTG RFET with a Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} channel ($L = 1.96 \mu m$, W = 460 nm) in Figure 5.9(a) shows a nearly hysteresis-free operation with highly symmetric on-states. At $V_{DS} = 2 V$, high on-state currents of $I_{on}^n = 17.3 \,\mu A (37.9 \,\mu A/\mu m)$ for the n-mode operation ($V_{PG} = 5 V$) and $I_{on}^p = 33 \,\mu A (72.2 \,\mu A/\mu m)$ in the p-mode ($V_{PG} = -5 V$) are obtained. This results in a symmetry factor of $I_{on}^p/I_{on}^n = 1.9$, which is only a slightly higher asymmetry compared to the Si-based devices shown in Section 4.3. This device is therefore the first RFET containing diluted Ge in the channel, showing a hysteresis-free operation with a high level of symmetry and a strong S/D leakage suppression [LW11]. Compared to a reference SBFET with a single TG covering the entire Al-Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-Al heterostructure, the on-state symmetry as well as the off-states could even be improved. The lowered off-state currents below 20 pA can be attributed to the electrostatic barrier



Figure 5.9: (a) Transfer characteristic of the TTG RFET with a Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} channel and a 6 nm SiO₂ gate oxide, measured at $V_{DS} = 2 \text{ V} (V_D = -V_S)$. $L_{SiGe} = 1.96 \,\mu\text{m}, W = 460 \,\text{nm}$. The characteristic of a comparable SBFET with a single global TG is shown in gray. (b) Semilogarithmic conduction map showing the current flow as a function of the gate voltages V_{PG} and V_{CG} . The dotted line at $I_D = 10 \,\text{nA}$ indicates the n- and p-type operation windows. (c,d) Linear V_{CG} -dependent output characteristic for p- and n-mode at $V_{PG} = -5 \,\text{V}$ and 5 V, respectively.

induced by the PGs, efficiently blocking the injection of undesired charge carriers. This results in high I_{on}/I_{off} current ratios of $\sim 1 \times 10^6$ and $\sim 2 \times 10^7$ for n- and p-mode, respectively. The extracted subthreshold slopes with $S_{th}^n = 510 \text{ mV/dec}$ and $S_{th}^p = 235 \text{ mV/dec}$, as well as the threshold voltages with $V_{th}^n = 0.96 \text{ V}$ and $V_{th}^p = -0.4 \text{ V}$, further show a slightly p-favored behavior, presumably due to slightly lower carrier injection barriers for holes. However, we speculate that the Al-Si-Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} heterojunctions formed during the Al-Si/Ge exchange reaction for the S/D contact formation (see Figure 5.2) play an important role in reducing the Fermi level pinning towards the VB, which would otherwise presumably lead to very asymmetric device behavior as seen in other Ge-based RFETs [37,38].

The conduction map in Figure 5.9(b) shows the polarity control of the fabricated Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-RFET to derive the ideal operating parameters. By varying the voltage on the PG, the injection barriers are modulated, with a transition between n- and p-mode conduction. Thereby, two large operation regimes are evident that are slightly shifted towards positive gate voltages, meaning that higher PG voltages are required to achieve the same current values for n-mode. Nevertheless, this plot further demonstrates the stable and widely symmetric operability of the device. The slight asymmetry of the two operation modes is also evident in the output characteristics in Figure 5.9(c,d). For the p-mode at $V_{PG} = -5$ V, a linear behavior in the I/V characteristic is obtained for negative V_{CG} approaching -5 V, indicating a transparent, quasi-ohmic Al-Si-Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} junction. In contrast, a lower current flow with a clear nonlinear increase with V_{DS} is obtained in the n-mode ($V_{PG} = 5$ V) for all values of V_{CG} , indicating a dedicated Schottky barrier for the injection of electrons.

In order to obtain more precise information about the transport properties of the structures, temperature-dependent measurements were performed. Figure 5.10(a) shows the stable device operation measured up to 400 K. In particular, the off-currents increase strongly with temperature, by more than two orders of magnitude for the n-mode. This is attributed to the large increase in thermionic emission, where thermally activated carriers are passing the blocking barrier. In addition, a temperature-dependent fanning of the subthreshold region is observed due to an increased rate of thermally assisted tunneling. The on-state currents are not that strongly affected by the temperature, leading to a general decrease in the I_{on}/I_{off} ratio, consistent with the thermionic emission theory [116]. While a slight increase in on-currents in the n-mode is evident, a slight but reproducible reduction of the p-mode currents is observed. This is another indication of a highly transparent junction for holes, where the on-state resistance is mainly defined by scattering rather than the injection through a barrier. The extraction of the activation energies E_a in Figure 5.10(b) also shows the high transparency of the holes in the on-region of the p-mode. Clearly negative and widely constant E_a values are obtained for $V_{CG} < 0$ V, allowing an efficient hole injection. This region is even extending towards $V_{CG} = 1 \text{ V}$ for higher bias voltages V_{DS} due to a stronger energy band bending. The off-state region on the other side shows a clear Schottky barrier, with E_a values up to 0.5 eV, efficiently blocking the undesired charge carriers (electrons). For the n-mode in Figure 5.10(c), positive E_a val-


Figure 5.10: (a) Temperature-dependent transfer characteristic of the Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-RFET from Figure 5.9, in the range from 295 K to 400 K at $V_{DS} = 2$ V. (b,c) Activation energy maps for pand n-mode. The dashed line at $E_a = 0$ eV indicates the transition to a transparent junction.

ues close to 0 eV are reached in the on-state for $V_{CG} > 1$ V. However, in contrast to the p-mode, full transparency cannot be achieved, leaving a small remaining injection barrier, presumably due to slightly off-center Fermi level pinning. This leads to a weaker n-mode, with a nonlinear I_D/V_{DS} characteristic typical for SBFETs (see Figure 5.9(d)). Thus, the high symmetry of both activation energy maps with respect to the applied bias voltage V_{DS} indicates identical charge carrier injection from both source and drain contacts, highlighting the stability of the Al-Si-Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} heterojunction.

5.3.1 HfO₂ Gate Dielectric Integration

To further improve the electrostatic gating of the Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-based RFETs, a 7.6 nm thick ALD-grown HfO₂ layer is incorporated into the gate stack. At the same time, the SiO₂ interface layer below the HfO₂, thermally grown from the Si cap of the vertical Si-Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-Si heterostructure, was reduced to 2.5 nm by shortening the oxidation time to 1 min at 1173 K. This unusually thick interfacial oxide was chosen to be on the safe side of interface stability and to prevent the intermixing of Hf with Si_{1-x}Ge_x. Figure 5.11(a) shows the EDX analysis of the fabricated gate stack, with the Si-Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} channel being covered by the SiO₂ interface layer and the HfO₂ layer, and the Ti/Au (10 nm/100 nm) gate stack on top. Additionally, the HRSTEM image in Figure 5.11(b) shows a close-up image of the sidewall coverage of the dielectric layers. Note that due to the short oxidation time of 1 min, resulting in a Si interface oxide thickness of ~2.5 nm, the initial 3 nm thick Si capping layer of the vertical Si-Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-Si heterostructure may not be fully consumed.

With an estimated permittivity value of $\varepsilon_{HfO_2} = 20$ measured from capacitive test structures [284], and $\varepsilon_{SiO_2} = 3.9$, this adapted dielectric stack results in an EOT of 4 nm according to Equation 2.4. In addition to enhanced electrostatic gating, lower gate leakage currents should be achieved due to reduced tunneling effects and oxide defects, while



Figure 5.11: (a) EDX map showing the cut through the gate stack of the Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} channel RFET with SiO₂ and HfO₂ gate dielectric. (b) Close-up HRSTEM image showing the sidewall of the vertical Si-Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} channel passivated by the SiO₂ and HfO₂ layers. (c) Corresponding transfer characteristic of the RFET with $L_{SiGe} = 2.18 \,\mu\text{m}$ and $W = 550 \,\text{mm}$ at $V_{DS} = 2 \,\text{V}$ ($V_D = -V_S$). V_{CG} is swept in both directions, with the arrows indicating the sweeping direction. (d) Temperature-dependent transfer characteristic between 295 K and 400 K. The arrows indicate the direction of the change in on-state current with temperature.

maintaining high stability against electrostatic breakdown [30,90]. The resulting transfer characteristic of an RFET with a channel length $L_{SiGe} = 2.18 \,\mu\text{m}$ and a width $W = 550 \,\text{nm}$ in Figure 5.11(c) shows the stable operation for both operation modes at $V_{PG} = \pm 5$ V. Thereby, most of the transistor properties could be improved with the adapted gate stack. Higher I_{on}/I_{off} current ratios (n: 3.4×10^6 , p: 4.3×10^8) and steeper subthreshold slopes (n: 207 mV/dec, p: 115 mV/dec) for both modes are reached. Furthermore, the off-currents could be significantly reduced. However, an increased on-current asymmetry is induced, with I_{on}^p/I_{on}^n rising to 7.4. This can be explained by the fixed charges in the HfO₂ dielectric layer, inducing a shift of the transfer characteristic and thus the threshold voltages towards positive voltages [94, 285], with $V_{th}^n = 0.68 \text{ V}$ and $V_{th}^p = 0.15 \text{ V}$. These fixed charges also affect the electrostatic barriers at the metal-semiconductor junction below the PG, leading to more asymmetric charge carrier injection conditions. Furthermore, a slight increase in hysteresis can be observed compared to the SiO_2 sample. However, this is still comparatively small due to the good quality of the SiO_2 interfacial layer, which suppresses the formation of unstable Ge oxides or Ge indiffusion into the HfO₂ layer, which can otherwise lead to degradation and reliability issues [30, 129, 286].

The temperature-dependent transfer characteristic in 5.11(d) is comparable to the behavior of the devices with the SiO₂ gate dielectric, demonstrating that the adapted gate stack provides the same temperature stability. The on- and off-current changes are within the same range as before, again with a slight decrease of the p-mode on-state current at rising temperatures.

5.3.2 **RFET Performance Comparison**

To provide a better comparison of the non-volatile RFETs of this work, the transfer characteristics of an exemplary RFET of each of the different devices are shown in the same plot in Figure 5.12(a). Thereby, an SOI-based RFET with SiO₂ gate oxide is compared to the two different Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} channel devices, with and without the integrated HfO₂ layer in the gate stack. The drain currents are thereby normalized to the channel width W of each device. It can be seen that the RFET with the pure Si channel reaches the best onstate symmetry, with $I_{on}^p/I_{on}^n \sim 1$. Incorporating Ge into the channel increases the on-state current in the p-mode, but reduces the current in the n-mode due to increased electron injection barriers caused by off-centered Fermi level pinning. This on-state asymmetry is even enhanced when integrating the HfO₂ layer into the dielectric gate stack due to fixed charges, which is also evident in the shift of the transfer characteristic towards positive gate voltages. Nevertheless, the HfO₂ RFET devices show significantly enhanced off-state



Figure 5.12: (a) Transfer characteristic comparison of the Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-RFET with different gate stacks (SiO₂/HfO₂ (2.5 nm/7.6 nm) and SiO₂ (6 nm)) and the pure Si channel device with 10.3 nm SiO₂ gate oxide. All devices are measured under the same conditions, with $V_{DS} = 2$ V and $V_{PG} = \pm 5$ V. (b) Comparison of the on-state currents I_{on}/W and on/off current ratios of the RFETs from this work (A-C) with RFETs from literature. The currents are normalized to the channel width W for top-down fabricated channel devices and to the channel diameter for bottom-up grown NW RFETs. The operation voltages of each device are indicated in the gray boxes. In [207, 287], different voltages are used for n- and p-mode operation. The RFETs in [33, 37, 288] use pure Ge as channel material.

currents, subthreshold slopes and threshold voltages for both operation modes compared to the Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-channel device with the pure and thicker SiO₂ gate dielectric. This is due to the effective reduction of the EOT from 6 nm to 3.98 nm, leading to improved electrostatic control of the device. This also results in improved I_{on}/I_{off} ratios, with 6×10^6 and 4×10^8 for n- and p-type operation, respectively. However, the pure Si channel device reaches the highest on/off ratio, exceeding 5×10^8 for both modes. This is consistent with the thermionic emission theory, as the I_{on}/I_{off} ratio is generally expected to decrease for SBFETs with a smaller band gap channel material [116]. Interestingly, despite the thicker EOT of the Si RFETs, similar (or even steeper in p-mode) subthreshold slopes are achieved. This can be explained by the thinner device layer of the Si RFETs (16.4 nm instead of a total of 43 nm for the Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} channel), which nevertheless significantly reduces the screening length λ (see Equation 2.24) and results in increased gating efficiency.

To put the results of this work into perspective, a comparison of the on-state currents as well as the on/off current ratios with other state-of-the-art RFETs from the literature is shown in Figure 5.12(b). Furthermore, an extended set of performance metrics for some selected Si, $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ and Ge-based RFETs are summarized in Table 5.2. For the extraction of the performance parameters of the RFETs in this work, the mean values and standard deviation of ten comparable devices were evaluated. Among the compared RFETs, only the VLS-grown Si-NWs in a NiSi₂-Si platform by Heinzig et al. [77], with $I_{on}^{p}/I_{on}^{n} = 0.98 \pm 0.22$, achieve symmetry values comparable to the Al-Si-Al heterostructurebased RFETs. However, there a complex radially compressive stress of $\sim 1\%$ is required. In addition, the RFETs from this work exhibit exceptionally high on-currents I_{on}/W and the highest on/off ratios. The introduction of Ge as a channel material leads to enhanced on-currents, especially for the p-mode, with the highest p-type current reached by Sistani et al. [33] in Ge NW RFETs. There, the Ge channel even allows for an additional operation mode of the RFET by utilizing the NDR effect. However, these RFETs, as well as the other pure Ge channel devices, exhibit strongly asymmetric behavior due to strong Fermi level pinning, as well as significantly increased off-currents. In contrast, the RFETs based on the Al-Si-Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} multi-heterojunction show a comparatively good symmetry. With a scaled semiconductor channel and an optimized omega-gate geometry, Simon et al. [71] showed improved Si RFETs with subthreshold slopes in the range of the Al-Si and Al-Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-based (HfO₂) devices, although only utilizing a dual top gate approach. Zhang et al. [287] even achieved sub-60 mV/dec operation (down to 6 mV/dec) in FinFETs, utilizing special gating conditions in a three independent top gate architecture. impact ionization and positive feedback effects.

TU **Bibliothek**, Die approbierte gedruckte Originalversion dieser Dissertation ist an der TU Wien Bibliothek verfügbar. WIEN Your knowledgehub

	Al-Si	Al-Si _{0.67} Ge _{0.33}	Al-Si _{0.67} Ge _{0.33}	Al-Ge [288]	NiSi ₂ -Si [71]	Al-Si [LW12]	NiSi ₂ -Si [77]	Al-Ge [33]	Ni ₂ Ge-Ge [37]
Platform	IOS	SiGe on SOI	SiGe on SOI	GeOI	SOI	Si NW	Si NW	Ge NW	Ge NW
Si Ge layer (nm)	16.4	35 8	35 8	20	3.5	80	12	30	18
Oxide	SiO_2	SiO_2	SiO ₂ HfO ₂	Al_2O_3	SiO_2	SiO_2	SiO_2	Al_2O_3	$GeO_x Al_2O_3 $
Thickness (nm)	10.3	9	2.5 7.6	11	6.5	8.5-9.7	×	22	2
ε_r	3.9	3.9	3.9 20	9.31	3.9	3.9	3.9	9.31	6 ≈
EOT (nm)	10.3	9	3.98	4.6	6.5	8.5-9.7	×	9.2	3
I^n_{on}/W (µA/µm)	37.6	41.3	28.4	0.025	32.3	3.3	11.4	0.778	0.47
I^p_{on}/W (µA/µm)	38.4	85.7	174.4	3.48	50.2	35	11.17	216.8	5.56
I^n_{off}/W (µA/µm)	7.6×10^{-8}	$2.4{ imes}10^{-5}$	1×10^{-5}	$5.5{ imes}10^{-4}$	1.2×10^{-5}	4×10^{-6}	4×10^{-6}	3.8×10^{-3}	1.7×10^{-3}
$I^p_{off}/W \ (\mu { m A}/\mu { m m})$	5.9×10^{-8}	4.4×10^{-6}	$9.9{ imes}10^{-7}$	7.6×10^{-4}	1.9×10^{-6}	1.4×10^{-6}	3×10^{-6}	$5.9{ imes}10^{-3}$	$6{ imes}10^{-4}$
I_{on}^p/I_{on}^n	1.054	2.2	6.66	125	1.56	10.6	0.98	279	11.8
$I^n_{on}/~I^n_{off}$	5.4×10^{8}	1.9×10^{6}	6.2×10^{6}	48.6	2.6×10^{6}	8.3×10^{5}	2.86×10^{6}	210	280
$I^p_{on}/~I^p_{off}$	6.8×10^{8}	2.1×10^{7}	4.2×10^{8}	4270	$2.7{\times}10^{6}$	2.5×10^{7}	3.72×10^{6}	3.68×10^{4}	9300
$\mathbf{V}_{th}^{n}\left(\mathbf{V} ight)$	0.51	0.79	0.67	1.57		0.36	1.42	1	0.4
$\mathrm{V}^{p}_{th}\left(\mathrm{V} ight)$	-1.14	-0.36	-0.02	0.04		-0.72	-1.41	-1.4	-0.2
$S^n_{th} \ ({ m mV/dec})$	144.3	436	207	1233	142	280	150	800	215
$S^p_{th} \ ({ m mV/dec})$	142.6	245	121	835	128	289	150	200	150
Table 5.2: C are compared	haracteristic with state-o	: RFET performar f-the-art devices f	ice metrics of different to the second se	erent RFETs.	. The SOI ar	${ m id}~{ m Si}_{0.67}{ m Ge}_0$. ₃₃ channel I	RETs from	this work and

Top-down nanosheet structures: currents normalized to sheet width W. Bottom-up NW structures: currents normalized to wire diameter.



Chapter 6

Non-Volatile Transistors based on Ferroelectric HZO Gate

In the previous chapters, the implementation of RFETs based on Al-Si-Al and Al-Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-Al heterostructures was demonstrated, achieving highly symmetric and runtime reconfigurable n- and p-type characteristics that can be switched at runtime by applying a constant positive or negative potential to the PG. Their potential was further demonstrated by their integration into complementary, combinational logic gates with significantly reduced transistor count. For many circuit applications, however, it would be beneficial if the programming of this state could be stored over a longer period of time without the need to apply a permanent potential to the PGs. In particular, such a non-volatile, reconfigurable device could be an important building block for neuromorphic computing approaches [48, 83] and LiM architectures [42].

In this regard, $Hf_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O_2$ (HZO) layers in their orthorhombic phase have already shown promising results regarding their ability to maintain their ferroelectric polarization with its induced electric field over long periods of time. Furthermore, it is highly scalable, reliable and CMOS compatible, making it promising for large-scale integration [138, 223].

Therefore, this chapter focuses on the integration of a ferroelectric HZO layer into the gate stack of the RFET, specifically localized below the PG contact, to allow non-volatile switching of the device between n- and p-type operation. To reduce the complexity, the devices are based on the simpler Al-Si-Al heterostructures patterned from SOI substrates from Chapter 4. The data and discussion in this chapter are primarily based on the author's work in [LW1][LWC5, LWC10].

6.1 Optimization of the Ferroelectric Gate Stack

Before integrating the HZO ferroelectric layer into transistor structures, circular capacitor test structures are fabricated to find the optimal deposition parameters and material combinations to maximize remnant polarization and device reliability. In Figure 6.1, the ferroelectric response of the HZO layers of different layer thicknesses is tested within a metal-ferroelectric-metal (MFM) capacitor structure. As top and bottom electrodes, a TiN layer is deposited by reactive Ti sputtering in N₂ plasma. The MFM structures were then annealed via RTA at 723 K in N_2 atmosphere for $2 \min$, where the stress induced by the TiN electrodes at the elevated temperature induces the targeted crystallization of the HZO. Capacitance-voltage (C/V) measurements on both test structures thereby show a clear counterclockwise hysteresis in Figure 6.1(a), indicating ferroelectric behavior. Annealing tests at lower temperatures (e.g., 673 K) have yielded significantly reduced or even a non-ferroelectric response. The increase of the layer thickness thereby results in decreased capacity values for the red curve, according to the capacitor Equation 3.8. The symmetrical shape of the butterfly loop, as well as the position of the peak capacitance values and the crossing points of the curves in the different measurement directions are largely identical. A slight shift of the characteristic towards negative voltages of about $-0.14 \,\mathrm{MV/cm}$ is evident, resulting in a slightly asymmetric switching of the two polarization states. For the 8 nm HZO sample, the peak capacitance values of $4.8 \,\mu\text{F/cm}^2$ and $4.76 \,\mu\text{F/cm}^2$ are reached at electric fields of $0.75 \,\mathrm{MV/cm}$ and $-0.88 \,\mathrm{MV/cm}$, respectively. A minimum capacitance of $\sim 3.3 \,\mu\text{F/cm}^2$ at $E = \pm 3 \,\text{MV/cm}$ is extracted. According to Equation 3.8, the dielectric constant ε_r can be estimated, varying between 30 and 43, which is in the range of values found in the literature [137].

The polarization hysteresis curves in Figure 6.1(b), extracted from the Sawyer-Tower circuit measurements, provide further insights of the ferroelectric switching behavior. Thereby, a higher remnant polarization of $P_r = 21.4 \,\mu\text{C/cm}^2$ is achieved for the 8 nm



Figure 6.1: Comparison of the C/V characteristic (a) and the polarization curves (b) of two MFM structures with different HZO layer thicknesses of 8 nm and 15 nm. The HZO layer is embedded between two TiN electrodes in a circular capacitor structure.

thin HZO layer compared to $19.9 \,\mu\text{C/cm}^2$ for the 15 nm layer. This is in accordance with results from literature, where it was also shown that for HZO layers thicker than 10 nm, the remnant polarization is reduced due to an increased fraction of the non-ferroelectric monoclinic phase[149,157,291]. The coercive field of both MFM structures is very similar, with $E_c \sim 0.96 \,\text{MV/cm}$ and $-1.1 \,\text{MV/cm}$. The values obtained for residual polarization and coercive field of these MFM test structures are within the expected range or even slightly above average compared to the values found in the literature [135].

For device integration of the ferroelectric stack into an SBFET, it is of utmost importance to have a high-quality interface of the HZO layer to the Si channel with the low interface trap density. First of all, a high interface trap density could drastically degrade the device performance by reducing carrier mobilities and inducing unwanted hysteresis. Second, high voltage pulses used to switch the polarization states can access deep-level trap states, charging the device for a long period. Since the electric field induced by charge trapping always acts in the opposite direction to that induced by the ferroelectric, its effect on the underlying semiconductor channel can be reduced or even completely suppressed.

For this purpose, metal-ferroelectric-insulator-semiconductor (MFIS) capacitor structures with different interface layers (IL) were fabricated and compared. A highly n-doped Si substrate (P, ~10²¹ cm⁻³) is thereby used as the base substrate, where either a 2.5 nm thermally grown SiO₂, a 0.9 nm thin chemically grown SiO₂ (RCA2), or a 2 nm ALDgrown HfO₂ layer was deposited, followed by a 10 nm thick HZO layer and a Pd electrode on top. The Pd electrodes were used initially due to an unavailability of the TiN process. Both the thin chemical SiO₂ and the HfO₂ IL show a clear counterclockwise hysteresis indicating ferroelectricity. The thicker thermal oxide, on the other hand, shows clockwise hysteresis, a clear sign of trapping-induced behavior that completely obscures the ferroelectric polarization. As the thickness of the thermally grown SiO₂ IL is larger than for the chemically grown one, the total capacitance drops due to the thicker total insulator stack. Although the thickness of the HfO₂ layer with 2 nm is also increased, its higher permittivity ($\varepsilon_r = 20$ [284]) results in an EOT of only ~0.4 nm, resulting in capacitance values similar to the chemical oxide. Furthermore, due to the voltage drop at the dielectric IL, the effective voltage applied to the HZO layer is reduced according to [232]

$$V_{HZO} = V_{tot} \ \frac{C_{tot}}{C_{HZO}} = V_{tot} \ \frac{t_{HZO} \ \varepsilon_{IL}}{t_{HZO} \ \varepsilon_{IL} + t_{IL} \ \varepsilon_{HZO}}.$$
(6.1)

While for HfO₂ and the chemical SiO₂ IL MFIS structures, 77 % and 59 % of the total voltage (V_{tot}) is applied to the HZO layer, less than 35 % of the voltage remains for the thermal SiO₂ layer. This is an important aspect that needs to be considered for the device operation and the switching between the polarity states. Furthermore, implemented in an SBFET, the larger voltage drop on the thicker IL would also reduce the influence of the remnant polarization of the HZO layer on the semiconductor channel or the metal-semiconductor interface below, significantly reducing the memory window [229]. An IL that is too thick can also strongly block charge tunneling. Since a moderate level of traps near the HZO are



Figure 6.2: (a) C/V characterization of MFIS test structures measured at f = 100 kHz comparing different dielectric interface layers between the Si substrate and the 10 nm thick HZO layer with a Pd top electrode. The structures with the chemically grown SiO₂ (0.9 nm) and ALD-grown HfO₂ (2 nm) interface layers show a counterclockwise hysteresis indicating ferroelectric behavior, while the thermally grown SiO₂ (2.5 nm) shows a trap-dominated behavior. (b) Comparison of the MFIS structures with TiN and Pd top electrodes, with a chemically grown SiO₂ interface layer.

crucial for stabilizing the ferroelectric polarization, a low level of trapped charges can thus lead to poor switching behavior [233]. Note that also for the HfO_2 -MFIS structure, a thin native SiO_x IL is expected to be present between the ALD-grown HfO_2 and the Si surface, effectively increasing the EOT of the sample. Although a slightly higher ferroelectricinduced hysteresis is achieved with the HfO_2 IL, the MFIS structures with the chemically grown SiO_2 layer exhibited a higher yield with more reproducible ferroelectric behavior. Furthermore, an improved interface to the Si channel is expected, which is why this stack was chosen for the first samples to integrate the HZO layer into SOI-based SBFETs.

As the choice of the top gate material can strongly influence the ferroelectric behavior as well as other electrical device properties, MFIS capacitor structures with commonly used TiN (sputtered) and Pd (evaporated) top metal contacts were examined. Both samples use the previously tested thin, chemically grown SiO₂ IL on the highly n-doped Si substrate. Both MFIS structures show a large counterclockwise hysteresis indicating ferroelectric behavior, with the TiN sample achieving a larger coercive field. Differences in the metal work functions of both Pd and TiN lead to shifted C/V characteristics [150]. The higher measured capacitance for the Pd MFIS sample relates to a higher permittivity ε_r of the HZO. This could indicate that a higher fraction of the HZO layer remained in the centrosymmetric tetragonal phase instead of the orthorhombic phase after the crystallization step, resulting in an overall weaker ferroelectric response [154]. The lower TiN capacitance could also be an indication for the formation of a thin TiO_xN_y layer between the TiN and the HZO surface. The existence of this serial capacitance would then also result in a reduction of the overall capacitance. Since TiN showed slightly better results and is a very common electrode material for HZO devices in literature, TiN was used for the integration in SBFETs.

6.2 HZO Integration in Al-Si SBFETs

Based on the previously shown Al-Si-Al heterostructures on SOI substrate, the classical gate dielectric is now replaced by an HZO-based stack to realize non-volatile transistors. This gate stack consists of a 0.9 nm thin chemical SiO₂ interface layer grown on the Si mesa structures, the 8.5 nm ALD-grown HZO and the 50 nm thick TiN top gate electrode. The fabrication process flow for the integration of the HZO had to be adapted, with the annealing process to induce the thermal Al-Si exchange reaction being carried out after the deposition of the top gate electrode (see Section 3.1.3). Simultaneously with the exchange, the HZO layer is crystallized to induce the ferroelectric, orthorhombic phase exclusively under the TiN gate region. The HZO region, which is not in contact with the TiN top gate electrode, remains in a non-ferroelectric phase, acting as a trivial linear dielectric. As the 50 nm thin TiN gate is semi-transparent, the underlying Al-Si-Al heterostructure with a Si channel length of ~2.5 µm is well visible in the optical microscope image in Figure 6.3(a). The schematic of the Al-Si SBFET with the ferroelectric gate stack is shown in Figure 6.3(b).

When operating the device in a low V_{TG} range between -1 V and 1 V, without triggering the overall dominating remnant polarization of the HZO layer, an ambipolar transfer characteristic with a predominant p-type current $(I_{on}^p/I_{on}^n > 67)$ is obtained (see Figure 6.3(c)). Furthermore, the whole characteristic is shifted towards positive V_{TG} . This may be an indication for fixed charges from the HZO layer integration, resulting also in asymmetric injection barriers for electrons and holes. A small clockwise hysteresis is evident when sweeping the TG voltage, indicating minor trap-based charging effects. Remarkably steep subthreshold slopes of 70 mV/dec for the p-branch (and up to 82 mV/dec for the n-branch)



Figure 6.3: (a) Optical microscope image of the SBFET with integrated ferroelectric HZO gate stack. The fully covered Al-Si-Al heterostructure is visible underneath the semi-transparent TiN top gate. (b) Schematic gate stack of the FeSBFET. (c) Transfer characteristic of the device at different bias voltages V_{DS} ($V_D = -V_S$). Device dimensions: $L_{Si} = 2.65 \,\mu\text{m}, W = 450 \,\text{nm}.$

are achieved at low bias operation of $V_{DS} = 200 \,\mathrm{mV}$ over several orders of magnitude, approaching the conventional Boltzmann limit of $60 \,\mathrm{mV}/\mathrm{dec}$ at room temperature. This is much steeper than the other devices studied above. This is enabled by the low thickness of the chemical SiO₂ IL and the high permittivity of the HZO ($\varepsilon_{HZO} \geq 30$), resulting in an EOT of only $\sim 2 \,\mathrm{nm}$.

To exploit the non-volatile properties of this SBFET, high voltage pulses are applied to the top gate electrode to polarize the orthorhombically crystallized HZO. In Figure 6.4, the FeSBFET is operated in two different ways, with the operating sequence schematically shown above the corresponding transfer characteristic. The SET operation for aligning the ferroelectric domains and inducing ferroelectric polarization is the same for both methods. Thereby, an alternating pulse sequence, with two SET pulses (V_{set}) and a RESET pulse $(V_{reset} = -V_{set})$ in between, is applied on the TG, with a pulse duration of $t_{pulse} = 0.5 \text{ ms}$, while the other terminals (V_D, V_S, V_{BG}) are fixed at 0 V. A pulse voltage of $V_{set} = 4 \text{ V}$ and -4 V is used to switch between two polarization states of the HZO. For the READ operation in Figure 6.4(a), the TG voltage (V_{TG}) is swept between $\pm 1 \text{ V}$ while measuring the current flow through the device (I_D) at a bias voltage of $V_{DS} = 0.5 \text{ V}$. When a positive pulse of 4 V is applied for the SET pulse, the n-type current at $V_{TG} = 1 \text{ V}$ is increased



Figure 6.4: Pulsing scheme and transfer characteristic of the single gated FeSBFET from Figure 6.3. In (a), pulsing at ± 4 V to set the ferroelectric polarization and modulation to measure the transfer characteristic (bidirectional between ± 1 V) is conducted via the TG. In (b) the current is modulated via the BG between ± 20 V. The same amplitude is used for the SET and RESET pulses, with $V_{set} = -V_{reset}$.

TU Bibliothek, Die approbierte gedruckte Originalversion dieser Dissertation ist an der TU Wien Bibliothek verfügbar. Wien vourknowledge hub The approved original version of this doctoral thesis is available in print at TU Wien Bibliothek.

up to 10.4 nA, while the p-type current at $V_{TG} = 1$ V is lowered to 400 nA. Switching to the opposite polarization via $V_{set} = -4 \,\mathrm{V}$ causes the currents to change in the opposite direction, with a reduction in the n-mode $(1.8 \,\mathrm{nA})$ and an increase in the p-type currents $(1.2 \,\mu\text{A})$. The change of the on-currents for both branches is relatively low and, with less than one order of magnitude. Furthermore, a slight shift of the subthreshold characteristic is evident, with a shift of the threshold voltages (V_{th}^p) of ~110 mV. The direction of the shifts, both of the on-state currents as well as the threshold voltage shift, are a clear indication of predominant ferroelectric behavior rather than charge trapping-related effects. A positive SET pulse creates a dipole formation of the aligned ferroelectric domains with a net positive electric charge, especially close to the Al-Si Schottky barrier, lowering the injection barrier for electrons (and raising the barrier for holes). The negative SET pulse has the opposite effect, with a net negative charge towards the Al-Si-Al heterostructure, enhancing hole conduction and attenuating electron-induced currents. A residual electric field induced by charge trapping would result in changes in the reversed direction. However, a significant hysteresis is evident when changing the sweeping direction during the transfer measurement via the TG. This can be partly attributed to charged trap states, but also to a certain depolarization of the HZO layer due to the superposition of the gate potential during the characterization of the device. Due to this superposition of the electric field of the TG during the READ operation, and possible trapping effects screening the ferroelectrically induced field, the ferroelectric polarization shifts are rather weak.

A significantly increased ferroelectric response is achieved when the BG is used for the READ operation in Figure 6.4(b). The TG voltage is set to 0V when measuring the transfer characteristic, whereby only the remnant electric field of the polarized HZO acts on the adjacent Al-Si-Al heterostructure from above. Thereby, a clear transition between a dominant n-type and p-type characteristic is evident when applying the pulsing sequence for $V_{set} = 4 V$ and -4 V, respectively. The ambipolar SBFET turns into a unipolar device, as programmed in a non-volatile manner by the TG pulse. Although the globally applied BG voltage affects the whole device, including the Al-Si interface region, its effect on the polarization of the HZO layer should be negligible due to the large thickness of the BOX of 100 nm. Therefore, the reduced influence of the BG on the HZO layer prevents its partial depolarization during the measurement, resulting in a significantly larger difference between the two states. While the current changes in the p-branch are still less than one order of magnitude, the on-currents in the n-branch (at $V_{BG} = 20 \text{ V}$) increase by a factor of $\sim 10^3$ from 28.7 pA to 27.6 nA. Operating the FeSBFET in that regime could already be promising for memory applications. However, the current flow in both states is rather low. Presumably, the ferroelectric domains are aligned only in the vicinity of the Al lead and the Al-Si interface, where the electric field (from $V_{TG} - V_D$ or $V_{TG} - V_S$) is strongest, especially since the S/D contacts are metallic compared to conventional FeFETs. It can be speculated that, as the electric potential drops across the low-doped Si channel due to its high resistivity, the electric field applied to the HZO layer is reduced and eventually not strong enough to polarize the HZO. Therefore, there is no remnant electric field over large parts of the channel, which is only influenced by the 0V from the TG during the measurement.

6.3 HZO-enhanced RFET

To further prove the non-volatile tunability of the injection junction, this approach of the ferroelectric gate stack is transferred to RFETs, thus realizing ferroelectric RFETs (FeR-FETs). The structure of the TG electrode has been modified to cover only the area around the Al-Si junction, similar to the PG in previously shown RFET structures. Large parts of the Si channel thereby remain ungated from the top, only being modulated by the BG acting as the CG. The microscope image of an FeRFET is shown in Figure 6.5(a), with a close-up inset showing the Al-Si interfaces underneath the semi-transparent TiN PG. The HZO layer is only crystallized underneath the PG, where its remnant polarization in the vicinity of the Al-Si junction directly influences the injection barrier for electrons and holes. In the region between the two PG electrodes, which is used to modulate the current flow through the Si channel, the HZO remains in a linear dielectric phase, resulting in hysteresis-free current modulation independent of the measurement direction.

When operating the device with static PG voltages in Figure 6.5(b), a highly p-dominant characteristic is obtained, strongly shifted towards higher positive V_{BG} . Even at $V_{PG} = 0$ V, a high p-type current up to 376 nA at $V_{DS} = 0.5$ V is reached, while almost no electroninduced current is measured. This dominant p-type behavior can be explained by the presence of negative fixed charges in the HZO layer, which is a well-known effect in high- κ/Si systems [118,292,293]. These fixed charges affect both the semiconductor channel, leading to a threshold voltage shift towards positive V_{BG} , and the Al-Si Schottky barriers, where upward band bending leads to preferential hole injection. In the case of Hf- and Zr-based oxides, most traps are associated with defects in the crystal structure, often caused by oxygen vacancies or interstitials [230, 294]. Since the trap levels due to oxygen vacancies are calculated to lie close to the Si VB edge, they may be the main source for charge trapping [295]. The oxygen interstitials, on the other hand, are located deep below the Si valence band edge and therefore do not act directly as carrier traps but could also act as a source of negative fixed charges [294, 295]. Setting V_{PG} to -2V further enhances the p-mode, increasing the on-currents to $7.8\,\mu\text{A}$ and suppressing electron conduction for lowered off-currents <1 pA. At $V_{PG} = 2 V$, a distinct n-mode with well-suppressed offcurrents in the low pA region is obtained, but the on-state currents at 27 nA are more than two orders of magnitude lower than for the p-mode.

To utilize the non-volatile properties of the ferroelectric gate stack, the same pulsing scheme as before for the globally gated FeSBFET (see Figure 6.4(b)) is applied to the TG (PG) to polarize the HZO underneath during the SET operation, with the BG (as the CG of the FeRFET) used to modulate the current flow during the READ operation. The voltages for the SET and RESET pulses were optimized to maximize the ferroelectric response, with the largest difference between the two polarized modes. The n-mode uses a V_{set} of 4.5 V and a V_{reset} of -3 V, the p-mode is set with $V_{set} = -4.25$ V and $V_{reset} = 4.5$ V. Higher positive voltage pulses are used for SET and RESET operations due to the rightshifted polarization characteristics of the HZO. As indicated in the schematic in Figure 6.5(c), the ferroelectric dipoles in the HZO layer are aligned underneath the PG in the



Figure 6.5: (a) Microscope image of the FeRFET, with the PG on top of the HZO covering the Al-Si interfaces, and the BG used as CG. (b) Transfer characteristic with constant potential applied to the PG, and the BG swept between ± 20 V. (c) Schematic of the FeRFET with polarized HZO layer, including the energy band structure for both polarization states. (d) Transfer characteristic after applying the polarization sequence. For the n-mode (red), the PG is pulsed at $V_{set} = 4.5$ V and $V_{reset} = -3$ V. The p-mode (blue) is set by $V_{set} = -4.25$ V and $V_{reset} = 4.5$ V. Device dimensions: $L_{Si} = 4.1 \,\mu\text{m}$, $W = 450 \,\text{nm}$.

vicinity of the Al-Si junctions, directly influencing the Schottky barriers with their remnant electric field, explicitly excluding the middle of the channel region. Negative pulsing thereby results in a net negative charge close to the interface, locally raising the energy bands and enabling effective tunneling of holes into the semiconductor channel, while the injection of electrons is suppressed. Positive pulsing results in the opposite behavior, with a net positive charge locally lowering the injection barriers, enabling electron-induced currents while impeding hole injection. The resulting transfer characteristic is measured by sweeping the BG between ± 20 V, while V_{PG} is set to 0 V.

The READ operation in Figure 6.5(d) shows the non-volatile reconfigurability of the FeRFET. Both operation modes are solely determined by the previously applied pulse sequence and the thereby induced remnant polarization in the HZO layer, as V_{PG} is set to 0 V during the measurements. Although a significant asymmetry with respect to the oncurrents, with $I_{on}^p/I_{on}^n \sim 30$, and the threshold voltages is evident, both modes show good controllability with clear polarity control, no hysteresis and high on/off ratios, making the device the first non-volatile programmable RFET at all and the first FeRFET shown to the best of our knowledge [LW1]. In particular, compared to the previously shown structures with the global TG, a significant improvement is achieved because possible charges in the ferroelectric no longer screens the Si channel from the BG potential during the measurement. The current of the p-mode is tunable from 324 nA down to 28 pA over four orders of magnitude. The n-mode shows a lower on-state current of 10.6 nA, indicating a higher remaining injection barrier for electrons. Furthermore, the increase in off-currents from a minimum of less than 1 pA up to 73 pA with increasing negative V_{BG} is an indication that the remnant electric field at the Al-Si junction is not sufficient to fully inhibit hole injection. Considering only the current values at -20 V and 20 V, remarkable non-volatile current changes with factors of 4×10^3 and 3.8×10^2 are achieved. The clearly distinguishable states are also stable over a long period of time, as it will be shown later in Section 6.3.2. In order to improve the electrostatic control of the Si channel and to lower the operation voltages, an additional TG electrode in the non-ferroelectric HZO area between the two PG electrodes, acting as CG, could be deposited perspectively after the HZO crystallization step via RTA.

6.3.1 Non-Volatile Multi-level Operation

Testing the FeRFET with different pulse voltages reveals that stable intermediate states are present in addition to the two extreme polarization states shown above. Figure 6.6 shows the response of the device to increasingly positive (a-c) and negative (d-f) pulse voltages V_{set} applied on the PG. The semi-logarithmic color map representation shows the changes of the current flow I_D as a function of V_{set} in a more immediate way. Furthermore, the on-currents I^n and I^p at $V_{BG} = 20$ V and -20 V, respectively, are extracted in Figure 6.6(c,f) to illustrate the change of the polarity of the FeRFET. After each applied positive (or negative) SET pulse sequence, the device is reset to its initial p-type (n-type) state by applying a reset sequence with $V_{set} = -3$ V and $V_{reset} = 4.5$ V ($V_{set} = 4.5$ V and $V_{reset} = -3$ V). This ensures that the next higher pulse voltage level is not influenced by the previous one.

When increasing V_{set} from 1.5 V to 5 V in Figure 6.6(a-c), a clear transition from the p- to the n-mode is evident. First changes in the device characteristic are thereby visible when the pulse voltage is increased to 2.5 V, as first ferroelectric domains in the HZO layer gradually start to flip in the opposite direction, increasing the probability for electron injection and the blocking of holes at the Al-Si junction. This results in a progressive increase in the n-type on-current I^n and a decreasing p-type current I^p . In addition, because a mixture of both carrier types is injected into the Si channel, the ability of the BG to efficiently block current flow is reduced. At $V_{set} = 3$ V the n-type on-current I^n already reaches its maximum, indicating that the barrier cannot be further lowered for electrons. The I^n current levels of ~10 nA achieved by the non-volatile pulsing operation are also in a similar range as those achieved by operation with a fixed, static V_{PG} voltage. On the other hand, I^p still decreases for higher pulse voltages up to 5 V, indicating that more and more ferroelectric dipoles can be aligned parallel to each other, in the direction of the electric field. As evident in Figure 6.6(c), the increase and suppression of the current flow follows an exponential trend with the applied pulse voltage V_{set} . Furthermore, it must



Figure 6.6: (a) Transfer characteristic of the FeFET from Figure 6.5 obtained after a variation of different positive pulse amplitudes between 1.5 V and 5 V for a transition to n-type operation. The reset pulse amplitude V_{reset} at -3 V is the same for all different V_{set} values. (b) Color map representation of the current flow depending on the pulse height V_{set} and the BG voltage. (c) Extracted n- and p-type currents measured at $V_{BG} = 20 \text{ V}$ and -20 V as a function of V_{set} . (d-f) Same type of plots for the transition to p-type operation, with the pulsing amplitude V_{set} increased from -1.5 V to -5 V and a constant V_{reset} of 4.5 V.

be noted that the pulsing at different voltage levels does not induce a significant horizontal shift of the characteristic, indicating only a local accumulation of the polarization charges in the vicinity of the Al-Si interface.

For the gradual transition from the n-mode to p-mode in Figure 6.6(d-f), the amplitude of the negative pulse voltage V_{set} is increased from -1.5 V to -5 V. The p-branch currents I^p are already exponentially increasing at low amplitudes from -2 V, reaching a maximum value of $I^p = 300$ nA at $V_{set} = -4$ V. Thereby, the ferroelectric polarization of the HZO cannot be further increased, as apparently a maximum number of domains are already aligned parallel to each other. As the pulse amplitude is further increased, I^p is clearly decreasing again. This can be explained by an accumulation of trap states due to strong band bending during the pulsing operation. Charge carriers can tunnel through the thin SiO₂ IL, occupying deep trap states at the high- κ interface and counteracting the ferroelectric effect. Furthermore, large pulsing amplitudes can damage the oxide layer, increasing gate leakage and degrading the device characteristic. For the n-branch current, first significant changes are evident at $V_{set} \leq -2.25 \text{ V}$, with a more rapid decrease after exceeding -4 V. There, the minimum value of $I^n = 16 \text{ pA}$ is reached at $V_{set} = -4.5 \text{ V}$, with a minor degradation at higher amplitudes. The weaker trapping effect for electrons can be attributed to the defects in the HZO acting as donors, favoring holes but repelling electrons.

Overall, it can be seen that the device characteristics of the FeRFET can be gradually controlled via the pulse amplitude so that clearly separated, non-volatile values of I^n and I^p can be obtained. These multiple stable output states can be highly interesting for the realization of multi-level cells (MLC), where more than one bit per data cell can be stored, increasing the bit density without decreasing the feature size [225]. Furthermore, this inherently tunable behavior is of great interest as it could be exploited to engineer devices compatible with a neuromorphic-like computation mechanism and mimicking the behavior of synapses [48].

6.3.2 Retention Measurements

The stability of the individual polarization states over time is an important characteristic for the non-volatile FeRFET. In this regard, retention measurements over ~ 6 hours are conducted in Figure 6.7. Note that a different device was used here, as excessive testing at even higher pulse voltages led to some degradation of the device and would therefore not be representative of the fabricated structures. To measure the retention, after resetting the device to the opposite polarization, the individual states were programmed with the corresponding SET sequence, followed by repetitive transfer measurements every 10 min. Figure 6.7(a) shows the series of transfer measurements over time for an n-mode state set via $V_{set} = 5$ V. Thereby, a remarkably high temporal stability is achieved over the entire measurement range between $V_{BG} = \pm 20 \text{ V}$ and the observation period. Only a minor decrease of both on-state currents (I^n, I^p) over time is evident, indicating that almost no depolarization of the HZO layer takes place, keeping its electrostatic influence on the injection barriers constant. The largest change occurs directly after the first measurement, presumably due to relaxation of charge trap states from the SET pulse. A similar temporal stability is achieved for the p-type dominant configurations, as shown in Figure 6.7(b) for the transfer measurements over time shown after programming the device with $V_{set} = -3.5 \,\mathrm{V}$. Again, the largest changes in the characteristic are observed between the first and the second measurement. The slight increase of I^p and a decrease of I^n over time even improves the p-mode in terms of the I_{on}/I_{off} ratio (with $I_{off} \equiv I^n$). This is again an indication of positive trap states partially releasing over time at a faster rate than the depolarization of the HZO. A decay of the polarization would result in the opposite effect, lowering the injection barriers for electrons and weakening the dominant p-type behavior.

A more detailed analysis of on-current retention for different pulsed states is shown in Figure 6.7, with p-type currents I^p in (c) and n-type currents I^n in (d). Note that these drain current states are a different "state" approach than V_{th} shifts often used in, e.g., flash



Figure 6.7: Repetitive transfer characteristic after an initial polarization pulsing with (a) $V_{set} = 5$ V for the n-mode and (b) -3.5 V for the p-mode, measured at intervals of 10 min at a bias voltage of $V_{DS} = 0.5$ V. (c) Time-dependency of the maximum p-branch currents I^p extracted at $V_{BG} = -20$ V and (d) n-branch currents I^n at $V_{BG} = -20$ V for different polarization pulse heights. Device dimensions: $L_{Si} = 2.9$ µm, W = 600 nm.

memories or conventional FeFETs. Over the observed period of ~6 hours (>2 × 10⁴ s), only minor changes are evident. In particular with regard to the p-type currents, the individual states remain clearly distinguishable. For example, the -4 V state increases from 96 nA up to 168 nA, while the -3.5 V state rises from 41.5 nA to 60 nA, always remaining well separated. Since the influence of the ferroelectric polarization on the n-type currents is generally smaller than in the p-branch (~2 orders of magnitude), a clear differentiation between some less separated states can be more difficult, although a similar temporal stability is achieved. Considering only the two main states of the FeRFET, n-mode and p-mode (e.g., set via a short pulse at 5 V and -4 V), operation in the respective device polarity is definitely stable over a long period of time, obviating the need for a constantly applied PG voltage in logic circuit applications. Finally, this non-volatile FeRFET could be a promising building block for next-generation LiM-applications and artificial neural networks [40, 42, 83].



Chapter 7

Summary and Outlook

This thesis provides a systematic summary, conclusion and prospect of the experimental work of Al-Si and Al-Si_{1-x}Ge_x heterostructures integrated into SBFETs, further enabling the demonstration of highly on-state symmetric RFETs and RFET-based complementary logic circuits, as well as novel non-volatile FeRFETs. These emerging device concepts provide alternatives to the traditional IRDS roadmap with CMOS technology [11] and may enable novel computing paradigms such as neuromorphic computing or adaptive logic-in-memory.

Al-Si_{1-x}Ge_x heterostructure formation

The fundamental process step for the fabrication of all the different devices in this work is the thermally induced exchange reaction between Al and $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ in top-down patterned nanosheets. This novel heterostructure formation technique enables the monolithic integration of Si and $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ channels with single-elementary and crystalline Al contacts. In the first part of this work, the contact formation of Al to Si nanosheets was studied. The thereby formed Al-Si junctions revealed flat and highly abrupt interfaces with symmetric activation energies E_a for the injection of electrons and holes, ideal for the use in reconfigurable electronics. The quality and abruptness were confirmed by TEM and EDX measurements, revealing the crystalline and single-elementary Al lead. Importantly, no evidence of void formation, spiking or electromigration effects was observed in any sample analyzed, including structures after extensive electrical characterization. This is in stark contrast to the contact formation to bulk Si and can presumably be attributed to the absence of grain barriers in the nanoscaled devices. The absence of intermetallic phases further overcomes difficulties of complex growth kinetics of commonly used silicidation processes that require precise process control and additional phase stabilization measures. In addition, the pure and crystalline Al leads achieve significantly lower resistivities ($\rho = 6.65 \times 10^{-8} \Omega$ m at room temperature) at similar breakdown current densities $(J_{max} > 1 \times 10^{12} \,\mathrm{A/m^2})$ compared to conventional metal silicides.

Without adaptations, this thermal annealing process can be transferred to the $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ platform, where monolithic Al contact formation was demonstrated to nanosheets patterned from vertical $Si-Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ -Si heterostructure substrates of different stoichiometric compositions. Similar structural properties and reproducibility of the formed structures are observed as for the exchange in pure Si nanosheets. Interestingly, a Si-rich agglomeration between the intruded Al and the $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ layer is formed, resulting in an Al-Si-Si_{1-x}Ge_x multi-heterojunction. This can effectively change the otherwise Fermi level pinning of the metal-Ge Schottky junction near the valence band, resulting in a more balanced injection of electrons and holes. To clarify the exact mechanisms for the formation of this Si agglomeration and how to control its thickness, further investigations are required. From an integration point of view, the reaction temperatures are higher than for Al-Ge formation, making the former compatible with mid-end-of-line CMOS processing.

Within the scope of this work, the Al-Si/Ge exchange process proved to be a reliable and reproducible method for the fabrication of the different device types. However, further analyses regarding a large-scale integration into state-of-the-art FEOL processes are necessary. In particular, the long-term stability of the monolithically formed $Al-Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ junctions needs to be investigated to provide sufficient data on stress-induced void formation and electromigration.

Composition-dependent transport investigation in $Al-Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ heterostructures

The electrical transport in Al-Si_{1-x}Ge_x-Al heterostructures integrated into SBFET architectures was investigated and compared regarding their stoichiometric layer composition. This includes the fabrication and temperature-dependent electrical characterization of five different compositions with Ge contents ranging from 0 % to 100 %. The different Si_{1-x}Ge_x devices exhibited distinct device characteristics with widely varying carrier injection capabilities, which may be key building blocks for the realization of emerging nanoelectronic, optoelectronic and Josephson FET quantum devices.

A transition from a symmetric ambipolar transfer characteristic for pure Si channels towards a distinct p-type behavior for pure Ge layers is observed. Accordingly, the extraction of the activation energies E_a revealed distinct and comparable injection barriers for both electrons and holes for the Si device. Increasing the Ge content results in lowered E_a for hole injection, reaching negative E_a values for transparent, quasi-ohmic contacts for holes at Ge contents $\geq 50 \%$. Remarkably, the Al-Si_{0.5}Ge_{0.5}-Al heterostructures revealed transparent junctions for both electron and hole conduction, which may be promising for Josephson junction quantum devices with gate-tunable charge-carrier tunneling [296,297]. The Ge-rich samples with Ge contents $\geq 75 \%$ show strongly asymmetric barriers, with transparent junctions for holes and distinct Schottky barriers for electrons. The vertical confinement in the Si-Ge-Si heterostructures further leads to the formation of a hole gas, with a gate-tunable transparency of the Al-Ge junction, which could be utilized in Josephson junction devices to realize superconducting qubits [188,274]. Furthermore, the Ge-rich structures are capable of exhibiting NDR functionality, which has already been demonstrated in Al-Ge-Al NW heterostructures [33, 34]. Recently, we were also able to transfer this to the top-down fabricated Si-Ge-Si heterostructure substrate platform from this work, where it was possible to combine the gate-tunable NDR with the RFET functionality to enable reconfigurable NDR-based logic [LW5, LW4].

In follow-up investigations, based on the fabrication and analysis methods of the presented study, we recently demonstrated that the integration of Sn-rich layers in vertical Si-Ge_{1-x}Sn_x-Si heterostructures can also be achieved by utilizing the Al contact formation process [LW2]. A similarly dominant p-type behavior is thereby obtained due to the formation of a hole gas, with the Sn strongly increasing the on and off currents.

Realization of Si and $Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}$ RFETs with symmetric on-states

The potentially CMOS-compatible integration of RFETs based on Al-Si-Al heterostructures on the SOI platform was demonstrated. The three top-gated devices thereby showed highly symmetrical operation modes in terms of on-state currents $(37.6 \,\mu A/\mu m,$ $38.4\,\mu\text{A}/\mu\text{m}$), threshold voltages (0.51 V, -1.14 V), and subthreshold slopes (144 mV/dec, 142 mV/dec) for n- and p-mode operation, respectively ($V_{PG} = \pm 4 \text{ V}, V_{DS} = 2 \text{ V}$). The symmetric properties of the devices can be attributed to the mid-gap pinning properties of the Al-Si junction. Furthermore, the independent control of injection barriers and channel conductivity effectively inhibits injection of the unwanted carrier type, resulting in extremely low off-currents ($<10^{-7} \mu A/\mu m$) and a high on/off current ratio of $>5 \times 10^{8}$ for both operation modes. Furthermore, the high symmetry of the RFETs is maintained when switching to a single symmetric operation voltage level of $\pm 2 V$, ideal for their integration into logic circuits. The extraction of the transistor parameters showed a low device-to-device variability at the lab scale, which is also an important prerequisite for a larger scale circuit integration. Temperature-dependent measurements and the extraction of the activation energies for both operation modes are further conducted to provide more insights regarding the inherent transport mechanisms of the RFET. Measurements at elevated temperatures up to 400 K showed no significant degradation effects apart from an expected increase in off-state currents. The realization of MIGFET structures with two and three independent CGs has also been demonstrated, replacing two or three RFETs connected in series (with the same polarity), effectively reducing the transistor count and thus the critical path delays within a circuit.

To scale up the drive currents of the individual devices, a multi-wire RFET was fabricated consisting of a parallel array of ten Al-Si-Al heterostructures. Without extending the lateral dimensions of the devices, an increase in drive currents has also been achieved by integrating Ge-rich layers, in particular the vertical $Si-Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}$ -Si heterostructure, into the nanosheet transistor channel. Importantly, the thermal oxidation of the Si capping layer allows to form a good quality SiO_2 gate oxide and prevents the formation of native Ge oxides, resulting in a reliable device operation with low hysteresis. Subsequently, the subthreshold characteristic of the devices was optimized by integrating HfO_2 into the gate stack and thus effectively reducing the EOT. Despite the introduction of the Ge-rich layer, a fairly good on-state symmetry of the RFETs is retained, which can presumably be attributed to the formation of the Al-Si-Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33} multi-heterojunction, repositioning the Fermi-level pinning of Ge towards the middle of the band gap.

To put the results of the fabricated RFETs into perspective, a thorough comparison with various state-of-the-art RFETs from the literature is provided in Section 5.3.2. Throughout the literature, in particular the Al-Si-based RFETs achieved an outstanding on-state symmetry and on/off current ratios at even improved on-state currents. Remarkably, no strain engineering measures are required to achieve this symmetry. Furthermore, the RFETs with a Ge-rich transistor channel show an order of magnitude improvement in symmetry compared to the other Ge-channel devices based on Ge NWs or Ge nanosheets patterned from GeOI substrates.

Next, a short outlook regarding Ge layer integration is given. By facilitating a similar process scheme as for the Si_{0.67}Ge_{0.33}-based RFETs and refining the gate stack, the fabrication of RFETs with pure Ge layers embedded in a vertical Si-Ge-Si heterostructure and c-Al S/D contacts has recently been demonstrated by Fuchsberger et al. [LW9,LW3]. An on-state symmetry of $I_{on}^p/I_{on}^n = 1.96$ is achieved, which is remarkable for a Ge channel device, along with a distinct increase in current densities. The integration of Ge further allows to access an additional and stable NDR mode with gate-tunable peak currents [LW5,LW4]. The co-integration of these multi-mode devices in Si-based CMOS technology can enable the realization of circuits with enhanced performance and functionality, e.g., for multi-value logic [33,103] or oscillators towards the THz range [105].

Additional performance enhancements of the devices are feasible by device scaling. Electrostatic gating can be improved by further scaling the EOT, in particular by using high- κ dielectrics and reducing the thickness of the SiO₂ interface layer. In addition, improved gating architecture, such as GAA, and a reduction of the transistor channel thickness are other effective measures to achieve enhanced device performance. Regarding the channel length scaling, Baldauf et al. [209] used TCAD simulations to estimate a stable device operation down to channel lengths $L_{ch} > 8\lambda$. Sessi et al. [72] recently even demonstrated the first fully integrated RFETS on a 22 nm FDSOI platform using a back-bias RFET architecture, thereby achieving Si channel lengths down to 20 nm.

Before the emerging RFET device concept can be transferred to industrial processing platforms, the devices need to be analyzed for reliability in realistic application scenarios. In this regard, Galderisi et al. [298] provided a first reliability analysis regarding bias temperature instabilities in three top-gated RFETs. However, further research is needed with a focus on deriving a complete degradation model including voltage, temperature, and area scaling.

Realization of adaptive complementary and combinational logic circuits

Based on the highly on-state symmetric Al-Si RFETs on the SOI platform, complementary and combinational logic circuits were realized by directly interconnecting multiple RFETs on chip. All demonstrated circuits were thereby analyzed by measuring both static output transfer characteristics as well as transient measurements and are capable of providing fullswing operation at single symmetrical supply rail voltages of ± 2 V on all device terminals. The complementary inverter based on two physically identical RFETs could be operated within a wide voltage range from 2.5 V to 1.2 V, generally providing large and symmetric noise margins and a good suppression of the cross-current flow at the defined output states. With the runtime reconfigurable NAND/NOR gate based on three RFETs, resembling a minority gate, as well as the XOR/XNOR gate based on four RFETs (XOR3 gate), the reduction of the transistor count compared to conventional CMOS technology was successfully demonstrated experimentally. MAJ gate functionality has also been achieved by adapting the signal inputs of the XOR3 gate. By extracting 2D output color maps, the stability of the logic circuits against input voltage variations was analyzed, where overall sufficiently large operation windows were obtained, enabling a reliable full-swing operation. Combining the XOR3 and the MAJ gate, the realization of the first complementary 1bit full adder circuit was obtained with a total of only eight physically identical RFETs. Conventional CMOS implementations, on the other hand, would require more than twice as many transistors. The operation frequency of the demonstrated circuits, however, is severely limited due to large parasitic capacitances resulting from the laboratory-based structure design with large planar contact pads on the SOI substrate. Through the use of advanced interconnect technology and additional scaling measures, simulations have shown that RFET-based circuits can operate at speeds in the GHz range and can even outperform their conventional CMOS counterparts due to the reduced number of transistors required [19, 79, 81].

Targeting large-scale integration of the devices, Al may not be ideal as an interconnect material due to problems with its gap-filling capabilities. In this regard, other metals with better gap-filling capabilities, such as Cu or W [299,300], could be deposited on top of the (crystalline) Al contacts in the S/D region after Al-Si heterostructure formation. Therefore, additional diffusion barriers such as ALD-grown TiN or TaN should probably also be added to further stabilize the underlying Al layer [301].

Despite the expected benefits of large-scale integration of RFETs into logic-based circuits, this emerging device concept may not be powerful enough to fully replace conventional CMOS technology. However, it could very well be co-integrated into the CMOS platform to efficiently handle specific tasks that are otherwise resource intensive. As an alternative application to conventional computing, RFETs can enable emerging hardware security concepts to prevent theft of circuit design and functionality [23–25].

Non-volatile ferroelectric RFETs

Targeting adaptive logic-in-memory applications, the integration of a ferroelectric HZO layer into the SBFETs was investigated. The HZO film is deposited on an ultra-thin SiO₂ interface layer on the Si nanosheet channel to reduce charge trapping effects and enable low hysteresis transfer characteristics. In a first step, FeSBFETs with a global TG covering both the Al-Si junctions and the Si channel are analyzed. A stronger modulation of the I_{on}^p/I_{on}^n current ratio is observed, while the V_{th} shift is relatively small. This indicates that the HZO layer is mainly polarized near the Al-Si interface, which mainly modulates the carrier injection rather than the potential across the channel. When using the TG electrode to polarize the HZO and the BG to modulate the current flow, a change of the n-type current over three orders of magnitude between the two non-volatile polarization states was observed.

By adapting the transistor design, where the TG covers only the area around the Schottky junctions and serves as the PG, and the BG is used to modulate the current flow (CG), the first non-volatile RFETs implementing a ferroelectric gate stack (FeRFET) are demonstrated. So far, a comparable non-volatile operation mode switching was only demonstrated in 2D van der Waals heterostructure devices utilizing charge trapping layers [82]. In the demonstrated FeRFET, non-volatile switching between distinct n- and p-type operation modes is achieved by polarizing the HZO in the vicinity of the Schottky junctions using voltage pulses on the PG. This non-volatile polarity control can be, e.g., used to fabricate generic circuits in foundries and to program the proprietary circuit function or code by the customer. Furthermore, by varying the pulsing amplitude, multiple stable output states can be accessed due to a gradual switching of the HZO. Retention measurements were then carried out to demonstrate the stability of the polarization states over time. Especially when considering the p-type on-currents, the six analyzed states remain clearly distinguishable within the observation period of 6 h. However, more detailed analyses of the long-term stability of the stored states, also at elevated temperatures, as well as the cycling endurance, still need to be conducted.

Since the BG contact is used as CG to modulate the currents, rather high operating voltages of ± 20 V are required. To improve the electrostatic control, a CG electrode could be added between the two PGs, similar to the TTG RFET architecture. It is advantageous to deposit the CG after the crystallization of the HZO, as the HZO underneath then remains in a trivial dielectric phase, preserving the hysteresis-free current modulation.

The low on-state currents, as well as the on-state symmetry of the FeRFET, however, still need to be improved in order to meet the requirements for integration in logic circuits. The asymmetry can probably be attributed to the presence of a certain amount of negative charge, e.g., due to fixed oxide or interface states. However, the origin of this shifted device behavior with dominant p-type currents is not yet fully understood.

A viable approach to improve the ferroelectric switching can be the integration of a metal floating gate between the IL and the HZO in an MFMIS gate structure. This FG layer can enhance the electric field distribution during the polarization pulsing [132]. Furthermore, it can lower the influence of spatial variation of the HZO grains with different ferroelectric/dielectric phases, resulting in a more uniform channel conductivity and lowering device-to-device variability [238, 239]. Especially in FeSBFETs, this can help to polarize more ferroelectric grains across the semiconductor channel, resulting in a larger V_{th} shift for an increased MW.

In conclusion, the demonstrated FeFETs, especially the FeRFETs, have great potential for the realization of high-scale, CMOS-compatible logic-in-memory applications. In particular, the combination of adaptive RFETs with non-volatile, gradual switching capabilities could lead to novel concepts for highly adaptive artificial neural networks.



Bibliography

- S. Zhu, T. Yu, T. Xu, H. Chen, S. Dustdar, S. Gigan, D. Gunduz, E. Hossain, Y. Jin, F. Lin, B. Liu, Z. Wan, J. Zhang, Z. Zhao, W. Zhu, Z. Chen, T. S. Durrani, H. Wang, J. Wu, T. Zhang *et al.*, "Intelligent Computing: The Latest Advances, Challenges, and Future," *Intelligent Computing*, vol. 2, 1 2023.
- [2] A. S. Luccioni, S. Viguier, and A.-L. Ligozat, "Estimating the Carbon Footprint of BLOOM, a 176B Parameter Language Model," *Journal of Machine Learning Research*, vol. 24, no. 253, pp. 1–15, 11 2023.
- [3] S. Luccioni, Y. Jernite, and E. Strubell, "Power Hungry Processing: Watts Driving the Cost of AI Deployment?" in ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency (FAccT), 6 2024, pp. 85–99.
- G. E. Moore, "Cramming more components onto integrated circuits," *Electronics*, vol. 38, no. 8, p. 114–117, 1965.
- [5] S. Salahuddin, K. Ni, and S. Datta, "The era of hyper-scaling in electronics," *Nature Electronics*, vol. 1, no. 8, pp. 442–450, 8 2018.
- [6] D. Mamaluy and X. Gao, "The fundamental downscaling limit of field effect transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 106, no. 19, 5 2015.
- [7] H. Iwai, "Future of nano CMOS technology," Solid-State Electronics, vol. 112, pp. 56–67, 10 2015.
- [8] G. He and Z. Sun, High-k Gate Dielectrics for CMOS Technology. Wiley-VCH, 8 2012.
- [9] R. Xie, P. Montanini, K. Akarvardar, N. Tripathi, B. Haran, S. Johnson, T. Hook, B. Hamieh, D. Corliss, J. Wang, X. Miao, J. Sporre, J. Fronheiser, N. Loubet, M. Sung, S. Sieg, S. Mochizuki, C. Prindle, S. Seo, A. Greene *et al.*, "A 7nm FinFET technol-

ogy featuring EUV patterning and dual strained high mobility channels," in *IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, 1 2017, pp. 1–2.

- [10] I. Ferain, C. A. Colinge, and J. P. Colinge, "Multigate transistors as the future of classical metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors," *Nature*, vol. 479, no. 7373, pp. 310–316, 11 2011.
- [11] IEEE International Roadmap for Devices and Systems[™], "More Moore," pp. 1–33, 2023. URL: https://irds.ieee.org/editions/2023/20-roadmap-2023-edition/ 130-irds-2023-more-moore
- [12] W. M. Weber, A. Heinzig, J. Trommer, D. Martin, M. Grube, and T. Mikolajick, "Reconfigurable nanowire electronics - A review," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 102, pp. 12–24, 12 2014.
- [13] T. Mikolajick, G. Galderisi, S. Rai, M. Simon, R. Böckle, M. Sistani, C. Cakirlar, N. Bhattacharjee, T. Mauersberger, A. Heinzig, A. Kumar, W. M. Weber, and J. Trommer, "Reconfigurable field effect transistors: A technology enablers perspective," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 194, p. 108381, 8 2022.
- [14] P. E. Gaillardon, X. Tang, G. Kim, and G. De Micheli, "A Novel FPGA Architecture Based on Ultrafine Grain Reconfigurable Logic Cells," *IEEE Transactions on Very Large Scale Integration (VLSI) Systems*, vol. 23, no. 10, pp. 2187–2197, 10 2015.
- [15] T. Mikolajick, A. Heinzig, J. Trommer, T. Baldauf, and W. M. Weber, "The RFET - a reconfigurable nanowire transistor and its application to novel electronic circuits and systems," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 32, no. 4, p. 043001, 3 2017.
- [16] G. Galderisi, T. Mikolajick, and J. Trommer, "The RGATE: An 8-in-1 Polymorphic Logic Gate Built From Reconfigurable Field Effect Transistors," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 496–499, 3 2024.
- [17] J. Trommer, A. Heinzig, T. Baldauf, T. Mikolajick, W. M. Weber, M. Raitza, and M. Völp, "Reconfigurable nanowire transistors with multiple independent gates for efficient and programmable combinational circuits," in *Design, Automation & Test in Europe Conference & Exhibition (DATE)*, Singapore, 2016, pp. 169–174.
- [18] S. Rai, J. Trommer, M. Raitza, T. Mikolajick, W. M. Weber, and A. Kumar, "Designing Efficient Circuits Based on Runtime-Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistors," *IEEE Transactions on Very Large Scale Integration (VLSI) Systems*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 560–572, 3 2019.

- [19] P. Cadareanu, J. Romero-Gonzalez, and P. E. Gaillardon, "Parasitic Capacitance Analysis of Three-Independent-Gate Field-Effect Transistors," *IEEE Journal of the Electron Devices Society*, vol. 9, pp. 400–408, 2021.
- [20] G. Gore, P. Cadareanu, E. Giacomin, and P. E. Gaillardon, "A Predictive Process Design Kit for Three-Independent-Gate Field-Effect Transistors," in *IEEE/IFIP International Conference on VLSI and System-on-Chip (VLSI-SoC)*, 10 2019, pp. 172–177.
- [21] M. De Marchi, D. Sacchetto, S. Frache, J. Zhang, P.-E. Gaillardon, Y. Leblebici, and G. De Micheli, "Configurable logic gates using polarity-controlled silicon nanowire gate-all-around FETs," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 35, no. 8, pp. 880–882, 2014.
- [22] L. Amaru, P. E. Gaillardon, and G. De Micheli, "Biconditional BDD: A novel canonical BDD for logic synthesis targeting XOR-rich circuits," in *Design, Automation & Test in Europe Conference & Exhibition (DATE)*, 2013, pp. 1014–1017.
- [23] S. Rai, S. Patnaik, A. Rupani, J. Knechtel, O. Sinanoglu, and A. Kumar, "Security Promises and Vulnerabilities in Emerging Reconfigurable Nanotechnology-Based Circuits," *IEEE Transactions on Emerging Topics in Computing*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 763–778, 2022.
- [24] J. Trommer, N. Bhattacharjee, T. Mikolajick, S. Huhn, M. Merten, M. E. Djeridane, M. Hassan, R. Drechsler, S. Rai, N. Kavand, A. Darjani, A. Kumar, V. Sessi, M. Drescher, S. Kolodinski, and M. Wiatr, "Design Enablement Flow for Circuits with Inherent Obfuscation based on Reconfigurable Transistors," in *Design, Automation & Test in Europe Conference & Exhibition (DATE)*, 4 2023, pp. 1–6.
- [25] G. Galderisi, T. Mikolajick, and J. Trommer, "Robust Reconfigurable Field Effect Transistors Process Route Enabling Multi-VT Devices Fabrication for Hardware Security Applications," in *Device Research Conference (DRC)*, Columbus, OH, USA, 6 2022, pp. 1–2.
- [26] M. Reuter, A. Kramer, T. Krauss, J. Pfau, J. Becker, and K. Hofmann, "Reconfiguring an RFET Based Differential Amplifier," in *IEEE Central America and Panama Convention (CONCAPAN)*, 11 2022, pp. 1–6.
- [27] M. Simon, H. Mulaosmanovic, V. Sessi, M. Drescher, N. Bhattacharjee, S. Slesazeck, M. Wiatr, T. Mikolajick, and J. Trommer, "Three-to-one analog signal modulation with a single back-bias-controlled reconfigurable transistor," *Nature Communications*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 1–9, 11 2022.
- [28] P. E. Gaillardon, M. Hasan, A. Saha, L. Amaru, R. Walker, and B. S. Rodriguez, "Digital, analog and RF design opportunities of three-independent-gate transistors,"

in *IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS)*, 7 2016, pp. 405–408.

- [29] R. Pillarisetty, "Academic and industry research progress in germanium nanodevices," *Nature*, vol. 479, no. 7373, pp. 324–328, 11 2011.
- [30] Y. Kamata, "High-k/Ge MOSFETs for future nanoelectronics," *Materials Today*, vol. 11, no. 1-2, pp. 30–38, 1 2008.
- [31] IEEE International Roadmap for Devices and SystemsTM, "Beyond CMOS and Emerging Materials Integration," 2023. URL: https://doi.org/10.60627/0p45-zj55
- [32] S. Wirths, R. Geiger, N. Von Den Driesch, G. Mussler, T. Stoica, S. Mantl, Z. Ikonic, M. Luysberg, S. Chiussi, J. M. Hartmann, H. Sigg, J. Faist, D. Buca, and D. Grützmacher, "Lasing in direct-bandgap GeSn alloy grown on Si," *Nature Photonics*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 88–92, 1 2015.
- [33] M. Sistani, R. Böckle, D. Falkensteiner, M. A. Luong, M. I. Den Hertog, A. Lugstein, and W. M. Weber, "Nanometer-Scale Ge-Based Adaptable Transistors Providing Programmable Negative Differential Resistance Enabling Multivalued Logic," ACS Nano, vol. 15, no. 11, pp. 18135–18141, 11 2021.
- [34] R. Böckle, M. Sistani, K. Eysin, M. G. Bartmann, M. A. Luong, M. I. den Hertog, A. Lugstein, and W. M. Weber, "Gate-Tunable Negative Differential Resistance in Next-Generation Ge Nanodevices and their Performance Metrics," *Advanced Electronic Materials*, vol. 7, no. 3, p. 2001178, 1 2021.
- [35] J. Delaforce, M. Sistani, R. B. Kramer, M. A. Luong, N. Roch, W. M. Weber, M. I. den Hertog, E. Robin, C. Naud, A. Lugstein, and O. Buisson, "Al–Ge–Al Nanowire Heterostructure: From Single-Hole Quantum Dot to Josephson Effect," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 33, no. 39, p. 2101989, 10 2021.
- [36] T. Nishimura, K. Kita, and A. Toriumi, "Evidence for strong Fermi-level pinning due to metal-induced gap states at metal/germanium interface," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 91, no. 12, p. 49, 9 2007.
- [37] J. Trommer, A. Heinzig, U. Mühle, M. Löffler, A. Winzer, P. M. Jordan, J. Beister, T. Baldauf, M. Geidel, B. Adolphi, E. Zschech, T. Mikolajick, and W. M. Weber, "Enabling Energy Efficiency and Polarity Control in Germanium Nanowire Transistors by Individually Gated Nanojunctions," ACS Nano, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 1704–1711, 2 2017.
- [38] R. Böckle, M. Sistani, B. Lipovec, D. Pohl, B. Rellinghaus, A. Lugstein, and W. M.

Weber, "A Top-Down Platform Enabling Ge Based Reconfigurable Transistors," *Advanced Materials Technologies*, vol. 7, no. 1, p. 2100647, 2022.

- [39] M. Horowitz, "Computing's energy problem (and what we can do about it)," in IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC), vol. 57, 2014, pp. 10–14.
- [40] M. Di Ventra and Y. V. Pershin, "The parallel approach," Nature Physics, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 200–202, 4 2013.
- [41] A. Coluccio, M. Vacca, and G. Turvani, "Logic-in-memory computation: Is it worth it? A binary neural network case study," *Journal of Low Power Electronics and Applications*, vol. 10, no. 1, p. 7, 2 2020.
- [42] A. Sebastian, M. Le Gallo, R. Khaddam-Aljameh, and E. Eleftheriou, "Memory devices and applications for in-memory computing," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 15, no. 7, pp. 529–544, 3 2020.
- [43] D. Ielmini and H. S. Wong, "In-memory computing with resistive switching devices," *Nature Electronics*, vol. 1, no. 6, pp. 333–343, 6 2018.
- [44] T. S. Böscke, J. Müller, D. Bräuhaus, U. Schröder, and U. Böttger, "Ferroelectricity in hafnium oxide thin films," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 99, no. 10, p. 102903, 9 2011.
- [45] N. Ramaswamy, A. Calderoni, J. Zahurak, G. Servalli, A. Chavan, S. Chhajed, M. Balakrishnan, M. Fischer, M. Hollander, D. P. Ettisserry, A. Liao, K. Karda, M. Jerry, M. Mariani, A. Visconti, B. R. Cook, B. D. Cook, D. Mills, A. Torsi, C. Mouli *et al.*, "NVDRAM: A 32Gb Dual Layer 3D Stacked Non-volatile Ferroelectric Memory with Near-DRAM Performance for Demanding AI Workloads," in *IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, San Francisco, CA, USA, 2023, pp. 1–4.
- [46] E. T. Breyer, H. Mulaosmanovic, T. Mikolajick, and S. Slesazeck, "Reconfigurable NAND/NOR logic gates in 28 nm HKMG and 22 nm FD-SOI FeFET technology," in *IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, 1 2017, pp. 1–28.
- [47] T. Mikolajick, M. H. Park, L. Begon-Lours, and S. Slesazeck, "From Ferroelectric Material Optimization to Neuromorphic Devices," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 35, no. 37, p. 2206042, 9 2023.
- [48] F. Xi, Y. Han, M. Liu, J. H. Bae, A. Tiedemann, D. Grützmacher, and Q. T. Zhao, "Artificial Synapses Based on Ferroelectric Schottky Barrier Field-Effect Transistors for Neuromorphic Applications," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 13, no. 27, pp. 32005–32012, 7 2021.

- [49] J. H. Bae, H. Kim, D. Kwon, S. Lim, S. T. Lee, B. G. Park, and J. H. Lee, "Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistor as a Synaptic Device for XNOR Binary Neural Network," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 40, no. 4, pp. 624–627, 4 2019.
- [50] E. Baek, K. Cho, and S. Kim, "Universal logic-in-memory cell enabling all basic Boolean algebra logic," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 1–10, 11 2022.
- [51] J. A. Kittl, K. Opsomer, C. Torregiani, C. Demeurisse, S. Mertens, D. P. Brunco, M. J. Van Dal, and A. Lauwers, "Silicides and Germanides for Nano-CMOS Applications," *Materials Science and Engineering B: Solid-State Materials for Advanced Technology*, vol. 154-155, no. 1-3, pp. 144–154, 12 2008.
- [52] Y. C. Chou, W. W. Wu, S. L. Cheng, B. Y. Yoo, N. Myung, L. J. Chen, and K. N. Tut, "In-situ TEM Observation of repeating events of nucleation in epitaxial growth of nano CoSi₂ in nanowires of Si," *Nano Letters*, vol. 8, no. 8, pp. 2194–2199, 8 2008.
- [53] H. Iwai, T. Ohguro, and S. i. Ohmi, "NiSi salicide technology for scaled CMOS," *Microelectronic Engineering*, vol. 60, no. 1-2, pp. 157–169, 1 2002.
- [54] A. P. Peter, J. Meersschaut, O. Richard, A. Moussa, J. Steenbergen, M. Schaekers, Z. Tökei, S. Van Elshocht, and C. Adelmann, "Phase formation and morphology of nickel silicide thin films synthesized by catalyzed chemical vapor reaction of nickel with silane," *Chemistry of Materials*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 245–254, 1 2015.
- [55] W. Tang, B.-M. Nguyen, R. Chen, and S. A. Dayeh, "Solid-state reaction of nickel silicide and germanide contacts to semiconductor nanochannels," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 29, no. 5, p. 054004, 5 2014.
- [56] J. Tang, C. Y. Wang, F. Xiu, A. J. Hong, S. Chen, M. Wang, C. Zeng, H. J. Yang, H. Y. Tuan, C. J. Tsai, L. J. Chen, and K. L. Wang, "Single-crystalline Ni₂Ge/Ge/Ni₂Ge nanowire heterostructure transistors," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 21, no. 50, p. 505704, 12 2010.
- [57] W. M. Weber and T. Mikolajick, "Silicon and germanium nanowire electronics: physics of conventional and unconventional transistors," *Reports on Progress in Physics*, vol. 80, no. 6, p. 066502, 4 2017.
- [58] C. Beyer, G. Galderisi, T. Mikolajick, and J. Trommer, "Dielectric Confined Nickel-Titanium Germano-Silicide Junctions to SiGe Nanochannels," in *IEEE Nanotechnology Materials and Devices Conference (NMDC)*, 2023, pp. 416–420.
- [59] K. Kemmochi and K. I. Hirano, "Electromigration of grain boundaries in aluminum," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 353–361, 2 1975.

- [60] J. T. Yue, W. P. Funsten, and R. V. Taylor, "Stress Induced Voids in Aluminum Interconnects During IC Processing," in *International Reliability Physics Symposium*, 3 1985, pp. 126–137.
- [61] H. Cerva, V. Klüppel, H. J. Barth, and H. Helneder, "Aluminum Spiking Mechanism in Contact Holes Studied by High-Resolution Analytical TEM," *MRS Proceedings*, vol. 523, no. 1, pp. 115–125, 2 1998.
- [62] S. Kral, C. Zeiner, M. Stöger-Pollach, E. Bertagnolli, M. I. Den Hertog, M. Lopez-Haro, E. Robin, K. El Hajraoui, and A. Lugstein, "Abrupt Schottky Junctions in Al/Ge Nanowire Heterostructures," *Nano Letters*, vol. 15, no. 7, pp. 4783–4787, 2015.
- [63] M. Sistani, M. A. Luong, M. I. Den Hertog, E. Robin, M. Spies, B. Fernandez, J. Yao, E. Bertagnolli, and A. Lugstein, "Monolithic Axial and Radial Metal-Semiconductor Nanowire Heterostructures," *Nano Letters*, vol. 18, no. 12, pp. 7692–7697, 2018.
- [64] M. A. Luong, E. Robin, N. Pauc, P. Gentile, M. Sistani, A. Lugstein, M. Spies, B. Fernandez, and M. I. Den Hertog, "In-Situ Transmission Electron Microscopy Imaging of Aluminum Diffusion in Germanium Nanowires for the Fabrication of Sub-10 nm Ge Quantum Disks," ACS Applied Nano Materials, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 1891–1899, 2 2020.
- [65] T. Mikolajick, G. Galderisi, M. Simon, S. Rai, A. Kumar, A. Heinzig, W. M. Weber, and J. Trommer, "20 Years of reconfigurable field-effect transistors: From concepts to future applications," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 186, p. 108036, 12 2021.
- [66] Y. M. Lin, J. Appenzeller, and P. Avouris, "Novel carbon nanotube FET design with tunable polarity," in *IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, 2004, pp. 687–690.
- [67] A. Heinzig, S. Slesazeck, F. Kreupl, T. Mikolajick, and W. M. Weber, "Reconfigurable silicon nanowire transistors," *Nano Letters*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 119–124, 1 2012.
- [68] F. Wessely, T. Krauss, and U. Schwalke, "CMOS without doping: Multi-gate siliconnanowire field-effect-transistors," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 70, pp. 33–38, 4 2012.
- [69] M. De Marchi, D. Sacchetto, S. Frache, J. Zhang, P. E. Gaillardon, Y. Leblebici, and G. De Micheli, "Polarity control in double-gate, gate-all-around vertically stacked silicon nanowire FETs," in *IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, 12 2012, pp. 1–8.
- [70] L. Yojo, R. C. Rangel, K. R. A. Sasaki, and J. A. Martino, "Reconfigurable back enhanced (BE) SOI MOSFET used to build a logic inverter," in *Symposium on*

Microelectronics Technology and Devices (SBMicro), 8 2017, pp. 1–4.

- [71] M. Simon, B. Liang, D. Fischer, M. Knaut, A. Tahn, T. Mikolajick, and W. M. Weber, "Top-Down Fabricated Reconfigurable FET with Two Symmetric and High-Current On-States," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 41, no. 7, pp. 1110–1113, 7 2020.
- [72] V. Sessi, M. Simon, S. Slesazeck, M. Drescher, H. Mulaosmanovic, K. Li, R. Binder, S. Waidmann, A. Zeun, A. S. Pawlik, D. Utess, V. Gottleuber, S. Muller, K. Feldner, A. Heinzig, S. Dunkel, S. Kolodinski, T. Mikolajick, J. Trommer, and M. Wiatr, "Back-bias reconfigurable field effect transistor: A flexible add-on functionality for 22 nm FDSOI," in *Silicon Nanoelectronics Workshop (SNW)*, 2021, pp. 1–2.
- [73] S. Nakaharai, T. Iijima, S. Ogawa, K. Yagi, N. Harada, K. Hayashi, D. Kondo, M. Takahashi, S. Li, K. Tsukagoshi, S. Sato, and N. Yokoyama, "Wafer-scale fabrication of transistors using CVD-grown graphene and its application to inverter circuit," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 54, no. 4, p. 04DN06, 4 2015.
- [74] Y. Shingaya, A. Zulkefli, T. Iwasaki, R. Hayakawa, S. Nakaharai, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, and Y. Wakayama, "Dual-Gate Anti-Ambipolar Transistor with Van der Waals ReS₂/WSe₂ Heterojunction for Reconfigurable Logic Operations," *Advanced Electronic Materials*, vol. 9, no. 1, p. 2200704, 2023.
- [75] S. Nakaharai, M. Yamamoto, K. Ueno, Y. F. Lin, S. L. Li, and K. Tsukagoshi, "Electrostatically Reversible Polarity of Ambipolar α-MoTe₂ Transistors," ACS Nano, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 5976–5983, 6 2015.
- [76] W. Fei, J. Trommer, M. C. Lemme, T. Mikolajick, and A. Heinzig, "Emerging reconfigurable electronic devices based on two-dimensional materials: A review," *InfoMat*, vol. 4, no. 10, 10 2022.
- [77] A. Heinzig, T. Mikolajick, J. Trommer, D. Grimm, and W. M. Weber, "Dually active silicon nanowire transistors and circuits with equal electron and hole transport," *Nano Letters*, vol. 13, no. 9, pp. 4176–4181, 9 2013.
- [78] M. Simon, A. Heinzig, J. Trommer, T. Baldauf, T. Mikolajick, and W. M. Weber, "Top-Down Technology for Reconfigurable Nanowire FETs with Symmetric On-Currents," *IEEE Transactions on Nanotechnology*, vol. 16, no. 5, pp. 812–819, 9 2017.
- [79] L. Amaru, P. E. Gaillardon, and G. De Micheli, "Efficient arithmetic logic gates using double-gate silicon nanowire FETs," in *IEEE International New Circuits and Systems Conference (NEWCAS)*, 2013, pp. 1–4.
- [80] M. Raitza, A. Kumar, M. Volp, D. Walter, J. Trommer, T. Mikolajick, and W. M. Weber, "Exploiting transistor-level reconfiguration to optimize combinational circuits," in *Design, Automation & Test in Europe Conference & Exhibition (DATE)*, 3 2017, pp. 338–343.
- [81] J. N. Quijada, T. Baldauf, S. Rai, A. Heinzig, A. Kumar, W. M. Weber, T. Mikolajick, and J. Trommer, "Germanium Nanowire Reconfigurable Transistor Model for Predictive Technology Evaluation," *IEEE Transactions on Nanotechnology*, vol. 21, pp. 728–736, 2022.
- [82] X. Sun, C. Zhu, J. Yi, L. Xiang, C. Ma, H. Liu, B. Zheng, Y. Y. Liu, W. You, W. Zhang, D. Liang, Q. Shuai, X. Zhu, H. Duan, L. Liao, Y. Y. Liu, D. Li, and A. Pan, "Reconfigurable logic-in-memory architectures based on a two-dimensional van der Waals heterostructure device," *Nature Electronics*, vol. 5, no. 11, pp. 752–760, 11 2022.
- [83] A. I. Khan, A. Keshavarzi, and S. Datta, "The future of ferroelectric field-effect transistor technology," *Nature Electronics*, vol. 3, no. 10, pp. 588–597, 2020.
- [84] D. Kleimaier, H. Mulaosmanovic, S. Dunkel, S. Beyer, S. Soss, S. Slesazeck, and T. Mikolajick, "Demonstration of a p-Type Ferroelectric FET with Immediate Read-After-Write Capability," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 42, no. 12, pp. 1774–1777, 12 2021.
- [85] V. Sessi, M. Simon, H. Mulaosmanovic, D. Pohl, M. Loeffler, T. Mauersberger, F. P. Fengler, T. Mittmann, C. Richter, S. Slesazeck, T. Mikolajick, and W. M. Weber, "A Silicon Nanowire Ferroelectric Field-Effect Transistor," *Advanced Electronic Materials*, vol. 6, no. 4, p. 1901244, 4 2020.
- [86] G. M. Xia, "Interdiffusion in group IV semiconductor material systems: applications, research methods and discoveries," *Science Bulletin*, vol. 64, no. 19, pp. 1436–1455, 10 2019.
- [87] W. M. Haynes, CRC Handbook of Chemistry and Physics, 93rd ed. CRC Press LLC, 2012.
- [88] B. E. Deal, M. Sklar, A. S. Grove, and E. H. Snow, "Characteristics of the Surface-State Charge (Qss) of Thermally Oxidized Silicon," *Journal of The Electrochemical Society*, vol. 114, no. 3, p. 266, 3 1967.
- [89] E. E. Haller, "Germanium: From its discovery to SiGe devices," *Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing*, vol. 9, no. 4-5., pp. 408–422, 8 2006.

- [90] S. Sze and K. K. Ng, *Physics of Semiconductor Devices*, 3rd ed. Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 10 2006.
- [91] Z. Song, W. Fan, C. S. Tan, Q. Wang, D. Nam, D. H. Zhang, and G. Sun, "Band structure of $\text{Ge}_{1-x}\text{Sn}_x$ alloy: A full-zone 30-band $k \cdot p$ model," New Journal of Physics, vol. 21, no. 7, p. 073037, 7 2019.
- [92] J. Weber and M. I. Alonso, "Near-band-gap photoluminescence of Si-Ge alloys," *Physical Review B*, vol. 40, no. 8, pp. 5683–5693, 9 1989.
- [93] K. J. Kuhn, A. Murthy, R. Kotlyar, and M. Kuhn, "Past, Present and Future: SiGe and CMOS Transistor Scaling," in *ECS Transactions*, vol. 33, no. 6, 10 2010, pp. 3–17.
- [94] B. H. Lee, J. Oh, H. H. Tseng, R. Jammy, and H. Huff, "Gate stack technology for nanoscale devices," *Materials Today*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 32–40, 6 2006.
- [95] H. Jain, S. Rajawat, and P. Agrawal, "Comparision of wide band gap semiconductors for power electronics applications," in *International Conference on Recent Advances* in Microwave Theory and Applications, 2008, pp. 878–881.
- [96] J. Bardeen and W. H. Brattain, "The transistor, a semi-conductor triode," *Physical Review*, vol. 74, no. 2, pp. 230–231, 7 1948.
- [97] D. Kuzum, T. Krishnamohan, A. J. Pethe, A. K. Okyay, Y. Oshima, Y. Sun, J. P. McVittie, P. A. Pianetta, P. C. McIntyre, and K. C. Saraswat, "Ge-interface engineering with ozone oxidation for low interface-state density," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 328–330, 4 2008.
- [98] F. Schäffler, "High-mobility Si and Ge structures," Semiconductor Science and Technology, vol. 12, no. 12, pp. 1515–1549, 12 1997.
- [99] D. S. Sukhdeo, D. Nam, J.-H. Kang, M. L. Brongersma, and K. C. Saraswat, "Direct bandgap germanium-on-silicon inferred from 5.7% (100) uniaxial tensile strain," *Photonics Research*, vol. 2, no. 3, p. A8, 6 2014.
- [100] K. Lu Low, Y. Yang, G. Han, W. Fan, and Y. C. Yeo, "Electronic band structure and effective mass parameters of $\text{Ge}_{1-x}\text{Sn}_x$ alloys," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 112, no. 10, 11 2012.
- [101] S. Gupta, B. Magyari-Köpe, Y. Nishi, and K. C. Saraswat, "Achieving direct band gap in germanium through integration of Sn alloying and external strain," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 113, no. 7, 2 2013.

- [102] P. N. Butcher, "The Gunn effect," Reports on Progress in Physics, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 97–148, 1 1967.
- [103] A. F. Gonzalez, M. Bhattacharya, S. Kulkarni, and P. Mazumder, "Standard CMOS implementation of a multiple-valued logic signed-digit adder based on negative differential-resistance devices," in *IEEE International Symposium on Multiple-Valued Logic (ISMVL)*, 2000, pp. 323–328.
- [104] M. Sistani, M. G. Bartmann, N. A. Güsken, R. F. Oulton, H. Keshmiri, M. S. Seifner, S. Barth, N. Fukata, M. A. Luong, M. I. Den Hertog, and A. Lugstein, "Nanoscale aluminum plasmonic waveguide with monolithically integrated germanium detector," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 115, no. 16, p. 161107, 10 2019.
- [105] J. T. Lü and J. C. Cao, "Terahertz generation and chaotic dynamics in GaN NDR diode," Semiconductor Science and Technology, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 451–456, 1 2004.
- [106] A. Salomon, J. Aberl, L. Vukušić, M. Hauser, T. Fromherz, and M. Brehm, "Relaxation Delay of Ge-Rich Epitaxial SiGe Films on Si(001)," *Physica Status Solidi* (A) Applications and Materials Science, vol. 219, no. 17, p. 2200154, 9 2022.
- [107] S. Choudhary, D. Schwarz, H. S. Funk, D. Weishaupt, R. Khosla, S. K. Sharma, and J. Schulze, "A Steep Slope MBE-Grown Thin p-Ge Channel FETs on Bulk Ge-on-Si Using HZO Internal Voltage Amplification," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 69, no. 5, pp. 2725–2731, 5 2022.
- [108] G. Wang, E. Rosseel, R. Loo, P. Favia, H. Bender, M. Caymax, M. M. Heyns, and W. Vandervorst, "High quality Ge epitaxial layers in narrow channels on Si(001) substrates," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 96, no. 10, p. 111903, 3 2010.
- [109] S. J. Koester, R. Hammond, and J. O. Chu, "Extremely high transconductance Ge/Si_{0.4}Ge_{0.6} p-MODFET's grown by UHV-CVD," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 110–112, 3 2000.
- [110] G. Nicholas, T. J. Grasby, D. J. Fulgoni, C. S. Beer, J. Parsons, M. Meuris, and M. M. Heyns, "High mobility strained Ge pMOSFETs with high- κ metal gate," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 28, no. 9, pp. 825–827, 2007.
- [111] Y. M. Niquet, C. Delerue, and C. Krzeminski, "Effects of strain on the carrier mobility in silicon nanowires," *Nano Letters*, vol. 12, no. 7, pp. 3545–3550, 7 2012.
- [112] D. J. Paul, "Si/SiGe heterostructures: From material and physics to devices and circuits," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 19, no. 10, p. R75, 9 2004.

- [113] C. G. Van De Walle and R. M. Martin, "Theoretical calculations of heterojunction discontinuities in the Si/Ge system," *Physical Review B*, vol. 34, no. 8, pp. 5621–5634, 1986.
- [114] J. Knoch, Nanoelectronics: From device physics and fabrication technology to advanced transistor concepts, 2nd ed. De Gruyter, 3 2024.
- [115] T. McJunkin, B. Harpt, Y. Feng, M. P. Losert, R. Rahman, J. P. Dodson, M. A. Wolfe, D. E. Savage, M. G. Lagally, S. N. Coppersmith, M. Friesen, R. Joynt, and M. A. Eriksson, "SiGe quantum wells with oscillating Ge concentrations for quantum dot qubits," *Nature Communications*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 1–7, 12 2022.
- [116] Y. Zhao, D. Candebat, C. Delker, Y. Zi, D. Janes, J. Appenzeller, and C. Yang, "Understanding the impact of Schottky barriers on the performance of narrow bandgap nanowire field effect transistors," *Nano Letters*, vol. 12, no. 10, pp. 5331–5336, 10 2012.
- [117] R. H. Dennard, F. H. Gaensslen, H. N. Yu, V. L. Rideout, E. Bassous, and A. R. Leblanc, "Design of Ion-Implanted MOSFET's With Very Small Physical Dimensions," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 256–268, 1974.
- [118] J. Robertson and R. M. Wallace, "High-K materials and metal gates for CMOS applications," *Materials Science and Engineering R: Reports*, vol. 88, pp. 1–41, 2 2015.
- [119] J. Robertson, "Band offsets of wide-band-gap oxides and implications for future electronic devices," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 1785–1791, 5 2000.
- [120] S. Fadida, M. Eizenberg, L. Nyns, S. Van Elshocht, and M. Caymax, "Band alignment of Hf-Zr oxides on Al₂O₃/GeO₂/Ge stacks," *Microelectronic Engineering*, vol. 88, no. 7, pp. 1557–1559, 7 2011.
- [121] J. Knoch, M. Zhang, J. Appenzeller, and S. Mantl, "Physics of ultrathin-body silicon-on-insulator Schottky-barrier field-effect transistors," *Applied Physics A: Materials Science and Processing*, vol. 87, no. 3, pp. 351–357, 3 2007.
- [122] R. D. Clark, "Emerging applications for high K materials in VLSI technology," *Materials*, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 2913–2944, 2014.
- [123] P. Polakowski, S. Riedel, W. Weinreich, M. Rudolf, J. Sundqvist, K. Seidel, and J. Muller, "Ferroelectric deep trench capacitors based on Al:HfO₂ for 3D nonvolatile memory applications," in *International Memory Workshop (IMW)*, 2014.

- [124] H. Matsubara, T. Sasada, M. Takenaka, and S. Takagi, "Evidence of low interface trap density in GeO₂/Ge metal-oxide- semiconductor structures fabricated by thermal oxidation," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 93, no. 3, p. 32104, 7 2008.
- [125] T. Maeda, T. Yasuda, M. Nishizawa, N. Miyata, Y. Morita, and S. Takagi, "Pure germanium nitride formation by atomic nitrogen radicals for application to Ge metal-insulator-semiconductor structures," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 100, no. 1, p. 14101, 7 2006.
- [126] M. Yang, S. J. Wang, Y. P. Feng, G. W. Peng, and Y. Y. Sun, "Electronic structure of germanium nitride considered for gate dielectrics," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 102, no. 1, p. 13507, 7 2007.
- [127] K. S. Agrawal, V. S. Patil, A. G. Khairnar, and A. M. Mahajan, "HfO₂ gate dielectric on Ge(111) with ultrathin nitride interfacial layer formed by rapid thermal NH₃ treatment," *Applied Surface Science*, vol. 364, pp. 747–751, 2 2016.
- [128] N. Wu, Q. Zhang, C. Zhu, D. S. Chan, M. F. Li, N. Balasubramanian, A. Chin, and D. L. Kwong, "Alternative surface passivation on germanium for metal-oxide-semiconductor applications with high-κ gate dielectric," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 85, no. 18, pp. 4127–4129, 11 2004.
- [129] B. De Jaeger, R. Bonzom, F. Leys, O. Richard, J. V. Steenbergen, G. Winderickx, E. V. Moorhem, G. Raskin, F. Letertre, T. Billon, M. Meuris, and M. Heyns, "Optimisation of a thin epitaxial Si layer as Ge passivation layer to demonstrate deep sub-micron n- and p-FETs on Ge-On-Insulator substrates," *Microelectronic Engineering*, vol. 80, pp. 26–29, 6 2005.
- [130] S. Joshi, C. Krug, D. Heh, H. J. Na, H. R. Harris, J. W. Oh, P. D. Kirsch, P. Majhi, B. H. Lee, H. H. Tseng, R. Jammy, J. C. Lee, and S. K. Banerjee, "Improved Ge surface passivation with ultrathin SiO_X enabling high-mobility surface channel pMOSFETs featuring a HfSiO/WN gate stack," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 308–311, 4 2007.
- [131] N. Tasneem, H. Kashyap, K. Chae, C. Park, P. C. Lee, S. F. Lombardo, N. Afroze, M. Tian, H. Kumarasubramanian, J. Hur, H. Chen, W. Chern, S. Yu, P. Bandaru, J. Ravichandran, K. Cho, J. Kacher, A. C. Kummel, and A. I. Khan, "Remote Oxygen Scavenging of the Interfacial Oxide Layer in Ferroelectric Hafnium-Zirconium Oxide-Based Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Structures," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 14, no. 38, pp. 43897–43906, 9 2022.
- [132] U. Schroeder, C. S. Hwang, and H. Funakubo, *Ferroelectricity in Doped Hafnium Oxide: Materials, Properties and Devices.* Elsevier, 1 2019.

- [133] Z. Fan, J. Chen, and J. Wang, "Ferroelectric HfO₂-based materials for nextgeneration ferroelectric memories," *Journal of Advanced Dielectrics*, vol. 6, no. 2, 7 2016.
- [134] R. Materlik, C. Kunneth, and A. Kersch, "The origin of ferroelectricity in $Hf_{1-x}Zr_xO_2$: A computational investigation and a surface energy model," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 117, no. 13, p. 134109, 4 2015.
- [135] J. Y. Park, D. H. Choe, D. H. Lee, G. T. Yu, K. Yang, S. H. Kim, G. H. Park, S. G. Nam, H. J. Lee, S. Jo, B. J. Kuh, D. Ha, Y. Kim, J. Heo, and M. H. Park, "Revival of Ferroelectric Memories Based on Emerging Fluorite-Structured Ferroelectrics," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 35, no. 43, p. 2204904, 2023.
- [136] N. Haratipour, S. C. Chang, S. Shivaraman, C. Neumann, Y. C. Liao, B. G. Alpizar, I. C. Tung, H. Li, V. Kumar, B. Doyle, S. Atanasov, J. Peck, N. Kabir, G. Allen, T. Hoff, A. Oni, S. Dutta, T. Tronic, A. Roy, F. Hamzaoglu *et al.*, "Hafnia-Based FeRAM: A Path Toward Ultra-High Density for Next-Generation High-Speed Embedded Memory," in *IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, 2022, pp. 1–6.
- [137] J. Müller, P. Polakowski, S. Mueller, and T. Mikolajick, "Ferroelectric Hafnium Oxide Based Materials and Devices: Assessment of Current Status and Future Prospects," *ECS Journal of Solid State Science and Technology*, vol. 4, no. 5, pp. N30–N35, 2 2015.
- [138] T. Mikolajick, S. Slesazeck, H. Mulaosmanovic, M. H. Park, S. Fichtner, P. D. Lomenzo, M. Hoffmann, and U. Schroeder, "Next generation ferroelectric materials for semiconductor process integration and their applications," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 129, no. 10, p. 100901, 3 2021.
- [139] G. Velu, D. Remiens, and B. Thierry, "Ferroelectric properties of PZT thin films prepared by sputtering with stoichiometric single oxide target: Comparison between conventional and rapid thermal annealing," *Journal of the European Ceramic Society*, vol. 17, no. 14, pp. 1749–1755, 1 1997.
- [140] C. A. De Araujo, J. D. Cuchiaro, D. L. Mc Millan, M. C. Scott, and J. F. Scott, "Fatigue-free ferroelectric capacitors with platinum electrodes," *Nature*, vol. 374, no. 6523, pp. 627–629, 4 1995.
- [141] N. Gong and T. P. Ma, "Why Is FE-HfO₂ More Suitable Than PZT or SBT for Scaled Nonvolatile 1-T Memory Cell? A Retention Perspective," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 37, no. 9, pp. 1123–1126, 9 2016.

- [142] X. Sang, E. D. Grimley, T. Schenk, U. Schroeder, and J. M. Lebeau, "On the structural origins of ferroelectricity in HfO₂ thin films," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 106, no. 16, p. 162905, 4 2015.
- [143] J. Müller, T. S. Böscke, U. Schröder, S. Mueller, D. Bräuhaus, U. Böttger, L. Frey, and T. Mikolajick, "Ferroelectricity in simple binary ZrO₂ and HfO₂," *Nano Letters*, vol. 12, no. 8, pp. 4318–4323, 8 2012.
- [144] J. Müller, U. Schröder, T. S. Böscke, I. Müller, U. Böttger, L. Wilde, J. Sundqvist, M. Lemberger, P. Kücher, T. Mikolajick, and L. Frey, "Ferroelectricity in yttrium-doped hafnium oxide," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 110, no. 11, p. 114113, 12 2011.
- [145] B. S. Kim, S. D. Hyun, T. Moon, K. Do Kim, Y. H. Lee, H. W. Park, Y. B. Lee, J. Roh, B. Y. Kim, H. H. Kim, M. H. Park, and C. S. Hwang, "A Comparative Study on the Ferroelectric Performances in Atomic Layer Deposited Hf_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O₂ Thin Films Using Tetrakis(ethylmethylamino) and Tetrakis(dimethylamino) Precursors," *Nanoscale Research Letters*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 1–11, 4 2020.
- [146] U. Schroeder, T. Mittmann, M. Materano, P. D. Lomenzo, P. Edgington, Y. H. Lee, M. Alotaibi, A. R. West, T. Mikolajick, A. Kersch, and J. L. Jones, "Temperature-Dependent Phase Transitions in $Hf_x Zr_{1-x}O_2$ Mixed Oxides: Indications of a Proper Ferroelectric Material," *Advanced Electronic Materials*, vol. 8, no. 9, p. 2200265, 9 2022.
- [147] Y. Zheng, C. Zhong, Y. Zheng, Z. Gao, Y. Cheng, Q. Zhong, C. Liu, Y. Wang, R. Qi, R. Huang, and H. Lyu, "In-situ atomic visualization of structural transformation in Hf_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O₂ ferroelectric thin film: From nonpolar tetragonal phase to polar orthorhombic phase," in *Symposium on VLSI Technology*, Kyoto, Japan, 2021, pp. 1–2.
- [148] M. H. Park, Y. H. Lee, H. J. Kim, Y. J. Kim, T. Moon, K. D. Kim, S. D. Hyun, T. Mikolajick, U. Schroeder, and C. S. Hwang, "Understanding the formation of the metastable ferroelectric phase in hafnia-zirconia solid solution thin films," *Nanoscale*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 716–725, 1 2018.
- [149] Y. Peng, Z. Wang, W. Xiao, Y. Ma, F. Liu, X. Deng, X. Yu, Y. Liu, G. Han, and Y. Hao, "Effect of thickness scaling on the switching dynamics of ferroelectric HfO₂-ZrO₂ capacitors," *Ceramics International*, vol. 48, no. 19, pp. 28489–28495, 10 2022.
- [150] R. Cao, Y. Wang, S. Zhao, Y. Yang, X. Zhao, W. Wang, X. Zhang, H. Lv, Q. Liu, and M. Liu, "Effects of Capping Electrode on Ferroelectric Properties of Hf_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O₂

Thin Films," IEEE Electron Device Letters, vol. 39, no. 8, pp. 1207–1210, 8 2018.

- [151] H. W. Cho, P. Pujar, M. Choi, S. Kang, S. Hong, J. Park, S. Baek, Y. Kim, J. Lee, and S. Kim, "Direct growth of orthorhombic Hf_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O₂ thin films for hysteresis-free MoS₂ negative capacitance field-effect transistors," *npj 2D Materials and Applications*, vol. 5, no. 1, 12 2021.
- [152] S. Tanaka, Y. Fujiwara, H. Nishinaka, M. Yoshimoto, and M. Noda, "Mist-CVD-derived Hf_{0.55}Zr_{0.45}O₂ferroelectric thin films post-annealed by rapid thermal annealing," *AIP Advances*, vol. 13, no. 1, p. 15304, 1 2023.
- [153] T. Mittmann, M. Materano, P. D. Lomenzo, M. H. Park, I. Stolichnov, M. Cavalieri, C. Zhou, C. C. Chung, J. L. Jones, T. Szyjka, M. Müller, A. Kersch, T. Mikolajick, and U. Schroeder, "Origin of Ferroelectric Phase in Undoped HfO₂ Films Deposited by Sputtering," *Advanced Materials Interfaces*, vol. 6, no. 11, p. 1900042, 6 2019.
- [154] T. Kim, M. An, and S. Jeon, "Evolution of crystallographic structure and ferroelectricity of Hf_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O₂ films with different deposition rate," *AIP Advances*, vol. 10, no. 1, p. 15104, 1 2020.
- [155] S. J. Kim, J. Mohan, S. R. Summerfelt, and J. Kim, "Ferroelectric Hf_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O₂ Thin Films: A Review of Recent Advances," *Jom*, vol. 71, no. 1, pp. 246–255, 1 2019.
- [156] H. Lee, D. H. Choe, S. Jo, J. H. Kim, H. H. Lee, H. J. Shin, Y. Park, S. Kang, Y. Cho, S. Park, T. Moon, D. Eom, M. Leem, Y. Kim, J. Heo, E. Lee, and H. Kim, "Unveiling the Origin of Robust Ferroelectricity in Sub-2 nm Hafnium Zirconium Oxide Films," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 13, no. 30, pp. 36499–36506, 8 2021.
- [157] H. J. Kim, M. H. Park, Y. J. Kim, Y. H. Lee, W. Jeon, T. Gwon, T. Moon, K. D. Kim, and C. S. Hwang, "Grain size engineering for ferroelectric Hf_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O₂ films by an insertion of Al₂O₃ interlayer," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 105, no. 19, p. 192903, 11 2014.
- [158] S. Zhao, F. Tian, H. Xu, J. Xiang, T. Li, J. Chai, J. Duan, K. Han, X. Wang, W. Wang, and T. Ye, "Experimental Extraction and Simulation of Charge Trapping during Endurance of FeFET with TiN/HfZrO/SiO₂/Si (MFIS) Gate Structure," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 69, no. 3, pp. 1561–1567, 3 2022.
- [159] K. Toprasertpong, K. Tahara, Y. Hikosaka, K. Nakamura, H. Saito, M. Takenaka, and S. Takagi, "Low Operating Voltage, Improved Breakdown Tolerance, and High Endurance in $Hf_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O_2$ Ferroelectric Capacitors Achieved by Thickness Scaling Down to 4 nm for Embedded Ferroelectric Memory," ACS Applied Materials &

Interfaces, vol. 14, no. 45, pp. 51137–51148, 11 2022.

- [160] Z. Cai, K. Toprasertpong, M. Takenaka, and S. Takagi, "HZO Scaling and Fatigue Recovery in FeFET with Low Voltage Operation: Evidence of Transition from Interface Degradation to Ferroelectric Fatigue," in VLSI Technology and Circuits, 2023, pp. 1–2.
- [161] E. Rhoderick and R. Williams, *Metal-Semiconductor Contacts*, P. Hammond and R. Grimsdale, Eds. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1988.
- [162] Y. C. Lin, K. C. Lu, W. W. Wu, J. Bai, L. J. Chen, K. N. Tu, and Y. Huang, "Single crystalline PtSi nanowires, PtSi/Si/PtSi nanowire heterostructures, and nanodevices," *Nano Letters*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 913–918, 3 2008.
- [163] M. Simon, R. Mizuta, Y. Fan, A. Tahn, D. Pohl, J. Trommer, S. Hofmann, T. Mikolajick, and W. M. Weber, "Lateral Extensions to Nanowires for Controlling Nickel Silicidation Kinetics: Improving Contact Uniformity of Nanoelectronic Devices," ACS Applied Nano Materials, vol. 4, no. 5, pp. 4371–4378, 4 2021.
- [164] A. Y. Hou, Y. H. Ting, K. L. Tai, C. Y. Huang, K. C. Lu, and W. W. Wu, "Atomicscale silicidation of low resistivity Ni-Si system through in-situ TEM investigation," *Applied Surface Science*, vol. 538, p. 148129, 2 2021.
- [165] W. M. Weber, L. Geelhaar, A. P. Graham, E. Unger, G. S. Duesberg, M. Liebau, W. Pamler, C. Chèze, H. Riechert, P. Lugli, and F. Kreupl, "Silicon-Nanowire Transistors with Intruded Nickel-Silicide Contacts," *Nano Letters*, vol. 6, no. 12, pp. 2660–2666, 12 2006.
- [166] M. B. Khan, D. Deb, J. Kerbusch, F. Fuchs, M. Löffler, S. Banerjee, U. Mühle, W. M. Weber, S. Gemming, J. Schuster, A. Erbe, and Y. M. Georgiev, "Towards Reconfigurable Electronics: Silicidation of Top-Down Fabricated Silicon Nanowires," *Applied Sciences*, vol. 9, no. 17, p. 3462, 8 2019.
- [167] G. Ottaviani, K. N. Tu, and J. W. Mayer, "Barrier heights and silicide formation for Ni, Pd, and Pt on silicon," *Physical Review B*, vol. 24, no. 6, pp. 3354–3359, 9 1981.
- [168] C. Lavoie, F. M. D'Heurle, C. Detavernier, and C. Cabral, "Towards implementation of a nickel silicide process for CMOS technologies," *Microelectronic Engineering*, vol. 70, no. 2-4, pp. 144–157, 11 2003.
- [169] S.-L. Zhang and U. Smith, "Self-aligned silicides for Ohmic contacts in complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor technology: TiSi₂, CoSi₂, and NiSi," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A*, vol. 22, no. 4, pp. 1361–1370, 7 2004.

- [170] T. Burchhart, A. Lugstein, Y. J. Hyun, G. Hochleitner, and E. Bertagnolli, "Atomic Scale Alignment of Copper-Germanide Contacts for Ge Nanowire Metal Oxide Field Effect Transistors," *Nano Letters*, vol. 9, no. 11, pp. 3739–3742, 12 2009.
- [171] J. Tang, C. Y. Wang, M. H. Hung, X. Jiang, L. T. Chang, L. He, P. H. Liu, H. J. Yang, H. Y. Tuan, L. J. Chen, and K. L. Wang, "Ferromagnetic germanide in Ge nanowire transistors for spintronics application," ACS Nano, vol. 6, no. 6, pp. 5710–5717, 6 2012.
- [172] H. Yu, M. Schaekers, T. Schram, W. Aderhold, A. J. Mayur, J. Mitard, L. Witters, K. Barla, N. Collaert, N. Horiguchi, A. V. Y. Thean, and K. De Meyer, "Low-resistance titanium contacts and thermally unstable nickel germanide contacts on p-type germanium," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 482–485, 4 2016.
- [173] T. Jarmar, J. Seger, F. Ericson, D. Mangelinck, U. Smith, and S. L. Zhang, "Morphological and phase stability of nickel-germanosilicide on $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ under thermal stress," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 92, no. 12, pp. 7193–7199, 12 2002.
- [174] L. Liu, L. Jin, L. Knoll, S. Wirths, D. Buca, G. Mußler, B. Holländer, D. Xu, Z. F. Di, M. Zhang, S. Mantl, and Q. T. Zhao, "Ultrathin homogeneous Ni(Al) germanosilicide layer formation on strained SiGe with Al/Ni multi-layers," *Microelectronic Engineering*, vol. 137, no. 1, pp. 88–91, 4 2015.
- [175] K. El Hajraoui, M. A. Luong, E. Robin, F. Brunbauer, C. Zeiner, A. Lugstein, P. Gentile, J. L. Rouvière, and M. Den Hertog, "In Situ Transmission Electron Microscopy Analysis of Aluminum-Germanium Nanowire Solid-State Reaction," *Nano Letters*, vol. 19, no. 5, pp. 2897–2904, 2019.
- [176] M. A. Luong, E. Robin, N. Pauc, P. Gentile, T. Baron, B. Salem, M. Sistani, A. Lugstein, M. Spies, B. Fernandez, and M. den Hertog, "Reversible Al Propagation in Si_xGe_{1-x} Nanowires: Implications for Electrical Contact Formation," ACS Applied Nano Materials, vol. 3, no. 10, pp. 10427–10436, 2020.
- [177] J. L. Murray and A. J. McAlister, "The Al-Si (Aluminum-Silicon) system," Bulletin of Alloy Phase Diagrams, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 74–84, 2 1984.
- [178] A. J. McAlister and J. L. Murray, "The Al-Ge (Aluminum-Germanium) system," Bulletin of Alloy Phase Diagrams, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 341–347, 8 1984.
- [179] S. I. Fujikawa and Y. I. Izeki, "Measurement of solid solubility of germanium in aluminum," *Metallurgical Transactions A*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 277–282, 2 1993.
- [180] H. Mehrer, Diffusion in solids: fundamentals, methods, materials, diffusion-

controlled processes. Springer, 2007.

- [181] A. Paccagnella, G. Ottaviani, P. Fabbri, G. Ferla, and G. Queirolo, "Silicon diffusion in aluminium," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 128, no. 3-4, pp. 217–223, 6 1985.
- [182] T. E. Volin and R. W. Balluffi, "Annealing kinetics of voids and the Self-diffusion coefficient in aluminum," *Physica Status Solidi* (B), vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 163–173, 1 1968.
- [183] W. F. Gale and T. C. Totemeier, Smithells Metals Reference Book. Elsevier Science, 2003.
- [184] D. L. Beke, Diffusion in Semiconductors, 33rd ed., ser. Landolt-Börnstein Group III Condensed Matter, D. L. Beke, Ed. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 1998.
- [185] M. Gavelle, E. M. Bazizi, E. Scheid, P. F. Fazzini, F. Cristiano, C. Armand, W. Lerch, S. Paul, Y. Campidelli, and A. Halimaoui, "Detailed investigation of Ge-Si interdiffusion in the full range of $\text{Si}_{1-x}\text{Ge}_x$ ($0 \le x \le 1$) composition," Journal of Applied Physics, vol. 104, no. 11, p. 113524, 12 2008.
- [186] S. Habicht, Q. T. Zhao, S. F. Feste, L. Knoll, S. Trellenkamp, B. Ghyselen, and S. Mantl, "Electrical characterization of strained and unstrained silicon nanowires with nickel silicide contacts," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 21, no. 10, p. 105701, 2 2010.
- [187] M. Sistani, P. Staudinger, J. Greil, M. Holzbauer, H. Detz, E. Bertagnolli, and A. Lugstein, "Roomerature Quantum Ballistic Transport in Monolithic Ultrascaled Al-Ge-Al Nanowire Heterostructures," *Nano Letters*, vol. 17, no. 8, pp. 4556–4561, 8 2017.
- [188] M. Sistani, J. Delaforce, R. B. Kramer, N. Roch, M. A. Luong, M. I. Den Hertog, E. Robin, J. Smoliner, J. Yao, C. M. Lieber, C. Naud, A. Lugstein, and O. Buisson, "Highly Transparent Contacts to the 1D Hole Gas in Ultrascaled Ge/Si Core/Shell Nanowires," ACS Nano, vol. 13, no. 12, pp. 14145–14151, 12 2019.
- [189] T. W. Larsen, K. D. Petersson, F. Kuemmeth, T. S. Jespersen, P. Krogstrup, J. Nygård, and C. M. Marcus, "Semiconductor-Nanowire-Based Superconducting Qubit," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 115, no. 12, p. 127001, 2015.
- [190] L. J. Brillson, An Essential Guide to Electronic Material Surfaces and Interfaces. Wiley, 7 2016.
- [191] H. B. Michaelson, "The work function of the elements and its periodicity," Journal of Applied Physics, vol. 48, no. 11, pp. 4729–4733, 11 1977.

- [192] S. A. Vitale, J. Kedzierski, P. Healey, P. W. Wyatt, and C. L. Keast, "Work-functiontuned TiN metal gate FDSOI transistors for subthreshold operation," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 419–426, 2 2011.
- [193] K. W. Ang, K. Majumdar, K. Matthews, C. D. Young, C. Kenney, C. Hobbs, P. D. Kirsch, R. Jammy, R. D. Clark, S. Consiglio, K. Tapily, Y. Trickett, G. Nakamura, C. S. Wajda, G. J. Leusink, M. Rodgers, and S. C. Gausepohl, "Effective Schottky Barrier Height modulation using dielectric dipoles for source/drain specific contact resistivity improvement," in *IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, 2012.
- [194] J. Ahn, S. Satapathy, and J. P. Kulkarni, "Advancing Low-Voltage Complementary Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistor Operation with Reduced Schottky Barriers," in *Device Research Conference (DRC)*, College Park, MD, USA, 6 2024, pp. 1–2.
- [195] B. Richstein, L. Hellmich, and J. Knoch, "Silicon Nitride Interface Engineering for Fermi Level Depinning and Realization of Dopant-Free MOSFETs," *Micro*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 228–241, 11 2021.
- [196] H. D. Wu, W. Huang, W. F. Lu, R. F. Tang, C. Li, H. K. Lai, S. Y. Chen, and C. L. Xue, "Ohmic contact to n-type Ge with compositional Ti nitride," *Applied Surface Science*, vol. 284, pp. 877–880, 11 2013.
- [197] Z. Wu, W. Huang, C. Li, H. Lai, and S. Chen, "Modulation of schottky barrier height of metal/TaN/n-Ge junctions by varying TaN thickness," *IEEE Transactions* on *Electron Devices*, vol. 59, no. 5, pp. 1328–1331, 5 2012.
- [198] T. Nishimura, X. Luo, S. Matsumoto, T. Yajima, and A. Toriumi, "Almost pinning-free bismuth/Ge and /Si interfaces," *AIP Advances*, vol. 9, no. 9, p. 095013, 9 2019.
- [199] M. Schwarz, T. D. Vethaak, V. Derycke, A. Francheteau, B. Iniguez, S. Kataria, A. Kloes, F. Lefloch, M. Lemme, J. P. Snyder, W. M. Weber, and L. E. Calvet, "The Schottky barrier transistor in emerging electronic devices," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 34, no. 35, p. 352002, 6 2023.
- [200] M. Fritze, C. L. Chen, S. Calawa, D. Yost, B. Wheeler, P. Wyatt, C. L. Keast, J. Snyder, and J. Larson, "High-speed Schottky-barrier pMOSFET with $f_T = 280$ GHz," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 220–222, 4 2004.
- [201] A. V. Penumatcha, R. B. Salazar, and J. Appenzeller, "Analysing black phosphorus transistors using an analytic Schottky barrier MOSFET model," *Nature Communications*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 1–9, 11 2015.

- [202] R. Behrle, C. G. Murphey, J. F. Cahoon, S. Barth, M. I. den Hertog, W. M. Weber, and M. Sistani, "Understanding the Electronic Transport of Al-Si and Al-Ge Nanojunctions by Exploiting Temperature-Dependent Bias Spectroscopy," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 16, no. 15, pp. 19350–19358, 4 2024.
- [203] R. H. Yan, A. Ourmazd, and K. F. Lee, "Scaling the Si MOSFET: From Bulk to SOI to Bulk," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 39, no. 7, pp. 1704–1710, 1992.
- [204] W. M. Weber, L. Geelhaar, F. Kreupl, E. Unger, H. Riechert, L. Lamagna, M. Fanciulli, G. Scarpa, and P. Lugli, "Tuning the polarity of Si-nanowire transistors without the use of doping," in *IEEE Conference on Nanotechnology (IEEE-NANO)*, Arlington, TX, USA, 2008, pp. 580–581.
- [205] M. H. B. Jamaa, K. Mohanram, and G. De Micheli, "Novel library of logic gates with ambipolar CNTFETs: Opportunities for multi-level logic synthesis," in *Design*, *Automation & Test in Europe Conference & Exhibition (DATE)*, 2009, pp. 622–627.
- [206] J. Knoch and M. R. Muller, "Electrostatic doping Controlling the properties of carbon-based FETs with gates," *IEEE Transactions on Nanotechnology*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 1044–1052, 11 2014.
- [207] J. Zhang, M. De Marchi, D. Sacchetto, P. E. Gaillardon, Y. Leblebici, and G. De Micheli, "Polarity-controllable silicon nanowire transistors with dual threshold voltages," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 61, no. 11, pp. 3654–3660, 11 2014.
- [208] B. Sun, B. Richstein, P. Liebisch, T. Frahm, S. Scholz, J. Trommer, T. Mikolajick, and J. Knoch, "On the Operation Modes of Dual-Gate Reconfigurable Nanowire Transistors," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 68, no. 7, pp. 3684–3689, 7 2021.
- [209] T. Baldauf, A. Heinzig, T. Mikolajick, and W. M. Weber, "Scaling Aspects of Nanowire Schottky Junction based Reconfigurable Field Effect Transistors," in *Joint International EUROSOI Workshop and International Conference on Ultimate Integration on Silicon (EUROSOI-ULIS)*, 4 2019, pp. 1–4.
- [210] P. Cadareanu and P. E. Gaillardon, "A TCAD Simulation Study of Three-Independent-Gate Field-Effect Transistors at the 10-nm Node," *IEEE Transactions* on Electron Devices, vol. 68, no. 8, pp. 4129–4135, 8 2021.
- [211] D. Martin, A. Heinzig, M. Grube, L. Geelhaar, T. Mikolajick, H. Riechert, and W. M. Weber, "Direct probing of Schottky barriers in Si nanowire Schottky barrier

field effect transistors," Physical Review Letters, vol. 107, no. 21, p. 216807, 11 2011.

- [212] W. M. Weber, A. P. Graham, G. S. Duesberg, M. Liebau, C. Cheze, L. Geelhaar, E. Unger, W. Pamler, W. Hoenlein, H. Riechert, F. Kreupl, and P. Lugli, "Non-linear gate length dependence of on-current in Si-Nanowire FETs," in *European Solid-State Device Research Conference (ESSDERC)*, 2006, pp. 423–426.
- [213] M. Simon, J. Trommer, W. M. Weber, and S. Slesazeck, "Semiconductor device structure having multiple gate terminals," U.S. Patent 11,515,428 B2, 12, 2020.
- [214] J. Trommer, A. Heinzig, S. Slesazeck, T. Mikolajick, and W. M. Weber, "Elementary aspects for circuit implementation of reconfigurable nanowire transistors," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 141–143, 1 2014.
- [215] A. Heinzig, S. Pregl, J. Trommer, T. Mikolajick, and W. M. Weber, "Reconfigurable NAND-NOR circuits fabricated by a CMOS printing technique," in *Nanotechnology Materials and Devices Conference (NMDC)*, 7 2017, pp. 179–181.
- [216] L. Amaru, P. E. Gaillardon, and G. De Micheli, "A circuit synthesis flow for controllable-polarity transistors," *IEEE Transactions on Nanotechnology*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 1074–1083, 11 2014.
- [217] P.-E. Gaillardon, L. Amaru, J. Zhang, and G. D. Micheli, "Advanced system on a chip design based on controllable-polarity FETs," in *Design*, Automation & Test in Europe Conference & Exhibition (DATE), 4 2014, pp. 1–6.
- [218] R. Gauchi, A. Snelgrove, and P. E. Gaillardon, "An Open-source Three-Independent-Gate FET Standard Cell Library for Mixed Logic Synthesis," in *IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS)*, 2022, pp. 273–277.
- [219] P. E. Gaillardon, M. De Marchi, L. Amarü, S. Bobba, D. Sacchetto, Y. Leblebici, and G. De Micheli, "Towards structured ASICs using polarity-tunable si nanowire transistors," in ACM/EDAC/IEEE Design Automation Conference (DAC), 2013, pp. 1–4.
- [220] P. Wu, D. Reis, X. S. Hu, and J. Appenzeller, "Two-dimensional transistors with reconfigurable polarities for secure circuits," *Nature Electronics*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 45– 53, 1 2021.
- [221] G. Galderisi, T. Mikolajick, and J. Trommer, "Reconfigurable Field Effect Transistors Design Solutions for Delay-Invariant Logic Gates," *IEEE Embedded Systems Letters*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 107–110, 6 2022.

- [222] T. Mikolajick, U. Schroeder, and S. Slesazeck, "Unleashing the Potential of Integrated Ferroelectric Devices with Hafnium Oxide," in *Device Research Conference* (*DRC*), Columbus, OH, USA, 6 2022, pp. 1–2.
- [223] J. Okuno, T. Kunihiro, T. Yonai, R. Ono, Y. Shuto, R. Alcala, M. Lederer, K. Seidel, T. Mikolajick, U. Schroeder, M. Tsukamoto, and T. Umebayashi, "A highly reliable 1.8 V 1 Mb Hf_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O₂-based 1T1C FeRAM Array with 3-D Capacitors," in *IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, 12 2023, pp. 1–4.
- [224] Y. Cao, Y. Yang, Q. Li, T. Zhang, L. Ji, H. Zhu, L. Chen, Q. Sun, and D. W. Zhang, "Structural Engineering of H_{0.5}Z_{0.5}O₂-Based Ferroelectric Tunneling Junction for Fast-Speed and Low-Power Artificial Synapses," *Advanced Electronic Materials*, vol. 9, no. 5, p. 2201247, 3 2023.
- [225] H. Mulaosmanovic, E. T. Breyer, S. Dünkel, S. Beyer, T. Mikolajick, and S. Slesazeck, "Ferroelectric field-effect transistors based on HfO₂: A review," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 32, no. 50, p. 502002, 9 2021.
- [226] S. Dünkel, M. Trentzsch, R. Richter, P. Moll, C. Fuchs, O. Gehring, M. Majer, S. Wittek, B. Müller, T. Melde, H. Mulaosmanovic, S. Slesazeck, S. Müller, J. Ocker, M. Noack, D. A. Löhr, P. Polakowski, J. Müller, T. Mikolajick, J. Höntschel *et al.*, "A FeFET based super-low-power ultra-fast embedded NVM technology for 22nm FDSOI and beyond," in *IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, 1 2018, pp. 1–19.
- [227] H. Bae, S. G. Nam, T. Moon, Y. Lee, S. Jo, D. H. Choe, S. Kim, K. H. Lee, and J. Heo, "Sub-ns polarization switching in 25nm FE FinFET toward post CPU and spatial-energetic mapping of traps for enhanced endurance," in *IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, 12 2020, pp. 1–31.
- [228] S. Y. Lee, C. C. Lee, Y. S. Kuo, S. W. Li, and T. S. Chao, "Ultrathin Sub-5-nm $Hf_{1-x}Zr_xO_2$ for a Stacked Gate-all-Around Nanowire Ferroelectric FET with Internal Metal Gate," *IEEE Journal of the Electron Devices Society*, vol. 9, pp. 236–241, 2021.
- [229] K. Ni, P. Sharma, J. Zhang, M. Jerry, J. A. Smith, K. Tapily, R. Clark, S. Mahapatra, and S. Datta, "Critical Role of Interlayer in Hf_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O₂ Ferroelectric FET Nonvolatile Memory Performance," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 65, no. 6, pp. 2461–2469, 6 2018.
- [230] J. Lee, K. Yang, J. Y. Kwon, J. E. Kim, D. I. Han, D. H. Lee, J. H. Yoon, and M. H. Park, "Role of oxygen vacancies in ferroelectric or resistive switching hafnium oxide," *Nano Convergence*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 1–39, 12 2023.

- [231] N. Gong and T. P. Ma, "A Study of Endurance Issues in HfO₂-Based Ferroelectric Field Effect Transistors: Charge Trapping and Trap Generation," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 15–18, 1 2018.
- [232] H. Dahlberg, A. E. Persson, R. Athle, and L. E. Wernersson, "Ferroelectric-Antiferroelectric Transition of Hf_{1-x}Zr_xO₂ on Indium Arsenide with Enhanced Ferroelectric Characteristics for Hf_{0.2}Zr_{0.8}O₂," ACS Applied Electronic Materials, vol. 4, no. 12, pp. 6357–6363, 12 2022.
- [233] H. W. Park, S. D. Hyun, I. S. Lee, S. H. Lee, Y. B. Lee, M. Oh, B. Y. Kim, S. G. Ryoo, and C. S. Hwang, "Polarizing and depolarizing charge injection through a thin dielectric layer in a ferroelectric-dielectric bilayer," *Nanoscale*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 2556–2572, 2 2021.
- [234] R. Fontanini, J. Barbot, M. Segatto, S. Lancaster, Q. Duong, F. Driussi, L. Grenouillet, L. Triozon, J. Coignus, T. Mikolajick, S. Slesazeck, and D. Esseni, "Interplay between Charge Trapping and Polarization Switching in BEOL-Compatible Bilayer Ferroelectric Tunnel Junctions," *IEEE Journal of the Electron Devices Society*, vol. 10, pp. 593–599, 2022.
- [235] D. Lizzit and D. Esseni, "Operation and Design of Ferroelectric FETs for a BEOL Compatible Device Implementation," in *European Solid-State Device Research Conference (ESSDERC)*, 2021, pp. 215–218.
- [236] K. Toprasertpong, M. Takenaka, and S. Takagi, "Direct Observation of Interface Charge Behaviors in FeFET by Quasi-Static Split C-V and Hall Techniques: Revealing FeFET Operation," in *IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, San Francisco, CA, USA, 12 2019, pp. 1–23.
- [237] K. Lee, J. H. Bae, S. Kim, J. H. Lee, B. G. Park, and D. Kwon, "Ferroelectric-Gate Field-Effect Transistor Memory with Recessed Channel," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 41, no. 8, pp. 1201–1204, 8 2020.
- [238] S. Lee, Y. Lee, G. Kim, T. Kim, T. Eom, S. O. Jung, and S. Jeon, "Effect of Floating Gate Insertion on the Analog States of Ferroelectric Field-Effect Transistors," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 70, no. 1, pp. 349–353, 1 2023.
- [239] S. Lee, G. Kim, Y. Lee, H. Shin, Y. Jeong, L. Zhang, S. O. Jung, and S. Jeon, "Design Guidelines of Hafnia Ferroelectrics and Gate-Stack for Multilevel-Cell FeFET," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 71, no. 3, pp. 1865–1871, 3 2024.
- [240] B. Zeng, M. Liao, Q. Peng, W. Xiao, J. Liao, S. Zheng, and Y. Zhou, "2-bit/cell operation of Hf_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O₂ based fefet memory devices for NAND applications," *IEEE*

Journal of the Electron Devices Society, vol. 7, pp. 551–556, 2019.

- [241] H. Mulaosmanovic, J. Ocker, S. Müller, U. Schroeder, J. Müller, P. Polakowski, S. Flachowsky, R. van Bentum, T. Mikolajick, and S. Slesazeck, "Switching kinetics in nanoscale hafnium oxide based ferroelectric field-effect transistors," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 3792–3798, 2 2017.
- [242] H. Mulaosmanovic, T. Mikolajick, and S. Slesazeck, "Accumulative Polarization Reversal in Nanoscale Ferroelectric Transistors," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 10, no. 28, pp. 23997–24002, 7 2018.
- [243] J. Aberl, M. Brehm, T. Fromherz, J. Schuster, J. Frigerio, and P. Rauter, "SiGe quantum well infrared photodetectors on strained-silicon-on-insulator," *Optics Express*, vol. 27, no. 22, p. 32009, 10 2019.
- [244] J. Aberl, L. Vukušić, F. Fournel, J. M. Hartmann, and M. Brehm, "Epitaxial Growth of Planar Hutwires on Silicon-on-Insulator Substrates," *Physica Status Solidi* (A) Applications and Materials Science, vol. 219, no. 17, p. 2200145, 9 2022.
- [245] C. Wongwanitwattana, V. A. Shah, M. Myronov, E. H. C. Parker, T. Whall, and D. R. Leadley, "Precision plasma etching of Si, Ge, and Ge:P by SF₆ with added O₂," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A*, vol. 32, no. 3, p. 031302, 5 2014.
- [246] B. E. Deal and A. S. Grove, "General Relationship for the Thermal Oxidation of Silicon," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 36, no. 12, pp. 3770–3778, 12 1965.
- [247] H. Jin, K. J. Weber, and A. W. Blakers, "The Effect of a Post Oxidation In-Situ Nitrogen Anneal on Si Surface Passivation," in World Conference on Photovoltaic Energy Conference (WCPEC), vol. 1, 2006, pp. 1071–1073.
- [248] J. Appenzeller, F. Zhang, S. Das, and J. Knoch, "Transition metal dichalcogenide schottky barrier transistors: A device analysis and material comparison," in 2D Materials for Nanoelectronics, 1st ed. CRC Press, 5 2016, pp. 207–240.
- [249] D. K. Schroder, Semiconductor Material and Device Characterization, 3rd ed. John Wiley and Sons, 4 2005.
- [250] L. Dobrescu, M. Petrov, D. Dobrescu, and C. Ravariu, "Threshold voltage extraction methods for MOS transistors," in *International Semiconductor Conference (CAS)*, vol. 1, 2000, pp. 371–374.
- [251] R. Chau, S. Datta, M. Doczy, B. Doyle, B. Jin, J. Kavalieros, A. Majumdar, M. Metz, and M. Radosavljevic, "Benchmarking nanotechnology for high-performance and low-

power logic transistor applications," *IEEE Transactions on Nanotechnology*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 153–158, 3 2005.

- [252] S. Zhang, E. R. Hemesath, D. E. Perea, E. Wijaya, J. L. Lensch-Falk, and L. J. Lauhon, "Relative influence of surface states and bulk impurities on the electrical properties of ge nanowires," *Nano Letters*, vol. 9, no. 9, pp. 3268–3274, 9 2009.
- [253] D. Y. Jeon, S. Pregl, S. J. Park, L. Baraban, G. Cuniberti, T. Mikolajick, and W. M. Weber, "Scaling and Graphical Transport-Map Analysis of Ambipolar Schottky-Barrier Thin-Film Transistors Based on a Parallel Array of Si Nanowires," *Nano Letters*, vol. 15, no. 7, pp. 4578–4584, 7 2015.
- [254] R. Behrle, M. Bažíková, S. Barth, W. M. Weber, and M. Sistani, "Mapping Electronic Transport in Ge Nanowire SBFETs: From Tunneling to NDR," in *IEEE Nanotechnology Materials and Devices Conference (NMDC)*, 10 2023, pp. 889–894.
- [255] J. R. Hauser, "Noise Margin Criteria for Digital Logic Circuits," *IEEE Transactions on Education*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 363–368, 1993.
- [256] E. A. McShane and K. Shenia, "Noise in Analog and Digital Systems," in *The Electrical Engineering Handbook*, 2nd ed. Academic Press, 1 2004, ch. 2, pp. 101–108.
- [257] C. B. Sawyer and C. H. Tower, "Rochelle salt as a dielectric," *Physical Review*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 269–273, 2 1930.
- [258] T. Yoshimura and N. Fujimura, "Polarization hysteresis loops of ferroelectric gate capacitors measured by Sawyer-Tower circuit," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 42, no. 9S, pp. 6011–6014, 9 2003.
- [259] R. Waser, U. Böttger, and S. Tiedke, Polar Oxides: Properties, Characterization, and Imaging. Wiley-VCH, 8 2005.
- [260] A. Katsman, Y. Yaish, E. Rabkin, and M. Beregovsky, "Surface diffusion controlled formation of nickel silicides in silicon nanowires," *Journal of Electronic Materials*, vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 365–370, 4 2010.
- [261] T. Gupta, Copper Interconnect Technology. Springer US, 2009.
- [262] H. Ceric and S. Selberherr, "Electromigration in submicron interconnect features of integrated circuits," *Materials Science and Engineering R: Reports*, vol. 71, no. 5-6, pp. 53–86, 2011.
- [263] Y. Wu, J. Xiang, C. Yang, W. Lu, and C. M. Lieber, "Single-crystal metallic

nanowires and metal/semiconductor nanowire heterostructures," *Nature*, vol. 430, no. 6995, pp. 61–65, 7 2004.

- [264] C. Durkan and M. E. Welland, "Size Effects in the Electrical Resistivity of polycrystalline Nanowires," *Physical Review B*, vol. 61, no. 20, pp. 14215–14218, 5 2000.
- [265] D. K. Ferry, S. M. Goodnick, and J. Bird, *Transport in Nanostructures*. Cambridge University Press, 1 2009.
- [266] F. M. Brunbauer, E. Bertagnolli, J. Majer, and A. Lugstein, "Electrical transport properties of single-crystal Al nanowires," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 27, no. 38, p. 385704, 8 2016.
- [267] J. M. Rabaey, A. Chandrakasan, and B. Nikolić, *Digital Integrated Circuits: A design perspective*, 2nd ed. Pearson Education, 2002.
- [268] R. Kumar, S. Roy, and A. Bhattacharyya, "An efficient low-power 1-bit full adder using a multi-threshold voltage scheme," in *International Conference on Advancement* of Computer Communication and Electrical Technology (ACCET), West Bengal, India, 2017, pp. 163–167.
- [269] W. K. Yeh, W. Zhang, P. Y. Chen, and Y. L. Yang, "The Impact of Fin Number on Device Performance and Reliability for Multi-Fin Tri-Gate n-and p-Type FinFET," *IEEE Transactions on Device and Materials Reliability*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 555–560, 12 2018.
- [270] K. Nakashima, M. Iwami, and A. Hiraki, "Low temperature diffusion of Au into Si in the Si(substrate)-Au(film) system," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 423–430, 2 1975.
- [271] H. Kim, K. C. Saraswat, and P. C. McIntyre, "Comparative study on electrical and microstructural characteristics of ZrO₂ and HfO₂ grown by atomic layer deposition," *Journal of Materials Research*, vol. 20, no. 11, pp. 3125–3132, 11 2005.
- [272] I. Kim, J. Koo, J. Lee, and H. Jeon, "A Comparison of Al₂O₃/HfO₂ and Al₂O₃/ZrO₂ Bilayers Deposited by the Atomic Layer Deposition Method for Potential Gate Dielectric Applications," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 45, no. 2A, pp. 919–925, 2 2006.
- [273] M. Sistani, R. Böckle, M. G. Bartmann, A. Lugstein, and W. M. Weber, "Bias-Switchable Photoconductance in a Nanoscale Ge Photodetector Operated in the Negative Differential Resistance Regime," ACS Photonics, vol. 8, no. 12, pp.

3469-3475, 2021.

- [274] G. Scappucci, C. Kloeffel, F. A. Zwanenburg, D. Loss, M. Myronov, J. J. Zhang, S. De Franceschi, G. Katsaros, and M. Veldhorst, "The germanium quantum information route," *Nature Reviews Materials*, vol. 6, no. 10, pp. 926–943, 12 2021.
- [275] J. Wang, Q. Liu, R. Feng, H. Ye, X. Xu, R. Wang, T. Wang, and X. Wang, "In-Situ Observation of Atomic Diffusion at Epitaxial Al–Si Interface," *physica status* solidi (*RRL*) – Rapid Research Letters, p. 2400175, 7 2024.
- [276] N. Fukata, M. Yu, W. Jevasuwan, T. Takei, Y. Bando, W. Wu, and Z. L. Wang, "Clear Experimental Demonstration of Hole Gas Accumulation in Ge/Si Core - Shell Nanowires," ACS Nano, vol. 9, no. 12, pp. 12182–12188, 12 2015.
- [277] J. Xiang, W. Lu, Y. Hu, Y. Wu, H. Yan, and C. M. Lieber, "Ge/Si nanowire heterostructures as high-performance field-effect transistors," *Nature*, vol. 441, no. 7092, pp. 489–493, 5 2006.
- [278] J. Svensson, A. A. Sourab, Y. Tarakanov, D. S. Lee, S. J. Park, S. J. Baek, Y. W. Park, and E. E. B. Campbell, "The dependence of the Schottky barrier height on carbon nanotube diameter for Pd–carbon nanotube contacts," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 20, no. 17, p. 175204, 4 2009.
- [279] B. Richstein, L. Hellmich, and J. Knoch, "Silicon Nitride Interface Engineering for Fermi Level Depinning and Realization of Dopant-Free MOSFETs," *Micro*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 228–241, 11 2021.
- [280] M. Tao, D. Udeshi, S. Agarwal, R. Kolappan, Y. Xu, E. Maldonado, and W. P. Kirk, "Se-passivated Si(100) surface for low and negative Schottky barriers," in International Workshop on Junction Technology (IWJT), vol. 4, 2004, pp. 119–122.
- [281] V. Janardhanam, H. J. Yun, I. Jyothi, H. K. Lee, S. N. Lee, J. Won, and C. J. Choi, "Fermi-level depinning in germanium Schottky junction using nitrogen plasma treatment," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 54, no. 14, pp. 897–899, 7 2018.
- [282] M. V. Fischetti and S. E. Laux, "Band structure, deformation potentials, and carrier mobility in strained Si Ge, and SiGe alloys," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 80, no. 4, pp. 2234–2252, 1996.
- [283] F. Zhuge, Z. Zheng, P. Luo, L. Lv, Y. Huang, H. Li, and T. Zhai, "Nanostructured Materials and Architectures for Advanced Infrared Photodetection," *Advanced Materials Technologies*, vol. 2, no. 8, p. 1700005, 8 2017.

- [284] K. Kim, "Fabrication and characterization of ferroelectric $Hf_x Zr_{1-x}O_y$ layers for novel nanosheet devices: from high-k to ferroelectric behaviors," Master's thesis, Technische Universität Wien, 2023.
- [285] D. Hiller, D. Tröger, M. Grube, D. König, and T. Mikolajick, "The negative fixed charge of atomic layer deposited aluminium oxide a two-dimensional SiO_2/AlO_x interface effect," *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics*, vol. 54, no. 27, p. 275304, 7 2021.
- [286] Q. Xie, S. Deng, M. Schaekers, D. Lin, M. Caymax, A. Delabie, X. P. Qu, Y. L. Jiang, D. Deduytsche, and C. Detavernier, "Germanium surface passivation and atomic layer deposition of high-k dielectrics A tutorial review on Ge-based MOS capacitors," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 27, no. 7, p. 074012, 6 2012.
- [287] J. Zhang, M. De Marchi, P. E. Gaillardon, and G. De Micheli, "A Schottky-barrier silicon FinFET with 6.0 mV/dec Subthreshold Slope over 5 decades of current," in *IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, San Francisco, CA, USA, 2 2015, pp. 1–13.
- [288] L. Kühberger, "A Germanium on silicon on insulator based reconfigurable transistor platform," Master's thesis, Technische Universität Wien, 2023.
- [289] G. Galderisi, C. Beyer, T. Mikolajick, and J. Trommer, "Insights into the Temperature-Dependent Switching Behavior of Three-Gated Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistors," *Physica Status Solidi (A) Applications and Materials Science*, vol. 220, no. 13, p. 2300019, 4 2023.
- [290] W. Qian, J. Wang, J. Xu, and L. Yu, "Channel-bias-controlled reconfigurable silicon nanowire transistors via an asymmetric electrode contact strategy," *Chip*, vol. 3, no. 3, p. 100098, 9 2024.
- [291] M. H. Park, H. J. Kim, Y. J. Kim, W. Lee, T. Moon, K. D. Kim, and C. S. Hwang, "Study on the degradation mechanism of the ferroelectric properties of thin Hf_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O₂ films on TiN and Ir electrodes," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 105, no. 7, p. 72902, 8 2014.
- [292] X. Cheng, P. Repo, H. Halvard, A. P. Perros, E. S. Marstein, M. Di Sabatino, and H. Savin, "Surface Passivation Properties of HfO₂ Thin Film on n-Type Crystalline Si," *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 479–485, 3 2017.
- [293] M. Houssa, V. V. Afanas'ev, A. Stesmans, and M. M. Heyns, "Variation in the fixed charge density of SiO_x/ZrO₂ gate dielectric stacks during postdeposition oxidation," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 77, no. 12, pp. 1885–1887, 9 2000.

- [294] J. L. Lyons, A. Janotti, and C. G. Van De Walle, "The role of oxygen-related defects and hydrogen impurities in HfO₂ and ZrO₂," *Microelectronic Engineering*, vol. 88, no. 7, pp. 1452–1456, 7 2011.
- [295] K. Xiong, J. Robertson, M. C. Gibson, and S. J. Clark, "Defect energy levels in HfO₂ high-dielectric-constant gate oxide," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 87, no. 18, pp. 1–3, 10 2005.
- [296] M. Sistani, J. Delaforce, K. Bharadwaj, M. Luong, J. Nacenta Mendivil, N. Roch, M. Den Hertog, R. B. Kramer, O. Buisson, A. Lugstein, and C. Naud, "Coulomb blockade in monolithic and monocrystalline Al-Ge-Al nanowire heterostructures," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 116, no. 1, 1 2020.
- [297] F. N. M. Froning, M. K. Rehmann, J. Ridderbos, M. Brauns, F. A. Zwanenburg, A. Li, E. P. A. M. Bakkers, D. M. Zumbühl, and F. R. Braakman, "Single, double, and triple quantum dots in Ge/Si nanowires," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 113, no. 7, p. 073102, 8 2018.
- [298] G. Galderisi, T. Mikolajick, and J. Trommer, "Reliability of Reconfigurable Field Effect Transistors: Early Analysis of Bias Temperature Instability," in *International Symposium on the Physical and Failure Analysis of Integrated Circuits (IPFA)*, 2024, pp. 1–7.
- [299] IEEE International Roadmap for Devices and SystemsTM, "More Moore," 2022. URL: https://irds.ieee.org/editions/2022/more-moore
- [300] T. Luoh, C. T. Su, T. H. Yang, K. C. Chen, and C. Y. Lu, "Advanced tungsten plug process for beyond nanometer technology," *Microelectronic Engineering*, vol. 85, no. 8, pp. 1739–1747, 8 2008.
- [301] H. Kizil, G. Kim, C. Steinbrüchel, and B. Zhao, "TiN and TaN diffusion barriers in copper interconnect technology: Towards a consistent testing methodology," *Journal* of *Electronic Materials*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 345–348, 2001.

List of Publications

Journal Publications

- [LW1] D. Nazzari, L. Wind, M. Sistani, D. Mayr, K. Kim, V. Wahler, and W. M. Weber, "Nonvolatile Reconfigurable Transistor via Ferroelectrically Induced Current Modulation," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 2 2025.
- [LW2] L. Wind, S. Preiß, D. Nazzari, J. Aberl, E. P. Navarrete, M. Brehm, L. Vogl, A. M. Minor, M. Sistani, and W. M. Weber, "Si/Ge_{1-x}Sn_x/Si Transistors with Highly Transparent Al Contacts," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 225, p. 109069, 2025.
- [LW3] A. Fuchsberger, L. Wind, D. Nazzari, J. Aberl, E. P. Navarrete, M. Brehm, L. Vogl, P. Schweizer, M. Sistani, and W. M. Weber, "Temperature-Dependent Electronic Transport in Reconfigurable Transistors based on Ge on SOI and Strained SOI Platforms," *Solid-State Electronics*, p. 109055, 2025.
- [LW4] A. Fuchsberger, L. Wind, D. Nazzari, E. P. Navarrete, J. Aberl, M. Brehm, M. Sistani, and W. M. Weber, "Implementation of Negative Differential Resistance-Based Circuits in Multigate Ge Transistors," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 72, no. 12, pp. 7277–7280, 2024.
- [LW5] A. Fuchsberger, L. Wind, D. Nazzari, A. Dobler, J. Aberl, E. P. Navarrete, M. Brehm, L. Vogl, P. Schweizer, S. Lellig, X. Maeder, M. Sistani, and W. M. Weber, "A Reconfigurable Ge Transistor Functionally Diversified by Negative Differential Resistance," *IEEE Journal of the Electron Devices Society*, vol. 12, pp. 541–547, 2024.
- [LW6] L. Wind, M. Maierhofer, A. Fuchsberger, M. Sistani, and W. M. Weber, "Realization of a Complementary Full Adder Based on Reconfigurable Transistors," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 45, no. 4, pp. 724–727, 2024.

- [LW7] R. Behrle, J. Smoliner, L. Wind, D. Nazzari, A. Lugstein, W. M. Weber, and M. Sistani, "Bias-tunable temperature coefficient of resistance in Ge transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 124, no. 9, p. 093510, 2 2024.
- [LW8] L. Wind, A. Fuchsberger, Ö. Demirkiran, L. Vogl, P. Schweizer, X. Maeder, M. Sistani, and W. M. Weber, "Reconfigurable Si Field-Effect Transistors With Symmetric On-States Enabling Adaptive Complementary and Combinational Logic," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 71, no. 2, pp. 1302–1307, 2024.
- [LW9] A. Fuchsberger, L. Wind, D. Nazzari, L. Kühberger, D. Popp, J. Aberl, E. P. Navarrete, M. Brehm, L. Vogl, P. Schweizer, S. Lellig, X. Maeder, M. Sistani, and W. M. Weber, "A Runtime Reconfigurable Ge Field-Effect Transistor With Symmetric On-States," *IEEE Journal of the Electron Devices Society*, vol. 12, pp. 83–87, 2024.
- [LW10] L. Wind, R. Behrle, M. I. den Hertog, C. G. Murphey, J. F. Cahoon, M. Sistani, and W. M. Weber, "Nanoscale Reconfigurable Si Transistors: From Wires to Sheets and Unto Multi-Wire Channels," *Advanced Electronic Materials*, vol. 10, no. 2, p. 2300483, 2 2024.
- [LW11] A. Fuchsberger, L. Wind, M. Sistani, R. Behrle, D. Nazzari, J. Aberl, E. Prado Navarrete, L. Vukušić, M. Brehm, P. Schweizer, L. Vogl, X. Maeder, and W. M. Weber, "Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistor Technology via Heterogeneous Integration of SiGe with Crystalline Al Contacts," Advanced Electronic Materials, vol. 9, no. 6, p. 2201259, 2023.
- [LW12] R. Böckle, M. Sistani, M. Bažíková, L. Wind, Z. Sadre-Momtaz, M. I. den Hertog, C. G. Murphey, J. F. Cahoon, and W. M. Weber, "Reconfigurable Complementary and Combinational Logic Based on Monolithic and Single-Crystalline Al-Si Heterostructures," *Advanced Electronic Materials*, vol. 9, no. 1, p. 2200567, 2023.
- [LW13] L. Wind, M. Sistani, R. Böckle, J. Smoliner, L. Vukušić, J. Aberl, M. Brehm, P. Schweizer, X. Maeder, J. Michler, F. Fournel, J. M. Hartmann, and W. M. Weber, "Composition Dependent Electrical Transport in Si_{1-x}Ge_x Nanosheets with Monolithic Single-Elementary Al Contacts," *Small*, vol. 18, no. 44, p. 2204178, 2022.
- [LW14] L. Wind, R. Böckle, M. Sistani, P. Schweizer, X. Maeder, J. Michler, C. G. Murphey, J. Cahoon, and W. M. Weber, "Monolithic and Single-Crystalline Aluminum-Silicon Heterostructures," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 14, no. 22, pp. 26 238–26 244, 6 2022.

- [LW15] Z. Song, M. Sistani, L. Wind, D. Pohl, B. Rellinghaus, W. M. Weber, and A. Lugstein, "Plasmon-assisted polarization-sensitive photodetection with tunable polarity for integrated silicon photonic communication systems," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 32, no. 50, p. 505205, 12 2021.
- [LW16] M. Sistani, R. Böckle, L. Wind, K. Eysin, X. Maeder, P. Schweizer, J. Michler, A. Lugstein, and W. M. Weber, "Polycrystalline Ge Nanosheets Embedded in Metal-Semiconductor Heterostructures Enabling Wafer-Scale 3D Integration of Ge Nanodevices with Self-Aligned Al Contacts," Advanced Electronic Materials, vol. 7, no. 5, p. 2100101, 5 2021.
- [LW17] L. Wind, M. Sistani, Z. Song, X. Maeder, D. Pohl, J. Michler, B. Rellinghaus, W. M. Weber, and A. Lugstein, "Monolithic Metal-Semiconductor-Metal Heterostructures Enabling Next-Generation Germanium Nanodevices," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 13, no. 10, pp. 12393–12399, 2021.

Conference Contributions

- [LWC1] F. Maraspini, M. David, M. Sistani, L. Wind, F. Schwingshandl, O. Buisson, C. Naud, W. M. Weber, and A. Lugstein, "Monolithic Superconductor-Semiconductor Quantum Circuits," in *Annual Meeting of the Austrian Physical* Society, Linz, Austria, 9 2024.
- [LWC2] E. P. Navarrete, J. Aberl, A. Fuchsberger, L. Wind, D. Nazzari, M. Sistani, W. M. Weber, L. Vogl, P. Schweizer, X. Maeder, and M. Brehm, "(Si)Ge nanosheets on SOI, grown by Molecular Beam Epitaxy at Ultra Low Temperatures, as a planar platform for RFET devices," in *Gettering and Defect Engineering in Semiconductor Technology (GADEST) Conference*, Bad Schandau, Germany, 9 2024.
- [LWC3] M. Sistani, A. Fuchsberger, R. Behrle, L. Wind, D. Nazzari, J. Aberl, E. P. Navarrete, M. Brehm, L. Vogl, P. Schweizer, S. Lellig, X. Maeder, and W. M. Weber, "NDR-mode RFET: A Reconfigurable Transistor Functionally Diversified by Negative Differential Resistance," in *NanoSEA*, Marseille, France, 7 2024.
- [LWC4] L. Wind, A. Fuchsberger, M. Sistani, and W. M. Weber, "Three-Input Combinational Logic Gates based on Reconfigurable Si Field-Effect Transistors," in *Device Research Conference (DRC)*, College Park, Maryland, USA, 6 2024, pp. 1–2.
- [LWC5] D. Nazzari, L. Wind, D. Mayr, K. Kim, S. Lellig, M. Sistani, and W. M. Weber, "Realization and characterization of HZO-based Schottky-Barrier FETs

towards Logic-in-Memory applications," in *Device Research Conference (DRC)*, College Park, Maryland, USA, 6 2024, pp. 1–3.

- [LWC6] V. Wahler, L. Wind, S. Preiß, D. Nazzari, M. Bažíková, J. Aberl, E. P. Navarrete, M. Brehm, L. Vogl, M. Sistani, and W. M. Weber, "Highly Transparent Al Contacts to $Si/Ge_{1-x}Sn_x/Si$ Heterostructures on SOI," in *Microelectronic Systems Symposium (MESS)*, Vienna, Austria, 6 2024.
- [LWC7] A. Dobler, A. Fuchsberger, L. Wind, D. Nazzari, J. Aberl, M. Brehm, L. Vogl, P. Schweizer, M. Sistani, and W. M. Weber, "Adaptive Analog Circuits based on Reconfigurable Ge Transistors," in *Microelectronic Systems Symposium (MESS)*, Vienna, Austria, 6 2024.
- [LWC8] L. Wind, S. Preiß, D. Nazzari, J. Aberl, E. P. Navarrete, M. Brehm, L. Vogl, A. M. Minor, M. Sistani, and W. M. Weber, "Si/Ge_{1-x}Sn_x/Si Transistors with Highly Transparent Al Contacts," in *Joint International EUROSOI Workshop* and International Conference on Ultimate Integration on Silicon (EUROSOI-ULIS), Athens, Greece, 5 2024.
- [LWC9] A. Fuchsberger, L. Wind, D. Nazzari, J. Aberl, E. P. Navarrete, M. Brehm, L. Vogl, P. Schweizer, M. Sistani, and W. M. Weber, "Temperature-Dependent Electronic Transport in Reconfigurable Transistors based on Ge on SOI and Strained SOI Platforms," in *Joint International EUROSOI Workshop and In*ternational Conference on Ultimate Integration on Silicon (EUROSOI-ULIS), Athens, Greece, 5 2024.
- [LWC10] D. Nazzari, L. Wind, D. Mayr, K. Kim, M. Sistani, A. Fuchsberger, R. Behrle, and W. M. Weber, "Ferroelectric-enhanced Schottky-Barrier FETs towards Logic-in-Memory applications," in *High-k Workshop*, Dresden, Germany, 5 2024.
- [LWC11] W. M. Weber, L. Wind, A. Fuchsberger, R. Behrle, D. Nazari, J. Aberl, E. P. Navarrete, M. Brehm, and M. Sistani, "Ultrathin Germanium and Silicon-Germanium Nanosheet Transistors for Runtime Reconfigurable Electronics," in *IEEE Nanotechnology Materials and Devices Conference (NMDC)*, Paestum, Italy, 10 2023, pp. 446–447.
- [LWC12] L. Wind, M. Sistani, A. Fuchsberger, R. Behrle, D. Nazzari, J. Aberl, E. Navarrete, L. Vukušić, M. Brehm, P. Schweizer, L. Vogl, X. Maeder, and W. M. Weber, "Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistor Technology via Heterogeneous Integration of SiGe with Crystalline Al Contacts," in *European Materials Research Society (E-MRS) Spring Meeting*, Strassburg, France, 5 2023.

- [LWC13] R. Behrle, L. Wind, M. Sistani, Z. Sadre-Momtaz, M. I. den Hertog, C. G. E. Murphey, J. F. Cahoon, and W. M. Weber, "Reconfigurable Silicon Transistors with Single-Elementary Metal Contacts for Complementary and Combinational Logic," in *European Materials Research Society (E-MRS) Spring Meeting*, Strassburg, France, 5 2023.
- [LWC14] D. Nazzari, M. Sistani, R. Behrle, L. Wind, A. Fuchsberger, A. Lugstein, and W. M. Weber, "Positive feedback nanosheet transistors enabled by Hf_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O₂ integration," in *High-k Workshop*, Dresden, Germany, 5 2023.
- [LWC15] L. Wind, M. Sistani, Ö. Demirkiran, R. Böckle, A. Fuchsberger, P. Schweizer, M. Xavier, J. Michler, and W. M. Weber, "Metal-Semiconductor based Reconfigurable Electronics," in *NanoNET-Austria Meeting*, Lustenau, Austria, 10 2022.
- [LWC16] L. Wind, Ö. Demirkiran, R. Behrle, P. Schweizer, X. Maeder, J. Michler, and W. M. Weber, "Monolithic and Single-Crystalline Al-Si Heterostructures enabling Reconfigurable Complementary and Combinational Logic," in European Material Research Society (E-MRS) Fall Meeting, Warsaw, Poland, 9 2022.
- [LWC17] M. Sistani, L. Wind, R. Böckle, J. Smoliner, L. Vukušić, J. Aberl, M. Brehm, P. Schweizer, and W. M. Weber, "Composition Dependent Electrical Transport in SiGe-Nanosheets with Monolithic Single-Elementary Al Contacts," in European Material Research Society (E-MRS) Fall Meeting, Warsaw, Poland, 9 2022.
- [LWC18] D. Nazzari, M. Sistani, R. Behrle, L. Wind, A. Lugstein, and W. M. Weber, "Interface engineering of Ge nanosheets: evaluation of different high-k materials for improving device performances," in *High-k Workshop*, Dresden, Germany, 9 2022.
- [LWC19] D. Nazzari, M. Mustajbasic, O. Solfronk, L. Wind, R. Böckle, M. Sistani, and W. M. Weber, "Fabrication and Evaluation of Different Passivation Layers for the Ge-Insulator Interface using Plasma-Enhanced ALD," in *Gettering* and Defect Engineering in Semiconductor Technology (GADEST) Conference, Mondsee, Austria, 9 2022.
- [LWC20] R. Behrle, M. Sistani, M. Bažíková, L. Wind, Z. Sadre-Momtaz, M. I. den Hertog, C. G. Murphey, J. F. Cahoon, and W. M. Weber, "Reconfigurable Complementary and Combinational Logic based on Monolithic and Single-Crystalline Al-Si Heterostructures," in DPG-Tagung der Sektion Kondensierte Materie (SKM), Regensburg, Germany, 9 2022.

- [LWC21] Ö. Demirkiran, L. Wind, M. Sistani, R. Böckle, and W. M. Weber, "Reconfigurable Transistors Based On Top-Down Fabricated Al-Si Heterostructures," in *Microelectronic Systems Symposium (MESS)*, Vienna, Austria, 6 2022.
- [LWC22] M. Bažíková, R. Böckle, M. Sistani, L. Wind, Z. Sadre-Momtaz, M. I. den Hertog, C. G. Murphey, J. F. Cahoon, and W. M. Weber, "Reconfigurable Complementary Logic Based On Monolithic Metal-Semiconductor Heterostructures," in *Microelectronic Systems Symposium* (MESS), Vienna, Austria, 6 2022.
- [LWC23] L. Wind, R. Böckle, M. Sistani, L. Vukušić, J. Aberl, M. Brehm, P. Schweizer, and W. M. Weber, "Highly transparent Contacts to Si_xGe_{1-x} Nanowires embedded in Metal-Semiconductor-Metal Heterostructures," in *Nanowire Week*, Charmonix, France, 4 2022.

Master Thesis

[LWM1] L. Wind, "Wafer-Scale Fabrication and Characterization of Monolithic Al-Ge Heterostructures," Master's thesis, Technische Universität Wien, 2021.

Curriculum Vitae

Personal Information

Name Date of birth Address E-Mail ResearchGate ORCID	Lukas Wind 06.06.1994 Biedergasse 1/1A, 1190 Wien lukas.wind@tuwien.ac.at www.researchgate.net/profile/Lukas-Wind https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1458-1358
Education	
03/2021 - present	PhD in Electrical Engineering TU Wien - Institute of Solid State Electronics Thesis: Si to SiGe Heterostructure Transistors for Reconfigurable Circuits and Functionality Enhancement via Ferroelectric Gating
09/2018 - 02/2021	Master Degree in Microelectronics and Photonic TU Wien Thesis: Wafer-scale Fabrication and Characterization of Monolithic Al-Ge Heterostructures
09/2018 - 02/2019	ERASMUS+ Semester - Photonics Master Universitat Politécnica de Catalunya
09/2014 - 08/2018	Bachelor Degree in Electrical Engineering and Information Technology TU Wien Thesis: Reconfigurable and Innovative Display - Infrared Data Channel and Image Computation
Student Awards	

2016, 2018	TU Wien - Merit Scholarship
------------	-----------------------------

Employment

03/2021 - present	TU Wien - Institute of Solid State Electronics University Assistant
04/2017 - 02/2021	Elektrobit Austria GmbH - Vienna, Austria Hardware Assembly, Testing and Repair